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About this report

The Finnair Group s main field of business 15 the provision of air transport and travel services
The purpose of the Annual Report - encompassing objectives of what were previously published as

separate Financial and Sustainability Reports - s to measure and account for the financal, economic
social and environmental performance of this enterprise and 1o identify and explain the strategic
business ramifications of this performance Shareholders investars analysts media customers,
employees other interested stakeholders and the general public at large comprise the report s
intended audience

Finnarr sees sustamability as a cntical and strategic aspect of business performance, thus the Annual
Report embeds material sustainability disclosures n 1ts annual reporting framework, The scope of the
report 1s defined according to the Finnair Group s matenal activibies in 2013 across all its units For
more information on how materality is determined, see the matenality and stakeholder matrix on

pages 12-13

Finnair has a strong presence in social media and we wanted to try a new form of engagement

and image gathenng In this annual report we have crowdsourced images through Finmsh mobile
apphication Scoopshat We asked the world s air travelers to show us what they find magical about
air ravel what s the best part of the journey and what delights them The task was valid for two
weeks, starting from December 10 2013 The annual report includes also images from our emplay-
ees, the cabin attendant Noora Xunttr and the prilot Tomi Tervo They both have Instagram accounts
finnairnoora and finnairtem

p—
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SINCE 1923
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CEOSreview

2013 - A year of improving competitiveness

and reducing costs

Like many recent years, 2013 was eventful for Finnair For me, 1t was
my first year at Finnair Since the beginning of June, I have learned a
great deal about the airline business and Finnair, and the significance
of both to Finland My meetings with our personnel, customers,
business partners, shareholders and other stakeholders have made it
clear that Finnair holds a very special posttion in the hearts of Finns.

There are strong links between the success of the company’s Astan
strategy and Finnish air connections, which in turn play a sigmifi-
cant role in the hves of Finns and the Finnish business sector Finnair
offers connections from Finland to some 60 destinations in Europe
and 13 destinations in Asia The strong connections 1t provides
promote the international success of Finnish industry, while also
facilitating investment n Finland by foreign industry.

The link between the company’s success and Finnish GDP is
obvious Helsinki Airport — our home — 1s Finland's second-largest
hub of jobs By being successful, we can create new jobs at Finnair
and indirectly create new jobs in other areas of the airline business
cluster

Finnair has a very strong brand that we must continue to develop,
grow and protect, even as the company undergoes what 1s perhaps
the largest transformation in its history — a transformation that 1s
also painful in certain ways. Qur goal 1s to make Finnair a company
that combines the best of its 90-year history with the courage to
adapt and learn, allowing 1t to continue operating as a strong player
n its industry through this period of consolidation In recent years,
the company has concluded many strategic partnerships in the

area of aviation services, and entered joint businesses with other

airlines. These have put Finnair on the nght

path toward improved operational quality and
cost-efficiency.

The customer 1s at the heart of what we do.
Recognsing this, we began a strategic devel-
opment effort in 2013 aimed at improving our
service in order to respond to customer needs
even better than before, thereby increasing
sales More information on the results of these
efforts will become available in 2014

Financially, 2013 did not live up to our expec-

tations Our turnover fell by two percent from %
2012, totalling 2 4 billion euros The main factor
slowing down turnover growth was the fall in
euro-denominated revenue due to the substan-
tial depreciation of the Japanese yen, but 1n the
second half of the year the weaker-than-ex-
pected development of cargo and leisure traffic
also contributed to the decrease in turnover for
the full year Our operating profit was -4 8 million euros This 1s unsat-
isfactory, as our target was to record a profit for the year Our result
was also affected by tight competition and the continued high price of
fuel. In the fourth quarter, our result was also negatively affected by
measures taken to look after our customers in preparation for labour
action Cancelled fhights resulted in additional expenses These costs
led to our operating result showing a loss for the full year

Nevertheless, our goal 1s to make Finnair a sustainably profitable and
growing company Profitable growth 1s our most important objec-

<
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tive However, we will not be able to grow — or be profitable — unless
we improve our cost structure and competitiveness.

The year 2013 was encouraging 1n this respect we achieved the
targeted permanent annual cost reduction of 140 million euros set in
August 2011 ahead of schedule Cost reductions have been system-
atically sought 1in several different categories, including fleet, avia-

tion service, catering, sales, distribution and personnel costs Our
progress in the first cost-reduction program shows that, by exam-

ining things with an open mind, operations can be optimised,
competitiveness can be improved and the necessary cost reductions
can be achieved

In the collective labour agreements concluded with cabin crew,
pilots and the Finmish Aviation Union 1AU, it was agreed that nego-
tiations on cost reductions be postponed until the first half of 2014
The sought cost reductions primarily involve personnel-related costs
in all personnel groups. Our previously set cost reduction targets
remain unchanged.

Many of our structures associated with wages and working hours
onginate from the era of closed markets. Renegotiating these struc-
tures to match current labour market practices 1s challenging,

but we are determined to move forward with Finnair’s structural
changes and cost reductions in cooperation with personnel and
their representatives [ hope we will reach company-specific agree-
ments on the cost reductions necessary for Finnair and its personnel
well ahead of the deadline set for the negotiations However, at the
same time, we must assess other options to prepare for the contin-
gency that, despite our best efforts, the necessary agreements on
cost reducttons are not reached through negotiations I nevertheless

remain confident that we can work together through the ongoing
negotiations to achieve the best possible outcome for the future of
Finnair and its personnel

Finnair 1s currently preparing for two signtficant waves of invest-
ment: In 2015, we will take delivery of the first of our new Airbus
350 long-haul aircraft, and in the coming two years we must also
make decisions on the renewal of our European fleet to ensure
future competitiveness and energy efficiency These investments
are essential for our future, and Finnair must be a strong player in its
industry 1n order to finance the required capital expenditure. We are
convinced that this 1s possible if we do the night things, at the nght
time, and 1n the right way, with courage and an open mind We have
dectded that we will be winners in our industry

I would like to extend my warmest thanks to all Finnair personnel
for the year 2013 and their contribution to achieving our shared
goals I also wish to thank our customers, business partners and
shareholders for their trust in the company

Pekka Vauramo
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Strategy -

FINNAIR IN THE WORLD \ MEGATRENDS .
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STRATEGY

The core of Finnair’s strategy 1s taking advantage of the growing
demand for traffic between Europe and Asia The strategy 1s based
on the growing markets 1n Asia, the fastest connections between
Europe and Asia, lngh-quahty service, and cost-efficient, punctual
operations Helsinki’s geographical location provides Finnair with a
natural competitive advantage, as the fastest routes between many
destinations in Europe and megacities in Asia go through Helsinki.

In implementing its strategy, Finnair 1s commutted to creating added
value for its customers and shareholders.

Finnair’s vision is to

« Double its revenue from Asian traffic by 2020 compared with the
level of 2010

« Be the most desired option in traffic between Asia and Europe
and among the three largest airlines on routes between Asia and
Europe that do not have a direct flight connection

+ Be the number one airline in the Nordic countries and grow in
this home market.

A growing and competitive industry

The implementation of Finnair’s strategy and the development of

its operations are affected by global megatrends, such as the shift

in economic and political focus to Asia, accelerating urbanisation,
technological development and an increasing emphasis on social
and environmental responsibility in business. These megatrends and
their significance to aviation and Finnair are discussed in more detail
on pages 9-10.

Finnarr 15 pursuing business and leisure travellers as well as cargo
customers in the fast growing Asian economses, Finland and
particularly those European cities that do not provide direct connec-
tions to Asta Approximately 26 mithon people travel annually
between Finnair's current Asian and European destinations, and

an estimated 65 per cent of these are transfer passengers without

direct connections to their final destination.” Asian traffic already
represents approximately half of Finnair's passenger traffic, and

Japan is currently Finnair’s second-largest market after Finland In
the future, the share of traffic represented by China in particular
1s expected to grow. According to a forecast by Airbus®®, air traffic
between Asia and Western Europe will grow at an average rate of
4.3 per cent annually during the next 20 years, which will provide
Finnair with substantial opportumties for growth.

While the growth prospects in aviation are good, airlines face a chal-
lenging outlook The airline business 15 a hughly competitive and
capital-intensive industry with on average small margins. Decisions
on significant fleet investments must be made several years before
price-conscious travellers make their purchase decisions, and the
industry 1s very sensitive to global economtc cycles and other external
factors. European network carrers, Finnair included, have revised
their operating models and adjusted their cost base in recent years
1n response to competition from low-cost airhines and airhines based
1n the Middle East. At the same time, the continuing high price of et
fuel necessitates greater fuel efficiency and investments in a modern,
cost-efficient fleet Intense competition has led to increased consol-
idation, alhances and joint ventures in the industry, with the aim of
improving capacity discipline and profitability.

° Finar gstimate.
** Sowrce Artus’ Global Markat Forecast lor
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Focus areas in strategy implementation
Finnair's four focus areas in the implementation of the company's

strategy are Finnair offers the
+ Profitable growth
+ Cost competitiveness fastest routes between

+ Customer expenience Northern Asia and Europe
« International winning team

Guided by these focus areas, Finnatr has gone through a substantial New York
structural change over the past three years This has shaped Finnair More than 60
into an arrhne that 1s focused on its core business and has entered destinations
into partnerships for aviation support services and European feeder .

traffic These strategic partnerships have allowed Finnarr to simulta- In Europe
neously improve the quality of its operations and achieve cost reduc-
tions important for its competitiveness At the same time, Finnair’s
capacity to adapt to changes in the market has improved, although
the company must still develop its competitiveness further

13 Asian
megacities

Finnair 1s investing in not only charting new market possibilities and
improving profitability, but also in developing customer service and
leadershup, as satisfied customers and a competent, well-managed
staff are key requirements for growth In addition to optimisation of
tts supply chain, Finnair wants to be a competent and active partner

that produces value to its partners. Finnair holds a strong position L O\ Tokyo
in the oneworld alhance — chosen as the highest-quality airhne alli- A Farid

ance*** — as an expert in traffic between Asia and Europe In 2013,
Finnair increased its cooperation within oneworld by entering a
joint business for North Atlantic traffic and in 20141t will join a

similar joint business on flights between Europe and Japan T

Chongging

== Source Skytrax Workd Arkne Awards report publshed m summes Oet
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Finnair has taken steps to prepare for the opportunities presented by
the growth of Asian traffic by placing an order 1n the last decade for
eleven Airbus 350 XWB aircraft, the deliveries of which will begin in
the second half of 2015 In addition to this, Finnair also has options
for the dehvery of exght more A350 aircraft Upgrades to the long-
haul fleet will increase capacity and sigmificantly improve travelling
comfort. The improved fuel efficiency and lower emussions of the
new fleet also respond to growing requirements for more environ-
mentally friendly and responsible operations

Finnair’s strategic strengths

» Competitive advantage due to geographical location

+ Excellent operational quality and efficiency

» Top-class service - Northern Europe’s best airline***

+ Modern, fuel-efficient fleet

+ Good financing position for implementing future fleet
investments

 Quality and capacity of Helsinki Airport

In this annuzl report we have crowdsourced

images ihrough Finnish mokile apslization

Scoopshot. W= have also used piciurss

*** Source Skytrax World Asrtne Awards report publshed o:sammer iro™ INSiagram aceg.Ln ArPGOrE PG
{irnatriom.

Read more

On megatrends on pages 9-10

On key performance indicators on page 11
On business risks on pages 142-146
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MEGATRENDS i timpact on the .
Megatrend " industry and Finnair Our response
Megatrends are phenomena that have a strong impact on the future = -----=--mr-=ms seessmmosmsesme s e o e e i -

Economic and polrtical focus + Traffic between Asia and Europe : = Renewal of the long-haul fleet from
and consumer behaviour in the long term These vrm:oim.:m also shifts to developing countries, 2rows L 2015 onwards
have a significant effect on the airhne industry and Finnair’s business  particularly asia k
= Intense competttion continues + = New Asian desttnations, additional !
operations * flights '

« Increased importance of
understanding Asian markets = Increasing Finnair s understanding !

Economic and political focus shifts from the United States " of Asian markets

and Europe to developing countries
The gradual shaft in economic and pohitical focus from the Umted Accelerating urbamisation

States and Europe to developing countries, and Asia in particular,

1s the strongest of the megatrends affecting the aviation industry.

Asian corporations are becoming globalised and their sigrficancen ..
the world market 1s growing The middle class 1s growing rapidly in Technological progress, the

many Asian countries increase in the significance

of netwark connections and
digitalisation will all continue

|
|
|
|

...................... < eess -== - .. = Good stakeholder relations

i

i

- New markets are created |
= Fastest route between Asta and |

|

|

+ Intensifying competition , Europe

|||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||| [P, PR o,

» Increasing significance of onbine « Developing online services |

services and network connections
+ Developing the service expenence !

+ New opportunities for serving
customers
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Asian travel will increase, and competition on Asian routes will
intensify, as Asian arrhnes expand their operations to intercont- 4
nental fights As traffic increases, airlines and governments will also  creacing significance of
have to negotiate for more traffic nights and flight permits Asian responsibility
customers determine the expected standard of quality for service

and products, and non-Asian arrhines must increase their under-

standing of Asian culture and customers.

» Increase i regulation and reporting * - A more environmentally friendly and
requirements efficient fleet and operations

* Increasing significance of open * + Monitoring the supply chamn
communication

In response to this shift and the opportunities it presents, we are
mvesting in a modern fleet and new destinations and increasing
capacity to Asian markets. We also invest in building and main-
taimng strong relationships with Asian opinion leaders and policy-
makers We will increase our understanding of Asian cultures and
provide fast transfers between Asia and Europe, with a particular
focus on onward connections v
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urbanisation

Migration flows from rural areas to cities are continuing to accel-
erate, particularly in China and other developing countries. Espe-
cially in Asia, the number of cities with more than five million inhab-
itants will grow, as will the number of connections between such
ctties New markets will be created for airhnes as traffic between

these megacities grows Competition will intensify as regional
airhines begin to operate these routes

We take advantage of urbamisation and the opportunities it presents
by investing 1n a modern fleet and new destinations, as well as by
increasing our flight frequency to current Asian destinations. We
also invest in bulding and maintaining strong relationships with
Asian opinion leaders and policymakers We will also increase

our understanding of Asian cultures and provide fast connec-

tions between Asia and Europe, with a particular focus on onward
connections,

Technological progress, increase in the significance of
network connections and digitalisation

Technological progress 1s leading to changes in purchasing behav-
1our, the comparability of prices and services online, and immediate
feedback. Consumers want and expect network connections every-
where they go Social media spreads news rapidly and requures busi-
nesses to react quickly

Airrlines must anticipate changes, adapt to them and provide oppor-
tunities for buying, using services and sending feedback online
Consumers want network access before, during and after their
fhights They increasingly want digital entertainment services during
flights More advanced customer identification will also allow

arrhines to offer tailored services and a personalised customer expe-
rience.

We will invest in developing digital services, entertainment systems
and the service experience

Our Designed for You concept corresponds to consumer wishes for
individually tailored services, while the Quality Hunters project 1s
focused on service development.

Increasing significance of responsibility

Pohitical decision-makers, consumers and other stakeholders require
businesses to operate more responsibly and transparently
Regulation and reporting obligations will increase, and businesses
are required to be more diligent in momitoring the ethical dimen-
sions of their supply chains. Consumers momtor the responsibility
of companies’ operations and give feedback on social media.

The airhne industry will face stricter regulattons on emissions and
noise, with increased regulation resulting in added costs such as
tax-like payments Airlines must increasingly cooperate on issues
related to safety, emissions, noise and passenger rights

We respond to these changes by investing in a more environmentally
fnendly and cost-efficient fleet, developing our operations towards
greater efficiency and responsibility, improving our supply chain
monitoring and participating in joint projects in the industry. We
will also continue to develop our reporting and stakeholder commu-
nications related to responsibility
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Indicator (KPI) and target level

i Actions taken in 2013

-
& 11

Performance in 2013

Customer experience

» Customer satisfactron read more on page 20

- Developing the product service and network 1o better
meet customer needs Read more on pages 14-20

v B6% of customers graded therr customer stistaction
. as “good” or “very good”

—U-.Qﬂﬂm—u_m m—.os: : » Operational result at least 6% of turnover i = Launch of new routes to Xi'an and Hanoi ' X Operatronal result -0 2% of turnover
........................................................ = Seeking additional revenue through product and ...................................... R _
T et T o e e oooon...| sETVICE development ahitboliuhthiies
* -+ positive economec added value in excess of 8% of the : + Implementation of the cost reduction programs 1 X Negative operational result
' cost of capital (WACC pre-tax) , commenced in 201t and 2012 Read more on pages :
: 5%9-60 . X ROCE 2 3%
: « Adjusted gearing no more than 140% Lt Financing arrangements carried out 1n 2013 to . v Adjusted gearing 77 6%
E . maintain a strong balance sheet Read moreonpage T T
. T 62 :
: = To pay. on average, at least one-third of the earmings  : : v The Board proposes that no dwidend be paid for 2013
i pershare as a diwvidend during an econemic cycle The | :
: aim s to also take into account the company's earnings® H
i trend and gutlook, financial situation and capital : !
. needs for any given penod. . :
!+ Increase in RASK {Revenue per Avallable Seat : ! X RASK declined by 3 8% compared to 2012
' Kilometre} H i
. ' : X :
ost m itiven , *+ CASK (Cost per Available Seat Kilometre) excluding > Implementation of the cost reduction programs i v CASK excluding fuel decreased by 1% compared to |
Cost co ﬁmn tiveness , fuel decreases from 2012 level ; tommenced in 2011 and 2012 Read more on pages 2012 i
Temmmaman ———— S — [ cmmremmrnraens’ 59-60 e eeeeeeremeeeteeessseeeeesseassemsssmsesssessssseesses i
. - Fuel consumption per avaslable seat kilometre (ASK) “ - Optimisation of the fleet and route netwark ¢ v Fuel consumption / ASK decreased by 1 9% compared
+ will decrease H ;. te2012
R ne ettt s s i « Replacing Boeing 757 awcratt with new Aibus 321 B e o e m e e e e
i » Emissions per available seat kilometre will decrease  :  Sharklet aircraft Read more on pages 23 and 64 ‘v €0, emisstons / ASK decreased by 6 3% compared to
. . « Reducing emissions, Read more on pages 23 and 2012
X ;o283 ' v NOX emissians / ASK decreased by 5 3% compared to
H . 2012
_:ﬁm—.:Nan—-N_ + The 4D well-being at work index + « Management and training programs Read more on _ v Well-being at work index 3 8/5
winning team : Read more on page 38 :  pages 40-41 and 45-46 Jmmmemmemesmmmemes es cee cceceeooeee. R it
g ST e e * v Absences due to sickness decreased by 0 3%-points 1o

- Decrease m absences due to sickness

4 6% in 2013

v
t
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THE TRIPLE BOTTOM LINE

Kati thamaki, YP Sustainable Development

Sustarnability 1s integral to Finnair’s overall business strategy and
operations, and as such, the company’s annual reporting framework
should ideally reflect this reality Thus 1s especially true in an industry

like aviation, where an airline’s greatest environmental impact, CO,
emissions, 1s a byproduct its single largest cost item by far, fuel In
our business financial and environmental impact are in close align-

ment.

In the broader corporate world, however, the historical practice has
been to separate financial and sustainability reporting, and up until
now that has been Finnair’s practice as well But at many compa-
nies the need to integrate these two streams of information has been
nonetheless increasingly clear to shareholders, analysts, personnel,
governments, media and other stakeholders. Companies in the fore-
front of corporate reporting are looking at ways to combine and
streamline thewr reporting practices toward the “triple bottom line”
— financial, social and environmental results And so at Finnair, this
year we have sought to include this information within one annual
report

Assessing materiality

But first, all reporting depends on 1dentifying and assessing mate-
riality — that 1s, the topics considered significant to economic, envi-
ronmental and social impact or those that influence stakeholder
decisions. For this report those topics were 1dentified by means of a
survey of a range of stakeholders, including customers and frequent
flyers, investors, suppliers, employees, authority representatives and
media. We also conducted workshops with subject-matter experts

from throughout the company to identify issues and trends of mate-
ral interest

From this survey 1t became clear that many issues are clearly impor-
tant to both stakeholders and management Passenger health

and safety as well as employee safety figure toward the top of the
universal list of priorities, along with fuel efficiency, future compet-
ittveness, environmental legislation, business contimuity and cost
efficiency Stakeholders expressed a concern for chmate change and
working conditions. Lobbying, public policy and noise pollution
were toward the bottom of the priority list for both stakeholders and
management, although even for these factors the survey reflected a
moderate concern on behalf of both parties

By reporting accurately on these material topics and meaningfully
engaging with stakeholders on them, we not only secure our opera-
tions but also earn our hcense to grow. It is our hope that this annual
report stands as a thorough yet succinct account of our operations,
and a cogent case for our value proposition.
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Customers

Creating value for customers

As a service company Finnair 1s organized around the needs of its
customers, and a key strategic focus for the airline 1s the customer
experience The core product offering — destinations, frequencies
and the overall customer experience — is created with customers
in mind In developing its value proposition, Finnair builds on its
inherent strengths a convenient and compact hub; efficient and
punctual operations, professional and knowledgeable employees
But to continue to serve existing customers and to cultivate new
ones, Finnair must also always be alert to external changes 1n the
market and to larger trends. A successful service company 1s one
that listens — to its customers and to the marketplace at large.

The growing economic importance of Asia 1s clearly reflected in
Finnair's network development over the past dozen years, and
accordingly service culture must also take into account the needs
of Asian customers The mobile computing revolution meanwhile
has created new expectations for product development in aviation,
as more smartphone-and tablet-wielding travellers come to expect
more digital services at their fingertips, from booking and check-in
to in-flight entertainment and frequent flyer programme In some
markets, quality-conscious customers in ever greater numbers are

Strategic Megatrends  GRlindicators
PRIORITIES  AFFECTING OPERATIONS IN THIS SECTION

Customer expenence, Shift in economic and PR3, PRS

Profitable growth geopohitical power,

Technological development
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also seeking more personalised services and value-added travel

experiences These trends and more inform the development of
Finnair’s value proposition

The most direct indicators of how well Finnair listens to customers —
and acts on what it learns — are Finnair’s own customer satisfaction
surveys External ratings such as those provided by Skytrax are also
telling, being roughly indicative of the general service level and how
1t compares in the sector at large. From a commercial perspective,
how well Finnair 1s meeting (or even creating) demand 1n its chosen
markets can in part be measured by total Revenue Available Seat
Kilometres (RASK) and then comparing that measurement with
competitor benchmarks

Asian expansion brings new service challenges

Finnair has flown to Bangkok since 1976, Tokyo since 1983 and
Berjing since 1988, but around the beginning of the 21st century

the airhne began in earnest to reorient its overall network strategy
around Asia-Europe traffic, in response to rapid industrial invest-
ment and econonic growth in the East The new Asian prosperity 1s
here to stay, indeed 1t’s only just getting started, and Finnair’s Asian
revenue 1s growing with 1t — our amm 1s to double 1t between 2010
and 2020 Finnair s accordingly tasked with meeting the needs of
the growing numbers of Asian customers

As the largest Asian country with the most room to grow, much

of the focus 1s necessarily on China. According to the UN World
Tourism Organisation, in 2012 China surpassed the US and
Germany as the largest outbound tourism market in the world.
Chinese investment 1n European companies 1s meanwhule growing
dramatically — totalling some EUR 9.5 billion 1n 2012, up 21 per

cent from 2011 — and fueling demand for long-haul business travel

between China and Europe On Finnair’s routes from the Western
Chinese cities Xp'an and Chongqing, for example, the majority of

passengers are Chinese, which of course means developing the
customer experience to suit Chinese needs and expectations, from
in-flight meals and service to duty-free shopping options

Thus 1s also why all of Finnair’s Asian routes are served by at least
three locally-based cabin crew members able to provide service in
customers’ native languages In-flight entertainment options on
long-haul fhights are also always available in Asian languages At
Helsinki Airport, customers can be sure to find signage and help 1n
Chinese, Korean, Japanese and Russian 1n addition to Finmsh and

Revenue passenger Distribution of passenger revenue, %
kilometres by traffic area

% %

Casasow " AsaaI%

M Eurape 29% I Europe 36%

Wl Lersure 12% W ersure 0%

B Domestic 3% Moomesuc 8%

I North Atanbi 5% P North Atlantic 4%
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English, and Finnair's Duty Free shops are staffed with personnel
able to speak several languages Japanese and South Korean citizens
with biometric passports are able to complete border formalities
with automated passport control gates as well

Mobhile technology and social media: new possibilities,
new expectations

Another dramatic change in the marketplace over the past decade s
the digital communications revolution reshaping customer expec-
tations every day Paperless ticketing has been the norm at Finnair
for years now, and Finnar supports the goals of [ATA's Fast Travel,
an automation program for commercial aviation covering check-in,
baggage drop, document check, boarding, flight rebooking and

bag recovery. In 2013 Finnair was awarded Fast Travel Gold status
by IATA for mtroducing automated and digital mobuile processes
for all of these activities at Helsinki Airport and many outstations,
reducing queues at airports and giving customers more options for
self-service during their journey

Social media meanwhile has transformed how customers get infor-
mation, interact with each other and connect with brands. In the
UK, for example, more people spend more time on Facebook than
watch television, and that trend is broadly similar in most of the
other territories where Finnair operates. A much-cited study by
market research firm Nielsen also confirms the unsurprising conclu-
sion that overwhelming majorities, in virtually all markets, place
much more trust in “earned” online product reviews by strangers
than they do 1n pard advertisements

Customers, 1n other words, are already talking about Finnair in
social media whether the company actively engages with them or

not. This 1s why Finnair now engages with customers in various
social media in six languages: English, Finnish, Swedish, Chinese,
Japanese and Korean The company's objective with this engagement
i1s to hsten and learn, improve brand awareness, support sales and —
last but not certainly not least — solve customers’ problems Thus last
function 1s especially vital when operations are subject to significant

disruption (See sidebar “Customer communications in social media
in case of disruption” for more information )

Social media also brings new dumensions to the passenger journey
itself In March 2013 Finnair introduced an optional social check-tn
service whereby passengers’ Facebook profiles are inked with the
seat map during the seat-selection process, enabling greater socia-
bility on board for those wishing to open themselves up to new expe-
riences when travelling. Customers can also more easily share their
fhight information on different social networks if they so choose
Alternatively, passengers can travel “incognito” as before, in this
hyper-connected world, for some customers it 15 just as important to
occasionally disconnect as to connect.

Integrated approach to customer service

In 2013 Finnair recognised that to meet 1ts customer service objec-
tives and to maintain and grow 1ts market position, that a more
holistic organisational focus on customer service would be required
Accordingly, Finnair's customer service functions, which formerly
stood alone in their own division, were merged into the Operations
or Commeraial divisions. The change underhned the role that all
employees across the organisation have to play in serving customers,
whether 1n front hine customer-facing positions or not
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Additionally, Finnair's Commeraial division 1s undergoing further

changes 1n order to better gauge, react to and cultivate market
needs Product development and marketing are now combined

1nto one team, ensuring that market outreach activities are closely
informed by the real customer experience and vice versa More
emphasts 1s also now being placed on improving e-commerce capa-
bilities, business analytics and decision-makng processes Finally,
the Finnair Plus program and the value it generates for customers
has taken on new priority, as oneworld, the global alhance to which
Finnair belongs, grows in membership and provides Finnair Plus
customers even more benefits and more opportunities to “earn and
burn” points on more world-class airlines’ route networks

oneworld for all

The oneworld alliance 1s in fact in the mudst of its biggest expansion
in hustory. In 2013, Malaysia Airlines and Qatar Airways entered

the allilance, adding two top-tier carriers to the collection of leading
brands from each global region arrberlin, American Airlines, British
Arrways, Cathay Pacific Airways, Finnair, Iberia, Japan Airhnes,
LAN Aurlines, Qantas, Royal Jordanian and S7 Airhines. Also
coming soon 1n 2014 1s SriLankan Aurlines, as well as Brazil's TAM
and the other members of the LATAM Atrlines Group not already
in oneworld. In addition, US Airways’ network will soon inte-

grate with the oneworld map as part of its merger with American
Aurlines After this expansion drive 15 complete, oneworld will stand
as the global quality alliance par excellence, serving almost a thou-
sand airports in more than 150 countries with 14,000 daily depar-
tures, carrying 480 million passengers a year on a combined fleet of
almost 3,500 aircraft, all the while generating some USD 140 billion
m annual revenues

7

But within oneworld, increasing joint business activity between

member airhnes is also creating more value for customers In July
2013 Finnair joined the transatlantic joint business founded by

fellow alliance partners American Airlines, British Airways and
Iberia. Finnair customers flying to North America can now book
flights to dozens more North Amernican cities on one single ticket at

ifn social media in case of disruption
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a more competitive price, while customers of the other three airlines
now also have better access to 13 cities in Finland and the rest of
Europe

In 2014, Finnair 1s set to enter a similar joint busimess between
oneworld members Japan Airhines and Bnitish Airways on traffic

between Japan and the European Umon, which would, like the other
joint business, create more network connecuivity and more competi-

tive pricing for customers of all three airlines Both moves are exam-
ples of Finnair pursuing tighter cooperation within the oneworld
alliance to improve network connectivity and better serve the needs
of intercontinental customers, delivering much more route options
and value to customers than any single airhne could on 1ts own

Highlights in product development

A successful airline listens to customers and the marketptace and continuously develops 1ts offering. New
products and services developed in 2013 included-

[ |

Autdmiatic checksin- Passengers flymg from Helsinki Airport and many other outstations are now checked
n automatically before their Fight if they haven't already done so. Mobile boarding passes are also sent to

customers’ phones. !

Social check-ifi Those who lixe to meet new people or open themselves to new experiences while traveliing ,
are now dble to link their Faceboek profile with the seat map during check-in. Of course, “incognito™ travel I
1s still an aption

Marifnékko textiles and tabileware: The design collaboration first announced 1n 2012 became a light and
visudlly refreghing reality on board all Finnair arrcraft starting from May 2013. .

New Signature’Meals Finnair partnered with Michehn-starred chef Pekka Terdva and noted fusion gourmet
chef Tomi Bjdsck toccreate'new menus for long-haul Business Class, combining the best of Nordic and Asran !
cuistne to create a distinctly Finnair flavour. m

Full-flat beds: Finnair began the process of retrofitting most of the rest of its widebody fleet with seats
In Business Class that convert to fully fiat beds After the retrofit s complete in 2014, 12 of Finnair's 15
widebody aircraft will feature the new seats, with the rest due to be retired from service after the arrival
of Airhus A350 x,-,...w aircraft in 2015,

In-flight entertainment refiewdl: On long-haul flights, Finnair nearly doubled its inflight entertainment
optionswith a chorce of 72 movies aind more than 150 TV shows available on demand in both Economy and
gusiness Class. 1nflight entertainment 1s included in the price of the ticket in both classes on all long-haul
Hights. Meanwhile, on FiAnair’s new Airbus A321s with Sharklets, which are mostly eperated on medium-
haul and leisure or charter routes, passengers can hire Samsung Tab 3 tablet computers at a cost of EUR
10. The tablets come preprogrammed with dozens of hours of video and music, as well as games and
newspapers.

N
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SOCIAL INDICATORS

PR3

TYPE OF PRODUCT AND SERVICE INFORMATION REQUIRED BY PROCEDURES,
AND INFORMATION REQUIREMENTS
Finnair’s operations are regulated by numerous official regulations and international agree-
ments For the customer, the most important product information issues relate to the conds-
tions of carmage and customer's nghts

"The duty to disclese relating to the condibuns of carmage s based on the Montreal Conven-
tion, and the content of the Convention hasalso been codified in official regulations Finnair’s
General Conditions of Carriage are enclosed with travel and cargo documents, and are also
available on the company website. The special conditions for package tours are based on the
EU Directive 90/314/EEC The condibions relating to package tours provided by Finnair are
to be found in tour operators’ travel documents, travel brochures and websites

Thearhine has a duty to communicate the passenger's nghts if a passenger is dented access to
a flight, the passenger's flight 1s cancelled or the fight 15 delayed. This duty 1s based on EC Reg-
ulatron 261/2004 At the same time, the airline must mform customers of whom they can file
acomplaint with. Finnair complies with these regulations in its customer service operations

A custorner’s protection of privacy 1s prescribed by the Finnush Personal Data Act 22.4 1999/523.

FINNAIR ANNUAL REPORT 2013
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LINKS:

Finnair's General Conditions of Carriage

+  hitp/fwww finnaiz.com/INT/GB/info/conditions-of-carnage

Finnarr Notice on Passenger Rights
+  hotps.//www finnar com/go/documents/PDFs/Finnarr-Notice-on-Passenger-Rights- 2012 pdf

Cargo guidelines and conditions of carriage
+  http://www finnaircargo com/en/cargo/gurdelnes. htmi
+  http /iwwwaunnkomatkat.fi/matkachdot
{Aunnkomatkat general condrbons of travel, in Finnush)
»  hittpy//wwwarea fifehdot-ja-saannot
(Area and SMT guidehnes and general conditions of travel, in Finrush)

Montreal Convention
+ http//eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUnServ/LexUnServ do?urt=CELEX.22001A0718(C1)-en HTML

EU Package Travel Directive
+ http//eur-lex europaeu/LexUnServ/LexUnServ do?un=CELEX 3199010314 en HTML

Minimum Alr Transport Passenger Rights when passengers are denied boarding against their will or a fiight is cancelled or delayed
+  http //eur-lex.europa.ew/LexUnServ/LexUnServ.do?un=CELEX 32004R0261 en. NOT

Finnish Personal Data Act
+  http/fwww finlex fifen/laki/kaannokset/1999/19990523
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PR5

PRACTICES RELATED TO CUSTOMER SATISFACTION, INCLUDING RESLILTS OF
SURVEYS MEASURING CUSTOMER SATISFACTION

Finnair monntors the customer feedback 1t recerves and reports on the feedback to the depart-
ment concerned at least once per month. In urgent matters, contact is established and feed-
back is relayed immedhately In 2013, customer feedback was used particularly in redesigning
Finnair's website to make it more customer friendly We have also improved customer com-
muications n exceptional sitzations concerning arr traffic based on the feedback we have

recerved. Proactive customer compensation during cabin service has also been developed fur-
ther One of our main goals remnains improving the overall customer expenence based on feed-
back Customer feedback s also important for the motrvation of customer service personnel,

Finnair momnutors customer satisfactton daily on its scheduled flights, and the results are re-
ported monthly The customer satisfaction survey covers all of Finnair's scheduled traffic des-
tinations and also part of the scheduled traffic destinations operated by Flybe. Until the end
0f2013, the survey was carried out by means of questionnarre forms drstrbuted to pre-deter-
mined random seats on flights. The survey’s key mdicators are the general rating of the fhght
expenence as well as ratings of vanous elements such as booking, airport services and in-flight
services From the beginnung of 2014, customer satisfactton 1s monitored by means of a web-
based survey sent to the customer 1-7 days after hus or her fight. On Astan routes, Finnarr also
participates m [ATAs competitor monitoring surveys, which track the quality of service expe-
nienced by the customer i compartson to the most important competitors

Overall, Finnair’s customer sahsfaction remans close to the level seen m recent years, achiev-
ing the previously set target. Of all customers completing the survey in 2013, 86 per cent rated
therr experience as “very good™ or “good” The strengths of the service included efficient and
smooth ground services and effective transfers at Helsinka Awrport. Customers also apprea-
ate Finnair’s cabin environments and fnendly in-flight service. Development areas nclude in-

flight entertamnment and meals Finnasr took further measures to improve the customer expe-
nience n 2013, induding the mtroduction of Manmekko tableware and cabin textiles m spning
and summer 2013 From September, custorners have been served meals designed by Pekka
Terava and Tormu Byorek, two of Finland's mast renownied chefs. The in-fhight entertamment

selection was also increased substantally in the auturnn by, for example, nearly doubling the

number of ilms available,
Finnasr's customer satisfachon surveys also cover the services of LSG Sky Chefs Finland. In

addition to customer satisfaction surveys at the group level, Finnair’s substdianes also com-
mussion their own customer satisfaction surveys

Finnair's customer satisfaction with flight as a whole in 2013

Intercontinental Business Class _
Intercontinental Economy Class —

Europe Business Class —
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Operations

World class operations

When Finnair was founded 90 years ago, its first challenges in a diffi-
cult northern chmate were immediate and practical. As an airrline

literally born on the ice — Helsink:'s frozen Katajanokka harbour
was Finnair’s first airport — Finnair has of necessity taken pride in

a culture of operational excellence, even in unforgiving conditions
But Bruno Lucander, the company’s entrepreneurial founder, would
have been the first to point out that it’s not just the weather that can
be harsh or unpredictable when operating an airhne

In 2013, the market for commercial aviation continued to grow glob-
ally, wath 1ts centre of gravity shifting tectomically toward Asia The
reorientation of global air traffic presents new opportunities but also
new risks for airhnes such as Finnair looking to meet rising demand
from the east The nising global appetite for oil 1s driving structur-
ally hugher fuel prices, putting new pressure on airlines to be more
fuel-efficient At the same time, more governments than ever are
alse demanding measurable action to be more fuel-efficient and
reduce emissions of greenhouse gases, as we see with the EU’s Ermis-
sions Trading Scheme and with agreement at the UN's ICAO to
reach a global framework by 2020 on a “market-based measure” to
offset emissions Meanwhile, barriers to entry in the sector have
never been lower and overall competition never more cut-throat,
driving the need for even more efficiencies in airline operations

Strategic Megatrends  GRI indicators
PRIORITIES AFFECTING QPERATIONS (N THIS SECTION
Profitable growth, Urbanisation, ENL, EN3, EN4, EN5, ENB,
Cost competitiveness Technological development,  EN16, EN19 EN20 ENZ2,
Sustatnabitity ENZ6
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To survive and thrive in these circumstances, Finnair must draw on
its long institutional experience of safety and efficiency and rise to
the challenge in all aspects of its operations, from the apron to the
cockpit, from network planning to fleet management Key opera-
tional performance indicators include Cost per Available Seat Kilo-
metre (CASK), fuel burn/CQ, emissions, aircraft utihsation, on tme

2
performance, connection reliability and bags left behind

Safety first

When developing operations the first and foremost consideration 1s
always safety As the foundation for the company’s and indeed the
sector’s success as a whole, safety and nisk prevention are built into
Finnair’s operating culture, and numerous official regulations are
binding upon the group’s activities, starting with European Union
OPS-1 regulations governing the operation of commercial aircraft
Additionally, as a member of the International Air Transport Asso-
ciation {IATA), Finnair adheres to IATA Operational Safety Audit
requirements, which are to some extent stricter than the European
OPS regulations Compliance with regulations of all of the airline’s
operations 1s ensured by an annual audit, and possible deviations
from requirements are designated for rapid correction

Although regulations create the framework for flight safety, an effec-
tive airline needs a comprehensive safety culture to match that 1s
best described by the term “Just Culture” This term means that

all kinds of human ship-ups and errors are permitted, but inten-
tional violation of regulations 1s unacceptable. Finnair’s entire safety
philosophy 1s based on the 1dea that no single human error causes
an accident, rather safety networks built into the system are able to
catch errors and mitigate their impact. Various protection networks
in the company’s operating systems are designed with the key objec-

When developing
operations the first and
foremost consideration

is always safety

In this annual repor: we have crowdsourced
images through Finnish mobile application
Scoopshot. We have also used pictures
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tive of stopping the advance of a possibly damaging course of events
and the materialisation of nisk

An effective safety culture has another dimension. reporting
Personnel — traditionally pilots in particular but also other workers
- report the risks associated with their work and events that occur.
The company applies a safety reporting system in which reports

on arr safety, maintenance safety, ground safety and cabin safety
are produced According to Just Culture principles, those making
reports suffer no consequences on the basis of safety reporting,
because the aim is to learn from events and further develop safety
processes A safety report cannot, however, be used to wash one’s
hands of safety violations — intentional violations are unacceptable

At Finnarr all safety reports are interpreted and given a nisk classi-
fication according to the seriousness of the event Events that seri-
ously Jeopardise safety are rare and almost without exception a sepa-
rate safety investigation 1s launched in respect of them A safety
investigation may be carried out by the authority concerned, such

as the Accident Investigation Board of Finland If authorities decide
not to carry out an investigation, Finnair performs an internal safety
mmvestigation In cases related to flying, the safety investigator 1s
always an expenenced pilot specially trained in the subject The
safety investigator (or investigators} always carries out the investiga-
tion independently and the company's management has no opportu-
nuty to influence the course of the investigation

Fuel efficiency and a modern fleet

A commitment to safety and comfort entails more than regula-
tions, process and culture; it 1s also embodied 1n a modern, energy-
and cost-cfficient fleet — a prerequisite for cost competitivencess

and profitable growth in a sector where fuel costs are lugh and soa-

etal pressure to reduce CO, emissions is growing An imperfect
but telling indicator of an airhne’s environmental performance 15

its average fleet age At the end of 2013 the average age of the fleet
operated by Finnair was 9 9 years, against the IATA overall average
of 10 2 years All Finnair Airbus aircraft belong to the latest aircraft
generation

q the BackbonedFFidnalr's future long-haul growth strategy, will set new standards
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In September 2013 Finnair made important progress toward

the twin goals of fuel-efficiency and greener operations when it
became the world’s first commercial operator of Airbus A321
aircraft equipped with new, fuel-saving Sharklet wing tip devices
The extended-range, single-aisle aircraft, which has the lowest fuel
burn, operating cost, emissions and noise footprint in its class, is

quieter and more comfortable for passengers than the older aircraft
it replaces, as well as about 7 per cent more fuel-effictent per seat.

Representing a substantial reduction 1n costs and CO, emussions,
three A321s with Sharklets entered the fleet in 2013, with another
two due in the first half of 2014

The five A321s with Sharklets replace Finnair’s four Boeing 757s that
were used mainly for leisure and charter flights, enabling more flex-
tbility and interoperability between European scheduled and leisure
flights, driving up aircraft utihsation and thus improving returns on
the fleet investment The new aircraft also complete Finnair’s shaft to
all- Airbus operations, bringing further cost efficiencies in mainte-
nance and pilot training.

World-ciass performance and partnerships enable a
network strategy

The scheduling flexibility made possible by the commonality and
simplified maintenance regime of an all-Airbus fleet also helps
achieve excellence 1n on-time performance, connection reha-

bility and bags left behind, without which Finnaur’s strategic focus
on network traffic through Helsinki would not be tenable. World-
class quahty and punctuality create the basis both for Finnair'’s value
proposttion and its drive toward profitable growth, and are priori-
tised accordingly

Jet fuel consumption
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To insure swift turnarounds of arcraft and smooth connections,
personnel at Finnair’s hub and network control centres work round
the clock looking after the status of all aircraft and customers. Good
cooperation with the Finnish Border Guard and Finavia, the oper-
ator of Helsinki Airport which guarantees a mmimum connection
time of 35 minutes, 1s also essential,

Another key component of punctuality and operational excellence
1s close coordination with strategic vendors 2013 was a notable year
in that it was Finnaur's first full year of operations with outsourced
apron, catering, and engine and component maintenance services
- functions which previously had been performed for Finnair

in house In choosing world-class partners for these functions ~
Swissport, LSG Sky Chefs and SR Technics respectively — Finnair
increased quality and achieved record levels of operational perfor-
mance while reducing costs at the same time The airhine has
achieved a stmilar result with its “thin route” Embraer and ATR
flight operations as well, with its strategic partner Flybe Finland

But Finnair’s new operational model in which it works 1n cooper-
ation with a wider ecosystem of strategic suppliers 15 not without
risk Before, Finnair largely had “no one to blame but itself” in the
event of a significant disruption or operational difficulty Now,
however, if a key vendor 1s facing operational difficulties for what-
ever reason, those difficulties are hikely to be felt by Finnair as well,
which then must take ultimate responsibility This risk 1s mitigated
to a large extent by close cooperation, coordination and perfor-
mance review with mission-critical partners, and by the fact that
while key partners each excel in different core competences, they
all share the same ulttmate business objective of serving passengers

with a quality air travel experience. When disruptions occur, as they

inevitably must sometimes do 1n an unpredictable world, Finnair
works to ensure that the least inconvermence 1s felt for the greatest

number of passengers in the network, with a particular priority on
transfer passengers.

ndard for environmental performance
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The results of a commitment to operational quality and smooth
hub operations were seen in 2013 with Finnair's performance in
monthly reports generated by FlightStats, an independent travel
data provider The firm's well-publicised “league table” for on-time
performance routinely showed Finnair to rank in the Top 5 of major
international airlines for punctuality — and in April, May, August

and November Finnair was found to be No 1 globally, a remarkable
achievement considering the scope of the competition and some-

thing that can make all Finnair employees and partners proud With
89 73 per cent of flights arriving withia 15 minutes of the sched-
uled time, Finnair fimished 2013 as the world’s second most punctual
major airhne network The connectivity rate for all transfer passen-
gers, meanwhile, exceeded 98 per cent, and 6 8 bags per 1000 were
left behind, against the industry benchmark of 10 bags per 1000,

Also figuring in the top ranks in FhightStats’ monthly reviews were
several of Finnair’s fellow members of the oneworld allhance, which
overall was named the best alliance for punctuality 1n 2012 and
again 1n 2013 This wider, global network of quality 1s increasing

in commercial importance for Finnair as it enters more codeshare
cooperation and joint businesses with other airhnes, such as that
with fellow oneworld members American Airhnes, British Airways
and Ibena on transatlantic services This world provides precious
few guarantees, but with the track records established by Finnair
and other key partners, passengers can feel reasonably confident
that if they are transferring through Helsinki, they can counton a
safe, hassle-free and pleasant air travel experience That expectation
15 the asset at the core of Finnair’s value proposition and 1t must be
safeguarded.

Finnair leaves fewer bags behind than average
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THE WORLD OF FINNAIR

@ Finnair's Network Contro! Centar warks 24 hours a day to ensure Employee well-being and work capacity are monitored by Finnair
accurate and smooth flight operations. Health Services, which s also responsible for providing aviation
medical services and regular check-ups for ftying personnel

2 ) We seek ways to reduce heat, electnaty and water consumption
m our offices, We also sort bso-, paper and energy waste for

collection and recyding. —
r -
o
LR ) Finnatr aircraft land with a
@u&mﬁﬂm- Continuous Descant Approach
Check in -y Check =L d i (CDA) whenever possible (DA
via Internet - via text message landings reduce norse, fued
consumption and envssions.
AR § 5 ¢
Finnar offers bbbl 14 - g o
customers several -
optons for checking n
+ Check-n kiosk . m *
by the check-in kiosks * > J .
- B -

< Well-maintained and dean engines consume less fuel and
emit fewer greenhouse gases. Finnarr Technical Operations
, works under an environmental permit and aims to reduce
the envimonmental impact from, for example, the use of
chemucats i ameraft maintenance

®

When Finnatr Cargo maximises arcraft
payload we can fiy wath fuller planes,
which reduces emssions per tonne of
transported goods.

®

in 2013, 679% of cabin waste was reutiised, meaning it was
either reused as matenal or inginerated for use as energy
Et) regulations concerning catening waste onginating from
outside the EU prevent Finnasr from reutdsing more

Finnair's promise of service 1s a promise of
peace of mind, and our professienal and
expertenced personnel are the keys to
fulflling this Al Asian flights also include
cahin crew from the destinat:on country in
When 1 kg of fuel s burned, 3.15 kg of CO2 s discharged into the atmosphere Greenhouse gas emrssions Asia.

are by far an aidine’s largest environmental impact. Finnatr improves fuel efficency and reduces emsssons

by technological, operational, infrastructural and economic means
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ENVIRONMENTAL INDICATORS

EN1

MATERIALS USED BY WEIGHT OR VOLUME
"The emphasis of Finnair's use of materals 1s marmly on transport fuels, partrcularly jet fuel. [n
thus report, fuels will be treated mainly as energy and the consumphon of fuels 1s reported in
section EN3 Inaddition to fight operations and fuel burn, sigruficant matenal flows are cre-
ated n LSG Sky Chefs Finland, Finnair Techucal Services and Finnair Engine Service, as well
as Finnair Cargo

Meal services for Finnarr flights from Helsinka are supplied by Finnair’s partner LSG Sky
Chefs Finland. As one of Finland's largest kstchens, it consumes a substantal amount of ma-
tenalsand also represents a considerable proportion of the matenal consumption in Finnair's
supply chatn. The raw materials used in catening services consist mainly of foodstuffs and the
matenals required for packaging them. Most of the matenals used are renewable. Finnair con-
tinuously develops its service conoepts and, from September 2013, customers have been served
meals designed by Pekka Teravi and Tom Bjorck, two of Finland's most renowned chefs As
part of its development efforts, Finnair began using frozen meals produced outside Finland
for hot meal service in addition to the meals designed by the chefs. The shaft to frozen meals
15 reflected in a decrease in the company’s own purchases of meat, fish and vegetables com-
pared to the previous year. Overall, the increase in the volume of foodstuffs was in line with
the growth in passenger volumes in 2013

In May 2013, Finnarr introduced Manimekko for Finnair design products aboard its aur-
craft. The Marimekko for Finnair product range mcludes porcelam tableware, bedding and
food service textiles, as well as disposable products used in food and beverage service, such
as coffee cups and paper napkans. The Iimo senes tableware produced under the Manmiek-
ko for Finnawr design cooperation feature hughly durable porcelain that 15 15 per cent hghter
compared to Finnair’s previous tableware. The bighter matenal supports Finnawr’s aim of de-
creasing the total weight of awrcraft m order to reduce the environmental unpacts of flymg,
‘The new Manimekko for Finnair products completely replaced the previous tableware and
textiles, which requuired a substantial nvestment and 15 reflected as an increase in matermals
under other purchases in 2013

The most significant consumption of matcnals by Finnair Cargo companues anses from
the storage of cargo as well as preparing and protecting cargo for transportabion. Cargo tobe
transported is protected with plastic, because the loading and unloading of arcraft and the
transport of cargo between the terminal and the aircraft takes place cutside, which requires
that cargo be protected from the weather

Aurcraft de-1cing ts a significant arca of material use i Finnair's aperations. in cold weather,
1ce and frost forms and snow falls on the fuselage and wings of arrcraft. They must be removed
before take-off for fhight safety reasons A muxture of propylene glycol and hot water 1s used
for de-icing. More information on de-1cing agents is given m sectron EN21

Finnair Technical Services” most important environmental aspects relate to the use of spare
parts and chemucals Due to the use of chemucals, Techmcal Services has an environmental
perrmut. In 2013, the operations of Finnair Technical Services were scaled back considerably,
whuch s reflected 1n a substantial decrease in chemicals consumption. The most significant
change with respect to the use of cherucals m 2013 was the discontinuabion of engine service
operations and the related surface firishing department. ‘The spare parts and components
needed for the maintenance of aircraft are toa large extent repairable goods  In ine with stand-
ard industry prachice, arrcraft components are reparred whenever safety aspects and official
regulations allow, because the components are very expensive. Thus means that the bifecycle
of arcraft components ts typically long. The amounts of components and spare parts are not
reported, however, because no universal or meamngful comparable data are available on them,

011 2013 2012 2011
1,0000 1,000pcs  1000pes 1,000 pes

2013 2012 2011
1,000 kg 1,000 kg 1,000 kg

2013
1,0001)

2012
1,0001

* This figure does ot nchde retals used by Fionan Technical Services, betaise the statstes systemused for metall raw material consumed in Techneal Services cannok
provide comparable data. Finnar Techrucal Services does not marufacire products. however 50 35 a user of raw materials t 15 not a significant player on an ndustral scale

** Lhenucak consumpton fgresfor - donot mclude dry e wsed n catenng operations. Dry €2 5. by a sigruficant margen, Finnar s thind largest category of chemcals
purchases befund jet fued and propylene glycol, For ths reason, te figure 5 not drecthy comparable with the chemical consumption figures for
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Ftanair Technical Services’ use of chemicals 2009-2013, in tonnes
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Finnair's primary energy consumption 2010-2013

CHEMICAL GROUP 2013 W2 2011 2010 2009

Jet fuel 2013 2012 2011

ﬂrﬂgﬁ_amﬁﬁ
Pamits andd varmshes
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Cleanmg agems and detergents
Solvents
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EN3

DIRECT ENERGY CONSUMPTION BY PRIMARY ENERGY SOURCE

Finnair’s direct primary energy consumptton consists of the use of transport fuels Aviation
1s very energy-intensive. Globally, Finnawr’s largest ervaronmentat load anses from flying and
particularly from the use of fossil jet fuel.

In 2013, Finnar’s total consumption of jet fuel decreased by over 43 million kilogrammes,
or nearly 6 per cont, compared to the previous year The savings tn fucl consumption were
achieved by, among other things, route network optirmisation, developing fhight and taxi prac-
tices and reducing the empty weight of aircraft. Finnar also improved its fuel efiiciency rela-
tive to avarlable capacity: in 2013 Finnair’s fleet consumed nearly two per cent less jet fuel per
available passenger kilometre and over two per cent less jet fuel per available tonne kilometre
compared to 2012, Due to fuel savings measures and improved utilisation rates, every pas-
senget klometre flown and every tonne kilometre of payload transported were operated with
less fuel consumed.

In 2013, Finnarr’s ground velucles consumed a substantially lower amount of fuel than m the
previous year As this was primanly due to the outsourung of ground services, the figures are
not fully comparable to the previous year’s fuel consurmption figures.

Jot tuc! (bet A ) kn
MWh

Gl
Change

Ground vehicies 013 2012 2011
Pearol |

Change

Diesel, 1,000 |
MWh
GJ

Change

Fuel oil, 1,000
M
G!

Change

Total 2013 2012 2011
Mt

G!

Change

In addition to Finnair’s fleet’s energy and fuel consumption, the company’s encrgy bal-
ance sheet also includes the transportation capacity that Finnair Cargo purchases from
other compantes In 2013, transport of the cargo entrusted to Finnair Cargo by other air-
lines required 29,220 tonnies of jet fuel in total This 1s equal to approximately 1,265,459
GJ The amount includes cargo flights that were operated solely due to Finnair Cargo
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Fuel consumption and fuel efficiency in flying 2005-2013
2005 2008 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Consumption,
omes
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g/ATK

= Fue! conguenption adusted o0 passenger tra ¢

RTK = reverne tonne kilometres, Le. capaaty use acoording to payload wesgl.
ATK = avardable tonne kllometres. 1.e capacty accordmg to payload weght
RPY and ASK descrbe passenger tra € performance and RTK and ATK describe performance acoosding to payicad capacity
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EN4

INDIRECT ENERGY CONSUMPTION BY PRIMARY SOURCE

In 2013, Finnair's indirect energy consumption amounted to 103,438 MWh. Of this amount,
electnaty consumption acoounted for 46,104 MWh, whule heating energy accounted for 56,200
MWh. Both electriaity and heating consumption dechined by over 10 per cent from the previ-
ous yeat This reduction in energy consumption was primanly the result of the moving office
operations to a newly constructed energy-efficient bunlding named the House of Travel and
Transportation (HOTT) The mowe tovk place gradually, starting in June 2013, Geothermal
energy accounts for 80 per cent of HOT T's energy consumption. The building 1s categonised
in Energy Class A and LEED Platinum ervironmental certification was recerved i early 2014

Energy consumption of Finnair’s properties in 2010-2013

Indirect energy consumption 2013 2012 2011

“Electricity o him
Gl

Change

Heat M#h
G!

Change

Total M¥h
G

Change

Change from

Of the heat energy consumed by Finnair, 90 per cent was consumed 1n the operating loca-
tions situated at Helsinke-Vantaa Asrport. The heat energy was delivered by distnct heating, of
which 44 per cent was produced by natural gas, 56 per cent by coal and 0 04 per cent by heavy
fuel oil. The CO, emussions created from the production of heat energy in 2013 amounted to
180784/CO,.

Finnarr buys electricity from the electriaity dervatives market via the Finnish national gnd.
According to the company that mamtains the gnd, most of the production 1s carbon neutral,
but part s produced by fossil fuels The different energy sources and their relatve proporttons
are not known, nor 1s the amount of pnmary energy required to produce the electneity

EN5

ENERGY SAVED DUE TO CONSERVATION AND EFFICIENCY IMPROVEMENTS
Owing to the energy-intensive nature of its industry, Finnair s deternuned to improve the
energy efficiency of its operabions, particularly by striving to reduce jet fuel consumption.
Fleet modernisation 15 the single most siguficant measure by which Finnair reduces 1ts ener-
gy consumption. Next-generation arrcraft consume approximately 20 per cent less fuel than
therr predecessors. The carbon dioxade emissions of the areraft have also declined by a corre-
sponding amount. In late 2013, Finnarr recerved three of tive new A321 Sharklet aircraft that
replace 1ts old Boewng 757 aircraft.

The on-going fuel savings program resulted 1n savings of over two per cent in jet fuel con-
sumption in 2013 compared to the previous year This corresponds to nearly 16 mallion kalo-
grammes of fuel saved per year, which in turn translates to a decrease in CO, enussions of more
than 50 mullron kilogrammes Finnair has paid attention to fuel consumption 1n a number of
different areas. The weight of arrcraft has a sigruficant effect on fuel consumption. The use of
new technology and high-quahity lightwerght matenals have enabled the company te reduce
the empty weight of its aincraft. Weight control 1s also one of the most important selection ert-
teria i all purchasing of atrcraft components and equipment.

Finnasr has irvested in fuel efficiency m many different ways 1n 1ts operational functions For
example, ground operations employ single engine taxung whenever possible. In addition, the
use of APU engines has been optinused (the awxahary power unit, or APU, generates electric-
ity and pressurised arr for vanous aircraft systems) Together, these measures result in annu-
al fuel savings of several millon kalogrammes. The economical flying training for all Finnair
prlots, which began in 2012, conttnued m the pettod under review The aim of the traming 1s
to implement consistent operating practces and dissemunate information on the factors that
influence overall flight economy These mclude optimal awrspeed and alutude Fhght plannung
15 also amed at achieving optimal fuel efficiency by selecting the most economucal route al-
ternatives and negotiating more efficient overflight routes In 2013, Finnar abtained several
new flight routes, particularly in Asian traffic, that reduce flight times and therehy improve
fuel economy

As apartner of Finavia, Finnaer has already participated for many years in the development
of new lands of landing practice. In Continuous Deseent Approach (CDA) landing, the air-
craft’s altitude 15 reduced gradually throughout the entire landing stage. A landing performed
n the traditional way includes honzontal flight stages, when the arcraft’s engines have to be
used now and then wath greater powet. This means that the awrcraft's consumption of fuel and




FINNAIR ANNUAL REPORT 2013

STRATEGY / CUSTGMERS / OPERATIONS / EMPLOYEES / SOCIETY / FINANCE / GOVERNANCE / GRI

awr emussions are hugher than ina CDA landing, In additron, the approach method implement-
ed in late 2013, which 1s armed at better optmusation of the parallel runways at Helsinks-Van-
taa Aurport, s expected to result in signaftcant reductions in fuel consumption and emsssions.
In March, Fininair parttcipated in the international Earth Hour for the fourth time by switch-
ng offits advertising hights at the airport and m various properties for a whole weekend and
mforming personnel of ways to conserve energy at work as well as when off duty
In October, Finnair orgamsed its annual energy conservation week, durnng which informa-

tion and energy conservation tips were disserunated to personnel. There were several themes
durning the week, and personnel were encouraged to discuss and consider the sipmbicance of

energy conservation as well as new ways to save energy

Finnair Facilities Management Oy has jomned an energy efficeency agreement between the
Confederation of Finmsh Industries, the Finrush Mirustry of Employment and the Economy
and industry assoctations The parties to the agreement are commutted to reducing propertres’
energy consumption by nune per cent from the 2007 level by 2016 Finnau’s properties imple-
mented several energy conservation measures in 2013 The most sigruficant of these measures
were related to changes in the ventilation scheduling of arrcraft hangars, changes to automated
building services, valve replacements and upgrades to automation systems

The combined effect of these measures 1s an estimated reduction in energy consumpbion
0f 25,631 G] per year

Energy efficiency has been given special consideration at Finnair’s new head office HOTT,
which was commussioned in summer 2013 Document printing is avorded and workstations
do not have their own waste baskets Instead, paper waste 1s sorted directly into collection
boxes near the photocopiers and the kitchen on each floor has collection ponts for biowaste,
energy fraction, glass and metal.

ENG

INITIATIVES TO PROVIDE ENERGY-EFFICIENT OR RENEWABLE
ENERGY-BASED PRODUCTS AND SERVICES, AND REDUCTIONS

IN ENERGY REQUIREMENTS AS A RESULT OF THESE INITIATIVES

In 1ts customer service functions, Finnair is aiming to increasingly move towards digital ser-
vices to avoud paper consumption. The packaging materals for in-flight products have akso
been selected to maximuse their recyclability

Finnair’s subsidiary Finland Travel Bureau (FTB) merged 1n 2013 with another Finnair sub-
sidiary, Arca. The merger formed the largest Finnish business travel agency, FTB. In all of its
operations, FTB monuters and strives to reduce paper consumption FTB sends afl documen-
tation related to travel, mvoicing and travel management to customers electronically Com-
munications are also carned out electrorucally In recent years, FTB has been active in utilis-
ing virtual meeting technology in 1its internal meetings and traing, whuch reduces the com-
pany’s need for travel.

ENS8
TOTAL WATER WITHDRAWAL BY SOURCE

Finnair's water consumption 2011-2013
Water consumption 2013 2012 2011

Water m_
Change _ _

In 2013, the water used by Finnair was taken from the municipal water supply network The
prmary water source is Lake Paganne

EN16

TOTAL DIRECT AND INDIRECT GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS
Nearlyall of Finnair Group's greenhouse gas emussions anse from fhght operations Flying pri-
manly causes two kinds of direct greenhouse gas emissions: carbon dioxide and water vapour
Water vapour is the most important greenhouse gas m the atmosphere, but it 1s not generally
examuned directly as a human-derved greenhouse gas erssion, because the water vapour n
the atmosphere 1s mainly the result of natural evaporation. Arr transport es 1n a special posi-
tion n thus respect, because the water vapour generated by the engines is released hugh in the
atmosphere, increasing the atmosphere’s H,O content above the cloud layer However, not
much is yet known about the effect of water vapour emissions from aviation

In 2010, Finnasr Group set an ambitious target for cutting its carbon dioade emussions
Finnair's target 15 to reduce its CO, emussions by 24 per cent per seat by 2017, using the 2009
level as the baseline.
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In 2013, the greenhouse gas emussions of Finnair’s own flect amounted to approximately
2,336,930 tonncs of carbon diexide. This figure does not include wet lease operations, which
refers to Finnatr fzghts operated with leased arcraft and crew in circumstances wherne the
company's own equupment 1s unavailable,

These figures also include the capacity acqured from other operators by Finnair Cargo In
2013, this cargo capaaity produced approximately 92,000 tonnes of carbon dioxade 1n total.
The amount mchades cargo flights that were operated solely due to Finnawr Cargo.

Information on truck transport used by Finnair Cargo 15 absent from ths report. Finnair
Carpo purchases transport services from truck companies, and the statistical practices of these
companies do not allow actual emissions to be caleulated at present. Finnawr Cargo's mam part-
ners tn truck trafhc use vehucles classified as EURQ 4 ata munimum.

Finnair's direct and indirect greenhouse gas emissions 2011-2013
Co,, tonnes H,0, tonnes

Direct greeshouse gas 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011
emissions, tennes

Flying AY
Ground equipmest, AY

Indirect greenhouse gas
emissions

Electnoty nfa* n/a
Heat nfa*
Total

Change

*wiill b avaltable /
“*witbe avalatle /

Passenger traffic unit-specific
€0, emissions 2009-2013

grams
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1

g/RPK ME/ASK

RKP = revenue passanger kilometres

ASK =available seat kilomaires

RTK = revenee tonne kilometres, Le, capanty use acrordng to
payload weight

ATK = avaitable tonne kilometres, 1 & capaoty use according lo
payload weght

RPK and ASK describe passanger traffic performance and RTK and ATX
descnbe performance according to payload capacity {passangers +
baggage + cargo)

Adjusted to passenger traffic

Payload traffic unit-specific
€0, emissions 2009-2013
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EN19

EMISSIONS OF OZONE-DEPLETING SUBSTANCES
The Finnair Group does not use agents that destroy the ozone layer in the upper atmosphere.

Aurcraft fire extinguishing systems, which use halon fire-extingutshing agents, constihute an
exception. Halon must be used i aircraft fire-extinguishing systems, as alternative agents

approved for cvil aviabion use are not yet available on the market. The types of halon used in

Finnair asrcraft are Halon 1301 and Halon 1211 In 2013, one extinguisher containeng Halon
1301 gas was set off, resutting in 10 lalogrammes of halon being released into the atmosphere.

Halons released into the atmosphere
Kg 2013 2012 2011

Halon

Haton

Tota$

CFC equrvalent Total

The ODP (ozone depleting potentral) of halon 1211 1s 3 and that of halon 1301 15 10 The
ODP of a cherucal compound 15 the relative amount of degradation to the ozone layer it can
cause, using the ozone depleting potential of a CFC compound as the reference point.

ENZ2O

NITROGEN AND SULPHUR OXIDES (NOx, 50_), AND OTHER SIGNIFICANT AIR
EMISSIONS

In 2013, the total nitrogen oxide enussions from Finnair flight operations declined by approx-
imately five per cent compared to the previous year. The dechine 1s due to decreased fuel con-
sumptien. The figure excludes the NOx ermusstons of the Sharklet awrcraft that began eperat-

ng in December, as well as those caused by wet lease aperatrons
Besides carbon dioad, nitrogen oxides (NOx) are the most significant atr ermission arsing,

from flying, NOx emissions anse from combustion processes that take place at high temper-
atures Nitrogen oxides contnibute to the formation of azone in the lower atmasphere, but de-
stroy methane, which 1s a powerful greenhouse gas, in the atmasphere. The impact of utrogen
oxides 1s complex and in many respects sl not fully understood.

The basis of the calculatton of NOx ermussions produced by the engines of Finnarr atrcraft
are ermusston figures m relation to route lengths reported by engine and arrcraft manufactur-
ers In Finnar, these values are apphied to actual fuel consumption figures separately for each
mndmdual route. In addition, the figures are compared with documents based on engane cer-
tificatrons mamntaned by the UN's International Civall Aviation Organisation (ICAQ)

NO_emissions arising from Finnair flight operations 2011-2013
2013 2012 2011

NO, emussions Mkg )

In addstion to NOx errusstons, Finnair’s operations give nse to volatile organsc compound
{VOC) enussions VOC emissions are harmful to the emvironment by, for example, contrbut-
ng to the formation of ozone n the lower atmosphere. Lower-atmosphere ozone, moreover,
1s harmful to both hurman and animal health and flora Finnair's VOC emissions are derved
manly from hydrocarbons that remaimn uncombusted during the combustion of transport
fuels as well as from chemicals used in Technical Services Finnarr Technical Services' enwi-
renmentzal permut specifies an upper annual limat for VOC emussions and Techrucal Servic-
es’ emussions are considerably lower than this Due to substantial scaling down of operations,
the VOC enussiens of Finnair Technscal Services declined by more than a third n 2013 com-
pared to the previous year
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Finnair Technical Services YOC emissions in 2013

Aliphatic  Aromatic
hydro- hydro- hydro-
carbons carbons

VOO hej
"Painis and varmsshes

Pant removatl agents

Glues and scalmg

agents

Solvents

ANL-CITUSION agents
Cleaning agents
Washing benzene /
wastung solverts
Total

EN21

TOTAL WATER DISCHARGE

Wastewaters produced by the Finnair Group are discharged into the municipal sewerage net-
work The exception is a water-propylene glycol mixture used inaircraft de-reing, which Fina-
via primarily collects and transpaorts to the waste water treatment facility for processing. Small
amounts of the maxture also flow mto small streams and drtches that surround Helsinks-Van-
taa Aurport. The arca’s streams and ditches run into the River Vantaa and the River Kerava.
Finavia reports on these emissions in 1ts ervironmental report.

According to a study conducted by a third party and completed i January 2014, the bedrock
potassum concentrahon at the airport are elevated compared to natural concentration levels,
but the concentrations are still considered low The potassium concentration of groundwater
towards the Payanne tunnel have not changed significantly The computational impact ofthe
use of de-1cing agents on surface waters and groundwater 1s rmunor According to research mto
the effects of propylene glyoel during wanter 2012-2013, the streams and ditches surmounding
the arpart showed shghtly elevated levels resulting from glycol. However, the airport’s oper-
ations were not percephible in analysis results fror the River Vantaa and the River Kerava. Fi-
navia, which mamtans Helsinki-Vantaa Airport, 1ssues reports on the propylene glycol and
the amounts thereof that end up in the soil and waterways in connection with arreraft de-iang

Unit-specific NO_emissions,
passenger traffic 2009-2013

grams
04

03 -

0.23
0.19
02 -

01

00

09 10 u 12 13

g/rPk Mgiask
Adjusted to passenger traffic

Unit-specific NO_emissions,
relative to payload capacity 2009-2013

grams
400

oo -

200 - - -~ -

g/mik Wg/atk

R
3

15

Development of use of solvent-containing
chemicals and VOC emissions in Finnair
Technical Services 2009-2013

kg
100,000
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o
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VOCemussions = Solvent-containing chemicals
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TOTAL WEIGHT OF WASTE BY TYPE AND DISPOSAL METHOD

The total amount of waste generated by Finnaw increased by 16 per cent, or nearly 700 tonnes,
from the previous year The increase in the quantity of waste 1s primarily explamned by the in-
crease m the number of fhghts, The waste recovery rate decreased as waste outside the EU
increased as a result of the EU Anumal by-products Regulation. Thus type of waste 1s not re-

cyclable and 1ts disposal requires special handling, In other respects, the waste recovery rate
unproved further in 2013

Waste generated by Finnair according to final disposal method
kg 2013 2012

2011

Composung™”
Change,
Recycling
Change,
Energy e
Change,
Landtdi sie
Change,
Other”
Change,
Total
Change
Re-utiisalion
Recycling

“ Waste i the Other category s ncluded n the Recyclng category n reportng for
** The decrease i the amount of composted waste t5 due Lo the discontinuaton of the Lise of bakery waiste for bipethanol produc-
ton m early

‘The mayority of Finnaur'’s hazardous waste ts generated by Finnair Techrucal Services [n 2013,
the amount of hazardous waste generated by Techrucal Services mcreased by 85% from the
previous year This 1s due to the cosure of the surface fimshing plant located man engime ser-
vice facility sold by Finnair The amount of waste metal s also substantially lugher than i 2012
Thas 15 due to structural changes in Techrucal Services as well as the emptying of premises

Hazardous waste generated by Finnair

2013 012 201

Hazardous waste, tornnes

_thange.
Re-misable”
Re-utdisation

* Reutihsable hazardous vaste meudes waste kerosene, which s used as a co-com-
busbion agent in processing hazardous waste, and part of solvent waste, which
Finraxr s partner deans and refums to Techmeal Senaces for reuse.

Amounts of waste and utilisation
percentage 2009-2013
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INITIATIVES TO MITIGATE ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS OF PRODUCTS AND
SERVICES, AND EXTENT OF IMPACT MITIGATION
One typical adverse environmental effect of air transport 1s nose. The noise produced by air-
craft is mainly engine noscand acrodynamuc nosse. Thelevel of engine noisc is greater in take-
offs, while the level of acrodynamic nowse grows during approaches

In the Finnair Group, noise pollution 1s reduced by modermsing the aircrak fleet and by
planning takeoffs and landings at less undesirable times from a noise perspective, However,
Finnair also operates flights in the everungs and at rught, at which tmes noise ts percerved to
be more disruptive

Finnalr fleet noise values
Takeaff noise / ICAD Approach noise / ICAD

Atreraft type Engine type noise fimit noise Hmit
A M C ! /
A oM C / !
A GECF EAMB / /
B PEW ! /
A CM -B/fP / !
A M B/P ! /
A M B/P ! !
A A B/P / !
A CHM ! / /
A ChM -B/P ! /
A v oA / /
Embraer GECF - E / /

! !

Embraer GECF  ES

TRAVEL AGENCIES
Aurinkomathat-Suntours participates i environmental protection projects at its holiday des-
tinations Loving Andaman Sea1sa project m Kraby, Thailand, to promote responsible tourism
at thelocal limestone ciffs The progect organuses volunteer cdleaning days on beaches in Krab
approximately once per month. The project includes many travel businesses from the Krab
region, and Aurinkomatkat became the first foreign enterpnse tojoin the projectin 2011 Au-
rinkomatkat staffand many customers have: participated in the volunteer cleaning days, with
thousands of kilogrammes of hitter removed from the beaches

In Fuerteventura and Gran Canara, Aunnkomatkat participates, i cooperation wath its local
agent, m a campaign organsed by the chantable orgarusation Fundacion Seur to collect hard
plastic bottle caps. The proceeds recerved from recycling compames are used for the medical
care of chuldren from low-income famultes and the purchasing of required equipment. The
farmbies recerving assistance are selected by the foundaton Aunnkomatkat customers can
hand bottle caps collected during their hohiday to staff on the way to therr return flight, who
will then have them detivered to the campaign's collection boxes Through their participation
n the campagn, Aunnmkomatkat and its customers support both local child welfare chartty
work as well as environmental protechion.

Auninkomatkat also particrpates in many assistance projects that customers may also par-
ticipate in (see page 56)

Vi
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Employees

Our greatest resource

There are lots of business models that sound deal on paper, but at
the heart of any enterprise are the boots on the ground — or indeed,
wn the air Finnair's employees — their skills, knowledge, presence,
decision-making and athitude — determine ultimate business success
or failure. Are all employees working together toward common

goals? Do they understand the competition and the business land-
scape? How international 1s their outlook? Is work taking place 1n an

environment conducive to health and wellbeing? Are there opportu-
mties for work rotation and career development? Does the working
culture attract and retam top talent? Do management and labour
untons work together 1n constructive, strategic partnership? Getting
the answers to these questions right 1s essential in driving Finnair’s
value creation

Wellbeing at work: 4D survey

Twice 1n 2013, as per the annual plan, Finnair carried out 1ts 4D
survey, which collects and delivers information on the status of the
work community in order to promote personnel weli-being and
develop the work culture

Strategic Megatrends  GRl indicators
PRIORITIES AFFECTING OPERATIONS IN THiS SECTION
Customer experience, Shift in economic and LAL LA2, LA4, LAG, LA7,
International winning team  geopoltical power, LAS, LAG, LAIO, LAL2, LAL3,
Technological development,  HR5, HR6, HR7, S05
Sustainability

g mly

In this annual report we have crowdsourced

images through Finnish mobile appiication

Stoopshot. We have also used piciures ,
{Tom InSiagram accounis: finnairnoora and

finnairiomi. |
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In the annual extensive 4D survey everyone has the chance to

express therr opinion on four aspects of the survey, 1.e my line
manager, my work community, my personal aspect and my health

and well-being The survey gauges the level and development of
employees’ commitment to Finnarr, its strategy, ways of working and
organisational renewal. Based on the survey results, we aim at rein-
forcing things that are welt and further developing things that need
to be improved. Up to date information on the status of work and
working environment are the basis for enhancing wellbeing at work.

Each autumn, Finnair also measures day-to-day wellbeing at work,
job satisfaction and general satisfaction through the implementation
of a condensed 4D Pulse survey. The average scores of the 4D Pulse
survey can be seen as a general index of occupational wellbeing and
Job satisfaction in the work commumty

Finnair HR 1s responsible for implementing both 4D surveys, and
the data collected 1s treated wath strict confidence and used only
for scientific purposes without personal identification informa-
tion Feedback is always given on a general level 1n order to protect
individual anonymity In addition to the survey, the company has a
systematic process and a set of operating models for processing the
results in the work commumities. The aim 1s to activate the work
community to discuss ways to improve wellbeing-at-work based on
an analysis of the survey results

The participation rate 1n the spring 2013 survey was 53 per cent and
the autumn survey was 56 per cent The wellbeing-at-work index for
the group as a whole in spring 2013 was 4.0 and in fall 20133 8 on a
scale of 1 to 5, with 5 being the highest score

Number of persons employed by Finnair
atyear-end

8,000 — —

_ —. 5,803
6.000 — — - - _——
4000 — @ — @ @— @ — - —
2000 —— e = e e

0
09 10 n 12 13

Employees by group
%

Employee wellbeing in 2013

%

1=Poor3 9%
Fl2=114%
Wi-291%
Waxa2

B35 = Exceflent 12 9%

" Finnish Awation Umon 1AL 16%

B Finish Aviation Empkyees Association SLV 5%

W Fuanar Technical Employees Assocation FT5%

W Fianaw White-Collar Employees Association FYT 129%
Wiravel agents 5%

W rinamsh Arline Pilots Assocation (SLU 12%

W innssh Cabin Lrew Limon (SLSY) 299%

M 0Other 3%

M Gutside Fintand 129%

BB Wanagement posiitons 2%




FINNAIR ANNUAL REPORT 2013

STRATEGY / CUSTOMERS / OPERATIONS / EMPLOYEES / SOCIETY / FINANCE / GOVERNANCE / GRI

Building the international winning team

One important way Finnair’s leadership and working culture 1s
developed 1s through the International Winming Team philosophy
Finnair's customers — and the airhne’s prospects for survival and
growth — are mostly international, and this requires employees with
an internattonal outlook, experience and competence. Accordingly a

member of the Finnair Executive Board 1s nominated to be respon-
sible for each of five competence areas:

+ Airhne Business Understanding How we understand the airhne
industry, the market environment, our business model and way
we execute it

+» Change Management- How we lead the change, new competitive
circumstances and fresh business challenges

+ Project Management. How Finnair implements new projects and
builds and extends its business according to the project method-

ology

« Process Management- How we use processes to develop and
enhance our operations and business

« Partner Management. How Finnair focuses on the core airhne
business and manages relationships with strategic supphers and
other partners

The aim of our Human Resources development 1s to provide our
employees with concrete tools to manage daily tasks and to ensure
employees’ professional skills respond to the needs of the business
New employees are provided with on the job training and induction
Finnair has systematically used tools developed based on its lead-
ership principles (goal-oriented, developing, incentivising, caring
and fair) to support supervisors and teams in their day-to-day work
Finnair’s Takeoff and Runway development programs for super-
visors also continued 1n 2013, further strengthening the compa-
ny’s consistent leadership culture and improving the capacity of
managers to lead their teams, their businesses and themselves.

Finnair’s talent review and successor planning processes also play an
important role in the management and development of the organ-
1sation. Talent review 15 based on Finnair's management principles
and Performance Dialogue process. The talent review has helped
improve the company’s successor planning and career rotation
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opportunities and allowed the orgamsation to systematically focus
its personnel development efforts on certain target groups

Codes for success

The manner and ethical norms in which the internattonal winning
team operates matter as much as the work itself. [n a logistically
demanding business with global reach in many different legal juris-
dictions and cultural traditions, good intentions and instincts are
not enough to protect the company from undue risk - clear ethical
guidehines and principles for doing business must be articulated

as well Thisis why in 2012 the Board of Directors approved a new
Code of Conduct applying to all management and employees, and
this code was further explained and huighlighted to personnel in
2013 E-learming package was also ntroduced in 2013 The full text
of the Code can be found at www finnairgroup com in the Corporate
Responsibility section.

As an airhne, however, we are only at the tip of a very deep supply
chain Of equal importance, then, are ethical principles in the
Suppher Code of Conduct, which governs all procurement decisions
and also came into force in 2012. It can also be at www finnairgroup
com in the Corporate Responsibility section

These formal declarations of principles are intended to help us build
a strong and fair business on a sohd foundation of ethics that wall
stand the test of time
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A matter of trust: Relations with employees and

labour unions

Finnair 1s going through a structural change aiming at improving
profitability and competitiveness Our goal 1s to save 200 million
euros in annual costs by the end of 2014 The savings are being
sought from all functions, including employee costs, and they apply
to all employee groups

Finnair's employee relationships are governed by collective labour
agreements (CLAs). In the fall of 2013, agreements based on
Finland’s central incomes policy settlement were reached with

the Finnish Flight Attendants’ Union (SLSY), the Finmsh Avia-
tion Union (IAU) and Finnair employee groups belonging to Trade
Union Pro A similar agreement was made with the Finnish Airline
Pilots’ Association {SLL) in December

The negotiation process was difficult and 1t led to strike threats by
{AU and SLSY in November There was also a threat of support
strikes related to the intended change of employer union of the
catering subcontractor LSG Sky Chefs. There were deficiencies in
catering due to industrial actions of the LSG employees, while 130
flights had to be cancelled because of the threat of strikes Although
the strike threat caused significant financial losses, the terms of
employment were finally agreed on without strikes, lockouts or
industnal actions at Finnair

In addition to the labour agreements, agreement on savings nego-
tiations was reached based on the crisis clauses defined in the
central Incomes policy settlement The aggregate of agreements was
reached to secure Finnair’s future.

The aim of the agreement 15, 1n addition to the goals of the central
incomes policy settlement, to agree on the measures to secure jobs
and the future of the company 1n case of exceptional financial diffi-
culties.

Finnair’s employee and employer unions stated that at the time of
the signing of labour agreements Finnair 1s 1n exceptional financial
circumstances as defined in the central incomes policy settlement
Thus, an agreement was made to start or continue local savings
negotiahions with each union. As communicated earlier, with the
savings agreement Finnair aims at saving 60 million euros part of
which must come from personnel costs, including flight crew costs

The new collective labour agreements are now in place and negotia-
tions to reach the savings are ongoing The aim 1s to reach the targets
tn 2014 m a way acceptable to all parties

The CLA negotiations, though concluded peacefully, highlighted

a difficult 1ssue still facing Finnair- The company must secure its
future in the long term, but naturally it 1s difficult for employees to
give up current benefits even if they are above the current market
level. Although industrial action 1s seldom tn the ultimate interest
of anyone at Finnair or Finnair's customers, it nonetheless remains
a serious risk to Finnair’s commercial objectives, which depend on
operational quality and punctuality
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SOCIAL INDICATORS

LAl

TOTAL WORKFORCE BY EMPLOYMENT TYPE, EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT AND
REGION
The number of Finnawr employees decreased sigruficantly in 2013 as a result of the structur-
al change in progress at the company At the end of 2013, the number of Finnarr’s employees
was 5,803, which 15 565 fewer than in the previous year Geographucally, the greater part of per-
sonne] works m Finland, the majority at Helsinki-Vantaa Aurport or in sts immediate vicinity

There are 710 Finnar employees working outside Finland. Of these, 263 are employed in
sales and customer service duhes for Finnair's passenger and cargo trafhic A total of321 peo-
ple worked for travel agencies and tour operators based m the Baltic countries, m financial
management and as guides at Aurinkomatkat-Suntours’ holiday destinations Personnel based
abroad are mcluded in the total nurnber of Finnair employees

Full-ime staff accounted for 95 per cent of Finnair employees, and 96 per cent of staff were
empluyed on a permanent basis. The average age of employves was 44 years

LAl Fixed-term and permanent employees as of 31 December 2013
Axfne Aabon Travel Othes
business SEIVIES ServIes funcions
Total
fiegemm{ )
Permanent { ]
Full-time and partine employees as of 31 Decembes 2012
Total
Partume |
fulltme( }

LA2

TOTAL NUMBER AND RATE OF EMPLOYEE TURNOVER BY AGE GROUP,
GENDER AND REGION

Number and proportion of those who ended their employment (voluntarily, made redundant,
retred or as a result of a fatahty)

Aurline Avtion ic ] Other Total
besaness ServEs SEOVICES functions
Total

Departed

Turmover  ©

* Yurnover figures do not inciude changes i personnel numbers due to ousourting and the ending ol fued-term employment
comracts Finag personnet working abroad are nckuded m the figures Hnnair does not maintam twmover stalstics i retslion

to gender 3ge grOUD of other diversity aspects.

LA6

PERCENTAGE OF TOTAL WORKFORCE REPRESENTED IN FORMAL JOINT
MANAGEMENT WORKER HEALTH AND SAFETY COMMITTEES THAT HELP
MONITOR AND ADVISE ON OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY PROGRAMS
At Finnaur, co-operation on occupational health and safety 1s organised in comphance with
Finnrsh occupational health and safety legiskation Personnel have representation in official oc-
cupational health and safety commuttees at the company level or the business unit level. The
occupational health and safety of Finnar’s personnel abroad 15 also taken into consideration
m the work of the commuttees

The occupational health and <afety commuttees operate at the company level, representing
vanous personnel groups. In large subsidianes, employees are also represented by occupa-
tional health and safety delegates at the department level, whose task 1s to participate m occu-
pational health and safety actity in pairs with the employer's representatives at the job level
Occupational health and safety delegates are selected via elections for terms of two years ata
tume. The previous term conunenced at the begainmung of 2012,and at the end of 2013 employ-
ees organused occupational health and safety elections for the 2014-2015 term
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The number of occupattonal health and safety delegates and their operating areas were ad- Employee health and safety issues are also handled by Finnawr s informal Trust Forum Mem-
justed at the end of 2013 to correspond with the significant structural changes m the orgami-  bers of the Executve Board, HR management, delegates and occupational health and safety
saton. [n addition, several changes pertaining to the occupational health and safety managers  orgarusatiors are invited to join the forum The forum prowvides background information on
representing the employer took effect on 1 January 2014. The changes are aimed at faciitating  and discusses matters such as equality and non-discrimmation, planning and changes per-
and improving the efficiency of cccupational health and safety actvmitiesand bndging thegap  tamning to employees on a broad basis
between the employer's representatives and the employee delegates

LA7
Rates of injury, occupational diseases, lost days and absenteeism, and total number of work-related fatalities by company and function
2013 Number of Number of ‘Workplace accident Number of Ssckness days due
work-refated workplace  frequency (number of business trip to work-related
accidents acadents  accidents per one mil- accidents accidents
fion working hours)

Arknes flght personnel

Arline s ground personntel
Finarr Techmcal Services Oy

Finaw Engne Senvice Oy
Cargo Oy and FCTO Oy
Fincatering Oy

Finar Fhght Acaderny Oy
Travel Retad Oy
Aurnkorratkat Oy

Area Oy

Fintand Travei Bureau Lid
Amadeus Oy

Total

The figures da not nchade Frinanr’s leased employees of Suboontracions

Finncatering had - suspected case of occupatonal disease

Flight pessonnethad - suspected case of occupations! disease n

There were ro (atalties in {the most recent fataltywasm )

Work-related acodents are divided anio workptace acordents and business trap acodents

Suckness days duc 1o work-retatrd acoidents This figure mchudes days of sckness absenoe causend by actidents that ceourved m where the duraton of the neapacily In work was al least one diy 0 addmon in the
day of the accdent, The day of the acodent & not ncluded m the caloudation.

Workplace acadent frequency = aumber of workpiace acodents per one milion working hoer's, Workplace acodents include all acodents thal ncurned treatment expenses and occurmed at the workplace of dunng work
Asfine s ground personnel = Group management, HR. support services, ground arew, operatve ground personnel and Traved Retar.
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EDUCATION, TRAINING, COLUNSELLING, PREVENTION AND RISK-CONTROL
PROGRAMS N PLACE TO ASSIST WORKFORCE MEMBERS, THEIR FAMILIES,

OR COMMUNITY MEMBERS REGARDING SERIOUS DISEASES

Occupational health services and wellbeng-at-work activities
At Finnar, the Finnair Health Services unit is responsible for activittes relating to occupation-
al health and working capacity Finnair Health Services, Finnawr Aeromedical Centre FAeMC
(subsequently referred to as Health Services) coordinates and 1s responsible for the implemen-
tation of occupational health care in the entire Finnair group Finnair Health Services 1s one of
Finland's leading experts in aviation medicine

The Finnair Group engages in active communtcation on occupational health issues by utilis-
ng its internal commumcation channels and by arranging special occupational health theme
days Asan authonsed aviaion medicine centre, Finnair Health Services also provides aviation
medical examinattons for the company’s pilots, cabin crew and external avators

‘The operations, services and methods of Finnair Health Services are based on industry best
practices, customer-focused work, leading expertise and the active production and applica-
tion of research evidence as well as effectrve processes Finnair Health Services’ main research
cooperation partners are the Finmsh Institute of Occupational Health and the Nahional Insh-
tute for Health and Welfare

The operational and service qualsty of Finnair Health Services is based on the European
Foundation for Quahty Management’s EFQM Excellence Model The quality system is used
to ensure that Finnair Health Services meets the requirernents for good occupational health
care practice in both aviation healthcare and aviatton medicine services Finnair Health Ser-
vices has dedicated and up-to-date quahty ranuals for occupational health care as well as
aviahon medicine A project to update and revise the quality manuals began in 2013 and wall
contnue 1 2014

Occupational heafth activities

Occupational health care s responsible for providing advice and gurdance based on informa-
tion and expenence at the workplace to develop well-being at work. Preventive occupation-
al health care actiines include influencing employees” health-related habits, identifying nisk
factors to health, providing advice and guwdance for health-promoting chosces and protect-

ing oneself from health problems, diseases and reduced work capacity before symptoms or
problems arise.

In its activibes, Finnar Health Services has focused in particular on developing screening,
and care practices for illnesses that compromise and affect workang capacity In the aviation
industry, some employees work in exceptional conditions and at atypical workmg hours In
2013, Finnair Health Services participated in a Finnish Institute of Occupational Health re-
search project aimed at producing information on identifying sleep and alertness disorders
associated with irregular working hours and preventing the problems they cause.

Workplaces and cocupational health care have cooperated in many ways to improve oper-
ating practices that help employees to conbnue to work and remain in working life despite in-
dmidual health restrictions and agemng These practices include referral to rehabibitation, tral
work placements, the lighterung of workloads, job modtfication, flexable working hours and
the use of part-ime sick leave supported by part-time sick leave allowance from the Social In-
surance Inshitutron of Finland.

Finnaur uses an early intervention operating model for the management of nsks related to
working capacity The eperatmg model s inchuded in group-level operating guidelines.

The operating pninciples of Finnaw's substance abuse prograrm is designed to contribute to
an intoxicant-free workplace and work community ldentifying substance abuse problems,
early intervention, treatment and rehabilitatbion help reduce the negative health effects of sub-
stance abuse and influence service quahty, productmty, occupational safety and working at-
mosphere. Thus also contnbutes to fixght safety

Promoting employee health and working capacity through various career stages
Employees are invited to medical check-ups every three to five years, depending on ther
work-related exposure to nsk factors, their duties and their age, 1n order to promote ther
health and working capacity Medical examinations were carmed out fora total of 986 employ-
ees n 2013. The examinations have a broad focus on various health nisks (including diabe-
tes and cardiovascular diseases) as well as musculoskeletal disorders, psychological disorders
and other senous llnesses that may compromuse workang capacity, operabing capacity and the
connection between work and health. Work placement medical examunations are conducted
for new recruuts and employees whose jobs, workang condrhons or work-related medical re-
qurements change. Returning examinations are also conducted for employees returning to
work after extended pertods of Incapaaty to work

Medzcal exarmuinahons pertaining to exposure at work include exammations concentrat-
ng on the effects of cosmuic radiation, carcinogenic substances, solvents and other chemicals,
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nosse, vibration and workang maght shufts In numimusing exposure to such work-related health
hazards, the primary focus 1s on mplernentmg working methods and procedures that involve
mummal exposure to hazards Aviation operatons requure the use of effective chenucals and
special attention 15 paid to chemical hazards and protection from them. Cosmic radsation as-
sessments were conducted for a total of 24 pregnant members of fhight personnel in 2013. All
flight personnel can check their cumulative rachation exposure by accessing a browser-based

system that provides information on actual hours of fhght duty performed and a mathemat-
<al calculation of accumulated cosrvuc radiation exposure. Finnaw Heafth Services has mon-

ttored the radiatron exposure of all fight personnel on a quarterly basis Radsation exposure
levels have not exceeded the annual maximum level (6 mSv)

Finnair Health Serwvices has offered employees inoculations agamst work-related infectious
diseases and influenza. The Health Services unit actively monitors the epidemiological situa-
tion of vanous infectious diseases and 1ssues instructions to employees as necessary [n adds-
tion, Heatth Services continuously monttors the epidermiologrcal situatton and other nisks m
Finnaur’s destmation countries.

Representatives of Finnasr Health Services participate in the development of workplace meals
and crew meals for flight personnel, The services of a nutrthonal therapist have been added
to occupational health care services, and i special cases employees have the opportunity to
obtain a referral from occupational health services for personal counselling visits by a nutri-
tional therapist.

Asin previous years, rehabilitation to mamtasn working capacity was carried out i coop-
eration with workplaces, the Socal Insurance Institution of Finland and Avire Oy In 2013,
a total of three rehabilitation courses custormused to the requirements of specific jobs began,
with 10 participants selected by occupational health care in cach. The courses targeted office
workers, pursers and Technical Services employees

As the company has implemented particularly substantial structural changes over the past
few years, redundancies, layoffs and other changes have been unavoidable. Finnair Health
Services has supported employees, work commumities and supervisors m coping with these
changes. Support has been actively offered to indvdual laid-off employees and work com-
musities to help them identify coping strategies and find a new direction in Ife. Occupation-
al health physicians and nurses have been responsible for group and indnidual- tevel support
measures related to the structural changes in their respective areas of responsibihty

Occupational health care services have engaged 1n student cooperation with Metropoha
University of Applied Sciences and, in 2013, thus cooperation resulted in three health events
aimed at employees In spring 2013, a two-day health event was implemented for technical

services personnel i cooperation with graduating nursing students with the theme “Mainte-
nanoe for the Man’ and in October a one-day health event was organused for ground service
personnel and a one-day Cancer Prevention event was organised as part of the Pink Ribbon
campaign. The event was implemented in cooperation with the Cancer Soctety of Finland

Wellbeing-at-work program
The principles of Finnair's wellbeing-at-work program for the peniod 2011-2015 apply to all
business unuis and their employees. The aim of the program s to promote the effectiveness
and funcuonality of the work commumity and to ensure the wellbeing of personnel through
all career stages. The program contrbutes to employee productvity; the company’s compet-
iveness and attractiveness as an employer as well as the implementation of the social com-
ponent of corporate responsibility

The members of the wellbeing-at-work steering group mn 2013 were the Duector of Finnar
Health Services,

Finnair’s Head of Occupational Safety, Finnaw Cargo’s HR manager and the group’s director
m charge of human resource development. The steenng group met 10 tures in 2013,

Exercise program in 2013

As n the previous year, in 2013, Finnair focused on increasing the day-to-day actnvity of em-
ployees whose exercise habits were below current recommendations The exercise program
was designed and implemented 1n cooperation between the UKK Institute, UKK Health Ser-
vices and Finnair Health Services The effect of the six-month exercise program on the par-
ticipants’ day- to-day actwty and fitness vanables wall be evaluated, and the project’ final re-
port and effectiveness analysts will be completed i carly 2014 In 2013, a total of 60 Finnair
employees parbapated i the project.

‘Three THROTTLE fitness groups were launched n 2013, two with a focus on exercise and
one with a focus on weight management. The programs were implemented i cooperation
wth Finnair's partner Avire Oy and with support from the Social Insurance Institution of Fin-
land. A total of 47 Finnair employees particspated n THROTTLE fitness groups

Finnar also implemented a new form of support for exercise n 2013 CREW and TEAM ex-
ercise allowances These discretionary allowances were directed at group exercise, FINNAIR
TEAM exercise allowance is intended for the promotion of work commuruty development,
well-bemng and communality Both allowances are granted in part or in full based on separate
applications and are avaitable to all employees. The TEAM allowance can be used to fund ex-
eraise actvibies—for example, m conjunction with team development days—while the CREW
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allowance can be used to fund vanous events, such as marathons and other mass sporting
events [n2013, Finnairemployees used the CREW allowance to participate in the Yritysmara-
ton 2013 (Company Marathon 2013) event, the Midmght Run event and the Pink Ribbon run.
More than 300 Finnair employees benefited from theallowance in 2013

On'29 July 2013, Finnair opened a modern fitness centre available to all employees at its new
HO I'T office building. Going forward, instructor-led group exercise classes will be orgarused
in the fitness centre’s group exercise reom.

workshops to support change management

Finnair's most important personnel development project in 2013 was Network, which com-
bines the development of well-being at work, managenal work and change management at
the team level. Network 1s compnsed of sets of three workshops led by Finnair managersand
supervisors, internal facilitators and external experts. The workshop themes are leadership,
well-beingand change. They introduce team supervisors to practical methods for promoting
well-being and change as a project that nvolves all team members. In the first phase of Net-
work in autumn 2013, workshops were organtsed for the employees who moved to Finnair's
new head office, HOTT, comprising approximately 800 employees and their 93 supervisors.
The praject will continue in these teams in spring 2014, and the Network operating models
will also be apphed 1n other areas of the Finnair orgamsation. The monitoring of the project
15 based on indicators regularty used by Fininair, complemnented by project-speaific queshons
and external reference materal (Aalto University CityWorkLife study)

LA9

HEALTH AND SAFETY TOPICS COVERED IN FORMAL AGREEMENTS WITH
TRADE LNIONS
Finnair's pnmary occupational safety forums are the joint occupational health and safety com-
muttees of personnel and the employer

The development of occupational health and safety 15 based on the occupational health and
safety action plan, the focal areas of which are updated annually

The focal areas in 2013 were:

+  Assesstng the current status of oocupational safety and planning the further develop-
ment of operations on the basis of the assessment

»  Establishing speaific operating methods

+  Anoperating model for preventing inappropate conduct and harassment

«  Early intervention operatmg model
« Developing and compiling statistics on accrdents and hazardous situations and the way

such cases are investigated

+ Further increasing awareness of 3T (a system for reporting hazardous situations, acar-
dents and damage to property and the environment)

» Harmomsing processes used in hazard identificabion and nisk assessment procedures as
well as workplace nsk assessments

» Developing shared occupational safety practrces for workplaces, occupational safety
perspectives of subcontracting chains and supplier networks

+ Including occupahonal safety as part of normal supervisory and managerial work (ma-
tenals, competence)

»  Developing occupational safety trainng, mduction trarrung and commurmications

The current state of cocupational safety was evaluated at the unit level. This was done by sk
assessment surveys using 3T Continued common development areas include harmonising
occupational health and safety actvibies between units and the development of consistent sta-
tistical practices and reporting. The unit-speaific development areas were related to, among
other thungs, the need to revise and update nisk assessments, developing supervisors’ oocu-
pational safety expertise and improving communitcation with personnel. The actions were
mncorporated into the action plans for 2013and 2014 The investigation of accidents and haz-
ardous situations was highhghted as one area of development. The aim of the investigations
15 to 1dentify the causes of accidents and hazardous situabons to develop measures to prevent
surular acaidents mn the future and to learn from acadents through the entire hne orgamisa-
tion. The operating model created for accadent investigations was developed 1n cooperation
with personne! representatives The invesigatton model improved the inveshgaton of senous
accidents by, among other things, developing reporting and the work of investigation teams
The development of reporting continuces.

The development of shared occupational safety rubes for workplaces continued in 2013 through
cooperztton between the vanous actors at the airport, but also by assessig and supporting
the safety efforts of subcontractors and updating the relevant rules and procedures The key
oooperation partner was Finavia and the cooperation took place via a forum that Finnair's rep-
resentatrves also partiapated in.

As an aviatron industry employer, Finnair actively develops the cocupahional safety of its
employees in cooperation with representatives of labour market organtsabions in a transport
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and logistics group coordmated by the Centre of Qecupational Safety The working group pro-
motes accupational safety, occupational health and safety cooperation and the development
of working hfe 1n aviation industry workplaces, The themes of the working group in 2013 in-
cluded, among other things, making the airport a safe workplace, producmg and publishing
an aviahon industry occupational safety video, developing occupational safety training in the
aviation industry and preventing violence in customer service.

«  http/fuk fiftormialat/kubetus_ja_logistikka/ilmaituata

LA1O

AVERAGE HOURS OF TRAINING PER YEAR PER EMPLOYEE BY
EMPLOYEE CATEGORY

In 2013, Finnair provided traiing for its employees via the Finnawr Aviation Academy amount-
g to 160853 student hours in total. Relatrve to company’s total number of personnel, thus
carresponds to 31hours per employee The figures do not mclude courses arranged wathun
departments nor traning provided by parties outside the company

2013 employees office staff flight personnel management total

Student hours 160,853

Persons per personnel group 3 o B o . 5183

Average hours per person ) B 3
2013 o012 2011 2010

Student hours ) 160.853

HAverage student hours per

person 1

LA1l

PROGRAMS FOR SKILLS MANAGEMENT AND LIFELONG LEARNING THAT
SUPPORT THE CONTINUED EMPLOYABILITY OF EMPLOYEES AND ASSIST
THEM IN MANAGING CAREER ENDINGS

With the help of the Finnair Fhght Academy (FFA), Finnair supports the develapment of per-

sonnel sklls actively and by diverse means Finnair Flight Academy provides personnel de-
velopment programs in the areas of thght tramning, safi ty and serice tramming, and technical

services traning.
The strategic competence development has been part of the Finnair Group’s HR since the
beginning 0f 2013, In 2013, the Human Resource Development (HRD) team implemented the

following strategic competence development projects and traming programs, among others

A. Development of managerial and supervisory work
»  Revised Manager Induction for all new supervisors
«  Runway supervisor tramng for team supervisors
«  Takeoff supervisor tramning for business management
»  Management team development
+ Mentonng pilot nvolving members of the Group's Executive Board acting as mentors
« Project competence: project manager certificaion, round 1
+ Process competence process traning course (online course)
«  Awrhne business competence — developing an onhne course
+ Partnershuip management - traming
+ “Teknukan uusi ark” supervisor traming
Supervisors in techrucal services each participated m a four-day intensive tramming event
with the followmng themes
1. Strategy, changes in the operating environment and operating metheds, and how to
manage them
2. Leadership at Finnaur
3 Admurustrative responsibilities
4 Continuous development of operations
5 Managenal communication
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B Customised personne! development solutions and projects

« Change management and personnel competence development under the AJB (Atlantic
Joint Business) project

+ “Teknukan uusi arka” workshops for all technical services personnel. A total of 599 em-
ployees participated 1n three three-hour workshops each “The aim of the workshops s
for the group to learn to independently assess and develop its performance and working
methods. They encourage work commuruties to take responsibility and trutiative in de-
velopment actwities, and motvates each employee to generate ideas on how to develop
their own work
The themes of the workshops were:
1 Historical development of work
2. Descnbing and analysing the Finnawr Techrucal Operations operating system
3 Developmentdeas and therr analysis and pnontisation

+  Global sales skills traiung - revised sales tramming

+  Sales Motivator program for cabin crew

+ Travel Retail sales tramning

C. Team development and coaching

+ [ndmidual coaching programs for key indrvaduals

« Network project to provide tools for supervisors and teams to implement changes in the
spint of respansibility and to discuss rules and procedures when workang methods are
revised

D Professtonal competence development and inductien tramming

«  WeWin induction traiming for new recrurts

+ The permanent themes include making the airport a safe workplace, developing occu-
pational safety traning in the aviatton industry, occupational health awareness for su-
pervisors, and occupational safety card training.

+  Other professional trimng orgamsed 1n 2013 mcluded driver trainng for Ground Cus-
tomer Service and Cargo, outstabion trammg, hrst aid and emergency trainng, recur-
rent training, systems traming and cooperation with educational mstitutes

Personncl development 1s strategy-orented and it utilises, m addition to tradstional class-

room training, e-learning, job rotatron, on the job traiming, coaclung and mentoring. Traning
and development needs are collected and analysed 1n the company’s various business units

and substdianes as well as at the departmental and inddual level as part of the personnel
planning process and i conjunction with performance and develapment reviews

The new flight tramming solutrons of Finnar Flight Academy (FFA) emphasise the benefits
of economucal fiying, Their aim 15 to reduce operative costs, improve traming models and re-
duce emissions. The International Air Transport Association ([ATA) has eshmated that in-
efficient operationial models increase operational costs by as much as 28 per cent  The Re-
verse Green™ tramming module covers all areas of flying that have an effect on overall economy
i refation to skills and attitude. The Fit to Fly™ recurrent training program ofters the same
elements in annual traming sessions. Mulifly™, organised i collaboration with Patra Pilot
Traming, provides newly qualified pilots with extensive skills in cconormcal flying, also m the
challenging Nordic condibons  FFA has also continuously developed new online learming
solutions that open up new pedagogic opportunities for the implementation of competence
throughout the organisation

The Finnair Aviabion Academy, founded 1n 1964, 15 a special vocational educational estab-
lishment mamntaned by Finnair Plc, which operates as a special educational establishment
under the Act on Vocational Adult Education (631/1998) Its task 1s to arrange further voca-
tional tramning leading to a vocational or special vocational quabification as well as other fur-
ther vocational traiung requured for the practice of Finnar Ple’s and its subsidhares’ opera-
tions (Further Vocational Trainmg Arrangement Permut 551/530/2006, 13 Decernber 2006)
As a privately-owned educabional estabhshment, the Aviation Academy funds its operations
in accordance with government aud practices and it 1sa member of Business Education Estab-
lishments ELO (Elinkemnoelaman oppilartokset Elo ry)
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LA13

COMPOSITION OF GOVERNANCE BODIES AND BREAKDOWN OF EMPLOYEES
PER CATEGORY BY GENDER, AGE GROUP, MINORITY GROUP MEMBERSHIP
AND OTHER INDICATORS OF DIVERSITY

At the end of 2013, 55 per cent of Finnair’s personnel were women and 45 per cent were men.
Three of the seven members of Finnair's Board of Directors are women

‘The average age of Finnair's personnel in 2013 was 44 years. Of the personnel, 30 per cent
were over 50 years of age, while four per cent were under 30 years of age The employees’ av-

erage number of years in service was 17 Employees who have worked for Finnar for over 20
years account for 40 per cent of personnel, whule 10 per cent have worked for Finnarr for over
30 years Finnair does not maintam statistics on ethnic minonities

All personnel

Gender structire %
Women ( )
Men( )

Age structure years
Under  years oid

- yearokds
Over  yearsold

Senior management (assistant directors, department
directors, Executive Board)

Gender structure %

Women { )

Men( )

Age structure years

Under  yearsold B T i )
- yearolds

Over  years old
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S0ciety

Aviation 1s such an integral part of modern life that1t’s too diffi-
cult to contemplate how the world would be without 1it. Unravel-

ling the tapestry of international trade, communications and culture
woven by commercial aviation, both passenger and cargo, 1s both
impossible Butit's worth taking a closer look at the patterns in that
tapestry to take stock of its significance and be aware of our own
place 1n society

Connecting Finns

Like any business, aviation has its positive and negative external
impacts The positives are easy to hst, if not always easy to quantify
Finnair, hke many airlines, recognises its own responsibility to iden-
tify and mitigate the most obvious negatives, including noise pollu-
tion and greenhouse gas emissions But we also need to understand
the wider prcture of how our operations affect the commumties
where we operate — and to act accordingly.

Finnair's home country clearly benefits from the infrastructure value
of connections between cities and markets, internally and externally
Finland 1s a small country in terms of population but relatively big in
European terms Residents of towns and cities in northern Finland
have grown accustomed to air connections with the capital region a
thousand kilometres or so to the south These domestic connections

Strategic Megatrends GRI indicators
PRIQRITIES AFFECTING OPERATIONS IN THIS SECTIQON ‘ X )
Profitable growth Shift in economic and HR7 501, 505 TN ,_ In this annual report ve have crowdsourced
Cost competitiveness geopolitical power, ) - : images through Fianish mobile %U__E_o:
Technological development Scoopshot. We have also used pictures
Sustamability from Irstagram acccunts: finnarnocra and

finnamriomi,
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were pioneered by Finnair but are now also offered by other opera-
tors at fares comparable to — and sometimes even lower than — the
state raliways Only commeraal consideratrons determine where
Finnair flies, however, and as the airline has grown, its focus and
competence has largely shifted to connecting Helsinki to dozens of
major economic centres in Europe and Asia.

As a result of the Asian strategy developed by Finnair and Finavia
(the operator of Helsinki Airport) the Helsinki capital region, with

a population of just over one million, 1s served by an airport that is
significantly larger and more internationally connected than most
airports for comparably-sized cities in the wider region. In 2013, for
instance, more than 15 million passengers passed through Helsinki
Airport while the figure for Gothenburg in Sweden was about 5
million and for Vilnius in Lithuania, 2 5 milhon This difference 1s
thanks to transfer traffic, which makes the majonty of Helsinki’s
direct connections commercially possible

Northern light

On the face of it, Helsinki's northerly location on the geographucal
fringe of Europe seems like a disadvantage But the Asian strategy
has converted Finnish remoteness into an advantage by proving
Helsinki’s credentials as a lughly credible, fast and uncongested hub
for transfers between Europe and Asia

In turn, this scenario has opened up opportunities for Finnish
companies, facilitating more exports to more foreign markets,
cutting long-distance transport costs and attracting more high-
ly-skilled workers to the capital metropolitan area from other EU
countries There 1s a direct connection between the rise of aviation
in Finland, the improved connectivity that it brings and a boost in

annual GDP that can be measured in billions of euros According to
a 2012 report by Oxford Economics, aviation accounts for nearly 4
per cent of Finland's GDP.

Thus local scenario fits in with the global picture described by IATA’s
estimate that $6 4 trilhon worth of goods travel by air — or 35 per

cent of all world trade by value. Moreover, Finnair has played a
direct role in making 1t easier for Asians from Singapore to Delhi

and from Hong Kong to Tokyo to travel to more than 40 European
countnes. Boosted by the 80-plus weekly departures from Helsinki
to Asian destinations, the great cities of Asia are likewise within easy
reach for Finnish and northern European travellers

Finland’s example shows how aviation plays a key and leading role
in a modern, advanced economy For a small country and 1n a global
context, Finland’s economic, technological and cultural develop-
ment has been exceptionally agile and the connectivity that comes
with aviation can take a share of the credit for this Commercally,
Finnish businesses have been able to keep pace with increased
globalisation because of the fast supply chains and sophisticated
logistics made possible by frequent and reliable air services

Looking outward

Founded 1n 1923, just six years after Finland gained independence,
Finnair has a history that runs in parallel to and 1s closely hnked with
that of its home country While its business landscape has become
furiously competitive, the Finnair brand maintains an emotional
connection with the Finnish population and society While Finland
remains Finnair’s largest single market, the majority of its sales are
secured outside the country. As the company grows 1t therefore
must be ever more international and outward looking.
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Good relations and proactive
openness with stakeholders

are essential for our license
to operate.

B Scoopshot. We have also used piciures
from Insiagram accounis: finnairnoora and
finnairtomi.

Finnair’s confidence 1n its ability to grow and achieve its strategic
goals 15 based on the relationships built up between Finnair and its
numerous stakeholders, from customers and employees to regu-
lators and other authorities throughout its route network As the
first European airline to fly nonstop to destinations such as Tokyo,
Bening, Chongqing and Xran, the atrline beheves in nurturing and
sustaining positive long-term relationships with the communi-

ties it serves Good relations and proactive openness — particularly
on issues relating to safety and the environment — are essential for
Finnair to retain its “license to operate”

Climate change: To measure is to know

A major component of Finnair's stakeholder engagement activities
15 1ts participation in the Carbon Disclosure Project, the world’s only
global environmental disclosure system Finnair is a leader in the
quality of chmate change data submatted to the global marketplace
through the CDP, a status which was confirmed 1in the CDP Nordic
260 Climate Change Report 2013 The report tracks how the world's

largest listed companies act in response to chimate change. For the
2nd consecutive year, n 2013 Finnair achieved a position in CDP’s
Nordic 260 Chimate Disclosure Leadershup Index (CDLI). Compiled
by First Carbon Solutions on behalf of CDP, this index highlights
companies listed on the Nordic stock exchanges that have displayed
a strong approach to the disclosure of climate change information.
Finnair's score 1n 2013 was 96, improving on 1ts 2012 score of 92
Companies are scored out of 100 on the completeness and standard
of their submissions, completed at the request of 722 investors
representing $87 trillion 1n assets

Airline customers 1n an increasingly discerning and well-informed
global society demand transparency and concrete action of this kind
They prove that a demonstrable policy of corporate responsibility 1s
an advantage for the whole spectrum of stakeholders, from share-
holders who seek greater profitabihty to local communities that seck
affluence from a global economy with the lowest possible cost to the
environment.
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Changes for good

Finnair also demonstrates its commitment to corporate responsi-
bility in philanthropic actions that are not immediately central to its
business operations but no less significant The most conspicuous
example has been the annual cooperation with UNICEF 1n the form
of the Christmas Change for Good campaign, inviting passengers to

contribute change of any currency using envelopes distributed on
awrcraft Finnair Plus members have also been able to contribute Plus

Points to the campaign all year round.

By the end of 2013, Finnair's vartous Change for Good campaigns
had collected about 1 1 milhon euros since 1994, benefitting a
number of good causes from sanitation and hygiene for the chil-
dren of Bihar in India to the Schools for Asia program 1n the latest
campaign Vietnam, Finnair’s latest Asian destination country, is
one of the target countnies for Schools for Asia, supporting work
to improve the education prospects of children in remote loca-
tions and belonging to ethnic minority groups Cooperation with
UNICEEF is set to continue 1n the form of a new and innovative “pay
per booking” option, devised with travel booking engine provider
Amadeus and inviting contributions from customers as they book
therr tickets online.

Through Plus Point donations, Finnair and its customers also
support the Finnish Association for Nature Conservation’s reforesta-
tion projects in Madagascar, the Pink Ribbon breast cancer research
campaign, and the Assoctation of Friends of the University Chil-
dren’s Hospital in Helsink.

The emphasis 1n all these cooperation activities with NGOs 1s always
on partnership Finnair believes in more than just philanthropy, but
in working together to create social and economic value That 1s the
basis for building enduring, positive relationships

A global solution to climate change

Finnair recognises its responsibiity to account for and reduce its carbon footprint, and for several years
now Finnair has voiced its support for a global market-based measure for offsetting greenhouse gas
emissions that would complement the industry's technological, operational and infrastructural efforts to
reduce emissions A market-based fieasure 15 essential to IATA's goal of achieving carbon-neutral growth
in the aviation sector and ultimatelyin the interest of all countries and airlines Such a measure has
‘proved difficuit to agree on, however, as the diverse natsons with diverse interests 1n the UN's ICAO - the
global governing body for civil avtation - have been unable to find common ground

This ::m.;: changed 1n September 2013 during ICAQ's 38th Assembly, when the organisation reached a
tandmark agreement committing member states to developing a global market-based measure by 2020
In the meantime, the agreement also calls for member states to avoid creating or implementing their own
emissions offsetting schemes without multilateral agreement with the states affected by such schemes

Priof todthe agreement, the EU'had begun applying its Emissions Trading Scheme to European aviation, _
while “stopging the clock” on applying the scheme to foreign operators taking off or landing in the EU as ]
well, at feast while work at ICAO'was underway. It 1s not yet clear now whether the EU intends to ulimately
apply its offsetting scheme fo all &iflines using its airspace, only to European carriers operating routes
entirelywithin Eirope, orindeed ¢éase applying the scheme to aviation entirely. The prospect of the

EU carrying out its own offsetting:scheme on foreign carriers has prompted sharp opposition in other |
countries, particularly China, Russid, India and the United States. In the aviation industry’s view, it will
dlso hkely distort tompétition arid promote “carbon leakage” whereby carriers fly longer (and thus more
CO2-emitting) routes in order to avosd EU arspace.

As ICAD now proceeds with work to design and eventually implement the global market-based measure to
control emissions, Finnair hopes that consensus can be found within Europe on action that best supports
that global process.
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How Finnair communicates and cooperates with stakeholders
Subjects i Channels
Customers The travel experience, customer service issues product quality on time . Surveys research wrnitten feedback Finnair websites social media customer

events, Blue Wings magazine, customer service encounters at every stage of the
Journey

Personnel magazine, intranet, internal blogs, theme weeks personnel events, 40
Wellbeing At Work survey, occupational health unit, performance dialogue sessions,
discussions with labour orgamisations, Career Gate

+ performance, emisstons and noise reduction, safety recycling, responsible tourism,
charity and corporate responsibility projects via Finnair Plus

mmmrEEsimsssLuiEs i B EELIL4 EEEL EELUELLLE-AfemmeseaseeaeesecameaemEEemmeeseeeeemeemem = e armrrammus srrrmesmmatEeme

Personnel . Occupational health and wellbeing at work target setting, Code of Conduct
i and ethical 1ssues, changes to improve productivily, increasing trust, reducing
+ environmental impact on the job, career assistance for employees made redundant

Shareholders and : Market environment and competitive landscape, company’s operatians, goals, Stock exchange bulletins of periodic and on-going information regarding financial
. strategy and financial position development including interim reports, financial statements, report of the Board of
investors . Directors and Corporate Governance Statement, other, non-peniodic stock exchange
bulletins Annual General Meeting, investor, analyst and media meetings and events,
corporate website, Carbon Disclosure Project

[ -

Membership 1n IATA and AEA, membership in STLN for sustainable tourtsm,
oneworld athance member, cooperation with Finavia and other airport operators,
+ sector seminars and working groups, manufacturers

Dialogue with Fenmish and foreign authorities and governments, events and

other cooperation with Finntsh Consumer Agency, Flight Safety Authonity {TraFs),
embassies and other relevant Finmish and foreign actors

Safety, emisstons reduction, emissions trading, air traffic management, biofuel

Aviation sector .
: supply chain development, sustainable tourism, economic impact of sector

Authorities and : Safety. emissions trading, air traffic management, supply chain responsibility,
econom:c contrebutions of aviation, impact of operations on environment and noise,
W0<m-.=_.=m:~ traffic continunty, biofuels, employee relations

Cooperation with Finnish Association for Nature Conservation, Baltic Sea Action
Group, UNICEF, Finmish Red Cross and other NGOs Member of the Carbon Disclosure
Project Partnerships with sustainable design firms such as Trkau U6 and
GlobeHope

NGOs and com _um_.:mm with i Greenhouse gas emissions reductron, environmental remediation, public health
- ™ -.- i measures, disaster relief, wildlife protection, common interest projects for
sustainability approach : susainabiiity and development cooperation, supply chain responsibifity

i Cooperation efforts to reduce emissions and other environmental impacts, Contractual cooperation, Finnair procurement guidelines and Supplier Code of
uppuers
monitoring of responsibility everywhere i the value chain Conduct extranet
Media . Company strategy and business, enussions reduction persoaned relations financial ; Press releases press conferences, visits by reporters, press trips interviews

sustainability, economic contributions of aviation, ethics, chanitable cooperation websites, media desk, sotial media, Blue Wings magazine
projects trends in traffic, biofuels emission trading noise impact of aviation on

local ecanomy and mobility

General _u.._U:n " Customer service, product quality, labour relations, economic contributions of ' Communications via media, websites, e-mail and lectures, social media including
! aviation, ethics, emissions reduction, presence in local economies, charitable + blogs, Facebook Twitter and Sina Weiho
. cooperatton projects, corporate cibizenship .
JERSTY NI
.} Mo T e M +
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SOCIAL INDICATORS

HR7

OPERATIONS IDENTIFIED AS HAVING SIGNIFICANT RISK FOR INCIDENTS OF
FORCED OR COMPULSORY LABOUR, AND MEASURES TAKEN TO CONTRIBUTE
TO THE ELIMINATION OF FORCED OR COMPULSORY LABOUR
Finnawr does not approve of the use of forced labour in any part of its value chain. With respect
to the aviation industry, the company has not 1dentfied any risk for mcidents of forced labour
Thus 152 consequence both of the general nature of the iIndustry and the stnct offictal regulatton
and supervision of the industry Nevertheless, the mviation industry and Finnair’s operaions
do interact with global sectors in whuch the use of forced labour cannot be excluded. The tex-
tile industry 1s one such sector Finnair's untforms and workwear are aoqured from supphers
that have addressed ethucal issues in their own operations

S01

NATURE, SCOPE AND EFFECTIVENESS OF ANY PROGRAMS AND
PRACTICES THAT ASSESS AND MANAGE THE IMPACTS OF OPERATIONS ON
COMMUNITIES, INCLUDING ENTERING, OPERATING AND EXITING
Asacompany, Finnarr 1s not deemed to have a sigmificant direct impact on local communities
outside Finland. For thus reason, no prograrns relating to the assessment and management of
the impacts of operations on local communeties have been considered necessary

However, Finnair recognises that the tounsm mdustry has sigruficant impacts on local com-
mumties around the world Of Finnawr's subsichanes, the tour operator Aurinkomatkat-San-
tours and the travel agencies Area Oy and Finland Travel Burean Ltd, in particular, occupy
a specal posiron m respect of thew opporturuties for nfluence m this field. In 2010, Finnarr
joned the international Sustamable Travel Leadershup Network, which promotes sustaina-
ble tourism. Finnair and the tour operatorsand travel agencies belonging to 1t have signed the
Helsinks Declaration, whuch aims to promote sustamnable tounsm.

Aurmkomatkat-Suntours has also selected local reciprents of support at various destinations
to give customers a concrete opportunty to support local residents This pohicy has been suc-
cessful in providing support to those m need.

Mayan child project
Aunnkomatkat-Suntours parhapates m the Juntos Calentermos el Invierno project together
with dolphin exawrsion organiser Delphinus and a local representative, Hotelbeds Playa del
Carmen, n Mexaco

The purpase of the project 15 to collect toys and warm clothing i partnership wath the local
DIF ard orgarusation for poor Mayan chuldren bving n palm leaf huts Temperatures in the
region can beas low as 6 degrees Celsus  Aurinkomatkat-Suntours commumnicates mforma-

tion on the project to customers pnior to their travel date to give them the opportunity to pack
warm dothing or school supplies to give to the Jocal children

Phuket children project

Aurmkomatkat-Suntours participates in a project to help local chuldren in Phuket in part-
nership wath its Jong-term partner, the Enghsh-Thai company Siam Safari Nature Tours The
project helps children from low-income rural fanulies i schools and orphanages on the out-
skarts of Phuket. Customersare informed of the project before their travel date to give them the
opportunity to pack clean used dlothing, toys and notebooks sustable for chuldren aged 4-16

Helping poor children in Langkawt

Aurmkomatkat-Suntours supports a local chanitable orgarusation in Langkawn The organ-
1sation was established to help in the daily bives of local low-income famihies. The efforts to
mmprove their daly Iiving condinens include food donations, helping fanubes with childrens
school fees and traming women o earn addikronal income through actvittes such as making
textles and handicrafis. Interested customers are mvited to participate by bnnging dothung
and toys for local chuldren. Multsvitarun tablets for chuldren are also much needed Onloca-
tion, Aunnkomatkat-Suntours gurdes sell small cookbooks featuring recipes from thus mul-
ticultural country Customers can also make a small cash donation at the destination to help
local famthies in therr daily ves Further mformation is available at wwwlangkawicharity com

LINKS (IN FINNISH):
s httpr//www.aurmkomatkat fiftyva-tietaa/hotellit/hotelihzokitus
+  http://wwwsmalfi/index php?402
(Helsinka Declaration)
+  http //www.sustainabletravelinternational.org/
(an mternabional cooperation network for sustainable travel in which Finnair i1s involved)
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PUBLIC POLICY POSITIONS AND PARTICIPATION IN PUBLIC POLICY
DEVELOPMENT AND LOBBYING

Finnaur morutors the political operating environment of the aviation industry and openly par-
trcipates i discussion on industry regulation. The objectves of Finnawr’s advocacy work are to
anticipate regulation that apphies to the company, as well as to influence such regulaions m a
fair and transparent manner In order to optimally allocate our resources, our advocacy work
i1s focused on promoning cur most important goals at the national and mternational levels

Finnar'’s key societal stakeholders are muinustries of transportatron and civil aviation author-
tres. Finnair representatives participate in legslateve and industry-related hearings in the Finn-
1sh Parhament and in government mirustrtes and also otherwise meet with policymakers to
discuss regulation that affects its business.

Finnair's most impoertant advocacy targets are regulations that have an impact on traffic
rights, cost factors and international trade relationstups.

Restricted arr traffic nghts are defined by air transport agreements between countnies or
groups of countries As Finnair aims to provide its customers with the most direct and com-
prehensive routes between Europe and key Asian destinations, the company cooperates with
the authonties to secure nghts to scheduled flights in Southeast Asia and overflight rights in
Russia.

Finnair's advocacy work related to cost factors 1s primanly focused on labour market pol-
icy, consumer law and environmental policy EU emisstons trading, which started n 2012,
extends to air traffic and s a sigraficant issue for Finnair, which operates m and from the EU
area. Finnarr engages in advocacy work to achseve a global emissions trading agreement for
ar transport instead of regional systems

Finnarr cooperates with vanous assoaations and chambers of commerce in the majonty of
its advocacy work pertaining to regulations on cvil aviation and economuc activity  Finnair
ts actively mvolved not only in mternatonal aviation industry organisations such as AEA and
IATA, but also the Confederation of Finmish Industries, its industry organtsations and several
chambers of commerce in key operating countries

Finnair is commited to UN initiatives

2013 Finnair jomed United Nations Global Compact, a corporate responsibility iitiative that
compnises more than 8,000 businesses around the world The project was proposed by Kofi
Annan, then Secretary General of the UN, in 1999 and launched the following year Partici-
pating busimesses agree to make human nghts, farr labour standards, environmental respon-
sibility and anti-corruptton core parts of their operations, and communcate wath stakehold-
crs on their efforts to implement the Global Compact’s ten pninciples

In2011 Finnair has also signed the United Nations Women's Empowerment Prinaiples The
Pninaples gives gundance on the empowerment of women m the workplace, marketplace and
community

The Women's Empowerment Principles are the result of a collaboration between the Unut-
ed Nahons Development Fund for Women (UNIFEM, part of UN Women) and the United
Nations Global Compact.

The Pninciples emphasize corporates to promote gender equatity and women’s cmpower-
ment. The Women’s Empowerment Principles seek to point the way to best practice by elab-
orating the gender dimension of good corporate atizenshup, the UN Global Compact, and
business’ role in sustamable development.
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FInance

Finnair's objective 1s to create sustainable economic added value
by producing flight services profitably, cost-competitively and 1n
harmony with the needs of the environment and soctety. Finnair’s
financial performance 2013 1s described in the Board of Directors
Report, Financial Statements and Financial indicators availlable in
this section Economic responsibility is discussed under manage-
ment principles in the Governance section of this report.

In this annuzl repart we have crowdsourced
images ihrough Finnish mobile anolication
5Co00shot, We fiave also usad piciures
from Instagram accounts: finnairnoora and
finnairiomi.

Strategic Megatrends  GRIindicators

PRIORITIES AFFECTING OPERATIONS IN THIS SECTION
profitabte growth, Shift in economic and EC1, EC2, EC3, EC4, EC6, ECO
Cost compehitiveness geopolitical power,

Technological development,
Sustatnability
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THE REPORT OF THE BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

Business Environment

Global arr traffic 15 currently undergomng a structural changg, the typrcad charactenistics of
whuch are market iberahsation, mereasing competiion, overcapacity, consohdation, alhanc-
es and specialisation Eurepean network carners, Finnair induded, continued to unplement
structural change and cost-reduction programs in 2013 to improve their competitiveniess in
the prevailing ight competitive situatron. Capacity growth i the market was conservative.
Vanous partnerships increased, especally in international long-haw! traffic.

Lhe demand for passenger traffic in Europe grew in 2013 despite many European countries
stll being in recession. Combined with the conservative stance airlines have taken towards
ncreasing ther capacty, this led to improved load factors. The weakness of the Finnesh econ-
omy was reflected in home market demand, especially in the second half of the year. Demand
grew in passenger trafhic between Asia and Europe but, at the same time, competrtton in thus
market increased as competitors launched new routes, particularly to Southeast Asia. Meas-
ured in passenger volume, the market for flights between Helsinkiand Finnair's European des-
tinations grew by 4 2 per cent, while the market between Finnair'’s Asian and European des-
tinations grew by 1 § per cent.* Finnair was successful in mncreasing 1ts market share in both
trathic arcas.” Unit revenue was under pressure m passenger traffic.

The demand for letsure traffic developed positively in the first half of 2013 as industry oper-
ators adjusted their package tour supply to better match demand. However, the market took a
turn i the summer as consumers’ uncertanty regarding their own economuc situation began
to slow down sales and decrease market prnices. All industry operators cancelled their winter
season tours to Egypt due to unrest in the country, which was reflected in the volumes and
revenues for the fourth quarter

Cargo trathc conttnued to suffer from overcapacity and weak demand in 2013, whach put
average yields in traffic between Europe, the Nordic region and Asta under substantial pres-
sure High fuel prices also had a negative effect on the result for cargo trafhc. However, there
were early signs of a shght recovery in demand late in the year, especually in Asta

The prce of the largest indvidual cost factor of airlines, ve. jet fuel, has stabilised at a bugh
level, and the increase in fuel costs levelled out 1n 2013 The US dollar 1s a sigruficant expense
currency in Finnair’s operations, while the Japanese yen 15 a sigruficant income currency The
dollar-euro exchange rate remained fairdy stable in 2013, but the yen depreciated substantially

* Finraur's estamaic. The estmate 15 based on travel agenoes MIDT data and Finnar s estimates of artmnes
own sales through ther own sales chiannets Such as wedsdes.

against the eutro as a result of sumulus measures implemented by the Bank of Japan.

Strategy implementation and partnerships
Finnasr's viston 1s to be the number one airline 1n the Nordic region and the most desired op-

tion for travel between Asia and Exrope. In addition, its aim 1s to double its revenue from Asian
traffic by 2020, using 2010 as the point of reference.

Finnair continued to implement its growth strabegy in 2013, launching new summier season
routes in June to Xian th China and Hanonin Vietnam. This increased the number of Finnair's
Asian destinations to 13 The sales of the new routes were m line with expectations, and the
company will continue fiying to both cthes i summer 2014

At the beginmuing of July, Finnair increased its cooperation with fellow oneworld alhance
members by joining the transatlantic joint business founded by Amenican Airlines, Britssh
Airways and Iberia The cooperation has started well and the first months of the transatlantic
jomnt business were m line with expectations. In October, competition authonhies approved
the company’s entry into the joint business estabhshed by Japan Airlines and British Airways
for fghts between Japan and Europe Japan is one of Finnair's most important markets, and
the joint business s expected to enter into effect in the first half of 2014

The airhines partiipating in the jomt businesses cooperate commercrally by <haring revenue
and by coordinating capacity, fight schedules and fares The atm of the participating airlines
15 to umprove the effictency of ther operations, expand their networks and provide the public
traveling between Europe and Japan with improved tntercontinental connections

Progress of the structural change and
cost-reduction program
Finnair continued the implementation of 1ts structural change and cost-reduction programs
in 2013. During the first half of the year, the focus was on secking cost reductions under the
first program commenced 1n August 2011 The cost-reduction target of 140 million euros set
for that program was achueved by the end of June 2013, six months ahead of schedule Cost
reductions have been systematically sought i several different categones, including fleet, avi-
ation service, catenng, sales, distributron and personnel costs

‘The second cost-reduction program, with a target of 60 million euros, was announced in Oc-
tober 2012. In August 2013, Finnair stated that, as part of this cost-reduction program, itaims
to reduce crew costs by approximately 35 mulhon euros and techrucal services and customer
service personnel costs by approximately 8 mullion euros In the autumn, Finnair continued
negohations with personnel and therr trade union representatives regarding the solutions and
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schedules for achieving these cost reductien targets During the negotiations on new collec-
tive labour agreements, the trade unuons representing Finnarr’s cabin crew, technucal staffand
ground handling personnel issued stnke warmngs To prepare for the potential strikes and
look after customers, Finnarr had to sigruficantly restrict 1ts trafhic in md-November Even of
the strikes were avorded n the final stages of negotiations, the stnike threat and later the sup-
port stike threats 1ssued by labour unions caused uncertamty and harm to our passengers,
and resulted in a considerable loss of turnover as well as addihonal costs from, for example,
the rerouting of passengers

The strkes were cancelled on 15 November 2013, as Finnair's employer union the Assoc-
ation of Support Service Indusines (PALTA} reached an agreement with the Finnush Cabm

Crew Umion (SLSY) and The Finrush Aviation Union (IAU) on a new collective labour agree-
ment in Line with the national framewaork agreement, known as the Finnash Employment and
Growth Pact, and also agreed on the schedule and processes of separate, company-speafic ne-
gotiations related to Finnair’s cost reductions According to the agreement, Finnair and SLSY
will negotiate on reaching the cost reductions necessary for Finnair by 28 April 2014 If cost
reductzon targets are met, cabin personned wall be protected from layoffs for two years, Corre-
spunding negotiations with the IAU to reach a company-specatic labour agreement for tech-
rical staff have progressed qurte far, and these negotiattons will contimue. In addition, Finnair
and the IAU wll continue company-speafic negotiations on labour agreements for ground
handling personnel. In December, Finnair and the Finnesh Awr Line Piots’ Association (SLL)
agreed on a new collective labour agreement m line with the national framework agreement,
and also agreed that they will negotiate on reachung the cost reductions necessary for Finnair
by 13 June 2014.

Finnaur's objective in the negotiations is primarily to achieve a level of costs and wages that
corresponds with market wages and costs i the mdustry, pnmanly by mplementing changes
to wage structures and working hours Achteving the targets of the cost-reduction program
is essental for improving the company’s competitiveness, as hugh fuel prices, cost reduction
measures taken by competiiors, intensafied competiion and fleet investments in the conung
years require a substantial improvement i profitability The long-term return objectrve set
for the company by Finnair's Board of Directors 15 an operating profit margm of six per cent.

Finnair continues to pursuc savings in all of the first cost-reduction programss categones.
As of the third quarter of 2013, Finnawr has monutored the progress of its two cost-reduction
programs combmed. The combined total target s to reduce annual costs permanently by
200 milhion euros by the end of 2014 The powt of reference for the cost reduction target 1s
the company's unut costlevel in 2010 By the end of 2013, Finnaur had achteved a total cost re-

duction of 155 million euros, which was reflected 1n decreased air trafhc unit costs 1n 2013
At the same time, the company has been able to move a substantial share of fixed costs to vol-
ume-based vanable costs

Financial performance in 2013
Finnar’s turnover m 2013 declined by two per cent from 2012, totalling 2,400.3 milhon eurcs
(2,449 4) Capacity grew by 2.6 per cent year-on-year. The main factor slowing down turnover

growth was the fall in euro-denominated revenue due to the depreciation of the Japanese yen,
but in the second half of the year the weaker-than-expected development of cargo and leisure
traffic and lost turnover resutting from the strike threat also contributed to the decrease in

turnover for the full year Operational costs excluding fuel amounted to 1,736.6 nullion euros
(1,758 4) Fuel costs, mcluding hedging and costs mcurved from emissions trading, increased
shghtly year-on-year and totalled 689 9 nulhon euros (6703) Personnel costs decreased by
106 per cent as a result of the implementatron of structural changes, to 333 9 million euros
(429.2), but part of the costs are now seen in the form of hugher costs for outsourced catering
and maimntenance services. The euro-denomunated operational costs were largely unchanged
from the companson year at 2,426.5 mullion euros (2,428 7), despite the increase 1n capacity
The operational result weakened substantially year-on-year and was -4 8 rmillion euros (43.2)

CASK ex, fuel development since 2010* Turnover
% € million
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Finnair's income statement icludes the change in the fair vahue of dervatives and in the val-
ue of forexgn currency denomimnated fleet maintenanoe reserves that took place during the pe-
rnod under review but will fall due later. This ts an unreabsed valuation result based on 1FRS,
where the result has no cash flow effect and which s not included in the operational result. The
change in the fair value of derrvatives and in the value of foreign currency denominated fleet
maintenance reserves amounted to 21 7 milhon euros (-40) Non-recurning items stood at
-26 8 million euros (-27 6), with the majonty being assoctated with the result of the employee
consultations in technical services concluded m June, The non-recurreng costs in 2012 were
also pnimanty related to structural changes in techrucal services

I'he operating result was -8.8 million euros (33.8) In April, Finnair sold its entire holding
of shares in Norwegian Arr Shuttle ASA and recorded a capital gamn of 34 million euros as fi-
nancial meorme The resutt before taxes for 2013 was 10 1 mullion euros (14.8) The result after
taxes was 11 0 million euros (10.5)

Unit revenue per available seat kllometre (RASK) dechined, primanty due to the deprecation
of the Japanese yen, by 3 § per cent compared to 2012 and amounted to 6.24-euro cents (6.49)
Excluding the effect of exchange rate fluctnations, passenger unit revenue dechined by 0.7 per
cent year-on-year Unit cost per avalable seat kalometre (CASK) decreased by 0 1 per cent and
amounted t0 6.57 euro cents (6.58) Unit costexcluding fuel (CASK excl. fuel) decreased by one
per cent to 4.46 curo cents (4.50) as a result of good progress i the cost reduction program.

Balance sheet on 31 December 2013
‘The Group's balance sheet totalled 2,200 6 milhon euros at the end of 2013 (2,231 3 milbon
euroson 31 December 2012) Shareholders’ equuty totalled 691.8 million euros (775.3), whuch
155 41 euros per share (6.06) Shareholders’ equity decreased in 2013 pnmanly due to the re-
payment of the outstanding share of the hybnd bond tssued in 2009

Shareholders’ equuty includes a fair value reserve which s affected by changes in the farr val-

Distribution of revenue and costs by
currency in 2013
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ues of ol and currency dexvatives used for hedging as wefl as actanal gans and losses relat-
ed to defined benefit plans according to IAS 19 The valuc of the item at the end of 2013 was
-14 7 mllion euros (0.3) after deferred taxes, and it 1s mamnly cormiprised of actuarial losses

Cash flow and financial position in 2013

Finnair has a strong financial posihon, whuch supports business development and future in-
vestments. [n 2013, net cash flow from operating actvties amounted to 107 0 million euros
(154 7) and net cash flow from investments totalled 16.1 mullion euros (-54.2)

The equity ratio was 32.0 per cent (35 4) and geaning was 19.5 per cent (18 0) The adjust-
ed geaning was 77 6 per cent (77.8) At the end of the period under review, interest-beanng

debt amounted to 593 0 mullion euros (569 0) and interest-beanng net debt stood at 134 2
milhion euros (138 4)

The company’s hquidity remaned strong in 2013 The Group's short term cash and cash
equivalents 1n balance sheet amounted to 458 8 milhon euros (430.5) at the end of the penod.
In addition to the cash funds on the balance sheet, the Group has the option of re-borrowing
employment pension fund reserves worth approximately 430 million euros from its employ-
ment pension surance company Drawing these reserves requures a bank guarantee The
Group’s entirely unused 200 mulhon euro syndicated credit agreement, which was itended
as reserve funding, matured at the end of june. Finnair negotiated a new 180 million euro syn-
dicated credit agreement that wall mature in July 2016. The lrnit 15 curvently unused.

In October, Finnaur redeemed the outstanding share of 524 mulion euros of the hybnd bond
tssued 1n 2009 The onginal size of the hybnd bond issued m 2009 was 120 nulhon euros and it
was partly redeemed in November 2012 The size of the new hybnd loan 1ssued by Finnair in
November 2012 1s 120 rulhon euros  In August, Finnair issued a 150 mufhion euro bond that
will mature in five years. The bond pays an annual coupon of five per cent, and ot was listed on
NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Ltd on 2 September 2013

Advance payments related to fixed asset nvestments totalled 66.0 milhon euros (32.7)

At the end of the year, 44.5 millton euros of Finnair’s short-term commercial paper program
totaling 200 mlhon euros were m use Net cash flow from financing amounted to -47 4 mul-
lion euros (-98 9) Financial expensesamounted to 19 7 nulhon euros (-25.5) and financial in-
come to 42,6 mulbien euros (7 9) Financal income includes a capital gain of 34 nulhon euros
recorded on the sale of shares in Norwegian Aur Shuttle ASA.

Aircraft sale and leaseback agreements
Finnair's policy s to own approxamately half of the fleet it operates. Vartous sources and in-
struments are used for fleet finanaing to ensure the lowest possible financing costs and the
best passible operational flexibiity and contimuty

in the second half of 2013, Finnair made sale and leaseback agreements on five new A321
Sharldet arcraft, two in September and three m December. In Decembert, Finnair also signed
memoranda of understanding on the sale and leaseback of fowr Finnair-owned Aurbus 330

arcraft and two new Arbus 350 aircraft.
The agreements concerming new aircraft are expected to be concluded at the time of deliv-

eryin 20142015, while the agreements concermang A330 aircraft are expected to be conclud-
ed in the first half of 2014. The financing arrangements are part of the fleet renewal program,
whuchinvolves transiiening from the current Airbus 340and 330 fleet to the next-generation
Aurbus 350 arcraft. Arrangements associated wath the fleet renewal program as a whole are
not estimated to have a substantial effect on the company'’s result for 2014 and 2015

Capital expenditure

In 2013, capital expenditure, excluding advance payments, totalled 420 milhon euros (41 4)

and was primarily related to one spare engine and the company's fleet. Capital expenditure for

the full year 2014, mcluding advance payments related to fixed assets, 1s eshmated at approx-

mately 133 milhon euras, with mvestments in the fleet representing a majonty of thus total.
The current state of the credit market and Finnair’s good debt capacity enables the financ-

ing of future fixed-asset nvestments on competitive terms. The company has 36 unencum-

s
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Equity ratio, gearing and adjusted gearing
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bered arrcraft, the balance sheet value of which corresponds to approximately 47 per cent of
the value of the entire flect of 1 1 ifhon cures. The balance sheet value includes three finanoe

lease amrcraft.

Fleet
Finnaur’s fleet 1s managed by Finnair Aircraft Finance Oy, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Finnair
Pic. At the end of 2013, Finnarr itself operated 45 aireraft, of whuch 15 are widebody and 30
narrowbody arrcraft. There were no changesto the size of Finnair's fleetin 2013 However, the
composition of the flect changed somewhat as Finnar receved three new A321 Sharklet air-
craftin the second half of the year and removed two Boeing 757 from the fleet as their leases
expired. Finnait also rermoved from its fleet one Embraer 170 aircraft in the second quarter of
the year, leasing the arcrafi to an airdine cutside the Group

‘The beases of the remaiing two Boeing 757 aircraft wall expire in the first half of 2014, at
which ime Finnair will take delivery of the last two Awrbus A321 Sharklet awrcraft. After this,
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the company will aperate an all-Arrbus flect. lvenes may have

In addition to the aircraft operated by Finnar, s balance sheet includes 25 other arcraft  Fippayr has the possbility to adjust the size of its fleet Bexibly according to demand and out-

owned by the company These arrcraft are operated by other arines, mamly by Flybe Finland. ook due to its leasc agreements with different durations
The averapeage of the flect operated by Finnair was ¢ 9 years at the end of the year and that of

the Finnasr owned fleet operated by other airhnes 5.2 years. Finnarr also has exght leased air-
craft that 1t has subleased to be operated by other aulines

A350 AIRCRAFT

Finnair has an A350 X\¥B order book of 11 firm orders and cight options. Some of thesc air-
craft will replace awrcraft currently in use in long-haul traffic Finnarr estimates that the first
four A350 X'WB wide-body aircraft will be delivered and added to the fleet in the second half
of 2015 The remaning seven aircraft are estrmated to be delivered to Finnair by the end of
2017 Finnarr 55 evaluating alternatives to murumuse the effects that any possible delays in de-

Fleet operated by Finnalr on 31.12 2013 Leased
T Changs from Add
Seats [} Own  (operational leasing)  (finance leasing) Average age 3112 2012 Ordered options
Narrow-hody fieet _
Arbis A /
Arbus A
Arbus A !
Boetiy B - ) i T - T - -
Embraer - T - T ll B
Wide-body fieet N T h h -
Arbuss A ) B Y B
Aurbus A ! -
Airbus A na.
Total B - . a5 % s _ i 9¢ 0 13 8
Fleet gwned by Finnair and operated by other alriines on 31,12.2013* Leased
- Change from Add.
Seats [ ] Own  (operational leasing) (finance leasing) Average age 3112 2012 Ordered optrons
ATR -
Embraer
Emibraer } . - o B B
Total B F i 25 5.2 +l [} 0

“MARaroait. alt  aworaftandteoE  awcralt have been leased o Fiybe Nordic andihree £ awvrafit o other partes outside the Group
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Business area development in 2013

1he segment reporting of Finnair Group's financial statements 1s based on business areas The
reporting business areas are Aurline Business, Aviation Services and “Iravel Services

Airline Business

Thus business arca 1s responsible for scheduled passenger and charter tratfic as well as carge
sales, customer service and service concepts, flight operations and actmty connected with
the procurement and fiancing of aircraft. The Airhne Business segment comprises the Com-
mercial, Operations and Resources Management functions as well as the subsidsanes Finnair
Cargo Oy, Finnair Cargo Terminal Operations Oy, Finnaur Fhight Academy Oy and Finnair
Aurcraft Finance Oy

Key figures 2013 2012 Change %
Turnover and result

Turnover EUR medBon

Operatmg resutt, EBIT EUR muflon

Operating resuft.  of tumaver |
Personnel
Avcrage number of employecs
Traffic performance 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Passengers thousands

Avanlable Seat Kilometres. mihons
Revenue Passenger Kiometres muflons
Passenger Load Factor

Cargo tonnes, kg

Available Torne Kilometres® mdbons
Reverue Toone Kdometres, mulbors
QOverall L oad Factor*

“Cargo ATK s for the year ara restated dua to more accurate metncs mplemented o caloulation

- Available sat kilumctinzs ASK Tetal number of seats avaitabice, muftphed by the number of kilomctres own

- Revenue passerger kilometres RPK Nurniber of revenue passengers carmed, muttiphed by kilometres fiawn.

- Passenger load tactor Share of revenue passenger kilometres of available seat kilometres.

uguﬁcﬂtﬂ_ﬁgbﬁ Number of tonnes of capacity for carrage of passengers cargo and mail muttiphed by kilo-
metres

-Revenue tonne klometres, RTK Total revenue load conssing of passengers. c21go and mail. multpted by kdometres flown.

~Overall load facior Share of revenue tonne kilometres of avaitable torme kilometres

The tumeover of Airhine Business in 2013 remained largely unchanged from the previous
year and amounted to 2,174 0 mihion euros (2,187 01n 2012) The marn factor slowing down
rnover growth was the fall m euro-denomunated revenue due to the depreciation of the Jap-
anese yen, but in the second half of the year the weaker-than-expected development of cargo
and leisure traffic and lost turnover resulting from preparations for potential industnat action
also contributed to the decrease in turnover for the full year Operating profit totalled 24 8 mul-
hon euros (30.2)

‘The demand for arr travel grew in 2013 despite the weak economic sstuation Finnair traf-
fic measured in revenue passenger katometres grew by 5 1 per cent, while total capacity in-
creased by 2.6 per cent. The overall passenger load factor increased by 19 percentage points
to79.5 per cent.

Measured in revenue passenger lalometres, Asian traffic grew by 5 1 per cent in 2013, while
capacity grew by 1 4 per cent. The load factor in Asian traffic rose by 2.8 percentage ponts
t0 803 per cent over the same penod. Measured in revenue passenger kilometres, European
traffic grew by 11 7 per cent and domestic traffic by 0 1 per cent on the companson period
Load factors increased by 1 9 percentage points and 1.3 percentage points to 75 9 per centand

64 8 per cent, respectively
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Finland, Japan, China and Sweden were Finnase's largest sales units n 2013 The weak situ-
ation i the Finrush cconotmy was reflected in home market demand, especially m the second
half of the year Finnaur's market share m the route pairs operated by the cornpany in sched-
uled traffic between Asiaand Europe increased to 5 7 per cent (5 5) * In scheduled traffic be-
tween Finland and Europe, Finnair's market share increased to 48 6 per cent (45.8), excluding
Flybe operations *

Approximately 768,000 passengers flew on Finnair's charter flights ; 2013, down 56 per
cent on the previous year Leisure traffic capacity fell by 6.5 per cent m 2013, and the passenger
load factor decreased by 0.3 pereentage pomits to 88.3 per cent. Lasure traffic developed posi-
tvely in the first half of the year. However, the market took a turnin the sumumer as consumers’
uncertamty regarding therr own econornic situation began to slow down sales and decrease
market prices. The decision made i August to cancel all tours to Egypt for the entre wanter
season due to cvil unrest was reflected in the volumes and revenues for the fourth quarter.

Available tonne kilometres (ATK} and
revenue tonne kilometres (RTK), belly

Alrline Business: unit revenue and unit cost
{cents/Available seat kilometre}

6.58 6.57

Unit revenue per available seat kilometre (RASK) declined, primanily due to the deprecia-
tion of the Japanese yen, by 3.8 per cent cempared to 2012 and amounted to 6.24 euro cents
(649) Excluding the effect of exchange rate fluctuations, passenger unit revenue dechned by
07 per cent year-on-year

Cargo transported on scheduled flights (belly cargo) constitutes a sigificant preportion of
the revenue from long-haul traffic In 2013, belly cargo accounted for approximately 17 per
cent of total long-haul revenze. The overalt Joad factor i Finnair’s cargo traffic unproved by
0.8 percentage points to 66.0 per cent, while the available tonne kalometres rose by 1.3 percent
and the revenue tonne kalometres by 2.6 per cent. Average yields in cargo traffic were under
substantial pressure due to market overcapacity and weak demand.

The most significant development in cargo traffic during the year was Finnair openmg its
second cargo hubin Brussels The new operating model strengthens cargo derand m Finnair's
Asian passenger flight network, as it allows Finnar Cargo to offer faster cargo connections

Airfine business:
RASK & CASK development in 2013
Change, 2013 vs 2012

%

RASK, unit revenise

RASK, excl Fxeffacts

CASK pnit cost
- 4,50 4.46

CASK, excl fuel
- Fuel costs
—_ Personnel cost
. Depreciation & leasmg costs 0.
Traffic charges e
- Cateneg costs
Ground handling costs -9

cargo and freighter traffic
cents
5000 4,709 — 70 -6.49
4500 T 6.4
b _ 60
i { 50
. s | ¥ 40
30
20
10
0
RASK*
Mavailable Tonne Xilometres (ATK)
PIrevenue Tonne Kikometres (RTX) ENEN
2013

CASK* CASK excl.

Maintenance costs

fuel***
Other costs

* Revenue per Available Seat Kilometre

** Cost per Avatlabile Seat Kilometre

= Cost per Avatkable Seat Kiometre exchuding fuel

* Finnair s estimate: The estmate s based on travel agenoes: MIDT data and Finnawr 5
estimates of airfines own sales through thesr own sales channeks, suchas websttes.
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between Central Europe and Asia. Finnar Cargo operated separate wet-leased cargo fhights
to Hong Kong and New York throughout the year The cargo arcraft route to Chicago was
discontinued in May after the sucosssful launch ol the Brusse s hub Cargo flights to Mumbar

were discontinued in S¢ptember due to weakened forecasts of Indian cargo volume and yield
as well as the sigruficant depreciation of the Indian rupee In the third quarter, Finnarr Cargo
purchased the cargo capacity on the daily Tokyo-Helanka fhghts launched by Japan Aurines
at the beginming of June, allowing it to offer two daily flights to Tokyo A new cargo route was
also launched to Hanoy, the capital of Vietnam, at the tum of October—November. Separate
cargn fhghts accounted for approximately 37 per cent of total cargo traffic n 2013

Thearrrval punctuality of Finnasr’s flhghts was very good in 2013, with 89 6 per cent of sched-
uled flights (84 9) and 89 0 (84 5) per cent of all trafhic armang on schedule.

Air traffic services and products
Route network and alhances
Finnarr offers connectrons between Asia and Europe with over 200 route pairs and also oper-
ates more than 800 fhghts weekly from Helsmki to other Finnush and Furopean destinations.
[n the summer scason, Finnair operated at most 81 fhghts to Asia per weck

Malaysia Arrlines joined the oneworld alhance in January 2013 and Qatar Airways m Octo-
ber 2013 In addition, TAM Aurlines, a member of the LATAM Amlines Group, announced
i March and US Arrways announced m December that they will jomn the oneworld alhance
n March 2014 Also SnLankan Airdines s planning to join the oneworld allance in 2014 For
Finnair's customers, new arrlines joiming eneworld enables better connections to destinatrons
outside the Finnawr network

At the beginning of July, Finnair jomed the transatlantic joint business founded by Amer-
ican Airlines, British Airways and Ibetta, and i October, competrtion authonties approved
the company's entry mto the joint business estabhished by Japan Airhines and British Asrways
for flights between Japan and Europe.

Other renewals and services

In March, Finnarr launched a social check-in service for its customers Passengers can hink thewr
travel information with their Facebook profile when checkang i online and view the pubhc
Facebook information of other passengers who have enabled the service. Using the service 1s
voluntary and it can be disabled at any time.

In March—Apn, Finnair carried out 2 trial of tablet devices and wireless Internet service
on board one of its Airbus A330 wide-body aircraft, and all of the new A321 Sharklet amcraft

have Samsung 3 ablet devices available to passengers for a fee. The entertainment systems of
Finnair's arrcraft were also upgraded in 2013, nearly doubling the selection of entertainment
on long-haul fhghts in both Economy and Business Class.

Textiles and tableware designed by Finmsh destgn house Manmekko for Finnair awrcraft
were introduced on flights m May, with Finnar also adding new Marmmekko products to the
Finnar PlusShop and in-fhght sales selection.

Bustness Class in-fhght dunng on Finnaw’s long-haul fhights departing from Helsinks was re-
newed m September with the launch of meals destgned by two renowned Finnish chefs, Pekka
Teravi and Torm Bjorok Finnair also renewed its Economy class meal service earlier in the year

Also in early October, Finnair announced 1t wall open a new Premier Lounge at Helsinki

Aurport in spning 2014

Awards
The International Arr Transport Associatton (IATA) presented a Fast Travel Gold Award to
Finnair in June in recogninion of Finnan’s implementation of TATA's Fast Travel program at
Helsink: Airport. Designed to reduce queues at arrports and gnve passengers more options for
self-service duning therr journey

The aviation research institutien Skytrax named Finnair Northern Europe’s Best Awrhine at
the World Airline Awards™in June. Finnair has now won theaward for four consecutive years
and 15 the only airline in the Nordic countnies with a four-star Skytrax rating. The oneworld
alhance, of which Finnair 15 a member, was named Best Alhance at the awards Word Airline
Awards™ 1s thc most extensive and respected commercial airline rating in the industry The
chasstfication 1s based on the impartial assessments of 18 milkon passengers The participat-
Ing passengers represent a total of 160 countnes.

In early October, Finnair was named Best European Aurlme at the annual Asia-Pacific TTG
Travel Awards The readers of TTG's travel magazines lughlighted Finnair's punctuality, ser-
vice quality and quick connections
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Aviation Services

After the structural changes in Technical Services and catering implemented in 2012, the Aw-
ation Services segment consists of aicraft mamtenance and the operations of Finncatermng
Oy and Finnarr Travel Retail Oy The business operations of Finnair Catermg Oy, which were
transferred to LSG Sky Chefs on T August 2012, are included in the segment’s figures for the
comparison year until 31 July 2012 In addition, most of Finnair’s property holdings, office
services and the management and maintenance of properties reated to the company's oper-

ahonal actiaities atso belong to the Aviahon Services business area. Over half of the business
area’s turnover comes from outside the Group

Key figures 2013 2012 Change %

Tumover and resuft

Tumnover EUR miflion

Operating result, EBIT EUR mifbon
Operatng resufl,  of wrngver

Personne|

Average nurmber of employecs

N

The turnover of Aviation Services for the full year 2013 declined from the previous year due
to the outsourcing of the engine and equipment maintenance operations to Finnaur's outsourc-
ng partner m july 2012 and the transfer of Finnarr Catering Oy’s operations to LSG n August
2012 In addition, Techrcal Services operattons were adjusted mn the first half of 2013 to cor-
respond with the size of the current fleet.

“The segment’s turnover in 2013 amounted to 196.3 milhion euros (319.5) The operating re-
sult was a loss of -35.2 million euros {-1.3), pnmartly as a result of non-recurnng riems related
to structural changes in Technical Services

Travel Services (Tour Operators and Travel Agencies)

This business area consists of the tour operator Aunnkomatkat (Suntours), its subsidiary op-
erating n Estonia, and the business travel agencies that were combined in Decerber, namely
Area, Finland Travel Bureau (FTB) and FTB's subsidiary Estravel, which operates in the Baltic
countries, as well as Amadeus Finland, which produces travel sector software and sohutions
Aunnkomatkat serves lewsure travellers, offening its customers package tours, taldored itine-

anes, flight and hotel packages, flights and cruises, as well as golf, saihing and skung holidays.

Key figures 2013 2012 Change %
Turnover and result
Turmever EUR million
Operating result, EBIT EUR mdhon

Operating resolt. " of wmover i p
Persomned
Average tunber of employees

The turnover of Travel Services for the full year 2013 amounted to 251 7 million euros (284 4)
and 1ts operating result was 1 6 multon euros (4 9)

Supply and demand were batanced in the Finmush package tour market in the first hatf of 2013,
with the advance booking rate, load factor and price level increasing 1n the spring season. In
June, however, consumers’ uncertainty regardmg their own economuc situabion and the pleas-
ant summer weather m Finland slowed down sales and put downward pressure on prices Au-
rinkomatkat cancelled all of its winter season travel to Egypt at the end of August due to travel
restnctions in force in the country, which was reflected in the turnover of package tours, particu-
farly in the fourth quarter Weak demand decreased unit revenue from package tours, particu-
larty in the second half of the year, while the biggest cost item, 1.e. a flight's unit cost, increased.

Finnair began to replace Boeing 757 arcraft used in lmsure traffic with new Airbus 321 Shar-
klet amcraft in the second half of the year

Business travel continued to decrease in Finland 1n 2013, which was reflected in the sales and
profitability of business travel agencies. Faced with a recession, the chient companies of busi-
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ness travel agencies have reduced and restricted employee traved, Finnair subsidsanes Finland
Travel Bureau and Area merged i December to form FTB, the largest Finnush business trav-
elagency The aim of merging the two trave] agencies s to achieve volume synergies and wi-
mficant reductions in costs by elimmating overlapping funchions In business travel agencies,
the number of fights booked 1n Finland decreased n 2014 by six per cent year-on-year The
market share growth of international online travel agencies in Finland turned and therr sales
n Finland declned along the market,

Group structure

The companies that are part of the Finnair Group are presented n the notes to the financial

statements in notes 1.3 Subsidarres and 1 6 Investments 1n assocates and jo:nt ventures
Finnawr’s subsichary Finnair Faalmes Management Ltd (FAMA) was merged with its parent

company Finnair Plcon 31 March 2013 Allemployees of FAMA were transferred to Finnar Pic

withexsting employment condstions In the future the former FAMA operations will form the

new group Facility Services team whuch will operate under the group Procurement function.

Governance

RESOLUTIONS OF THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Finnair Pic’s Annual General Meeting, held on 27 March 2013, confirmed the financial state-
ments for 2012 and discharged the members of the Board of Directors and the CEQ from Ii-
abihty The Annual General Meeting adopted the Board’s proposal to pay a dmdend of 0 10
euros per share The dwidends were paid on 10 Apnl 2013,

Board of Directors

The Annual General Meeting elected Klaus W Hemnemann as the Chairman of the Board of Di-
rectors Ofthe previous members of the Board of Directors, Maija-Lusa Fnman, Juss ltivuon,
Merp Karhapai, Hart Kermuinen and Gunvor Kronman continue on the newly elected Board,
with Ambassador Anttt Kuosmanen elected asa new member The term of office of the mem-
bers of the Board of Directors ends at the close of the first Annual General Meeting following
therr election. The Annual General Meeting decided that the remuneration pard to the Board
of Directors will remam unchanged. The Chatrman of the Board of Directors will be paid anan-
nual fee of 61,200 euros, the Deputy Chairman a fee 0f 34,200 euros and the ordinary members
a fee of 30,000 euros Members of the Board of Directors will also recerve fees for partrcipating
n Board and Board Comimuttee meetings at the amount of 600 euros per meeting for members
residing m Finland and 1,200 euros per meeting for members resding abroad.

Until the Annual General Meeting 2013, the Chairman of the company’s Board of Direc-
tors was Harm Sailas

Auditors

Authonsed Pubhc Accountants PricewaterhouseCoopers continues as Finnair's auditor, with
APA Mikko Nieminen acting as the principal auditor Auditor’s fees are paid in accordance
with the audrtor's reasonable invorce.

The Board's authorisations

The Annual General Meeting authorised the Board of Directors to decide on the repurchase
of the company’s own shares and/or use of shares as collateral The authonsation apphes to
a maximum of 5,000,000 shares and 15 valid until 27 September 2014 The Annual General
Meeting also authonised the Board of Directors to decide on the disposal of a maximum of
5,000,000 of the company’sown shares The authonsation is vahid until the end of the next An-
nual General Meeting, but no longer than until 30 june 2014

Shareholders’ Nomnation 8oard
The Annual General Meeting decided to establish a permanent Shareholders’ Nominaton
Board. The task of the Nomination Board 1s to prepare and present to the Annual General
Meeting, and, if necessary, to an Extraordinary General Meeting, a proposal on the remuner-
ation of the members of the Board of Parectors, a proposal on the number of members of the
Board of Directors and a proposal on the members of the Board of Directors In addition, the
task of the Nomnation Board 1s to seek candidates as potential beard members The Nom-
wation Board was established to operate until the General Meeting of the company decides
otherwise The members of the Nomination Board wall be nominated annually and their term
of office will end when new members are nomunated to replace them The Nomination Board
will submut its proposals to the Board of Directors by 31 January each year

The Company’ threc largest shareholders are each entrtled to appomt one member to the
Nonunation Board The nght to nominate 15 determined on the basis of the regstered hold-
s in Finnair’s shareholder register as of the first weekday in September. [he following per-
sons were appointed to Finnair’s Shareholders’ Nomination Board Eero Heliovaara, Director
General of the Guvernment Ownership Steening Department, Prime Minister's Office (Chair-
man), Robin Backmman, Portfolio Manager, KEVA, and Per Wennberg, Director, Skagen funds
The fourth member s the Chairman of the Company's Board of Directors
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CHANGES IN THE COMPANY'S SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Pelda Vauramo (M.Sc } took his positron as CEQ of Finnarr on 1 June 2013 He succeeds Mika
Velvilainen, who left the comparyy on 28 February 2013

Anss: Komulamen, Head of Custormer Service, left Finnair’s Executrve Board and Manage-
ment Board on 31 August 2013 Customer service functions were moved partly to Finnair'’s
Commercal Division headed by Allister Paterson and partly to Operations headed by Ville
Tho Finnair did not appoint a successor to Komulamen.

At the end of December, Finnair announced that the head of Travel Services and a mem-
ber of Finnaur s Executrve Board, D.5c (Econ), Kaisa Vikkula wall leave Finnair on 31 January

2014 Asthe companies belonging to the Travel Services busimess area will now report to Al-
lister Paterson, the head of Finnair's Commerctal Drasion, Finnair did not appoint a succes-
sor to Vikkula.

INSIDER ADMINISTRATION

Finnair complies with the Insxder Guidelines of NASDAQ OMX Helsinka Ltd that entered
nte force on 1 july 2013 Finnair's Board of Directors has approved Finnar's insider guide-
tines, whuch contam gurdelines for permanent and project-speatfic insiders as well as the or-
ganusation and procedures of the company's insider controls These insider gurdelines have
been distnbuted to all insiders

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
Finnair Plc’s Corporate Governance Statement 2013 15 presented on pages 131-141,and it s
available on the company’s website.

Personnel
The number of Finnair employees decreased sigruficantly m 2013 due to the structurat chang-
esn the company The Group employed an average of 5,859 (6,784) people i 2013, whuch s
13 6 per cent fewer than in the previous year The Aurhine Business segment ecmployed anaver-
age of 3,619 (3,660) people dunng the year, Aviation Services 1,215 (1,984) people and Travel
Services 751 (855) people. A total of 274 (285) people were employed in ather functions The
number of employees was 5,803 (6,368) on 31 December 2013

Of the personnel, 710 people worked outside Finland. Of these, 389 were employed in sales
and customer service duties in Finnair’s passenger and cargo traffic A total of 321 people
worked for travel agenctes and tour operators based in the Baltic countries and as gurdes at
Aurinkomatkat hohday destinations.

Full-time staff accounted for 95.5 per cent of employees, and 96.4 per cent of staft were em-
ployed ona permanent basis. The average age of the employees was 44 years. Of the person-
nel, 30 per cent are over 50 years of age, whle five per cent are under 30 years of age. Theem-
ployees’ average number of years in service was 17 Employees having worked for Finnarr for
over 20 years account for 40 per cent of the staff, while 10 per cent have warked for Finnair for
over 30 years. Of Finnair Group’s personnel, 55 per cent are women and 45 per cent are men.

EMPLOYEE CONSULTATIONS CONDUCTED IN 2013

In 2013, Finnatr conducted employee consultations related to personnel reductions with rep-
resentatives of personnel in ground customer services, financial fimctions, techmcal services,
Finnair Cargo, Aurinkomatkat-Suntours and in business travel agencies. The majonty of the
consultahions weve related to projects associated with the implementation of Finnasr's struc-
tural change and cost-reduction program and in reorganizing Finnair's travel agencies

The esnated maximurm need for reductions totalled about 450 jobs  Asa result of the ne-
gotiations conducted, 2 total of over 350 jobs were to be reduced. Some of these reductrons
will matenahze only in 2014 By offering part-time jobs and new positions to over 50 people,
Finnair was able to avoid some redundancies

Following the employee consultations in Technical Services, Finnair offered the employees
to be dismussed an addiional support package This was due to the very mited employment
opportunities in the Finnush aircraft technology and mauntenance sector The package includ-
ed not only monetary payments, but also re-employment support with the aim of finding new
employrment through Finnair’s Career Gate service.

Inthelast quarter of 2013, Finnarr trade unuon, the Association of Support Service Industries
(PALTA), reached an agreement with the Finnush Cabin Crew Union (SLSY), Trade Union
PRO, the Finnish Aviation Union (IAU) and the Finmsh Ajr Line Pilots’ Association (SLL) on
a new collectve labour agreement m hine with the national framework agreement, known as
the Finmush Employment and Growth Pact. The agreement included wages raises in hine with
the Finnish Employment and Growth Pact and also the schedule and processes of separate,
company-specific negohiations related to Finnairs cost reductions

PERSONNEL INCENTIVE SCHEMES

Incentve benuses for 2013, based mainly on iinancial performance and quality indicators, are
estimated to be paid to personnel to an amount of approximately 5 1 mullion euros, mcludimg
social securrty costs. The crrteria based on the Group's result for the personnel profit bonus
were not met1n 2013

-
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The remuncrabon of personned, including Employee Share Savings Plan FlyShare, 1s dis-
cussed in more detal in the Remuneration Statement 2013 on pages 147155

Shares and shareholders

SHARES AND SHARE CAPITAL

On 31 December 2013, the number of Finnarr shares entered in the Trade Register was
128,136,115, and the registered share capital was 75,442,904.30 euros. The company’s shares
are quoted on the NASDAQ OMX Helsinka Stock Exchange. Each share confers one vote at
the General Meeting,

GOVERNMENT OWNERSHIP
At the end of 2013, the Finmish Government owned 55.8 per cent of Finnaur's shares and votes
According to the decision made by the Finsh Parliament on 20 June 1994, the Government
must own more than half of Finnair Plc’s shares, and decreasing ownershup below thus level 1s
subject to a Parllament decision.

SHARE OWNERSHIP BY MANAGEMENT
On 31 December 2013, members of the company’s Board of Directors and the CEO did not
own any Finnair shares Members of the Executve Board owned a total of 299,716 shares, rep-
resenting 0.23 per cent of all shares and votes.

OWN SHARES

Finnair acquured a total of 600,000 of its own shares in 2013 Finnair's Board of Directors de-
cided on the acquisihon of shares at its meeting of 18 December 2012, pursuant to the au-
thonsation to acquure the comparny’s own shares given by the Annual General Meeting of 28
March 2012 Also durmg 2013, the company transferred 708,679 of its own shares as incentive
bonuses tokey personnel belonging to the performance share plan in effect from 20100 2012,
and a further 22,340 shares as incentive bonuses to members of the FlyShare employee share
savings plan. On 31 December 2013, Finnair held a total of 279,168 (410,187) of its own shares,
representing 0.2 per cent of the total share capital

FINNAER ANNUAL REPORT 2013

Acquisition and delivery of own shares and
returns of shares

Number of shares  Acquisition value,
EUR

 n

Average price,
EUR

31 Dec 2013 279,168

Fnnalr pic targest shareholders as

at 31 december 2013 Kumber of shares

208 241,18

290

Changes 2013

State of Finkand, 0 ¢e of Counsil of State
Skagen Global Funds
KEVA (Local Government Pensions Institution)
imannen Mutual Penson isurance Compary
Nordea Funds
State Penson Fund
Ventas Pension insurance Company
Tineste-Group Oy
Fenna Pension Insurance Company

Evli Funds

Etra Invest Oy

Taaleritehdas Arvo Markka Osake Fund

OP hunds

Feonair Pic Sta  Fund

Varma Mutizal Person nsurance Company

Nommee regestered
Others
Total 128,136,115
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SHAREHOLDER AGREEMENTS
Finnarr 1s not aware of any shareholder agreements pertaiming to share ownershup or the use

of voting nghts.

CHANGE OF CONTROL PROVISIONS IN MATERIAL AGREEMENTS
Some of Finnair's financmg agreements mcdude a change of control clause under which the
tinancter shall be entitled to request prepayment of the exasting loan or to cancel the availabal-

1ty of a loan factlity in the event that some other person than the State of Finland acquires the
control of Finnair exther through majonity of the voting nghts or otherwise.

Breakdown of shares at Number of Numbey of
31 december 2013 shares % shareholders %
Regstered in the name of nominee
Not converted nto the book entry system o o .
Total T T amuems 1000 1572 1004
Shareholders by type at Number of Number of
31 December 2013 shares % sharehwlders %
Public bodies - o _

R - - - =
Regrstered in the name of a nominee _ - !ML
‘Outside Finland__ B - T - T

Privale companses
Fmancal instutions

ASSOCIAUONS B .

Not comverted into the book enfry system __
Total ) ) 128,136,115 1009 15772 1000

SHARE-BASED INCENTIVE SCHEMES

Employee share savings plan FlyShare

At the end of March 2013, the Board of Directors of Finnair decided to launch FlyShare, an
employee share savings plan for Finnarr employees. The objective of the plan 1s to encourage
the employees to become shareholders in the company, and thereby strengthen the employ-
ees’ nterest in the development of Finnair’s shareholder value and to reward them over the
long term. Over 1,000 Finnar employees, or approximately one fifth of all employees, partici-
pated n the first phase of the share <avings plan. In the fourth quarter of 2013, a total 6f 22,340
Finnair shares held by the company were transferred to FlyShare program participants as n-
centive bonuses. The share savings plan is described i more deta:l in Remuneration State-
ment on pages 147-155

Shareholding by number Shareholding by type

of shares owned

% %

D eublic bodies 66 9%
ElHausenolds 10 1%

[31-200 0 6%
20110002 4%
W 001-10,000 5.0%

10 001-100,000 4 1% Woutside Firland S 1%
H100,001-1 00,0005 7% B prvate companies 4 9%
H1000001-74 4% B rinancal nstitutions 4 4%
B nepstered inthe name of nomnee 7 8% B Assocations 0 8%

M regrstered in the name of a nominee 7 8%
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Key personnel’s performance share plan Finnair share 2009-2013
In February 2013, Finnarr’s Board of Directors approved a new performance share plan for

Finnair’s key personnel. The share plan replaces the previous plan that expired at the end of EUR

2012 The purpase of the share plan is to encourage the management to work to increase long- 6

term shareholder vatue and also to commut the management to the company The share plan
15 described i more detad in a Stock Exchange Release published on 8 February 2013 Long 5 |€\J
h — .

term incentive plan follows the gurdehines 1ssued by Cabinet Commuttee on Economic Policy

‘The share plan consists of annually commencing indmwidual plans within whnch the partici-

pants have the opportunity to earn Finnair shares as a long-term incentive reward, if the per- 3 Y4 N
formance targets set by the Board of Directors are achueved. The commencement of each new > <>
plan is subject to a separate approval of Finnawr Board of Directors Finnair'’s Board approved
in February 2013 also the 2013 - 2015 share plan and its performance cniterta 1

Share-based incentive schemes are descnbed in Finnair's Remuneration Statement 2013 on

Share price development and trading
Atthe end of December 2013, Finnarr's market value stood at 354.9 milbion euros (305 0),and =~ ™ Average prce

the closing price of the share was 2.77 curos (2.38) Duning the January-December penod, the

tughest prece for the Finnaur share on the NASDAQ OMX Helsinla Stock Exchangewas3.25  comparison European Alrlines
eurcs (2.64), the lowest price 240 euros {1.67) and the average pnoe 2.85 euros (224) Some

26 0 mulhion (19 7) of the company's shares, with a total value 0of 742 nulbon euros (44 1), were

traded. Traded shares represent 20.3 per cent (15 4) of afl shares 200

Number of shares and share prices 2013 2012 2011
Average number of shares adausted for share ssue

Average number of stanes adpusted for share
rss0e (with diutedd ¢ ot}

The number of shares adjusted for share issue at
the end of imancial year

The number of shares adjusted for share ssue at
the end of fmancial yeariwith dikted e ect)

Nurnber of shares, end of the financi2 year
Trading price haghest

Trading price Xrwest

Market value of share caprtal Dec

No of shares traded

No o shares traed a5 of average no of shares

150

100 — W 4 Som—

g
' BEEEE B OB OBE
S

- Finnair
== curopean Arlines

Comparison NASDAQ OMX Helsinki

= Frnair

= OMX Hekmb benchmark

= OMX Helsinki Travel and lessure
=OuMX Hekinki
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Dividend policy and the Board’s proposal

for the distribution of profit

Theaim of Finnair's dvidend policy is to pay, on average, at least once-third of the carmungs per
share as a dmdend dunng an economuc cycle In payng dmdends, the aim 15 to also take mto
account the company’s earmings trend and gutlook, hnancal situation and caprtal needs for
any gven pentod. In 2013, earnings per share from the result of the peniod (before hybnd bond
interest} was 0 08 (0 08) euros, and earmings per share was 002 (0 01) euros.

Finnarr Plc’s distnbutable equity amounted to 284,038,140 67 euros on 31 December 2013
Ihe Board of Directors propeses to the Annual General Meetng that no dovidend 1s pad
for 2013

Corporate responsibility

In March, Finnair pubhshed its annual Sustainability Report, which is based on the Global Re-
porting Inttiative (GRI) The report details and assesses the financial, socal and emvironmental
sustanability of the Finnair Group's activities tn 2012 and proactrvely discusses topics suchas
the airline’s efforts to reduce greenhouse gas enuissions, developments in carbon trading and
arr traffic management, aviation’s role in trade and economec development and the impact of
restructuning on personnel.

InJune, Finnair was certified as a ptoneer in ermronmental management m [ATAs Environ-
mental Assessment (IEnvA) Program The program 1s designed to independently assess and
improve the emvironmental management of anairhine [thelps arrhnes improve fuel efficency,
reduce waste and limit greenhouse gasemussions Finnarr s part ofa prlot group of arrdines that
has been developing and participating in the program. The arrhine assessments are undertak-
en by independent accredited environmental assessment organisations

In October, Finnair placed among the leading comparues in the Carbon Disclosure Pro-
ject (CDP), which assesses the quality of environmental reporting related to cimate change
pubhished by companies from the petspective of dentifying business nsks and opportur-
ttes Finnair was also included m the CDP Nordic 260 Climate Disclosure Leadershup Index
(CDLY) for the second consecutive year The index highlights those companzes listed on the
Nordie stock exchanges that have displayed a particularly progressive approach te the disdo-
sure of information regarding chmate change The Carbon Disclosure Project 15 the worlds
only global environmental disclosure system and represents 722 international mvestors with
assets of over 87 tnlhion dollars

Also in 2013, Finnair began employee training on its Code of Conduct updated at the end
of 2012. An eLearming course related to the topic was published near the end of the year, and
trarung will continue in 2014

Significant near term risks and uncertainties

Due to the short booking honzon in passenger and cargo traffic, long-term forecasting of
Finnair's busimess operations s difficult. Aviation s an industry that s globally sensitve to eco-
nomuc cydes and also reacts quickly to external disruptions, seasonal vanation and changes

m economic trends Finnaur has implemented a comprehensive nsk management process to
ensure that nsks are identifted and mitsgated as much as possible. The nisks and uncertainties

descnbed here are considered to potentially have a sigruficant imipact on Finnair’s business,
finanaal result and future outlook within the next 12 months.

‘The achievernent of the stratemc advantages and cost reductions sought through Finnair's
partnershup projects mvolve nisks due to, for example, changes in partners’ busmess operations

Negotiahions on cost reductions between Finnair and the trade untons representing its em-
pPloyees involve nsks that, if reahsed, could have an cffect on the achuevement of the company’s
cost reduction targets, the uminterrupted contmuty of its aperations and the company's repu-
tabion. The achtevement of targets m other cost reduction categortes included 1n the cost-re-
duction program also mvolve nsks

Theaviahion industry s affected by a number of regulatory programs at the EU and interna-
tional levels Estmating the impact of the regulatory changes on airhines’ operational actmvties
and/or costs m advance 1s difficult. Examples of such regulatory programs include internation-
al regulation related to-emisston tracing and other environmental regulation, EU regulations
on privacy protection and the decision made by the Court of Justice of the European Unson
n October 2012 regarding fhght passengers’ ights The Ezropean Commussion’s proposal is-
sued i October 2013 regarding the expansion of epussions trading concerming flights with-
n the EU (so-called stop the dock model or intra-E1J ETS) has been met with opposition n
certain countnies outside the EU, which may have a negatrve effect on the growth potential of
Finnair's Asian traffic, especially in the medium term. The new proposal may also lead to ad-
drtional costs

Finnair's risk management and rsks related to companys operations are described in more
detail on pages 142-146 and an the company’s website at wwwifinnairgroup com.
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Seasonal variation and sensitivities

in business operations

Due to the scasonal vanatron of the airline business, the Groups turnover and profitare gen-
crally at thew lowest in the first quarter and at thewr fughest in the third quarter of the year
The growing propurtional share of Asian traflic increases seasonal fluctuation due to desti-
nation-specific scasons 1 Asian leisure and business travel

A ane-percentage-point change in the passenger load factor or the average yield in passen-
ger traffic has an effect of approximately 15 rmullion ewros on the Group's operating result. A
one-percentage-point change m the urut cost of scheduled passenger trafhc has an effect of
approxamately 17 muthon curos on the operating result.

In addition to operattonal activities, fuel price development has a key impact on Finnair's
result, as fucl costs are the company’s most siguficant cost item. A 10-per-cent change i the
world market price of fuel has an effect of approximately 29 million euros on Finnair’s oper-
atmg result at an annual level (for the following 12 months on a rolling basis), taking hedging
nto account. Without hedging, a 10-per-cent change would have an effect of approxamately
63 milhion euros on Finnair's operating result at an annual level.

Finnair's foreign exchange nsk anses pnmanly from fuel and arcraft purchases, aircraft
leasing payments and sales revenue denorminated in foreign currencies Shghtly less than 60
per cent of the Group's turnover 1s denomunated in euros In 2013, the most important other
foretgn sales currencies were the Japanese yen (10 per cent of turnover), the Chinese yuan (6
per cent), the Swedish crown (5 per cent) and the US dollar (4 per cent) Approximately half
of the Group’s operating costs were denominated i foretgn currencies. The most important
purchasing currency was the US dollar, which acosunted for sightly over 40 per cent of all op-
erating costs Sigruficant dotlar-denominated expense items are amcraft leasing payments and
fucl costs as well as trathic charges. The largest investments, namely the acquisition of aircraft
and their spare parts, are mainly denominated 1n US dollars

A 10-per-cent change in the euro-dollar exchange rate has an effect of approximately 21
million euros on Finnair's operating result at an annual kevel (for the following 12 months on
a rolling bass), taking hedging into account. Without hedging, a 10-per cent change would
havean effect of approximately 68 million euros on Finnanr's operating result at an annual lev-
el The sensitmvty analysis assumes that the Chinese yuan and the Hong Kong dollar continue
to correlate strongly with the US dollar: A 10-per cent change in the euro-yen exchange rate
has an effect of approxematcly 6 million curos on Finnair's operating result at an annual level

(for the following 12 months), talang hedging mto account. Without hedging, a 10-per-cent
change would have an effect of approxamately 18 mullion curos on Finnair's operating result

at an annual level

“The company prutects itself against the nsks of currency, interest rate and jet fuel posiions
by using different denvative instruments, such as forward contracts, swaps and options, ac-
cording to the nsk management policy venfied by the Board of Directors Fuel purchases are
hedged for 24 months forward ona roling basis, and the degree of hedging decreases towards
the end of the hedging peniod. The higher and lower imits of the degree ofhedging are 90 and
60 per cent for the followaing six months At the end of 2013, the hedging ratio for fuel purchas-
es was 74 per cent for the first half of 2014 and 66 per cent for the whole year The hedging ra-
tro for a dollar basket over the following 12 months was 67 per cent, and the hedging ratio for
a ven basket was 71 per cent.

Other events in 2013

Finnar maugurated its new head office at Tietotre 9 in Vantaa, Fintandin July All ofthe Groups
functions 1n the Helsinks region, with the exception of flying crew and technical services,
moved to the new HOTT Bulding (House of Travel and Transportation) by the end of 2013

Events after the financial year

PROPOSALS OF THE SHAREHOLDERS’ NOMINATION BOARD
TO THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
On 31 January 2014, the Shareholders’ Nomination Board submitted its proposal on the com-
posihon of the Board of Directors to be chosen in Finnair's 2014 Annual General Meeting,
and on the Chasrman of the Board of Directors and the remunerations of the members of the
Board of Directors The Nomumation Board propases that present members of the Board of
Drrectors Ms Maya-Lusa Fiman, Mr Klaus W Hemnemann, Mr Jussi [tavuon, Mr Harn Ker-
minen and Ms Gunvor Kronman be re-elected, and that Ms Jaana Tuominen and Mr Nigel
lurner be elected as new members to the Board of Directors. The Nomunation Board turther
proposes that Mr Klaus W Hememann be re-elected as Chairman of the Board The Nom-
mnation Board also proposes, that the annual rernunerations of the members of the Board of
Drrectors would remain unchanged In addition, the Nomination Board proposes, that the
meeting fees payable to Board members residing in Finland remain unchangedand to Board
members residing abroad the fee of 2,400 (1,200) euros would be pard per mecting of the
Board or its Comumutiee.
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2014-2016 PERFORMANCE SHARE PLAN
On 10 February 2014, Finnar Board of Directors approved a new performance share plan,
covering years 2014-2016, for the key personnel of the Finnair Group The share plan 1sa part
of Finnair's long-term share-based incentve arrangement that Finnair Board of Directors ap-
proved m 2013, and which conststs of annually commencing indmvidual plans

More information: on the long-term share-based incentive arrangement and annual share
plans 15 available on Finnair’s webstte www fnnatrgroup com under Governance section.

AIRCRAFT SALE AND LEASEBACKS

The sale and leaseback agreements of two Awrbus 330 arrcraft owned by Finnaur were finahzed
on 26 February 2014 The Memorandum of Understanding {MoU) on the transactions was
signed on 13 December 2013. The MoU ncludes also two ordered Aarbus 350 arcraft, and
sale and leaseback agreements for these two are expected to be concluded in H2 2015, when
the first two A350s ordered by Finnair are delvered.

Outlook for 2014
“The ongoing uncertain economic outlook in Europe and Asia 1s contributing to weak consum-
er demand 1n some of our mam markets Aur traffic 1s expected to grow moderately in 2014
Finnair, however, will not be able to benefit from that growth without progress in its cost sav-
ings program and its target cost structure in place.

Finnair estmates its turnover to be close to previous year’s level in 2014 Fuel costs are ex-
pected to remain hugh. The outcome of Finnair’s ongotng cost-saving negotiations will have a

signihcant impact on hnancial performance n 2014, and therefore the company will recon-
sider grving gradance for its full-year 2014 financial performance after the savings negotiahions
have been condluded.

FINNAIRPLC
Board of Directors
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FINANCIAL INDICATORS 2009-2013

oo Do

INCOME STATEMENT 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 KEY FIGURES 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Turnover EUR mull Earmmngs/share R
change Earnmgs/share adjusted for option EUR
Operational result EUR mitl righis (with diuted e ect)
1n relation to turnaver Result/share (number of shares at the jal
Operatng proht £8IT EUR mill Ma of fnancial year} .
N relation to tumover _ uﬁ_niumm . oy
Net financial iIncome { Vexpenses () EUR mdll vider gm_cwﬁs_m .-
n relation ta turnaver B ca e n_s.mn s
Nel interest experses EUR mdl dend
w relation to W.M_.:m?i from gperatng actmties/ EUR
Profit before taxes EUR mill P/E rabo
n relation 1 twnover Equily rato
Net debi-to-equity {Gearng)
BALANCE SHEET 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 Adnssted mom:_..ma. "
Non current assets EUR wnll Returm on equity (ROE)
Current assets EUR mull Retum on capial Sﬁ._s_mn (ROCE)
Assets held for sale EUR mil
Assets total EUR mdl CASH FLOW 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Sharcholders equity and EUR wmll
non-controlling iteresis Operational ”m_._ flow EUR mill
Lisbilibies total ELR rrul i retation to Gurmiaver
Equity and labilies tozal EUR mill
Gross capital expendaure EUR el i PERSONNEL 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
n relation to turnover _ Fersonnel on average
Average capital employed EURmn . .
Divdend _fE the tnancel year * FUR mill The dandend for year 15 a proposal of the Board of Directors to the Annual GeneralMeeting
interest beanng debt EUR mdl
Liqued funds ARl
Interest bearing net dett EUR mall

i Telation {0 mgver
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 1 JANUARY-31 DECEMBER 2013

HOW TO READ FINNAIR FINANCIAL STATEMENT?

Firmair financiad statement hs been preseneted in a style that atiempts to make (it
less complex and geve more relevant picture of the whole by combining notes
business related sections Each section sets out the accounting policies apphied n
producing these notes together with any critcal acoounting estimations and sourc-
es of uncertanty

ANotes to the financial statement have: been combined i a new way INKD Sections
based on ther context. The 2im 5 {0 give a more relevant prcture of the Finnawr
Group and its business. The content of each section is descnbed and explained
the beginning of that section and marked with

Y Specific accounting principles are attached to the relevant note: The accounting
prnciples can be recogrised from mark EY

H Critical accounting esitmates and sources of uncertainty have been presenied
together with the relevant note and specified with character B
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

79

EUR mill Note 2013 2012 EUR mill Note 2013 012
Turnover 2,221 2,800.3 24494 Profit for the financial year 110 10.5
Production o own st ' Other comprehensive incoma items.

Other operaung (ncome ttems that may be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods

Capital gans on sales ot tangible fived assets * L Iranstabon di erences

Operating ncome total 24228 2494 1 Change in fair value of avadable-for-sale financel assets

S oosis Change n farr value of hedging wmstruments

fFuel costs Tax e ect

Lease payments for arcrafl tems that will not be reclassified to profit or toss in subsaquent

Other rents periods

Arorafi materiah and overtiau Actuarial gains and losses from defined benefit plans

Tra ccharges Taxe ect -

Ground handiing and caterng expenses Other comprehensive income items total -150 569
Expenses for Lour operations Comprehensive Income for the fnandal year 39 454
Sales and marketing expenses

Depreciation and impatrment Attributable to

Cthes experses Owners of the parent compary

Operational expenses total 12’ 24265 24287  Mon-controfing interests

QOperational result -4.8 432

Faw vatue changes of dersvatves and foreign currency denominated fleet

MAINLENANGE NEServes

Nor-recurring stems - -

Operating expenses total 24316 24603

Operating profit 5.8 iis

Fimancial mncome

Fmanoal expenses

Share of pofits from associates and yom? ventunes -

Profit before taxes 10.1 N 14.8

Income: taxes

Profit for the financial year 1L0 105

Attributable to
Qumess of the parent company
Nor-controlling mterests

Earnings per share from profit attributable to shareholders of the
parent company
Earnuings per share jdduted and undikded)

* Not included in the operational resuft.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

31 Dec 2012

31 Dec 2012

1 Jan 2012

ELIR milk. Note 31 Dec 2013 Restated Restated EUR mill. Note 11 bec 2013 Restated Restated
ASSETS EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Non-current assets Equity attributahle to owners of the parent
Inangible assets B - Share capital
Tanqible assets ) Other equity )
[mvestments M associates and Jont ventures _ . 6911 7144 7m0
Loan and other recenvables o i a __ _  __  Noncomroling mierests .
Pension recevables — o || _ Equitytotal 6918 7753 797
Deferred tax recenvables N - .
Non-garent assets total 14236 L5007 L6575 MNon-anrent Habilities
_ ) Defesre tax iabilty

Current assets Borrownngs
inventories ) - -~ Pension obligations
Trade and other recenvables ) ~ - N Provesions o
Dervatrve financial mstruments -7 . . Non-cument Gabilties total 5634 5910 710.2
Other fmancial assets - o -
Cash and cash equivalents Current Babilities
Current assets total — 7594 6987 1355 Provsom

Borrowmgs _
Assets hekd for sale Trade

X Derwvative friancal mstruments
ASSETS TOTAL 2.2006 22313 23930 Defermed meome B
o o Fmployee benet relited attruats B

Other expenses related accruals

Corvent Babulities total 9412 8628 9031

Lobfibes rebied to assets held for sale.

Liabilities total T ) 15089 _ 1456.0 16133

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES TOTAL 2,200.6 22313 23930




FINNAIR ANNUAL REPORT 2013

STRATEGY / CUSTOMERS / OPERATIONS / EMPLOYEES / SOCIETY / FINANCE / GOVERNANCE / GRI \A., 81

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
BuR mifl, 2013 2012 Notes to consofidated cash flow statement
Cash figw from operating activities )
Protit tor the nanciat year R 1 Mon-cash transactions.
Non-cash transactions ?
Other adjustments to profit for the finangial yoar ) EUR il 013 2012

financal meome ) - 0T Depreciation

Financial expertses ) Employee benefits

Share of results from associates and jomt ventures. . .. Far value changes m dervatves and changes in exchanae rates i fleet averhauls

{nopme Laxes . Other adjustments - .
Changes in workmg capdal ; A Total 973 195
Interest pad - .
Other bnancal expernses pad - ! Net change in (nancat interest bearmy assets maturieg after more than threge months
Retenved miefest moome
Taxes paxt ! Liquld funds
Cash m_nl from opperating activites 107.0 . 1547

. Financal assets nchude cash and cash equvalents and investments which are reported m the separate accounts of bakance sheet
Cash flow from investing activities X The balancing of tems & preserted below
trvestment In asSociates and Jom ventLres - EUR millL 2013 2012
Investments 1n mtangible assets " - Other financel assets
Investmertis in tangible assets Cash and cash equivalents
Net change i financial interest bearing assets at 1air value through prokt of koss ! - Short-term cash and cash equivalents in balance sheet 4588 4305
Net change: m shares classificd as gvailable tor sake Maturing after more than three months
Sales of tangible assets Shares avaable for sale
Dnndends receved Total s 2561
Change 1n non-curment recervabiles ’ T -
Cash fiow from investing activities 161 ) 542 Cash and cash equavalents inchude cash and bank deposits as well as other highty liquid financeal assets which mature within three moniths
Such items are ¢.g. certificate of deposits and commerceal papers. Balance sheet rtems are presented i notes 522 Other current financial

Cash flow from financing activities assets and 5 23 Cash and cash equrvalents,
Proceeds from loans :
Loan repayments arwd thanges
Hybrid bond repayments
Proceeds trom hybad bond
Hybrid bond wnterest and expenses
Purchase of gwn shares
Drndends paxd
Cash flow from finanting acthities 474 219
Change in cash flows 757 L6
Change In liquid funds

L funds, a1 beginning
Change in cash flows :
Liquid furwts, at end ® 33L8 256 1

\\4‘
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Redtging reserve Owners of Non-

Share Qther and ather Unrestricted Retained Hybrid the parent controlling Equity
FUR mill. capital  restricted funds 0q items equity funds eamings baond company interests total
Shareholders equity 1 Jan 2013 wa 168.1 0.0 2471 1126 7 7743 09 775.2
Profit for the financa! year
Chanqe wn tar vakue of avaitable-for sale financial assets _
Change  1air value of hedging mstruments . ~r ~ _
Actuaral gains and losses trom gdefined benefit plans
Transkauon di erences _ ~ R
Comprehensive income for the financial vear total 09 0.0 150 ) 0.0 108 0.0 4.2 0.3 39
Bradend - -
Purchase of own shaics.
Share-based payments . B _
Hytind bord repayment o
Hytnd bond interests and expenses _ - -
Sharcholders eqisty 31 Dec 2013 754 1681 150 2473 963 1189 6911 07 6918

Hedging reserve Owners of Non-

Share Other and other Unrestricted Retained Hyhrid the parent controfling Equity
EUR mull, captal  restrcted funds 00 items equity funds earnings bond company interests total
Shareholders equity 31 Dec 2011 754 1581 wah _ 247.2 e 1193 7518 a7 7525
Chonge i accounting prmomtes lAS ) R R o
Sharehotders equity 1 Jan 2012 754 1681 510 2412 1119 1194 7m0 07 m7
Profit tor the hnanca! year
Change m fair value of avarable-for sale financal assets _
gsaqﬁrmaga_agwtu _ _ T e
Actianal gains and losses from defined benefil plans T -
iransiabion dv erences ) -
Comprehensive income for the financial year totaf 00 0.0 569 0.0 103 00 46.6 62 464
Purchase of gwn shares _
Hybnd bond repayment. intzrests and expenses
Progeeds from fybrd bond _ N _
Shareholders equity 31 Dec 2012 754 168.1 0.1 1.2 1125 1711 TI4 4 09 7

Hyhind bond at the end of 2013 tnchudess the 120 mdfion euro tybrd loan issued i 2012, whach after deducton of transacton costs amounts t 118.9 mifhon euros. The detrease of 52 1 mdfion euros in hybnd bond durmg 2013 redate to redemption of the outstandmg share of
the prevics hybrid bond sssued i 2009 More informatson on ybrad bond can be found in note § 3 Equity-related mformation.

_‘A-,_wu
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. CONSOLIDATION

AINates under Consolidatron -secbon mclude basrs of preparation and descripbion of general accounting principles as well as notes that
provide nformabion refatng to corsobdation prnciples and methods. Aim of the section 1s to provide an overall picture of the groups
structure and principles applied in preparing consohdated financial statements. Notes Include in addition to general consolkdation prin-
ciples, mformation about subsidianes, assocated companies and yoint verTiures held, acquired or sold by the group as well as informa
ton abeut assets held for sale. Bl

L1 ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

HOW SHOULD THE FINNAIR'S ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES BE READ?

Finnair describes the accounting principles in conjunction with each hote 1n the ann of providing enhanced understanding of each
accounting area General consolidation prnciples are described as part of this note (accountwg principles) white the ones more
directly refated to a speafic note are attached to the conspanding note. The Group foauses on describing the accounting chosc-
€5 made within the framework of the prevatling IFRS policy and avaiss repeatng the aciual text of the standard. unless Finnair
considers it particularly important to the understanding of the note s contenit. Refer to the table below to see the note m which
each accounting prnciple s frsted and for the relevant and materal IFRS standard.

Accounting principle Note Nr FRS
Cansoldation prncples of subsdanes Subsadiaries IAS
Non-controfling mtesests and trarsactons with  Subswianes 1AS
non-controlling skerests

Assets and labilites held for sale Non-current assets and babitties held for sale s "
Associates and joint vertures Investments « associates and joutt vertures I1AS
Segmenl reparting Segment mformation IFRS
Revenue recogretion, other mcome and trade Operaung income s IS IFKS
recewvables

Irventones Invertones ws
Provisiare Provisions s
tmpkryee benefits and share-based paymems  Employee benelis RS {FKS
Persions Pensions AS
Imangible assets Intangibte assets s

Tangible assets Tangibde assets A5
Depreaauon and amortzatan, nparment tntangible assets, Tangible assets AS 1S iAS
testing

Qperatmg and fmance lease arrangements Leasng arrangements S .
Interest and dnadend sncome Finangial income and expenses s s
Financial assets and tmpairment of financial Financal assets IAS |, IFRS
assets, cash and cash equivalents

Financial kabilives Frmancial liabilives IAS RS
Conngent liatudilies Contingent katnlities s
Dertvatve contracts and hedge accounting Derwvatrves IS IFRS
Equity dandend and treasury shares Equsty-related mformaton WS IS
Income and deferred taxes tncome taxes ns

DESCRIPTION CF THE COMPANY
The Finnair Group engages in workbwade air transport operations and supporting services. The Group's operations are dended mto the Air-
hine Bustness, Avation Servioes and Travd Servioes business areas: The Group's parent company s Finnair P, whach is domialed in Holsin-

ko at the regrctered address Tietote 9, Vantsa. The parent comparny 18 listed an the NASDAQ OMX Helunk Stock Exchange:. The Board of
Drextonrs of Finnanr Pic has approved these foanceal statements lor publication at its mweeting oo 10 February 2014 Under Fintand's Limat-

ed Liability Compares Act, sharcholders have the option (o accept or repect the financial statements m the Annual General meeting of the
sharehokders, which will be held after the publication of the financial statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION
Finnarr Pics consnldatod financeal statements for 201 have been prepared acconding o the [nternational Financial Reportmg Standands
{IFRS) and [FRIC mterpretatsons i effect on 31 December 2013 and as adopted by the Furopean Union. The notes to the consolidated -
nancal statements also comply wath Finnssh accountmg and corporate kw

“The 2013 consolidated financial statemenits have been prepared based on onginal acquisition costs, except for financial assets recognis
able through profit and loss at Eair value, financial assets avalable- for <ale, and dervative contracts, which have been valued at farr value,
Financral statement data s presented in mifhons of euros, rounded to the nearest one hundred tousand euro  This means that the sum of
the tndwdual figures may differ from the total shown.

Presentation of Consolidated income Statement and Balance Sheet

The 1AS T Presentabon of Financial Statements standard docs not define ‘operating result. The Group has defined it as follows: operating
profit 15 the net amount mchadmg tarnover and other operatmg income, less purchase costs adpsted by change m mventones and costs
areang from production for own use, kess costs anwsing from employee benefits, depreciabon and possible mpairment losses as wedl a5 oth-
er operating expenses. Exchange rate differences and changes in far vatwes of dervatives are inchuded m operating profit if they arse from
sterms related to barimess operations; otherwse they are recognised n fimancil items. Operatmg result exchades fimancral temns, share of
results from assocuates and yoart ventures and moome taxes.

Consnlidated moome statement includes, inaddion to g result, op | result which is presented to better reflect the Groups
g%ﬁgggsgﬁnggigﬂm&a%ﬂ?ﬁw&% and losses, changes m the
value of foresgn currency d d fleet e reserves, changes in the unrealised farr vatue of dervatves or non recurning items

In Consolidated balanoe sheet, assets and lrabalites are dassihed ase ..:.F.n_.irr n they are expected to nealize wathin 12 months or when
they are chassified as hquid furds or financial assets or labilites classifed as at fairvatue through profit or loss Other assets and labilibes
are dassified as non-current assets or kabihtes

Use of estimates
The preparation of financil staterments m accordance with IFRS standands req Group tromagerment tn make certam estimates and

fadgements m applying the accounting princrples. Informatyon about the adgement exercised by management i applying the Groups ac-
onuanting pronciphes and the arcas whene cstovates and padgennents have bigpest smpact in the financal statements are preented in the note

77 12Cntxcal acommbng estamabons and sources of uncertanty

I~ Content of the section

R
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Application of new and amended IFRS standards and IFRIC interpretations

The followmyg standards have been adopted by the group for the first tme for the financaal year begmnmg on | Jaruary 2013

« 1AS 19,"Employee benefits was revised 1n 201 1,and it changed acoountng for defined benefit plans by dummating the corndor approach.
Accondingly actuaral gains and losses are immedsatedy recogmised i the penod they occur inequity The revised standard did not have
material effect to group’s resufts; however it impacted equuity through other comprehensive mcome (OCT)

« Amendment to IAS 1, Financial statement presentation regarding other comprehensive oome. The mam change resulting from the
amendments 1s a requirement to classify temns pr d in ‘other compreh mcome’ (QCI) to those that are potentsally reclassifia-
ble to profit or Joss subsequently and to those that cannot be reclassified through profitand kess The amendment changed presentabion
of uther comprehensive mcome and dad not have mmpact on group's results and financial posibon.

« Amendment to IFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures, on asset and bability offsetting. Thus amendment inchudes new disclosure and
1t dedd not empact group's results or frmancial postbor.

« JFRS 13, Farr value measurement, ams to mmprove conststency by providing a precse definitzon of fair vatue and a single source of far
value measurement an dsclosure requiremnents for use across [FRSs. The change did not impact group’s results or fmancial posthion.

» Annual Improvernents to IFRSs 2009-2011 Cydle, ssued in May 2012 The oopror prirarily
wordmg of stanctards. Amendments dxd not have an empact on Fmnar s financial staterments

and clardy

Finnarr will apply the followmg new or amended standards and mierpretations startmg from 1 January 2014
« [FRS 10, ‘Censohdated financal statements” identifies the concept of comtrol as the determmmg factor m whether an entity should be in-
cluded withuin the consolidated financal statements of the parent compary
» 1FRS 11, Joint arrangements’ focuses on the nights and obligatons of the parties to the arrangement, rather than its legal form. There are
two types of jomt arrangements. jomt op and yomt Jowmt op anse where the mvestors have nghts to the assets
and obligations for %§§%E§§>E§§§?ﬁﬁnﬁa%¢5§%§g§
Jount: 1se whete the have rghts to thee et assets of the arrangement, joint ventures are aocounted for using the equty
method. Due to new standard, [AS28 was revised to be tn consistent with new standard.
« IFRS 12, Disclosutes of mterests m other entiies” mecludes the disclosure recanrements for all forms of mtetests m other entities, mclud-
Ing jomnt arrangements, associates, structured enibes and other offbalance sheet vetucles
Finraur has assessed the effect of the new standards by evaluatmg the natare of ownership mterests i its currerit holdmgs. Based on the
evaluabon, new standards of [FRS 10, 11 and 12 will not change the exstmg consobdatron method for currently held subsidanes, assocr
ated companes and jornt ventures Those that have currently been dassified as jomt ventures will contmue to be accounted for by using
equity method.
Other amendments, mterpretaions or new standards effectrve on or after 1 January 2014 are st expected to have any sigruficant m-
pact on Finnair s financial staternent.

GENERAL CONSOLIDATION PRINCIPLES

Consofidation

Consoldaton, censoldation method and classthication of ownership interests depends on whether group has pawer to control, sigmificant
mfluence or other interests in the entity When group has power to control the entaty, 1t ts consoldated as subsidiary in the group according
to principles described n the note 1.3 Subsidianes. When group has sgnificant mfluence over an entity but does not have power to control,
entity 15 acoountad with equity method accordimg to principles set in note 1.6 Investments n assocates and joint ventures. If group does
not have power 1o control not significant influence m entty, its ownership imterests are cassified as financial assets available for sale and ac-
counted for acoording to principles described in the note 5.2 Finanaial assets.

IR

Translation of foreign currency items
Ttems included m each subsidiary 5 financual are valued in the foretgn currency that 15 the mamn currency of operating emvimon-
ment of each subsidiary (“operabonal currency”) The consolidated financal statements have been presented in euros, which is the parent
comypany s operabional and presentation currency The income statements and Bakance Sheets of forergn subsidianies have been transhated
into euros using following panciples.
« Monetary:temns denomunated in forexgn currency have been translated into the opetating curtency ustng the mud-market exchange rates
on the dosing date,
= Advance payrments made and recerved are entered at the exchange rate of the operating currency on the date of payment.
+ Non-monetary ttems have been translated mto the operating currency using the exchange rate on the date of the transachion.
+ Transtation differences on eperations are included m the moome statement’s operating profit, and translabon differences on foreign cur-
rency Joans are mctuded 1n fimancial iterns.

Translaton ddferences of shareholders equity rtems ansing from diminations of the aoquisition cost of foresgn subsidiares are recog-
ned m the other comprehensne moome, When a forcen subssdiary o sold, refated translation difft runees are recogmsed i the meome
statement as part of the gain or loss ansing from the sabe. Goodwall ansing from an acquisibon of a torergn entaty 1s treated as an asset of that

entity and translated 2t the closing rate.

1.2 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATIONS AND SOURCES OF UNCERTAINTY

The preparatien of financtal staterments requures the use of estrmates and assurmptions relatmg to the future, and the actual outcornes may dif-
fer from the estmates and assumptions made. Inaddibion, discretion has to be exercised tn applying the acoounting pnnciples of the financal
statements. Estimates are based on management's best view on the dosing date. Possible changes in estmates and assumptions are entered
mto the aocounts i the finances! penod during which the estimates and assumptions are adjusted and in all subsequent financiaf penods.

i The identified main critical estimates and sources of uncer tainty are presented (n ronnectian ko the iters considered to be af
fected attached to the corresponding note The table below shows where to find more information about those presentations H
Critical accounting estimations and sources of umcertainty Nate number Note
mpairment testmg o _ Intangible assets Tangible assets
udgements ol of tlass ?8 lease arr u_._ﬁa._m: Leasing arrangements
..m__la_qlm_f&lﬁwsaﬁ _.EaQ PB -7 Operating ncome
Deferred taxes Income taxes
Pension o a_,ﬁcoa ) Pensions

I = Cntical accounting estimates




1.3 SUBSIDIARIES

£ Consofidation printiples of subsidiaries
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Finnair Ple s ennsohdated financial statements inchude the parent comparty Finnair Ple and allt its subsidianes The

sutrswlianies are defined as companes where the parent cwnpany duectly or adirectly pwns moe than 50% of the votes or
where Finnair atherwrse has the power to govern the financeal and operating poliocs. The acquined subsidianes are meuded

n the consolidated financial statements from the day the Group has control and disposed subsidiaries untd the control

ceases

Acquired and estabiished companies are accounted for using the acquisiion method of accounting Accordingly the acquired
compaty s Wentifiable assets liabihitres and contingent fiabilives are measured at farr value onthe date of acqursition. The excess

between purchase price and far vatue of the Group s share of the entifiable net assets 5 recogn sed as goodwil?

All mtercompanty transactions, balances and unrealised gagis on transactions between group cormparves are efiminated Un-
realised kosses are also eltminated unless there 1s evidence of imparment related o the ransfermed asset. The accounting pnn-

ciples of subsidianes have been changed to cormespond Group's accounting policies

Mon-controlling Interest and transactions with non-controlling interest

Non-controfling interests are presented within the equity in the Conschdated Balance Sheet. separated from equity
attnibitable to owners of the parert For each acquisition the non-controlling mkerest can be recognized exther at farr value
of at the non-controlitng interest s proportionate share of the acquirees net assets The carrying amount of non-controlling
interests & the amount of the intarests at wubal recogition added with the non-congroling intenests share of subsequent
changes in equity Transactions with non-controlling intenests are regarded as transactions with equity owners EY

Principal subsidiaries
Name of the company

ownership %

Name of the company ownership %

Finnar Cargo Oy Helsinkt
Finnar Cargo Termnal Operations Oy Helsinki
Amadetss Fintand Oy Hetsink|

Suomen Matkatommesto Oy (Matkatommisto Oy Area)
Hetstnki

AJS Estravel Ltd. Estorua

Backo ce Servaces Estonn Qu Estonsa

Oy Aunnkomatkat - Surtours Lid Ab Helsinki
Towvelomat Oy Hetsindy

Q00 Aurnkomatkat Rissia

000 Aurinko {Calypso World of Travel) Russia
Malkayhtyma Oy Helsaa

Auninko Ou (Horizon Travel Ou} Estonia

FTS Financial Services Oy Heksinka
Fwwar Travel Retail Oy Helsinki
LSG Sky Chefs Firland Qy (Finnar
Catering Oy) Vantaa *

Finrar Awcraft Fnance Oy Hetsinda

Frwar ATR Fmance Oy Hebsnly

Finrar Techrscal Seraces Oy Hebsrkt
Finnar Engme Services Oy Helsinki i
Firar Flight Acadermy Oy Hetsinkd
Fumcatering Oy Yantaa

Nerthport Oy Hetsink

Fintand Travel Bureau Lid, Hedank

IC Finnarr Ltd Great Britam *~

* The group has made an m-operation agreement which includes 3 call option and ceased controf over the company
** IC Finnair Ltd s a fufly owned captive insurance company in Guermsey which reamingss are subject to normal taxation i Fintand.

1.4 ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

Purmg the financeal year 2013 and 2012 the Group didn't have any aoquisiions Dunng 2003 Finnair Group dsdn't have any disposals Dur-

mg 2012 Finnar signed a co-operation agreement redated to transferting of busimess eperations of Finnawr Catering Oy to LSG Sky Chefs.
De to contractual arrangements, Finnair Group has noe power to control Finnair Catertng Oy and the company bas not been consolidated

min Finnanr Group from 1 August 2012 onwards,

1.5 NON CURRENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HELD FOR SALE

N Accounting principles

Non-current assets held for sate or disposal groups are classified as assets held for sale when their carrying amount s te be re-

covered principally through a sale transacuon and sale 15 considered highly probable, dunng the foliowing twelve manths

Immedhately before classification. assets held for sale or assets and hiabidiies of dispasal groups are valued at the tower of the
carrying amount or their (air vatue less costto selt Deprecistion of these assets s discontinued at Lhe moment of classification £Y

Non-current assets and latkties held for sate for 2013 and 2012 indude srventenes and tangible asset refated to Finnar technical opera-

tion's restructitring. tnaddihon, non-curtent assets and labilities held for sake tnclude frgures of subsidiary Finncatering Oy

The book valite of the assets held for sale
EUR mill

012

Tangible assets

Imventores

Trade and other recetvables
Total

The book valve of the liabilittes held for sate
EUR mill

une

2012

Trade payables and other labilives
Total

[\ = Accounting principles

22




FINNAIR ANNUAL REPORT 2013

- - T/
STRATEGY / CUSTOMERS / OPERATIONS / EMPLOYEES / SOCIETY / FINANCE / GOVERNANCE / GRI A | 86 _ v
1.6 INVESTMENTS [N ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES Financial Statement information on the Group's principal associates and joint ventures 31 12 2013

EUR mill. Domitile Assets tabilibes Turnover  Profit/Loss  Holding %
EJ Associates are compames inwhich the Group usually holds 20-50% of the voting ngtit or m whuch the Group has sigmificant in- Amadeus Estona o . FEstona
fuence but mwtich 1 does not exercise control. Comparies whene Lhe Groug hes joni control with another entity are considered Nordic Global Amtnes Oy~ . Fintrd
as jomnt ventures The Group's mierests i associated comparwes and jomitly controlled entiles are accouried for using the equity Fiyoe Nordic A * Sweden
methed The ivestment tn associates and goint ventures include goodwill recogntsed at the ime of acquisiion The Group recog- Kintersto Oy Lentzante . Fnand
nses it share of the post-acquision resuits n associates and jomt ventures in the meome statement. When the Groups share of Tota! - 787 801 2665 155

* agronding to officcal financial statment of Flybe Findand Oy as per 31 barch 2013, which & holding-company Flybe Nondk Ab'S subsidiary and responsible of the

losses n an 2ss0Ciate or 3 Joint venture equals or exceeds its mterest in the assocsate or Jont venture, the Group does not recog-

operatons i the Fiybe Nondic group.

nise further losses, untess ithas ncunred ebligations on behalf of the associate of joint venture

Resuits from the tramsactions between the Group and its assoniates and joint ventures are recogrnised ondy 1o the extert of unre- Financial Statement Informaticn on the Group's principal assoctates and joint ventures 31.12.2012
lated investor s nterests in the associates. The Group determines at each reporting date whether there 5 any objective evidence
that the nvestment in the associates or joint vertures s impamed In case of such ndicabions. Group cakeulates the amount of m- EUR mitl. Domicile Assets  Liabilities Turnover  Profit/Loss  Holding %
parmenLas the 0 erence. between the recoverable 2rnount of Lhe assouate sid As camyng vahuc. The impamment & recogrized Amadeus Esions Estonma
n share of profits from associates and jont ventures Nordic Global Artines Oy Finland

Accounting policies of assaciates and jount ventures have been changed where necessary to correspond with the accounting Fiybe Nordic Ab Sweden
pohicees acopted by the Groun [ financial statements for the penod are not available, the share of the profit of certam assocated Kiintersto Oy) Lentajante Finband
companty or joind venture 15 inchuded in the consohidated accourts based on the prekminary financial statements or latest avail- Total oL _ 458 ns3 566 49
able information EY

All the associated comparves and jomt ventures of Finnair are unhisted. Amadeus Fintands assoctated company Amadeus Estonia ensures
consistent products and services to Finnish travel companes operating n Estoni and helps toincrease cooperation between Estoruan trav-
¢l agenoes and Finnush travel service providers. Nordie Global Aurlines Oy s a freight asrine co-owned by Finnasr Catgo Oy, Iimannen and
The Groups share of the result in 2ssncrates and pomni ventures, and mfirmation on assets and kabifibes of prmepal associates and poont Neff Capitat Management. Flybe Noedac, owned by Finnair Pic and Flybe UK, 1s a regional amlime operating tn the Nordsc countres and
verturesare presented n the following tables. the Baltic states. Durnng 2682 the shares of the Finrsh Aircraft Mantenance Oy were exchanged to Fiybe Nordic shares. The transaction

did nat effect the share of ownerships.
EUR mill.

AL the beginnmg of the financial year
Shares of results
Additions

Dsposals ) . . . o L e
At the end of the financial year o . . L 82 123

EY= Accounteng principles
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2 SEGMENTS AND INCOME Business segment data 2013
ElSegments and income include segment Information and notes related to revenue and other operating income both from income state- Alrline Aviation Travel Group Group Group
ment and halance shest perspective 1 EUR milt, Business Services Services  eliminations functlons total
External turnover
Internal turnover
Turnowver
2.1 SEGMENT INFORMATION Operating profit 248 352 16 88
Operational result 57 -1316 31 -48
Share of profits from associates and joint ventures
Financial income
EY segment reporting Fmancial expenses
Operating segments are reported in @ manner consistent with the mternal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-mak- incame taxes
er The chief operating dectsion maker who s responsible for aliocating resources and assessing performance of the operating Nor-tontrolling aterests
segments has been identified as the Board of Directors Segrments are defined based on Group s business areas Y Profit for the financtal year e
Degrrecsation and impairment

Reporung segments are based on the Groups busmess area based internal organsatonal structure and financial reporting to management, .

The reporting segments are Amrime Bustness, Aviation Services and Travel Services. Average number of emplayees
Aurline Business 15 responsible for scheduled passenger and charter traffic as well as cargo sales, customer seniice and service conoepts, Employees at the: end of year

fisght operatons and acteaty connected with the procurement and financing of amcraft. The Aurdine Business segment comprises Finnarr

a1 trafhe, Finnair Cargo Oy, Finnair Cargo Termiunal Operations Oy, Finnair Flight Academy Oy and Finnair Asrcraft Finance Oy
Aviabion Senvnces consests after the structural changes in 2012 of arrcraft mamtenance and the operations of Finncatering Oy and Finnair

Business segment data 2012

Travel Retail Oy The business operatins of Finmair Catermng Oy which were transferred to LSG Sky Chefson 1 August 2012 arenciuded o0 oy e Mvatlen el miup | Srou Crom
in the segment s figures for the companson year untit 31 july 2012 [n addstson, most of Finnair's property holdings, office sernices and the ol T
management and mamitenance of properties refated to the company s operational actvitres also belong to the Aviabion Services business area A
Travel Services consssts of the Group's domestic and foreggn travel agency operabions as well as tour operabions and traved sector soft- T A
ware business operations. The following compames belong to the Travel Servaces segment. Ov Aurninkomatkat-Suntours Lid Ab Matkay- Operating prafit 02 13 &8 318
htyma Oy, Torvelomat Oy, Honzon Travel O, OO0 Aunmbo, Amadeus Finland Oy, Fintand Travel Bureau Ltd, Matkatomuste Oy Area
and ASSE 1 Omﬂ..mmo_.ﬁ_g 96 20 56 432
Transactons between segments are based on comimercial terms. Ttems excluded from operating profit are not allocated to segments. Mﬁ. ﬁﬁsa asSOuiles and fort ventures
Personnel worlang in group functrons ts presented separately, but costs frorm group funchions are allocated to segments. Fnancal
XPErses
ingome taxes
Non-controllng wterests
Profit for the financial year 102
Deprecistion and mpairment

Average number of employees
Employees at the end of year

H = Content of the section
EY = Accounting principtes




FINNAIR ANNUAL REPORT 2013

STRATEGY / CUSTOMERS / OPERATIONS / EMPLOYEES / SOCIETY / FINANCE / GOVERNANCE / GR) 4, A i 88

2.2 OPERATING INCOME

IMOperating ncome -section mcludes both income statement and balance sheet notes that refate te turnover and eperating income The
am s to provide mare coherent grcture of icame related derrs e ecting Fnaaie's result and financal postion Trade recenvabiles and
deferred moome cortaining mamly prepard flght tickets and travel tour services are presented n connection with this section because
those are an essential part m revenue recogniion IR

K\ Revenue recognition
Revenue comprises the farr value consxderation recenved or recervable at the ume of delivery of products or upon fulfitment of
services Revenue is shown net of discounts and indirect taxes. Revente 1s recogrised as described below

Arrlne Business sales are recognised as revenue when the flight 1s fown in accordance wath the fhght tra ¢ program. The rec-

ogribon as revenue of unused flght lickets 5 hased on the expiry dates of the tckets
innawr Phus Customer Loyalty Program o ers 10 customers a possibility (o use earned loyalty points [0 3Cquie services of

goods from the Group s supply of serwices. The consideration recewvable from the customer s allocated between the components
of the arrangement using fair values The arrangement 1s a multipte-clement arrangement and the revenue 15 recogrised partly
when the ofiginal acquisition 1s purchased and the rest when the accrued points are used 10 acquire a service or a good

Aviation Services provide amrcraft mamtenance services mainty for group companes and due to restrectunings decreasingly to
external parties The related revenue s recognised when the serice has been completely performed Revenue related 1o trav-
el retail and catering businesses are mostly sale of goods and recognised at the moment the goods are transferred to the buyer

Revenue related to Travel Servies 1s recogrised when the service has been performed 1@ 1n case of tour operation services
at the date of departure and in commission sales at the bime of sale In commission based sates, only the part of commission s
included in the revenue

Publlc grants
Public grants, for example govemment aid for professional traming have been recognised in other operating income Public grants

that the Group may recerve for tangible asset acquisibons are recogrised as a reduction i ofigmal acquisiion cost and depreci-
ated along with the onginal asset duning the usefut life

Trade receivables

Trade recenvables are recognised at fair value When Lhe Group has objective evidence that it may not be able to collect all rade
recewables that are due & bad debit provision s recognsed Financialdi - cullies that indicate that a customer s going mito bank-
ruptey financial restructuning or substantial delays in payments are examples of objectve evidence that might cause trade re-
cenvables to be tmpaired mpamment of trade recervables 15 recognised in other operating expenses. Y

H = Content of the section
EY = Accounting principles
H = Cnical accounting estimates

M Finnair Plus Customer Loyalty Program

Valuation and revenue recogrition related to Finnar Plus -debt requires judgement of management especially related to fair
valuation of unused points and tming of revenue recognition related to points expected to expire The points of the Finnair Plus
Customer Loyalty Program are valued according to the IFRIC 13 to the market value The market value 15 determimed frorm the al-
location of the used pomts. Each form of uses 1s valued using the best estimates for the market value. The liability recogrised s
the total of accumulated points where the pomis expected Lo lapse are decreased The net amaunt of points are valued using the
above explained method and that ameunt 15 recogrised as a liability m balance sheet @

2.2.1 Turnover hy currency

EUR mtll, 2013 2012
R

Lad

T — -

EZ o -

T i —_ -

Qther currencies

Total . _ 24002 24492

Currency hedging policies are described i the notz Management of financial risks

2.2.2 other operating Income

EUR mill. 2013 2012
Rental income

Other income

V@i -~ T 188 208
2.2.3 Trad2 and other receivables

EUR mifl. 013 2012
Trade recenvables

Prepaud m\uemwm& accrued income and other recenvables total
lmﬁmbwamv_mm from assocates and jomt ventures

_ ther prepaxd expernes accrued meone and oliver recenvables
Total - o Tt 75

The far value of trade recevables do not matermally differ from balance sheet value
Recevables from assoctates and pomt ventures are mainly recervables from Flybe.
Prepaxd expetises aocrued mcome and other recervables indude maly atrcraft lease prepavments.
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Aging analysis of trade receivables w012
Nat overdue

Overdue less than
Owerdue more than

Total

2013

days

days

123.2 1207

The Group has recogrused credit bosses from trade recervables 0.8 mullion euras (3.6) dunng the knancial vear. Trade receivables do mot con-
tam sgruficant credit rsk because of dversity m customer bases. The maxmmum exposure to credst rsk at the reportmg date s the carrymg
valoe of each class of recenvable mentioned above. The Group does not hold any collateral as securty

Trade recelvables by corrency

EUR mifl 2012

EUR
ush
»
CNY
SEK
Cther arrences
Total 1207

2.2.4 Deferred Income
EUR mill. 2012
Untlown aur transport revenues
Advanaes received for tour operations
Loyatty program Finnair Phes

Other wems

Total

2013

M08 2880

Dckerred inoome mdudes propasd, yet unflown flghts (255,6) and package: touns (32.7), whas departure date b m futore, Finnar Phys ba-
bility (32.2) comprnses unised pounts accumulated by the arr traved and purchases, of boyalty customers. These posnts are recogrused at fur
vahze based an the estmated timing and vahue of therr realisation.

Other terns in deferred mcome consists of several gems, none of winch are mdnadually sgraficant.

I~ Content of the section

89

3 OPERATING EXPENSES

H Operaing expenses section include the income statement and batance sheet notes related tooparating expenses aiming (o provide
bhetter overview of bustness operations and related expenses. Inventones, that nherently relate [o overhaul expenses as well as heavy

mamtenance provisions of awcralt are mcluded n the aperating expenses -section Accrued expenses, fike liabsiues related to jet fuel
andtra ccharges. are atso presented i this secton All the income siatement and balance sheet ems related 1o employee benefits are
alsn presented in this SeCTION as a separate note. Employee benefis mclude the di erent forms of benefits. ke share based payments

and persions as well as there ect Lo balance sheet and mformation on management rermuneration 1
1.1 PRODUCTION FOR OWN USE

EUR mill

Companent production
Heavy maintenance
Total

013 2012

25 17

3.2 OPERATIONAL EXPENSES BY CURRENCY

EUR mill.
EUR
UsD
Py

Filk) 2012

CNY

SEK

Other currencies
Total

24265 2428.7

Currency hedging polines are described n the note 5.5 Management of financiad risks.
1.3 OTHER RENTS

EUR mill, 13
Rental of cargo capasiy
Other remal of faght capasiy
0 e and nther remts

Total

152.0 123.2

3.4 OTHER EXPENSES

EUR mill, 2013 2012

1T cxpenses and boaking fees
Other items
Total

218.1 2302

Other stems consests of several hems, none of which are mdvidually sgmificant.

57
o
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Andit fees in other expenses

EUR mifl

PricewatertouseCoopers Oy
Awdoryfees
Taxadvsing

Other fees o . - _ ) L .
Total L . ~ . .. o4 03

3.5 ACCRUALS RELATED TO OTHER EXPENSES

EUR mill, 2013 2012

Jet tueks and tra ¢ charges
Anaraft matersals and overhald
Expenses for tour operatioens
Other ems

fotal

- - - —_ - — - — = —_—— - -

Other items consists of several items, none of which are mdndually sgruficant.

3.6 INVENTORIES

Elinventories

The Group's inventories include the aircraft spare parts and work i progress relatad to overhaud of aircrafts Inventortes are ear-
ned at the lower of acguisitron cost and net realtsable value Inventory valuation is based on the average cost method The acqui-
siton costs of mventones also iclude a proporuon of vanable and fxed production overheads BY

EUR mill. 2013 2012
Matenals and supphes e o
Work In progress N

Total ) T H T T T BT - || .Mquu.

The cost of mventuncs reougnised as expense and inchaded in ameraft matenals was 33.6 million caros (32.5) In the hrance year a wnte-
down of 0.1 mllion euros (1) was recogniced as expense related to inventones. Inventories recognised as assets held for sale were 1.3 mal-
bon euros in financal year 2003 (123}

3 7 PROVISIONS

E provisions
Provisions are recogrsed when the Group has a present legal o constructive obligation as the result of a past event the fulfil
ment of the payment obligatron 15 probable and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made The amount 16
be recognised as provistons carnesponds to the management s best estimate of the expenses that wilk be necessary to meet the
obligation at the end of the reporting perod

Restructuring provisions are recognised when the Group has prepared a detailed restructuring plan and has begun to imple-
ment the plan or has announced 4 A restructuring plan mest inciude at least the fallowing mformation the operations a ected
the man operating points 3 ected, the workplace locations working tasks and estrmated number of the people who will be paid

compensation for the ending of their employment, the likely costs and the date of implementation of the plan
The Group 15 obliged to return leased arcraft at the required redelivery condition To fulfil these mantenance obligations the
Group has recognised airframe heavy maintenance engine maintenance and cngine hife lmited part provisions  The basis for the
provision s Might hours flown during the maintenance period ¥
Alrcraft Aircraft
maintenance  Restructuring malntenance  Restructuring

EUR milL provision provision 2013 provision provision 2012
Provision at the beginning of persod 1205
Provision for the penod 76
Proveonused ) - B 439
Extange rate di erences - 45
R -7 . I w8 1097 108 120.5
Of which non-curvent T ee3
Of which aurrent _ 405
Total 924 174 1098 1067 108 1205

Non-current aircraft mamtenance provisions are expected to be used by 2020
The restructurmg provision for personnel and the rents of empty prermuses 15 part of the structural change of the Group

B = Accounting principles
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3 B ITEMS EXCLUDED FROM OPERATIONAL RESULT Staff costs
Operational result do not inchude non-recurrng rtems and other iterns affecting comparability Fur vatue changes of derivatnes recognised  EUR mill, 2013 2012
through moome statement and famr value changes of foretgn currency denomunated {leet mamtenance reserves are considered as temsaf- ~ Wages and salanes 3044 4138
fecting comparability m Finnar Pension expenses
Defined contrduition schemes
EUR mifl 2013 2012 Defined beneitt schemes
Fair value changes of derivatives Other sociat expenses
Far value thanges of forexgn cumrency denominated fleet mamtenance reserves } Total 3839 4292
Capital gains on sales of langeble assets 513 costs included in non-reclsTIng Lems
Non-requrning tems - Total staff costs tn income statement 4008 4414
Total ~40 94
In Finnar, the total salary of personndl consests of fixed pay, short- and long term tncentives, frmge benefits and ather personnel benefits
39 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS The total amount of short-term incentives recognesed for 2013 were 5 1 nullion euros {(8.2) In addibon to staff costs, non-recurm: ng ftems
include personnel related restructunng costs of 17 9 million euros (12.2) as agreed m the Group's statutory employer-employee negota-
1.9 5 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES AND SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS tons. Including non-recurning tems, total staff costs amounted to 401.8 mullion euros (441 4)
Transfer to Personnel Fund

K share-based payments Finnatr has a Personnel Fund that 15 awned and controfled by personnel A share of Finnair's profits i allocated to the fund The share of

Finnar mber based " r G profitallocated to the fund s determimed on the basts of the targets set by the Board of Directors. The CEO and other members of the Ex

m_.-_:w qu@hm_&”.n”ﬁsnﬂﬂq g:mﬂmwah”.ﬂﬂ be .M-.“..m which the ; _,mumz_mmwaa_.wmn:ds ecutive Board are not members of the Personnel Fund. Personnel Fund 1s obhiged to imvest part of the bonus m Finnair Pic’s shares n 2013

saﬂas_ ees i nam Emgﬁaa@a a__mﬁ e 1o e pa on share aﬁas:_ﬁmﬁe._m p h E, profits were not allocated to the fund. From 2012 results a total of 5 mullion eurs were transferred to the fund, of whnch 4.8 millon euros
. performance cntena set by Teclons fmeL SEANGs P employees (FhyShare) was recogrused dunng 2012 and 0.2 milhon evros m 2013 results,

fequenes the employees to remasin m Finarr s service for the defined penod but does not depend on any performance entera,

The total expense for share-based payments s recogrised over the vestng period wiuch s the period over which all of the Employee benefit retated accruals
spetfied vesting condilions ane to be satrsfied. The porton of the eamed reward that the partopants recenve in shares 1s acoounted for
asanequity settled transaction, and the portion of the eamed rewand settied in cash covering the tax and other changes, s acoounted for as EUR mik.
cash settled transaction. The equity-settled share awards ane valued based onthe market prceof the Finrewr share as of the grart date, and Faliday payments
recognzed as anemployee beneftexpense over the vesting penod with comesponding entry m the equiry The labiay resuimg from the Other emplayee related acorued expenses
cash-settied transactions s measured hased on the market price of the Finnar share at the balance sheet date and acorued as an employee Employee benefit related accruals total 947 1043

beneftt expense for service period with conresponding entry n the Babules unl the sedtiemert date.

Orther employee refated accrued expenses manly inchde witholding tax and accrued expenses related to social secunty eosts Inaddibion,
Termination benefits restructurmg provisions mduded m the curment provisions amournted to 15 7 mulbon cumns (10.8)
Termenation benefits are payable when employment s termenated by the Group before the normal retwement date, or

whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy m exchange for these benefits. The Group recogruses termenation
berwfits when o i demonstrably commated to a termination when the entdy has a detatled lormal plan (o termenate the

employment of current employees without possitility of withdrawal (n the case of ano er made to encourage voluntary
redundancy the termination benefits are measured based on the number of emplayees expected to accept the o er

For accounting pringiples related to Penslons, see note 3.9.2 for more mformation KY

K = Accounting principles
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Management remuneration

The President and CEO and Exectitive Board remuneration

E

andCED  Deputy and (EQ and (E0

Pekia  CEO Ville Mika Excecutive Total Mlka Excecutive Total
Employes benefits recognised Vairame tho Vehviliinen Baard* 2013  Vehviliinen Board 2012
Thousand EUR - R
Fuxed pay ~ 3 . 2,354 N
Shawt-term incentrves ™* _ - _ . 4
Fringe berefits el - e .80 __
Termwnation benefds L . 502 o o
Share-based payments *** o R . 242
Pensions (stabeory) ™=+~ " " T _ L
Pensions (voluntary defined benefit) R 1
Pensions (voluntary defined
contrbutiany R o R | o o
Total a7 L 236 3057 4151 L211 4072 5283

*  salry and remuneration of Acting CEQ ville Tho for 2013 s nat ickided in Executree Bosrd figures His salary and rerumeration s presented separately for the
whole year ot 2013

**  Short-term incentives for the financal year 2013 are astimates as at the balance sheet date the final reviewof fargeds has not been done

**  Related to former President 2nd CEO Mika Vetvilamen, a total amount of 328 158 £uros was recognised as share-based payment expense i 2012 but due to
hes resgnment dunng 2013 he was e paid a share-based bonus and retated cost of 178 011 euros was reversed during 2013 Acconding to ntes of the 20t0-
2012 plan, Mr Vehvilinen was gaxd i 2013 an mcentve bonus of 150,147 eures based on the purchase of shares earned i 2012

= Statutory pensions mchade Finnair's share of contribution pasd related to Finush statutory *Tyel* pension plan.

Managerment remuneration is presented on accrual basis. Share-based payments m 2013 and 2012 relate to Fnraur’s share-based bonus
scheme 20102012 The shans earned were pasd duning 2013, but the meome statement effect 15 accrued to vestng period for 2010-2016
up to encing of loch-up penod, according to FFRS 2. Performance share plan for key personned 2013-2015 dudn't canse any income state-
ment effect as the performance tarpets set for 2013 were not met. Maragerment has not been provided any other long- term meentaves in
additson to share-hased payments. More mformation en share-based payment schemes can be found m the note 3.9 2and in a separate Re-
mumetation staternent, whach also provides addional mforrmation on management cash-based remuneration.

The pension plans of the members of the Executive Board have been arranged through Finnish pension imsurance oempany, and the re-
trement age 563 All management pension schemes taken after 1 October 2009 are defined contribution plans and from 2013 onwards
new excecutive service oontracts do not mctude defined benefit supplementary penstons. Voluntary defined beneht pension plans for Ex-
cecutrve Board wall cease dunng 2014

The Board of Directors remuneration

Compensation pald for board servics,
EUR 2013 remuneration  compensation

Hetnemann Klals
Ithvuor fusst

Karhapaa Merja
Kermnen Ham
Kronman Guwor
Kuosmanen Anttr from  March on
Salas Hatn tll  March -

!

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
‘The note below provides description and mformation on effects ofthe Group s share-based mcentive schemes More infonmation on chare-
Based personnel bonus schetnes can be found in Remunerahon staterment.

Performance share plan for key personnel 2013-2015
On 7 February 2013, Finnairs Board of Directors decided to Lzunch a new performance share plan for key personnd for 2013-2015 The
share plan replaces the previous program, whach expired at the end of 2012, The purpaose of the share plan is to encourage the management
to work to merease long-term sharchobder vatoe. The share plan i in line with the statement by the Finnssh Cabinet Commitiee on Eco-
narruc Pobicy regardmg the rermunerabon of executve maragement and key indnaduals. The program consists of annually commencing
mdmdual plans. The commencement of cach new plan s subject to separate decision made by Finnarr's Board of Directors

Each plan contans a three-year performance penod which is followed by a restricton penod, dunng which the participant may not sell
or trassfer the shares recerved as a reward. The restrictson penod 1s three years for the members of Finnair's Executive Board and one year

- - forother parbcipants. Inaddition, the President and CEQ, and members of Finraur’s Executrve Beard ate required toaccumubate and, once

achieved. to mamtam. a share ownership in Finnarr correspondmg to hus or her annual base salary as long as he or she holds a posbon asa

PR - member of Fmnair s Executrve Board.

The potential reward will be delvered m Finnair shares. The share delivery 1s spht into three share tranches that will be delvered to the
parbcpants dunng the thiee years following the performance penod. 50% tn 2016, 30% i 2017 and 20% in 2018. No shares will be delrv-
ered under the long- term mcentrve plan in 2014and 2015 As Finnait s adopting a progrem consistmg of annually commenang mdnadual
phans, in whnch the shares are pasd in three tranches, the program also inchides a bridge element to supplernent payments m 2016 and 2017
Tis takes min considerabon the fact that the share savmgs plan wall not be m full effect until 2018.

Ifthe performance critera set for the plan are met at the target level, the incentive pard in Finnair shares to the President and CEQ or oth-
er member of the Execurtrve Board participating m the program wall be 30% of hus or her annual base salary If the performance criteria set
for the planare met at the maxamum level, the incentave pard in Finivaunr shares will be 60% of the partcipant’s annual base salary The target
level for mcentrves for other key personnel 1s 20-25% of the persons average annual base salary according to the job grade. It the perfor-
mance cntera set out for 2013-2015 plan are met at the target Jevel, the estmated value of the shares to be pard would be approximately 2.6
millom euros, corresponding to 0.9 million shares based on share price at the balance sheet date, and if the maximum targets would be met,
estimated vahse of shares tn be pasd would be approxamately 5 2 mullion euros (approximately 1 9 mdlion shares)

Aocording to the rules of the share program, the maximum value of shares delivered to an mdnadual participant based on the share pro-
gram [nany grven year may nat exceed 60% of the personsannual base satary Theamounts of shanes above are stated before tax. The num-
ber of shares delvered will be deducted by an amount corresponding to the income tax and transfer tax pavable for the meentive at the ame
of payment.

The performance critena applied to the plan for 20132015 are the Groups relative aperating ERIT margin growthand decrease m unit
wsts in Eurupean traffic. These twocntera arcassigned wotghts of 60% and 40%, respectnedy The petformancecntenon for the share plans
bridge elernent 15 the aperating EBIT matgin. The target levels and maxmmum levels set for the entena are based on long-term strategic ob-
Jectives set by the company’s Board of Threctors Performance agamst the critersa 1s monitored quarterty In 2013 the performance critena
were not met and therefore the plan did not effect 2013 results or financsal pestbon
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FlyShare employee share savings plan 2013-2014

On 27 March 2013, Finnair's Raard of Directors decsded to biunch FlyShare, an employee share savings plan. The objectrve of the plan
to encourage emphoyees to become shareholders in the compary, and to thereby strengthen the emnployees’ micrest in the development of
Finwsar’s sharcholder value and reward them in the fong term.

Through the plan, eath digible Finnarr employec 1s offered the opportunity to save parl of hus or her sakary to be tnvested 1n Finnarr shares.
The maxamum monthly savings ane 8% and the minmum 2% of each particgpant < gross base satary per month, wath the annual maxdmum
savirgs sct at EUR 8,000 per participant. Shares are purchased with the acoumuzdated savings at the market prce quarterly, after the pubh-
cation dates of Finnaw's tntertm reports. The first purchases of shares were made m October—Novemnber 2013

Tomncrease the attractveness of the plan, Finnarr awarded 20 bomss shares i October 2013 toeach employee that partcipated m it least
the first three months of the plan. The retated effect has been recognised as expense dunng penod. In spring 2016, Finnair wall award each
partiegating employec one share for each two shares purchased. The mwarded add: ) shares are taxable moome for the recrent. The
cost retuted to addibonal shares defvered at 2016 1s recogrised as expense dunng vesting penod.

Total savings durmg 2013-201 4 cannot exceed 2.5 mullion euros, which calculated wrth the dlosing share prce of 30 Decernber 2013 (277

euros per share) would correspond approxanately 0.9 milhon shares.

Effect of FlyShare share savings plan on Groap's resulls and financlal positien, thousand EUR 2013

Farr vahse of matctung nghts debivered durng penod
Total ncome statement e ect of share-based payments
Share-based payments share-settied

Liabuty refated to share-based payments af the closmg dale

A

Finnalr Pic's share-based bonus scheme 2010-2012
The Board of Directors of Finnair Pic approved a share-based bonus scheme for 2010-2012.0n 4 February 2010 Inthe share bonus scheme,
key mdrvituals had the possibuity of recetving compary shares and cash for a three-year performance pened according to how financial
tagets set for the performance peniod have been achieved.

The Board of Dhrectors decided annually the financial targets to be set for each performance penod. Achieving the targets set for the per-

formance penod determmed how large proportion of the maximum bonus and of the incentrve based on the acqusiion of Finnaur shares
w1ll be paxd. Ins a three-year penod, the total of the share bonuses, however omid not exceed three years gross camnings

Incentive borus hased on the purchase of shares

[ key mdmnduaks belonging to the share borus schverne purchased Finnair Ple shares during 2010-2012, they were pad a cash meentive bo-
rus mthe spring of the year following the acquisitions. The incentive bonus was eqizl to the proportion of the value of the shares. aoquired
by the key mdnndual, corresponding to the percentage fulfilment of set targets This bonus will be supplernented by a cash sum, whichin
most cases will correspond o taxes and tax-related payments ansing to key mdriduals from the recerpt of their bonus. In any single year of
the performance penod the nutrber of shares acquistbon taken inte acoount 15 at most half of the key indmidual’s share bonus allocation,
re. the number of shares that the key indnadual can at most recerve as a shane bonas fur the, year in question, The size of the cash bonus i
determuned as follows. number of shares aoquared by hey indivichual x the company's share pnce at the ime of payment x the target realisa-
fion percentage x 2.5

Shares detrvered based on the plan and effects of the plan on resalts and financial posthon
Shares were camed anmually i the penod 2010-2012 The Tong-term mcentive for the three-year period was achieved at an average level
of 43%. This share-based meentive for the full three-year pertod was paid in spring 2013, and total amaount of 708,679 shares were delivered.
At the same time, a cash bonus mtended for payment of taxes was pad, amounting to 1.5 times the vatue of the shares at the time of pay-
ment. After the payment of shares, there ts a three-year embargo on their sak and shares are held in lock-up A total amount of 5297346
eures was pad related to the plan, of which 1,795,580 euros was delvered as shares, 2693,370 euros paxd as cash to cover tax paymentsand
808,396 etwros pad as incentive boruss based on the purchase of shares.

“The moome staternent effect refated to the ptan has been acerued to vesting penod 2010-2016 based on the apphed TFRS 2 standard. the
effecton 2019 results for the program totalled 857,134 euros (2,450:437) of which the amount settled in shares amousited th 534,461 euros.

7
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KX change in accounting principles

Finnay has adopted the revised standard concerming employee benefils (1AS19 revised) rom 2013 omwards due to which account-
gy principles of persions have changed Previously apphed corndor method in recognising actuanal gans and losses 15 no longer
used All the actuarial gaims and losses ane recognmsed as they occur through other comprehensive income Items recogruzed
aother comprehensive snceme are no longer recycled through profit and loss The standard has been applied retrospect vely and
camparatwe figures of 2012 have been restated to be i line with the new changed accounting principles. The e ect of the restate-
ment 15 presented in the note 6.5 Change of accounting principle

Revised accounting prindiples
Pension schemes are classified as defined bencfit and defined contniwition pfans. Payments made into defined contribution pen.
01 platrs are recogrssed i the incomne statement n the pertod Lo winch the payment apphes  Typically defined benefit plans de-

fine an amount of penston benelit thal an emplayee will recerve on retirement, usually dependent on ane or more factors such
asage years of service and compensation Cusrert service cost 5 the present value of the post ermployenent benedit, whach s eamed by
the erplayees durng the year and d s recognased as employes benef it experse. The liability recogrused m the balance sheet i respect
of defined penston plans 15 the present vatue of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting pertod Jess the farr val-
ue of plan assets The defined benefit obligation & caloutated annually by independent actuanes using the prajected unit credit
method The present vatue of the defined benef obligations s determined by discounting the estimated huture cash flows using
mierest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denomimnated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that
have terms (o maturty approemating to the terms of the related pensson obligation

Artuanal gains and kosses ansing from expenence adiustments and changes in actuanal assumpuions are charged or credited
to equity in other comprehensive income i the pertod mwhich they arise Y

H The present value of the penston abligations depends ona number of factors that are determined on an actuanal basts using a
nurmber of assumpuions Army changes tn these assumptions will impact the carrymng amount of pension obligations. The note below
includes desuription of exposure to mast significant risks and sensitvty analysts on impacts of changes i actuanal assumptions. B

bescription of pension plans in Finnair

The statutory pensian plan of the employees of the Group's Fmnish companies has beenarranged ma Fmnsh pension msurance company
The statutory pension plan s a defined contributton ptan. The Group's foreign sales offices and subsidiarees have vanous defined contre
butien plans that comply with local rules and practices. The voluntary pension sch of the parent company’s five members of the Fx-
cecutive Board are arranged m a penston insurance comparty and the retirement age under these agreernents 15 m average 63 years These
pension schemes are also defined contribubon schemes except for 2 persons who have a defined benetit scheme, that wall end dunng 2014

Expostre to most signifigant risks
Volatlity of plan assets: Same of the plan assets are invested m equibies which causes volatility but whach are in the long run expected to pro-
vide higher retumns than corporate bonds. Discount rate of plan abligations 15 defined based on interest rates of corparate bonds

Changes m bond vield: A decrease in corporate bond yelds ncreases plan obligabions due to the Fact that the pension obligation s dis-
coumted 1o net present vatue with a rate that s based on corporate bond rates. The increase is partly netted with the increase of bond farr
values m plan assets,

Lsfe expectancy” The mast significant part of the provided pension benefits relate to old age pensions. Therefore, an increase in life ex-
pectancy rate results in an mcrease of plan obbgations.

Infiation nsh. Pension obligations are inked to mflapon which 1swhy higher nflabion leads 1o inc reased obligations Asonly some of the
plan assets mcrease with inflabion, an merease minflation will likely decrease the solvency of the pension plan.

benefit 4
EUR mil. 2012 2012

<m0

Items recognised in the intome statement

“Current service costs T

Pastservice cost

Settletments wq._.n artaiments
“servies eost tota) ) - 76 92
Net interest expenses ) -
it prannl s i _ T s

“amounts recognised throtgh other comprehensive income
Experience adjusiment on plan obligabon

Changes m financal actuanial assumptions

Changes m demographical actuanal assumptions

Nel retsm on glan asscfs :

“Amounts recognised through other comprehensive Income total 04 T a8

‘Humber of persons involved, pertion fund
Management persion aw_._...mn Jm:ma_ persons Involved

Iters recognised in the balance sheet

EUR mil. 2013 2012
Present valUe of funded obigations

Farr value of scheme assets h

Net defined benefit labifty ) 106 36

Other (voluntary} pension plans of the Group's domestic comparues have been arranged in Finnair Pics Penson Fund, m which the pen-

sion schemes are defined benefit plans. These pension plans cover okd age pensians, disability and survivers’ pensions. According to Finmsh
legzstation the pension fund s fully fimded.

X = Accoumieng principles
H = Critcal accounting estimates

The net defined benefit fabilty in 2013 meludes 10.5 million euros (3.1} related to detined benefit plans msured through pension fand and
0.1 milhon euros (0.5) refated to defined benefit plans of management.

Phin assets of the pension fund include Finnarr Plc shares with a farr vatue 0f0 4 milhon euros {0.3) and buildings used by the Group with
afarvaloe of 36.2 million euros (36.2)
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Changes In pension obilgaticns Sensitivity analysis
EUR mill 2013 2012 Sensitvty analysis descrbes the effect of change mactuanal assumpbions to et defined benefiLobligation, Theanalyas sbased onachange
Net present vaile of pension obhgations al  January ] man assumphon while halding all ather atssumphions constant. The method used s the same as which has been applied when measuning

Current service cost the defined benefit obligation recognised m batance sheet.

Past service cost -

Sclthemonts and Qs Ladments - v befined benefit schemes. principal artuarial assumptions

! e a Impact when Incr Impact when decre:
- ease mp ase

Expenses recognised In income statement 199 28 Change in In assumpthon, In assumption,

Changes m actuaral assumpuons Actuarial assumpthon assumption EUR milL. ] EUR mifl LY

Experence adjustment on plan obligation Descount rate B
Remeasurements recognised through 0C1 159 829 tnflation -
Benefits pand . Annual rate of future safary ncreases
Net present value of peasion obligations 069 3925 Future pension increases

Life expectancy at brth year

Changes in plan assets
EUR mill 2013 2012 According to Finnish legshition, pension fund needs to be fully funded. Expected contnibution payments for future five years are approxi-

Fay vale of plan assets at  January mrately 38 million curns, Theamount of payments depends an fature returms on plan assets.

Expocted retum on plan assets ]

Settlements and qurtiaiments . Thw wesghted average duration of defmed benehit obligation 1s 13.92 years. The weghted average duration s calculated with disoount rate
Rews recognised through profit and koss 125 16.0 335%.

Actunial gam (loss) on plan assets
{tems recognised through 0CQ1 16.3
Contributions paxd
Benefds pand } - .
Fair value of plan assets at 31 December 196.3 1888
Plan assets are comprised as follows .
“ 2013 2012
Listed shares
Dot wsiruments
Property
Other
Total B 100.0 100.0
Defined benefit schemes, principal actuarial assumptions

2013 2012

Discount rate
Inflatian

Annual rate of futwre salary increases
Future pension mcreases
Estimated remaming years of service
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4 AIRCRAFT AND OTHER INTANGIBLE AND TANGIBLE ASSETS AND LEASING Intangible assets 2013
ARRANGEMENTS Other
EUR mill. Goodwill  Intangible assets Total
E Asrcraft and other ntangible and tangible assets and leasing arrangements mchude particularly notes related to ancraft flieet Notes Hm_s.a ﬂWﬂ.ﬂ; -
related tn the arcraft operated try the Group both owned and leased aircraft under di erent kind of lease arrangements are combmed Fadters - -
n thes section so that the overview ol the lleet would be easter to perceve Bl ool -
Transfer uﬁﬂmm...“..m.l_.ml' -
4.1 INTANGIBLE ASSETS Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2013 12 982 955
EXintangible assets are stated at historical cost less aocumudated amoriisation and impairment boss If applicable Depreaaton and Accumudated depreciation and Impairment
imparrment of ntangible assets are based on the following expected economic lifetimes Aocumuiated depreceation and mparment_ jan
« Goodwill 1mpairment testing Depreciation
Computer software 3-8 years Accumutated planned depreciation of disposals
- Otheriniangible assets 3-10 years ACCumtdated depreciation and impairment 31 Dee 2013 0o 76 2 76 2
Goodwill ‘Book valug 31 Dec 2013 12 180 193
Goodwill represents the excess of the enst of an acuisibion aver the fair value of the Graup's share of the net dentifiable assets
Intangible assets 2012

of the acqured subsidiary at the date of acquisibon Goodwill en acquisibion of subsidianes 15 mcluded in intangible assets. Good-

will rs tested annually for imparment and carned at cost less accumulated impament losses Imparment losses on goodwall EUR mil Other

are not reversed Gawns and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold >B=“Ea= p=rry N niangible Total
Goodwilt 1s allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impaiment testing The allocation is made to those cash-gen- >B___m=5= st ban

erating umits that are expected to benefit from the business combuniation i which the goodwall arose, dentified according to op- _Sn_.sa -

eraling segment K T - -

Acquisition cost 31 Dec 202 12 976 588

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets include mainty computer softwara capralisedrenovationcostsof o cerentals and connection fees Major
software development costs are capitalised when they are expected Lo generate economic value over a one year period Acquired
user nghis and ticenses are as compiter softwarne at the acquisition cost, including the costs of making the: licerrse and software

“Accumulated ._nuannae.._ and _E_E..so:.

Aecumulated amu:,.n_mgz and mpayment  lan_

ready for use Mamtenance and and minor development costs are recogrised as expense at the time they occur Computer software _”mﬁ m:S: w_m:.aa %ESNE.,RQ o
and other intangible assets are depreciated over a useful hfeof 3-10 years, except for connectron fees which are not depreciated Acrom depreciation and imp m_asm: _.;m 31 Dec 2012 00 14 214
Research and development costs Book vaie 31 bec 2012 - ) 12 243 255

Except for major software devefopenent costs, research and developiment costs are expensed as they oocur Research and devel- -—=

opment of aircraft, systems and operations 15 conducted primanly by the manufacturess

Impalrment
Onevery closing date the Group reviews indaduat imtangible asset items for any indication of impairment fosses An asset's car-
rying amourit is written down immediately to 1ts recoverable amount if It 1s greater than the estimated recoverable amount. The
need for mpasrment s examined on the cash genarating unit kevel

Assets that have an indefntte uselul Iife, such as goodwill, are not sulyect to amortisation and are tested annually for Jmpair-
ment, Y

A = Content of the section

K= Accounting principles

The goodwill s recognised 0.5 milbun curos m Aidine Business and 0.7 miflion eurus in Traved Services: The recoverable cashilows used in
the impairment test are determined based on value-in-use calculations in both segments The cash flow projections for the next year are
tased on forecasts approved by managerment and after that penod the cashflows are extrapolated by using 2 % growth factor

Teavel Services’ goodwill s allocated to the busmess operations of Aunnko Qi (former Horvzon Trave! Qi) and the key assumptions used
forvalue i use calculations are as foflows:

WACC pretax 10.0%

EBITDA 1.0%

Growth rate 2%

The mcrease of WACChy 27.5 per cent pamts tn the whole peniod under review or the decrease of EBITDA by 67 % means that the recov-
erable amount ts equal to carrymng amount for the asset.
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4.2 TANGIBLE ASSETS

EN Tangible assets are stated at hrstorical cost less aooumdated deprecialion and rmpamment koss if apphcable The cost of an as-
set inchudes costs directly attnibuted to preparing an asset for its intended use Tangible assets comprise mainly aircraft and buil
dings The acquisiion cost of awrgraft s allocated to the awcraft body engmes and heavy mamtenance and these are depreciated
as separate assets Oeprectation of tangible assets 15 based on the followiy expected economic kletimes.

Butkchngs, over S0 years from time of acqursition to a residual vatue of 10% or 3-7% of the diminshing batances
+ Airurdlt and engmes (axcrafl) as well as flight simutators (other equipmernd) on a straght line bases as lollows

~Aurtuss AJ20 and Embraer fleet over 20 years Lo a reswual value of 10%

- Aarbus A330 Pleet, over 18 years (0 a resxdual value of 10%

- New Arbus A340 famuly aircraft, over 15 years 10-a resicual vatue of 10%

- Used jet arcraft more than six years old over 10 years Lo a residual value of 10%

= Turboprop atreraft. over 12 years to a residual value of 10%

Aurcraft to be withdrawn, fully on a straight-ine basss during the useful life out!med i the fleet modernization plan

+ Heavy maintenance of arcraft, on a straight-line basis during the maintenance pefod
+ Embraer components (amcraft), over 20 years to a residual value of 10%
« Artrus components (aircraft), over 15 years to a residual vatue of 10%

Other tangible assets, 23% of the dimimishing balances

Land areas are not depreciated The residual values and estimated useful lives ol assels are assessed al each clasing data and
Hihey di er significanity from previous estamates. the depreciation perods and ressiusl vatues are changed accordingly

Significant expenses of modermsation and improvernent projects (mamily arcraft modifications) are recognised as a separate
assel when it s probable that futtire economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the acqursiton cost
can be measwred reliably The carrying amount of the replaced parts 15 written down Other repair and maintenance expenses
are charged to the income statement durmg the financial peniod m which they are incurred

Gains on thispasal of tangeble assets are included m operating mcome 1n the incorme statement. and losses i non-recurting
items. Gains and losses are not included in operational resuit.

Impatrment
On every closing date the Group reviews indsecual tanguble asset items for any indcabon of impairment kasses. An asset s cal-
ryng amount 15 written dovn immediately o its recoverable amount if it 1s greater than the estimated recoverable amount The
need for impairment is examened on the cash generating unit level

The recoverable amount w the higher of the asset s far value less costs to sell and its value in use. The value nuse rs based on
the expected dscourded futiae net cash Rows obtamnable from the asset or cash-generating und. An rmpasment loss & recog-
nesed in the incime statement when the carrying amount of the asset 15 greater than the recoverable amount If the recoverable
amount of the asset has changed after the impairment loss was recognised, the impairment koss 15 reversed up to the carrying
ainotnt. excluding impatrment loss. of the asset. [

B tmpairment testing

The recoverahle amounts of cash generatmg urits have been determmed 1n calculabons based on vatue inuse. The preparation
of these calculations requires the use of estimates Estimates are based on budgets and forecasts which inherently contain some
degree of uncertanty The matn uncertanty factors in calcutalions are the USD/EUR and JPY/EUR exchange rates onit revenue,
estimated sales volumes and et fuel pnce. H

Tangible assets 2013

EUR mifl,

Land

Bulldings

Alreraft

Gther
equipment

AN

Advances
paid

97

Total

Aoquisition cost

Acqusition cost  Jan
Additions

Disposals

Transfer between tems
Transfer to assets held for sale
Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2013

Actumudated depreciation and impairment

Accurmudated depreciaton and mparrment Jan
Depreaation

Accumulated planned depreciation of disposals

Accunwilated depreciation of assets classified as held for sale
Accumutated depreclation and impatrment 31 Dec 2013

Baak vatue 31 Dec 2013

Tangible assets 2012

EUR mill

a7

0.0

07

148 1

-11213

358

Bulldings

20169

8355

1,181 4

Alreraft

157

498

25%6

Qther
equipment

2,3073

9976

13058

Tota)

Acquisition cost

Acqusition cost  lan
Addaions

Desparsals

Transfer to assets held for sake
Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2012

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

Accumedated depreciation gad impamment  jan
Depreciation

Accumutated planned depreciation of dispasals

Accumidated degreciation ol assets daswlied as held lor sake
.hnnaﬂanﬁn depreciation and impalrment 31 Dec 2012

Book vaive 31 Dec 2012

a7

0.0

97

1480

*1105

15

19873

7297

12576

B4 3

502

341

The vatue of aircraft that have been pledged as a secunty for external loans amount to FUR 599 7 million (7409}
Other equipment mdudes offie equipment, iernishings, cars and transportabion vehicles used at arports.

EY= Accounting pninciples
Bl = Critical accounting estimates

27

27

2,253 0

8904

L3626
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Impairment test
The impairment test of the ameraf based on the fair vahie and vahae-m-use has been prepared on the dostng date. The test based on vatue-
n use did not cause any need for mpaiment.

The recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit is determumed based on vahwe-m-use cakcutations, which are based on Groups' assumyp-
ons. These cakoutations are prepared based on srarcgement estimate of future pre-tax cash flow and profit for 2014 The forecast for the
years 2015-2020 1 basod on the mam assurmptnns and flect frecast used as the basts for the best estimate. The resadual vatue used in the
calcutation represents the estrmated value of atrcrafts n 2020: The fair values of awcrafts are based on bulletmns of two mdependent arrcraft
valuators.

The key assumptions used for value-in-use calcubatons are as follows.
WACC pretax 8.00%

EUR USD 1.34 cxchange rate

[nflation 2%

RASK base leved 6.17 (¢/ASK)

2014 015 2014

Fuel USD/ion
RASK change,

“The vahwe-in-use caloulation s sensitve e all key assmptions. The most senstiive 1s RASK (revenue per avaiiable seat kilometer), and after
that the fuel prce and exchange rate EUR/USD The decrease of RASK by 3 per cent dunng the penod under review will decrease the recov-
crable amount to oqual the carrymg amount for the asset. The averag fud prce menease by 11 per cent deereast. the recrverable amount
so that it would equal the carryng amount,

The vahee-m-use calculation of arcraft s sensitave to USD exchange rate, the USD strengthenmg of 11 per cent will decrease the recover-
able amount so that the impasrment should be recognised. However, the strengthenmg of the USD by 6 per cent wouk] mcrease the euro
equivalent of the current market values of the amcraft above the carmying value. The decrease of yen by 40 per cent during the period under
review will decrease the recoverable amotnt to equal to the carrying amount of the asset.

Investment commitments

At the end of financial year imvestment comimetments totalled 974 million exros (1,000} moadmeg firm armcraft orders. The total commut
ment fluctiates between the order and the delvery of the amraft masnly due to exchange rate FURAUSD and the escatation dlaases metod-
ed m arrlme punchase agreements. The final amount of the commitment m refaton Lo each ameraft s ondy known at the time of the delivery

4.3 DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT

EUR mill

Deprecation of tangible assets ) . R
Buldings i )

Arcraft B ) o -
Other equipment ) B T B

2013 2012

-7 [ T R TS
Deprediation of intangibte assets . _
Other intangible assets B L

- - - - -+ - _———

Tota 122.1 1308

In addition, non-recurring tems include depreciation of other equipment 12 mullion euros (01)

4.4 LEASING ARRANGEMENTS

EX The Group as the lessee

Lease agreements of [angible assels, where a subrstanual part of the rrsks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the Group
are classiied as finance leases. hinance teases are capitalsed at the commencement of the lease termat the kower of the fair val-
ueol the leased property and the present vatue of the moumum lease payrmernis A comresponding sum is recogrsed as a finance
lease liabilty The lease payments are allocated between finance charges and the reduction of the outstanding liability The cor-
responding rental oblgations net of finance charges are inchsded m the non curment or current interest bearmng habilibes The
nterest element of the finance cost 15 charged to the iIncome staterment over the lease term so as o achieve a constant Interest
rate on the remaiming balance of the hatility for each period Asset sterms acquired under finance leases are depreciated over the
shorter of the tseful bfe of the asset or the Jease term

Lease agreements of tangible assets where the lessor retams a substantial part of the risks and rewards are classified as op-
erating keases. Payments under operating leases are charged to the ncome staternent over Lhe lease term

The Group as the lessor

The agreements, where the Group 1s the lessor are accounted for as operating leases when a substanual part of the risks and
rewards of ownerstup are not transfesred to the lessee The assets are included m the tangible assets and they are depreciated
dunng thesr useful ife. Depreciabion is calculated using the same principles as the tangible assets for ownuse Under the prow-
S0ns of certain arcral lease agreements the lessee 15 required to pay penodic additional rent or maintenance reserve which
accumulate funds for maintenance related to the usage of the areraft The Companty's obligations to make contributions or retm
bursements for such maintenance are recogrised as liabilibes Contribubions or reimbursements to the lessee upon acceptance
of evidence of qualifying mamienance work are charged against the existing liabrities The rents for preenises are recogrized i
ncome statement as other oper ating income over the fease term and the rents for aircraft as tumover

Sale and leaseback
If sate and teaseback transaction 15 resulting in a finance lease agreement, thedi erence between the selling prce and the car
rying amount of the asset sold is deferred and amortised over the lease period

If safe and leaseback transaction 15 resutting in an eperating lease agreement the i erence between the selling price and the
carrying amount of the asset sokd 1s recognrsed in the income staterment when the selling pnce s based on fair value Otherwase
the sales gatn or loss s deferred and amortised over the lease period. Y

#ll The classification of lease armangements m Group s Airline Business to financial and other leases requires management dis-
crebon in intenpretation and application of accounting standards. Where the management has made a judgement that rsks and
rewards of ownershup belong to Group the lease s handled as a financal lease atherwsse as other lease T

[EY= Accounting princples
W= Critical accounting estimates
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Finance tease arrangements
Assets acquired under finance leases are mchuded in tangible assets and deprecabion,

Fluance leases 2013

EUR mill, Buikilngs Advcraft  Other cquipment Total
Acquision cost  fan

Additians -

Disposals .

Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2013 6.5 1972 28 266
Accumulated depreciation and imparment  Jan

Deprecation

Accumutated depreciation of disposals

Actumulated dapreciation and impairment 31 Dec 2013 24 T4t T as3 408
Book value 31 Dec 2013 40 T 1572 T a8 165.8
Finance leases 2012

EUR mill. Bulldings Alrcraft  Other equipment Tota)
Acqusition cost  fan

Addibons

Drsposals

Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2012 6.5 1972 286 m?
Accumuiated depreciation and imparment  Jan

Depreciation

Acoumutated depreciaton of disposals

Accumulated deprecidtion and mparment Dex -L8 265 473 456
Bock value 31 Dec 2012 47 1707 07 186 1

Buildings in firanoe lease arrangements are deprectatedover the useful Bfe n6-21 years and other equipment s depreciated in 5- 12 years.
Arrcrafts are deprecuted over the useful lfe m 18 years. In the financal and companson penod no varable renits from finance keases have

been recogrused.

Finance Sease Rabilities
Present vatue of
Mirdnum lease pxyments Futore financial expenses minknum lease payment
EUR mill. 2013 012 013 2012 2013 2012
lesy than a year
- yedrs
more than  years

Total 1748 2070 28 274 1520 17956

Other lease armangements
The Group Is the lessee

Minimum rental payments for irrevocable leasa agreements are as follows,
Alreraft Premites

EUR mill 2013 2012 2013
Iess than a year

- years

- years

Toen

- <83
more than  years
Total 2592 170.0 2307 238.2 141 no

Other equipment
2013

The Group has leased premises as well as aircraft and other fixed assets with srevocable lease agreements, These agreements have different
renewal and other mdex lmked terms and conditions. The Group has leased 24 aircraft on leases of different lengths. Renital payments of
amcraft have increased mainly because of the new Arbus A321 Sharklet ameraft reeenved duning the financal year

The Group is the lessor

Minimum rental payments for irrevocable lsase agreements are as foflows

Alrcraft Premises

EUR mill. 2013 2012 2013 w012
less than a year

- years

- years

- ém

- Ea
more than  years
Total 2101 2331 53.2 137

The Group has Ieased prevrsed as well as ancraft with rmevocabie bease agreements: These agreements have different levels of renewa) and
ather index kinkexd terms and conditaons. The Group has leased 33 aircraft on leases of different lengths. Rental payments of premizses have
mcreased mamly because of lease agroements with ottsoureing partiers.
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5 CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND FINANCING COSTS

5.1 FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES

Il Ihe notes from financial assets and liabites and equity has been gathered into capiial structure and fmancing costs section to gve
a better overall wew of the Groups fmanca! poston

EX interest income and expenses
Intenest income and expenses are recognsed on a ime-proportion basts using the e ective interest method. More detarled in-

formation about financial assets in note 5.2 Financial assets and about niterest bearing fabitties in note 5 3 Financeal labilities

Dhvidend income
Drndend tcome 15 recogrised when the company has acquired a legal nght to recenve the dvidends B3

EUR mill, 2013 2012
Interest income from financial assets classified as held for trading
Other mierest moome o
Dradend income

Exchange gamns

(Other fnancal meome * N
Financial tncome total ) ) 248 " 79

- - - - . - [ —

Interest expenses for financial abiltes valued at amortrsed acqusion cost
Interest on finance: leases -
Exchange losses

Other tmancia! expenses -
Interest rate swaps far vatue hedges

Faur value adpsstment o bond book value atirbutable to mtesest rate risk . -

Financial expenses total 197 } .. ..um.m

- - ———

e - - — - P — e — e — = =

—_ —_ —_ R -+ . —— _— e

Financial expenses, net T 29 a7s

* Dther finanial noome in 2013 oxclude 2 capitd gam on the sale of Norweguan Air Shurtte ASA's shares of 34 mihon euros.

According to testmg of the effectiveness of Groups hedge accounting both cash flow and farr vahse hedging are effectve ‘Thas, as m the
companson year 2012, no mefficency s mduded in financeal dems for 2013. Financal income idudes an dentical amount of profits and
losses for farr value hedging mstrumnents and for hedging itemns resutting from the hedged nsk

[ = Content of the section
1= Accounting principles

5.2 FINANCIAL ASSETS

EX Financial assets

Inthe Group financtal assets have been classificd according to the IAS 39 standard "Rinancial Instruments Recogrition and Meas-
trement” mito Lhe following categanes. financial assets at fair value through profil and loss (sssets held for trading) held to-ma-
ity imvestments loans and othes recewvables. as well as available-for-sake financial assets The classification s made ot the ac-
quisiuon date based on purpose of the acquisiion Al purchases and sates of financial assets are recognsed on Lhe trade date

The financial assets recognised at fair value through profit and loss include assets held for trading purpases and assets meas

ured at fair value through profit and loss on imtial recogmition Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss have mainly
been acquired to obiain a gain from short-term changes in market prices Al those dervatives that do not meet the reguirements
for the application of hedge accounting are classified as fnancial assets at fair value through profit and loss and are valued at
each balance sheet date at fair vafue Realised and unrealised gains and losses anising from changes in fair value are recogrised
in the incomne statement in the penod inwhich they anse Unrealised gains are excluded from operational result, while realized

are recognised either m other operating mcome and experses or m financsal itemms. Fmancia) assets at far value through profit
and loss as well as those maturing within 12 months are included m current assets.

Held-to-malurnity mvestments are fmancial assels that «re nol dervative contracts and winch mature on a speaified date and
whuch a company has the firm intent and ability to hold to matunty They are vatued at amortised cost and they dre included i
non-current assets On the closing date the Group had no assets belonging Lo the said group

Investments which do not have a maturity date and wiich date of sales has not been decided are classified as available-for sale
financial assets. Avattable for sale financial assets are presented in the balance sheet in short term financiat assets A change in
the far value of available-for-sale financial assets i recognised in the fair value reserve of other comprehensve ingome, from
which 1t 15 transferred to the income statement when seld Unquoted shares are valued in the Finnair Group at thelr acquisition
prce when fair value carnot be reliably measured

laan recenables and other recevables are recognised at amnrtsed costismg the 8 ectve nterest method 1 oars and ather
recenvables include trade recetvables deferred charges other lang term recevables and secunty deposits for aircraft operation-
al lease agreements,

Derecogrution of financial assets takes place when the Growup has lost its contractual rght to receve the cash flows or when it
has substantally trarsferred the risks and rewards outside the Group

Finnair Group assesses on each clpsing date whether there 15 any objective evidence that the value of a financial asset itemor
group of ilems has been impaired. Principles of impairment of financial assers are destribed below The toss is recogrised through
profit and lass

Impalrment of financlal assets
The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there 15 obyective evidence that financial asset of group of fi-
nancial assels s mpawred. A financial asset or  group of financial assets s impaired and impairment losses are ncurred only if
there s abjective ewidence of impasment a5 a result of one or more events that occurred after the inftial recognition of the asset
{a loss cvent) and that boss event {or evenis) has reliably estimated mmpact on the estemated uture cash Rows of the financial
asset or group of financial assets

hen a recenvable: 15 impaired  Lhe carrying amount s written down to its recoverable amount Recoverable amount s the estt
mated fulure cash flow discounted with the gngmnal e ectrve interest rate of the instrument. The umnding of discounting 1s rec-
ogrised as interest meome from there.on Interest income onwmparred loans 1s recogrvsed using the original e ective interest rate,

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash reserves and short-term bank depasits maturity under three months. Foresgn exchange-de
nominated itams heve been converted into eures using the mid-market exchange rates at the closing date, 1Y
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5.2.1 Non-current loan and other recelvables 5.3 FINANCIAL UABILITIES
EUR mil 013 012
Loan recervables EN Financlal lablfities
Gther recervables Financial liabilites are imtially recogrused at fair value on the basts of the onginal consideration receved Transactions costs have
Tota) 20.5 b 2.7 been inchuded in the onginal book value of the financal latlises Thereafter all non-dervative financial habilwes are valued at
amor tised cost using the e ective wterest method Financaal liatrhties are included in long- and shart term hiabibves and they
Other recervables are lease collateral for aircraft eperational lease agseements an be interest-bearing or non-interest-bearing. Loars that are due for payment within 12 months are presented in shori-lerm |-
ahdties Foreign crrency laars are vatued at the mid-market exchange rate on the chosing date and translaton di erennes are
In the event that other contractual parties are pot abvle to fulfil therr oblgations rdabing to inancral mstruments, the maximum amaount of regognssed in financiat tems
credit risk equals to batance sheet vaues cxcludmg the fur value of guarantess. Reorivables do ot exposue the Group to sgmuficant credit Aocounts payabic arc recognised initally at fair value and subsequently measured at amortrsed cost Lsing the e ective mter-
sk The farr values of recervables are presented m note 5.6 Classifcation of financta! assets and Iabilthes. est method

5.2.2 Other carrent financial Derecogrnition of financial lisbiites Lakes place when Group has filled the contractual obligation Y

EUR mil 013 2012
Commercial papers and certibates Mon-current liabifities
Money market funds EUR mill. 013 2012
Depostts, maturmg after  months T Bark loans
Lested shares ) Bonds
_ Unlisted shares Finance fease kabilives
| Total 3359 3635 Interest-bearing Habifities tota) 1855 3947
Nonrterest-hearmg liabstites
Ratings of counterpartiss ) B C Total a109 4135
Better than A )
A . Non-mterest-beanng knbilies include mamly kease and maintenance reserves related to the mrcrafi leased to other arrhnes,
BBB
B8 . Current knterest-bearing fhabifities
Total 159 3635 Bark boars

_

_

cSE m:uaa. 85 3:
Commercial papers

In year 2013 all of the Irsted shares whach were dasafied as available for sale mvestments were sold. During year 2012 there have not been Finance lease Eabdiies

any acquisttions or sales and the clange in vahae was caused by changes in currency exchange rates and stock pnoss. Imvestmgof the Group’s —— (ther loars

financuabassets and risk management policy are described i more detail m note 5.5 Management of financial nsks. IFRS dassibcation and Total 2075 1742

farr values of financial assets are presented m note 5.6 Classificabion of fmancial assets and labastes,

5.2.3 Cash and cash equivalents

£UR mill 2013 w12
Cash and bank deposits

Deprsits maturing o less than  manths

Total wze 670

Ttems include cash and bank deposits realised on demand, Foreygn currency cash and bank deposits have been valued at mid-rmarket ex-
change rates on the closmg date. The reconahaton of cash and cash equivalents s hustrated 1n notes of consohdated cash flow statement.

B3 = Accounting principles
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The anvency mix of non-current interest-bearing Uabilities (including cross currency (nterest rate swaps) Is as follows,

EUR mmill 2013

Maturity dates of interest-bearing
financial liabilities 31 bec 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

2018

e E

Later Total

2012 Bank laans Ioced interest

Bank loans vanable iterest

EUR
usb

Total o 5935

Wesghted average effective mtevest rate on nan-current mterest-bearing habilites was 3.1 % (2.1%}

Interest rate re-fixing period of interest-tearing llabilities

2013

L ‘ Bonds.
- 5689 Commercol papers
Fmance lease habilities
Other loans
Interest-bearing Babifities total 2075 T7i8 ELiNY 8.3
Payments from currency denvauves
Income from curmency derwvatives
Commaodity derwatives
itesest rate derwatves
and other

2012 Trade pay

Upio monihs
«  months . -
years - . _ -

More than  years . . .
Total _ ~ o - 100.0%

lnierest payments
Total %089 814 374 343

- _ Maturity dates of knterest-bearing

1000% financial llabifities 31 Dec 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

1777

182.6

017

71 5936

1 13167

Bank kans. lixed nterest

Bank loans variable interest

Commescial papers

France leasa flabiltes

Other loans )

Interest-bearing [tabifities total 1742 1870 290 316
Payments from currency dervatves

Income from currency dervatives

Commodity dernatives

Trade payables and other habiiies

Inorest payments

Totad - 804 1909 50.0 320

284

286

987 5689

989 12308

Part of the loans are secured by bank guarantees which are due earber than underhing bank loans Bank loan repayments include these
Yoans 89 mullion euros m year 2014 and 37.8 milhon euros i year 2015 Bank loans include onve non-curtent cturrency and nterest rate swap
and one rtenest rate swap that hedge two loans. Interest rte re-fixmg period m vanable interest loans s 3or 6 months Fixed interest bond
maturing tn 2018 does not imchide the amortrzed costof 06 milhon eurns whach was paid in 2013, The munimunm lease payments, discount

vatues and present values of finance lease Labilities are presented m note 4 4 Leasmg armangements.
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5.4 CONTINGENT LIABIUTIES

KX Contngent iabilities are possible obhgations resulting from previous events, the existence of which wil] only be ascertamed
once the uncertam event that 1s beyond the Group s conkrol materialises, Extsting oblgabions that are not likely Lo require the fut-
himent of a payment obligatian ar the amount 6f which cannat be reliabity deterrined are also considered contingent habilines
Conditronal liabilitres are presented in the notes EY

ELR mitl

Qther pledges grven on gwn behall
Guarantees on behalf of group compantes
Guarantees on behalf of others

Total

Contingent habalibes inclusde mainly pledgmg of aircraft for guarantee of loans and guarantees refated to tour operations.

013 2012

5736 7013

5 5 MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISKS

Principles of financial risk management

The: nature ot the: Finnarr Groups b xpuses the company tovanety of fitancal rsks: furepn exchange, inferest ate, crodit
uR_EE___QE&giiiﬂa.ﬂﬁdnmaﬁwviﬂus_auucggbﬂggggﬂﬁfEE.HEE&
manceand equity

The management of financaal risks tsbased on the nisk management poticy approved by the board of directors. The policy specifics the
mtnimum and maximm levels permutted for each type of resk. Finanaal nsk management s directed and supervised by the Financa) Resk
Steenng Group, Prachcal mplernentation of nsk management policy andt nsk management have been centralised in the parent comparsy's
finance department.

In the nsk mamagenwet of flotetgn exchange, te and pet fuel pe and dectnaty price resk, the comparny uses different de-
rvative instruments, such as forwand contracts, swaps and options. Derwvatives are designated at mceplion as hedges for future cash flows
{cash flow hedges), hedges for im onders (hedges af the fair vahue of hrm commutments) o as financul denvatves nol qualiying for hedge
accounting {economc hedges} [n terms of the hedging of future cash fiows {cash flow hedging) the Finnar Group implements, in accord-
ance with TAS 39 hedge ace g prinaples, foregn exchange hedging of lease payments, wterest rate hedging to sssued bond (fasr val-
uc hedging), hedging of jet fuel price and forergn excchange rsks and hedging of electncity prce nisk and as hedges of the air value of irm
ocomiautment arcraft parchases.

Fuel price risk In flight operations
Fued prace nsl, means the cash flow and hnancal performance uncertainty ansing from foe prce flachzations,

Finnair hedges against jet fuel proe fluctuations usng pet fued forward contracts and options  As the underiying asset of pet fudd dermvatives,
the Jet Fuel CIF Cargoes NYVE dex 15 tised, bexause around 65 per cent of Firnair’s fued purchase contracts are based on the benchmark
pnoe mdex for North and West Furope pet fuel detvenes.

Finnarrapphes the princple of time-diversificatson m its fue hedging for Scheduled Passanger trafhic, which makes up 90 per cent of the
rsk The hedgmg horzon aconrding to the risk management palicy ts two years. Under the risk management policy, hedgmg st be in-
crcased i each quarter of the year so that the hedge rato for Finnarr's Scheduded Passenger Traffic for the first sox moniths s more than 60
per cent and so that thereafter a kwer hedge ratro applies for each penod. By allocating the hedgng, the fuel cost per penod 15 not as low as
the spot based prce when pnces fall, but when spot proes nse the fued oost reses more showly Finrar bedges the fud pnce sk of Leteure
traffic accordmg to own pobicy, at least 60 per cent of the jet fued consumption s hedged.

In terms of the acoounting, the fuel hedges are recognised m Finnair m two different ways. In tertns of the fud consumption of Finnair,
the first approximately 40 percentage potnts per penod are treated m accounting as cash-flow hedgmg m accondance with 1AS 39 hedge ac-

| Ai to3

counting principles Changes in the fair value of derrvatives defined as cash-fiow hedgmg in accordance with 1AS 39 are pasted directly to
the farr vatue reserve mchuded inoquity The change i far value recoginised i the equaty heding reserve s posted to incomc statement at
the penod time as the hedged transaction. Changes in the fair value of hedges outside hedge acoounting - which do not fulfil [AS 39 hedge
accounting critena - are recogrused tn other operating expenses aver the tenor trme of the denvative

At the end of the financral year, Scheduled Passenger Traffic had hedged 74 per cent of its fuel purchases for the first stx months of 2014 and
57 per cent fnr the second halfof the year. The Letsure Traffic has hedged 60 per cent of its fuel purchases for the remaining winter season
and &0 per cent of 1t purchases for the coming sumimer seasan At the end of the financk) year 1eisure Tratfic has na jet fuel price or ex-
change rates pnce dauses with tour operators,

In the fimancial year 2013, fud used m flyght operations accounted for somewhat over one fourth compared tothe Group's turnover At the
erd of the financral year, the forecast for 2014 15 the same, somewhat over one fourth compared to the Group's turover On the closing
date, a 10 per cent nse m the market pnce of jet fuel — exchuding hedging actnaty caleulated using Scheduled Passenger Traffics forecasted
flights for 2013 - increases anmual fuel costs by an estimated 60 milhon curos, On the dosing date — taking hedging mtn account —a 10 per
cent rise i fuel lowers operating profit by around 29 malbion euros. Situation asat 31 December represents well the mean of a calendar year

Electricity price risk
The costs of electricity areless than one per cent of the Finnair Group's costs but due to the high volatility the price risk is hedged. The Group
apphes the pnaciple of tme-diversificabion in its electricity pnce nsk hedgmg The hedging horon s six years

In terms of the aconunting, the electraeity hedges ane recognised as cash flow hedges. Changes in the far value of derivatives defined as
cash-flow hedgmg in accordance with LAS 39 are posted directly to the fair value reserve included in equity The change in fur value tee-
ognised m the equity hedging reserve 1s posted to income statement at the penod time as the hedged transaction. Changes in the fair vahue
of hedges outside hedge accounting ~ whuch do not fulfil [AS 39 hedge accounting critena - are recognised 1n other operatmg expenses
aver the tenor time of the dervative

Forelgn exchange risk
Foresgn exchange nsk means the cash flow and financal performance uncertamty arsing from exchange rate fhuctuations

Finraur Group s foresgn exchange nsk anses mamly from fuel and aircraft purchases, aircraft leasing payments and forergn armency in-
comes. Somewhiat under 60 per vent ot Group turnover 1s denominated meuros The most important foreign sales currenoes are the Japa-
nese yen (10%, percentage of tumnaover) the Chunese yuan (6%), the Swedish crown (5 %) and the US dellar (4 %) Approximately halfof the
Groups operatmg costs are denorminated in foteggn curmencees. The most mportant purchasmg cummency s the US dollar, which aocounts
for somewhat aver 40 per cent of all operating costs. Significant dollar-denominated expense items are fuel costs and alrcraft leasing pay-
ments. The karpest imvestments aircralt and therr spare parts - also take place manly tn US doltars

The nsk management polxcy dmndes the foresgn exchange position ento twa parts a profit and loss pasiton and an investment positnn.

‘The profit and loss posison mamly consists of dollar costs and revenues in a number of different currencies The purpase of currency
risk hedging - for P&L exposure — 15 to cut the volatility of cash flows and operating mcome due to fluctuatmg currency prices. This s done
by tavermg hedges for the biggest two currencies and utilismg diverafication benefits of the pottfolio of various currencies The hedgmg
tvits are set ondy for the matn contributors of currency nsk, the US dollar and the Japanese yen. Forthese two curmencies, the hedging ho-
Tizon & two years which s dvaded tnto four six-month penods. In order o achieve ime diversification, the minimum hedge ratio for the
dnsest six-month pennd s 60% with a decreasing dope ending at (R for the fourth six-month penod Fyen though the policy doesn re-
quire hedging of smaller currency flows, ¢ i allowed, inwihach casce the layered hedging strategry is partially apphied although no mimmom
hedging ratio t5 requaned.

The mvestment position mchudes all foreign exchange-denomnated arreraft investments for whuch a binding procurement contract has
beon signed. According to the nisk management policy, atbeast half of the nvestments recogrised in the balance sheet must be hedged after
the signing of a firm order. New hedges m investment position will be made as I1AS 39 fairvalue hedge of a firm commutment.

At the end of the financal year, Finnarr had a hedgmg rato of 67 per cent in the Usl)-basket and 71 per cent m [PY tor the corming 12
months. On the dasing date - without hedging — a 10 per cent strengthenung of the US dollar against the euro has a negative impact on
the anmual result of around 68 milhon euros and a 10 per cent weakening of the Japanese yen agamst the euro has a negatree impact on the
annual result of around 18 mulhon euros. On the closing date - taking hedging into account - & 10 per cent strengthening of the US dollar
weakens the result by around 21 midbon eures and a 16 per cent weakening of the Japanese yen weakens the result by around 6 million eu-

>
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ros In the above numbers, the USD-basket nsk mcludes abso the Chinese yuan and the Hong Kong dollar, whase histoncal corretation with
the dollar ishsgh. Stiation as at 31 December represents well the mean of a calendar yeac

Interest rate risk
Interest rate rsk means the cash flow and finoncrat performance uncertainty arsmng from interest cate fictuations

In Finnarr Group the interest rate nsk 15 measured using the mterest rate re-fang penod. If necessary, interest rate dervatives are wsed
tor adjust the intevest rate ne-foang perod. Acuonding to thw, rsk management palicy, the mandate for the rvestment portfohos mterest rate
re-fixang period 1s 0-12 months and fors R&Egn&dgnuﬂ?uago the chrang date the mwvestment portfohos intercst rate
re-fiang period was 4 months and for mterest-bearing approximiately 16 months. On the closing date a one percentage potnt rise

:ﬁﬂaﬁggﬁéugﬁgi&%?g%gga&gaﬂinﬁig&%g
gaoggw_anﬁ:ﬂggﬁﬁu_cﬂﬂ:vﬂﬂuﬂaﬁ well the mean of 2 calendar year.

Bormowings issued at fixed rates expose the group to far vale mierest rate resk. The group s applying hedge acoounting (fair vatue hedge)
o hedge the fair value mterest rate nsk of its 150 million euro fixed cate unsecured bond sued m August 2013.

Credit risk

The Group 1s exposed tooounterparty sk when mvestmg its cash reserves and i using denvatrve mstruments. The credit nsk 1s managed
by making contracts, within the framework of rsk management polcy of counterprarty ish imits onty with financally sound domestx. and
Frewgn banks, fnancial mstmitions and brokers. Laquad assets are abso trvested, witha company-spesthc limits, i bonds and commercial

papers issued by conservatrvely sebected compares. This way resk towards stngle counterparbes ane not sigrificant. Change in fur value of
groups loans nse from changes m FX and mierest, not from credit risk Groups' maxamum exposure to credit nsk ks other fmancial assets
presented i note 5.2.2, cash and cash equivalent presented tn note 5.2.3 and trade recervables presented m note 2.2.3.

Liquidity risk

‘The goal of the Finnawr Group 1s to maintam good kquadity Liquidity is ensured by cash reserves, bank acoount lmmts, Ixquid money market
mvestments and commutted credit facitties. With respect to amcraft aoquistions, the company s potscy 15 Lo secure financng, for example
through comrutted oans, at a mirsmum of 6 months before dedvery Counterpartes of proups’ long term koans are soled financal mstitu-
tions with good reputation.

The Groups hqud assets were 4584 miion eunos 2t the end of financal year 2013, Finnamr Pic has a domestic commercial paper pro-
gramme of 200 million euros, of whach 4.5 milhon ewros was used on the dosimg date. In additson, Finraur has a 180 muthon euro comimut-
ted credn facdity unused. The credit facility mctudies a finanoe covenant based on adjusted geaning The covenant level of adjustad geanng
15 175 per cent, whale at the closing date the figure was 77.6 per oent. The maximum level set by the Board of Directors 15 140 per cent.

capital management
The aim af the Groups capital management is, with the axl of an optimum capital structure, to support business operations by ensuring
normal aperating conditions and to mcrease shareholder vatue with the best possible retim bemg the goal. An optmum capital structure
alsn ensures lower capital costs. The capital structure s mituenced for exarmple via dexdend distribution and share issues. The Group can
vary and adjust the level of drvidends paxd to shareholders or the amount of capital returned to them or the number of new shares ssued,
or can decxde on sales of asset items morder to reduce debt. [t s the amm the Finnair s dvidend policy to pay ot average at least one thard of
the earmmgs per share as dividend during an economic cyde.

The development of the Group’s capital structure s momnitored continuously usmg adusted gearing. When calculating adjusted gearing,
adjusted interest-beanng net debt 15 drded by the amount of shareholders equity The Groups adpusted gearmg at the end of 2013 was
776 peraent (76.8).

5.6 CLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Hedge  Financlal assets at able for
acesunting  falr value through  sate financlal  Loans and valued Book
EUR mill. items profit and loss assets  receivables  amortised cos! value
31 Dex 2013
Financial assets
Retenvables

Other financia) assels

Trade and other recefvables

Dernvatives

Urdsted shares

Cash and cash equvalents B .

Book value total 182 7604

Falr valus total T2 7604

Financial tiabilitles
Interest bearing kabilives
Finance lease labilites
Derivalives

TJrade payailes and other labities

Bock value total B L6 79 160
Fair value total * o us 79 360

* The ssued bond was quoted at 103.5 as per 31 12.2013 whach explains the difference between book value and fag vakie

Hedge  Financial assets at  Avallabie for
accounting  falr value through  sate financial  Loans and Valved at Book
items profit and loss assats  receivables  amortised cost value

1,3679
137127

14334
14382

EUR milL

31 Dec 2012
Financial assats
Recelvables

Other fimancial assets
Trade and ot other recenvables
TDorvatrves o
Listed shares

Unisted shares

Cash and cash equivaients
Book valus total
Farvate ol

1
1

3374
3374

313
33

3071
3071

7043
704 3

Financial Bahilities
Interest peanng labdites
Franct lease lobloes
“Dervatves

Trade payables and ather Babibes
Falr vaue total 17 45
Book value total 147 a5

13453 11645
13453 13645

Interest rate dervatrves {currency and mterest-rate swaps) are included in denvatives. [n other notes they are included tn bank loans or
bonds. The tem other inancial assets mamly inchadis USD-denonmnated securtty deposits for keased atrrafl. Trade payables and other b
abnhitres mchude: trade payables. deferred expentses, pension obligations as well as other interest-bearmg and non-interest-beanng Liabilites,
Grroup has 726 mullion euros (91 6) of deferred tax Iiabilitres that are not included in ths note but presented m the note 6.1 Incorne taxes
‘The vatuation principles of firancal assets and Ishilibes are outlined m the accounting prmciples m nates 5.2 Financial assets and 5.3 Fi-
ezl Babilities.
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Fair vatue hierarchy of financlal assets and liabilities valued at falr value
Fair vaiues at the end of the reporting period
EUR mill
Assets } ]
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
Securities held for ading
Derivatives held for tradng
Cursency and (nterest rate swaps

of which m fair value hedge accounting
Currency dervatives

- of which in far value hedge actounting

of which m cash flow hedge accounting
no:ﬁnm_a_ dernvabives

of which n cash flow hedge accounting
Financial assets avaable for sakc
Share investments
Total

31 Dec 2013 Level 1 Level 2

3354 50 2081 23

Liabilities
Financial liabikies recognised at far vaks through profit and loss
Derrvatives held For trading
Interest rate swaps
of which in {arr vahic hedge accounting
Currency dervatives ’ ) . ; H ) ...| .| )
of which in farr vatue hedge acoounting
at which 1n cash flow hedge acomting . - i T C )
Commodity derivatives
af which 1n cash flow hedge accounting

Total 295 C 95

Duning the fimanctal year no sgnificant transfers took place between fatr value tuerarchy Levels 1 and 2.

The faur vahaes of hacrarchy Lewd | are based fully onquoted (anadpusted) prices mactve. markets of the same. assets and labilies. The fair
values of | evel 2 mstruments are based to-a signficant extent on mput data other than the quoted prices induded m Level 1, but however
ondata that are observable edher directly {pnce) or indirectly {derved from price) for the said asset or lability The fair values of Level 3m-
struments on the other hand are based on asset or lmbility mpt, data that are not based on observable market miormation (unobsenvable
mputs), rather Lo a significant extent on confumations suppleed by counterparties based on generally accepted valuaton modelts.

The far value tierarchy level to whuch a cevtain item vaheed at far value 15 classified m its enturety ts determmned in acoordance with the re-
quirernents of IFRS 7 bascd on the bewest level of input significant to the overall farr value of the sad tem. The significance of the input data
has been assessed tn its entinety 1 nelaton to sad tem vatued at Enrvahee,

7 108
i
Reconcillation of financial assets and llabilities vatued at falr value according to Level 3
Falr value at the end of the reporting period
Recognised at fafr value Avallable-for-sale
through profit and loss share Investments Total
Securities held  Derivatives held
EUR mill for trading tor trading
Opening balance
v_..ew_a and losses inincome statement total
In comprehensive Income
Purchases (and sales)
Settlernents fand tssies)
Iramsters ta and from Level - - -
Closing batance 1] 23 0 23

Total profits and losses vecognrsed for the period for
assets held at the end of the reporting period

Ins other aperating expenses

Punng the financial year, no transfers toak place to.or from far value eerarchy Level 110 the fair vatue levels of financial assets and labii-
ties According to management estimates, the changing of mput data used in determming the far value of financial instruments valued at
Level 3 to some. other possible altermative assumption would not sigmificantly chanpe the fane value of toms valued at fair value w Lewel 3,
gnven the relatrvely small amount of the sard assets and habilies.

S 7 OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

EUR mill 2013 2012

Derrvattve 355815 gross amounts
Grass amounts of recognised financal labilies set o in the balance sheet

Net amounts of financial assets presented in the balance sheet 461 377
Enforceable master netting agreement

cm.._ﬁ.zeu assets net amount 15.4 164
Dervative labiliies gross amoeunts

Gross amounis of recogrised financial assels set o in the balance sheet

Net ameunts of financial liabilities presented in the balance sheet 07 229
Enforceahie master neting agreement

Derivative labilites net amount 00 16

For the financial assets and habilitaes subject to enforceable master netting arrangements or similar arrangements abave: cach agreement
between the Group and the counterparty allows for net settlement of the relevant financial assets and liabilies when both elect to settle
ona netbasis In the absence of such an dection, financiat assets and abiliies will be settied on a gross basis, however, cach party to the
master netung agreement or stimitar agreement will have the option to settle all such amounts on a net basts in the event of default of the
ather party Per the terms of each agreernent, an event of default includes fnbure by a party to make payment when due; faiture by a party
to perform any obligabon required by the agreement (other than paymvent) f such fathure 15 not remedied within penods of 30 to 60 days
after notioe of such fashure 15 grven to the party- orbanknuptey

2

J
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5.8 DERIVATIVES

EX Derivative contracts and hedge accounting

According to its rsk management policy Finniair Group uses foresgn exchange. interest rate and commodity dervatives Lo reduce
the exchange rate, interest rate and commodity risks which arise from group's balance sheel tefiis currency denommated purchase
coniracts, anbipated currency denominated purchases and sales as well as future jet fuel purchases

The dervatves are invtially recognesed i the batance sheet at onginal acqustton cost {fawr vatue} and thereafter are subsequently
valued at fair vatue i each financia! statement and menmireport Derwvative nstruments are valued in the balance sheet a8 fair val-
te which s determined as the value at which the insirument could be exchanged between knowledgeable. walling and independent
parties, with no computsion in the sales situabion to sell of buy The far values of dervatives are determined as follows

The fair vatues of all dervatives are calculated usmg the exchange rates. imierest rates. volatlliies and commodity price quota-
bors on the closing date. The tar vatues of aerency forward contracts are ealadated at the present value of futire cash flows. The
fair values of curmency aptons are caladated using generally accepted option valuation models. The farr values of interest rate swap
conlracts are calculated at (he present value of fultrre cash flows The farr values of nterest rate and aurrency swap contracts are
calcblaled al Lhe present vatue of future cash fiows. The fair values of tnterest rate options are cakaulated using generally accepted
opuonvaluation models The fair vatues of commodty ferward centracts are calculated at the present value of future cash flows, The
farr values of commodity options are cakculated using generally accepted option valuation models

Gains and fosses artsing from changes in the fair value are presented in the financial statements according to the orginal classidi-
cation of the dervative Gains and losses on dervatives qualifytng fer hedge acootnting are recognised in accordance with the under-
tying assct being hedged. Dervative contracts are designated at nceplion as future cash flows hedges, hedges of binding purchase
contracts [cash flow hedges or fair value hedges) or as dervatves not meeting the: hedge accountng criterta or Lo wiich hedge ac
countting s not applied {economic hedges) Hedging of the fair value of the net investment of foretgn units or embedded dervatives
have nol been used

Al the inception of hedge accourting, Finnam Group documents the relationship between the hedged e and the hedgmg instru
ment as well as the Group s nsk management obyectves ard the stratedy for the nception of hedging The Group documents and as-
sesses &t the nception of hedgmg and at least in connection with each financial statements thee ectiveness of hedge relauonships
by examening the capacity of the hedging msinument (o o set changes m the fair value of the hedged tem or changes m cash flows
The values of dervatrves i a hedging relationship are presented in the balance sheet tem shori-term financial asset and fabilibes,

Finnayt Group implements the IFRS hedge accounting pninciples i the hedgng of huture cash flows {cash flow hedgng) Princrples
are applied (o the price and foresgn currency nsk of jet fued, price rsk of electricity foresgn currency risk of aircraft lease payments
and aircraft purchases,

The change i the fair vatue of e ectve portion of dervatave: instruments thal fulfil the terms of cash flow hedging are entered di-
rectly n the fair value reserve of other comprehensive income to the extent that the requirements for the application of hedge ac-
counting have been fulfilled The gains and losses recogrised in fair vatue reserve are transferred to the income statement in the
peniod i which the hedged tem 1s entered m the income statement, When an nstrument acquired for the hedging of cash flow ma-
tures or s sold or when the cnteria for hedge accounting are ne fanger fudlflled the gam or loss accrued fromhedging instruments
remain in equity until the forecast transaction Lakes place However if the forecast hedged transaction 1s no longer expected to oc-
cur the gain or loss accrued n equity 15 released immeduately to the income statement.

Thee ectiveness af hedging s tested onaquartery basrs Thee ective portion of hedging s recognised in the fair value reserve
of other comprehensve mcome, from which 1t 15 transferred to mcome statement when the hedged item s realised or in terms of

wvestments, as an acqursrtion cost adjustment.

K\ = Accounting principles

Far vatue hedging is implemented 1 respect of firm orders for pew awrcraft and to hedge the fixed mterest rate bond The bind-
g purchase agrecments for new aircrafi. s are treated under IFRS gs firm commitments in which fair value changes of hedged part
ansing from fonesgn cumency movements are recognised m the balance sheet as an asset iter and comesponding gams or losses
recogrised through profit and doss Similarty the fair vatue ef instruments hedging these purchases 1s presented mihe batance sheel
as a labiiry or recewvable and the change in fair value  recognesed through profit and loss

Chandges in the fatr value of dervatives to hedge the fixed mterest rate bond that are desgnated and qualify as far value hedg-
es are recorded in the income statement, together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged bond that s attnbutable to the
hedged resk. The gam or loss relaling to the e ective portion of interest rate swap hedging ixed rate borrowings 1s recognised n
the incomme statement wathin fiancial mcome and expensses. The gamn or ks relatmg to the me. ective portion 5 recognised i the

tneome statement withm in other operating income and experses The change in fair value of the bond 1s recognised in the income
statemend within financial mcome and expenses

If the: hedge no lenger meets the entena for hedge accountimg the adjustment to the carmying amount of a hedged item for which
thee cctve nterest method 15 used ts amortsed to profit or kess over the period to matunty

Finnair Group uses foreign exchange and mterest rate swap contracts in the hedging of the mterest rate and foreign exchange risks
of forexgn currency denominaled foans The translaton di erence ansing from foreign exchange and mterest-rate swap contracls
that fulfil the conditions of hedge accotmting s recognised concurrently agamnst the transtabiond erence arising from the loan Oth-
e changes in faw value are recognsed m terms of the e ectve porbon in the fair value reserve of other comprehensive sncome In-
terest income and expenses are cecognised in financial income and expenses

Finnair Group uses et fuet swaps (forward contracts) and oplions in hedging the price nisk of jet fue! Changes inthe fair vatue of jet
fuel hedging dervatives are recognised directty i the fair value reserve of ather comprehersive income in respect of dervatives de-
fined as cash flow hedges that fulfil the requirements of IFRS hedge accounting. Accrued gains. and losses on dervatives recognised
n shareholders equiy are recognesed in the meome stalement as moome or expenses for the financial penod m which the hedged
#em 15 recogrised in the iIncome staterment. If a forecasted cash flow 1s no jonger expetted to occur the accrued gans and kasses re-
ported m the shareholder's equaty are presented derectly as other meome and expenses tor the financial penod Changes n the fair
value of dervatve contracts. so far as the IFRS hedge acoounting criteria are nat lfilled. are presented i other nperating income
and expenses during their term to matunty

Finnair Group uses electricity dervative contracts in hedging the price risk of electncity The electruty pnce risk hedges are recog-
nesed 35 cash flow hedges. Changes in the fair vatue of dervatives defined as cash flow hedging in accordance with [FRS are posted
directly to the fair value reserve of other comprehensive income The recogrused change in fair value s pested Lo income statement
at the period ime as the hedged transaction Changes i the fair value of hedges outside hedge accountingg (which do not fulfil IFRS
hedge accounting criteria) are recognised in other operating expertses aver the tenor time of the denvative

The change in the fair value of dervatives not qualifying for hedge accounting and which are arranged to hedge operattonal cash
flow are recognised in the income statement item other operaling expenses Changes in the fair vatue of interest rate derwvatsves not
nuatitying for hedge acoounting are recognised in the income statement s financial income and expenses €Y
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2013 12
EUR mill Nominal vatue Pasitive fair valzes Negative fair vatues Fair net valee Nominal value Positive fair valoes Negative falr values Fair net vatue

Currency derivatives *
Hedge accounting items {forward contracts)
Jet fuel currency hedqging
Hedgmg of aroraft aoquisiions
Farr value hedging
Cash flow hedging
Hedging of lease payments -
Hedge accounting ftems total i 6729 45 210 -16 4 7449 212 77 135

lters outswle hedge acoounting
Operationat cash flow hedging {farward contracts)
Operational cash How hedqing {opuions
Call options
Put options
Balance sheet hedqing (forward contracts) _ L .
ftems outside hedge accounting total - 7475 224 %9 165 a1t 70 28 42

Currency derfvatives total 14204 279 278 1 L1820 282 -10 5 177

Commadity derivatives **

Hedge accounting ftems

Jet fuel forward contracts tomnes

flectnuty dervatives MWh N

Hedge accounting items total i ) i s . 07 L8 53 70 17

ttems outside hedge aconunting
Jet fuel forward contracts tonnes
Optors

Call options et fuel tonnes

Put options jet fuel tockes
Electnoity dervatves MWh . - -
Items outside hedge accounting tota) . 43 -1.6 2.6 31 -46 15

Commodity dertvatives total 163 23 s 84 -1 s 32

Interest rate derivatives
Hedge accounting Items

Intercst rale swaps_ ) ) ) i
Hedge accounting items total _ _ . 1500 12 00 12 00 0o co

ltems outside hedge accounting
Crass n,!.mw‘:mw. nterest rate swaps
interes! rate swapy . y

.H:ﬁe:ﬂ.&n_..nnwmwg:ﬁ_:ng R 423 L 05 43 479 10 11 61

Interest rate derivatives total ) - * 192.3 14 05 09 479 10 11 01

Derivatives total *™ 461 -307 154 375 232 144

* A change in the taw value of aurrency dervatrves in hedge acoounting s recognssed i the hedging reserve of sharsholders equity from where d s offset i the result agamst the hedgedtem Thes 15 racognesed a5 cash flow hegdmg Exceptions ta this are firm commitment hedges of arcraft purchases and hegging fixed mterest rate
bond qualifying for hedge accounteng, whose Far value changes of hedged part ansmg from foreegn srency movements (arcraft purchases) and fawr vatue changes (fixed mterest rate bond) & recognised i the batancs sheet as an asset stem and any corresponding gaing or kosses recogrised through profet and boss Simularty the fair
value of instruments hedgng these purchases and bond are presented m the balance sheet as a Bability or recenable and the change i fair value s recognised through profit and loss Thes S recognrsed as fair value hedging. A change o the fair value of operabonal cash (low hedgmeg outside hedge accounting 1s recognsed mn the m-

tome statement s gther operating mcome and expenses, and a change m faxr value of batance sheet hedges s recognesed in financal terms.

** The effectve portion of 3 change in the faxr value of commaodicy derrvatrves in hedge a 1 the hadging reserve of shareholders’ equity fromwhere ¢ 15 offset agamst the hedged item when expired Achange i the faw vatue of commoadity dervatves olatside hedge accounting 15 recognised in the income state-
ment other operating expenses. Realised gains and Eﬁmégﬂngﬁsﬁﬁa The jet differantial i the pnce differanta between jet fusel and gasod

“** The positrve/negative fair vatue of derwatives 31 Dec 2013 are shown as batance sheet recewables and Gabdites ket fued optiens 31 Dec 2013 were shown a5 a net amount m recenvables

>
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Ratings of derivative counterparties

EUR mill 013 2012

Better than A

. .
BBB

BB

Unrated

Total N 155 144

5.9 EQUITY-RELATED INFORMATION

E] shareholders’ equlty
The nominal vatue of shares has been recogrised m the share capital before an amendment to the Artcies of Association regrs-
tered on 22 March 2007

Share sssue profits that arose refated (0 mcreases m share capiat between 1597 2006 have been recognised m the share pre-
mium account. In addmon, before the change n Limited Liability Compames Act in 2006 the gains on sale of treasury shares
were recognised n share premium

Share rssue profits that argse before 1997 have been recognised in the legat reserve

The share ssue prafit from the 2007 share issue less transaction expenses and tax has been recogrised in the invested un-
restricted equity fund The acquesitions of own shares can also be recognised unless they are recogmised in retained earmings in
addiison, share-based payments according to IFRS 2 are recognsed n invested unrestricted equity fund

Hedging reserve and other OCH items incluge changes i the farr value of dervatve nstruments used in cash-flow hedging i ad-
dition to actuarat gams and losses refated to defined benefit penston plans, fair value gains and losses of avalable for sale financial
assets and translation i erences arrsing from consalidating foreign subsidianes that have another reporting currency thaneure

Retanert eamings include profit from previous Tmanceal years. less dodends distrbuted and acquistcns. of own shares intess
they are recogrised in (he invested unrestnicted equity fund Changes in accourting principles and exrors are also recognised m
the resufts of previous linancial years

Ahybnd bond on equity terms 1 recognised in shareholders equity {after equity belonging to shareholders) The bond has no
matunty date, but the company has the nght to redeem it four years afier the date of ssue The hybnid bond s unsecured and 15
n a weaker preference position than promissory notes. Its preference posiion 15, however, betier than other siems hsted m the
company s sharehoiders’ equity A hotder af a trybrnd bond note has no shareholder nghts, nor does the bond dilute the owner-
ship of the company's shareholders The bond s recognised onginally at fair value Transactions expertses have beert inchuded in
the original carrymg amount of the bond

Dividend
The drvidend liability to the companty s sharehokders o recognrsed as a Lability in the consolidated financial statemnents when the
Annual General Meehing has decided on the dradend distribution.

Treasury shares

When the company have acqured (s own shares of subsidianes have acqusred the parent company shares, the company s share-
holders equity s deducted by an amount conststing of the consideraton paid kess transaction costs after taxes unless the own
shares are cancefled Mo gamn or loss s entered m the income statement for the sale or issue of own shares (he consideratson re-
cerved 1s presented as a change i shareholders equity EY

3]

Al sssued shares are fully paid. The share has no nominal value.

Ohligation to redeem clause
The Articles of Assoctation have no obisgation to redeem clanse.

CHANGES IN RESERVES INCLUDED IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Other restricted funds
There has been no changes during 2013 or 2012 i other restncted oqunty funds

Unrestricted equity funds

The changes i unrestricted equity funds dunng 2013 refate to purchase of treasury shares and share-based payments related to Group's

long-term moentrve plan 2010-2012

Hedging reserve and other OCI items
The dems included im hedgmg reserve and other OCI ttems 15 presented below-

EUR mill 2013

Number of Share capital, Share premium, tegal reserve
registered shares EUR EUR 41].]
lan
" Dec
= M- Dec 2013 128,136,115 75,442,904 30 20.407,351.01 147,712,376 39
Number of Price, Average price,
own shares ur EUR
Jan
3L Dec2012 410,187 3,179,33504 775
Purchase of awn shares
Assnment of own shares
|up| cnm ~c~wl 279,168 808,241 18 290

2012

Traslation di erences

Jet fuel price hedgng

et fuel currency hedgng
“Hedgng of lease paymernis
“Flectricy pricchedgmg
“Available for sale fnancial assets

“The actuaral gamns and lasses of defined banefit plan

Deferred tax asset (iability)

Total ) 150

B\ = Accounting principles
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Maturity dates of fair values recognised in the hedging reserve ELR mill. 2013 2012
EUR mill 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Later Total Prohit for the fnancal year FUR null

translalon i erences R trterest of hybnd bond, EUR mill

Jet fuel price hedging Wewghted average number of shares s

Unciluted and dilted earmngs per share EUR
E ect of own shares

Jet tuel anrrency hedging
Hedging of lease payments

Electriaty price hedging }
Avarlable tor sale fnancial assets ) Dividend
The actumral gams and losses of defmed The Board of Directors propases to the Annual General Meetmg that no dwadend 15 pad for 2113 The Annual General Meeting on 27
benefit plan - - March 2013 decided to distribute 2 dnvadend of 0,10 cures per share. The total doadend was 12.7 mullion euros, based on the number of
Deferred tax asset (labiiy) shares regrstered on 3 Apnd 2013 The divadend was paxdon 10 April 2013
Total 157 LD o1 00 00 03 150

Finnair Pic's distributable equity
Derivatives In Income statement EUR mill 31 Dec 2013

Dunng 2013, -3.9 milhon euros (50.0) has been recogrsed from farr vatue reserve as a change m expenses m the income statement. Of thas, Retamned earnngs at the end of fnancial year
-34 mullion euros (47.8) s an adjustment of fud expenses, -0.3 millon eurgs (2.5) an adpstment of aircrait lease expenses and -02 mulhon Unrestricted expaty funds
euros (-0.3) an adjustment of dectnaity expenses. Hedgug reserve
Hesult tor the financial yoar
Finnaur hedges agarnst pnce fuctuation with dervatives based on ts nsk management policy Hedge accountng snotorcannot beap-  Distributable equity total 2840
plied to all hedging relationstups. For thus fued purchases hedging outside EFRS hedge acoounting, 0.6 nuflon euros (3.7) was realised and
recogritsed as an adprstment to fisel exqpenses and 188 milhon etros (9:3) i other operating expenses i the income statement dunng 2013.

Sensitivity analysis of the falr value reserve

Withe prce of Jet fucl CIF NWE had been 10 per aent higher, the balance of the reserve would have been 405 milhon euros (43.2) higher.
Correspondingly, a 10 per cent weaker fet fued CIF NYWE prioe would have reduoed the reserve by 40.5 mifhon curos (432} In termsof the
US doflar. a 10 per cent weaker level would have lowered the balznce of the fair vahie teserve by 426 million eturos (45.1) and a 10 per cent
stronger dollar would have had a pusatre. impact of 42,6 mifon euras (85 1). Eictnaty proe hedgng was matiectve at the end od the year X003,
thus ther vahmton would have had no impact to the bakince of the farr vatue reserve ((0), The effect of change m miterests to the far value
reserve n own equity 15 ot essenial The enclosed sensitnvaty figures do not take into account any change in deferred tax hababity (tax assets).

Own shares (Treasury shares)
Theacquisibon cost of own shares held by the Group sinchuded in mvested distributablle funds. For further imformation on the share horus
scheme see Note 3.9 1 Total amount of the acqusition cost of own shares held by the Group 15 0.8 milbon euros.

Hybrid bond

Sharehokders equity (after equuty bdonging to shareholders) indudes a 120 ullion euro hybrd bond ssued in 2012, The hybnd bond cou-
pon 1s fxed 8875 per cent per year for the first 4 years and therafter at least 11.875 per cent per year Finmatr can postpane intrest payrent.
1f it does not distribute divadends or any other equity to its sharehoiders. The bond has no maturty date, but the company has the nght to
redeem it 4 years after the dateof ksue. The hybrid bond is unsecured and in-a weaker preference position than promssory nntes A holder
of hybrd bond notes has ho sharcholder rights.

Eamings per share
?:&?ﬁgagtﬁﬁ@ﬁuﬂﬁ&uﬁng&iﬁmaﬁﬂaﬁ?ﬂ?m%ﬁna%-b»—&ggg s share-
holders by the weyghted average her of sha g dunng the financial year. When calcutatmg the earnmgs per share adpusted

by difutson, the weghted average of the number of shares takes mto account the dituting effect resulting from changing mlto shares all po-
tentally diluting shares The famr vatue of the share s based on the weighted average price of the <hares in trading.
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6 OTHER NOTES theome taxes
EUR mill 2013 2012
HOther notes inctude all such notes that do not specifically relte to any previous sulyect matiers B M”nn for the financial year
ot tax
6.1 INCOME TAXES Adpstments recogrsed for arent tax of pror penods
Deferred tares -
Total -1.0 43
Y The: tax expense for the penod includes current and deferred tax and adjstments Lo previous years Laxation Tax (s recogrised in
the mcome statement, except to the extent that i refates Lo stems recogrsed m other comprehensive mogime or other equity iters. The table below exptasns the difference between teorettucal tax cost caktutated with Finarsh nosmanal tax rate (24.5%) and tax expense m the consofidated mcome
Deferred laxes are calasated for temporary di erences between accounting and txation Lsing the vahd tax rates for future statemen.
years at the closing date Deferred tax asset 1s recognised to the extent that reafsation of the related tax benefit through future EUR milL. 013 2012
profits s probable Temporarydi erences anse mainty fromsales of tangible assets depreciation. revaluations of dervative con- o T—

tracts defined benefit pension scheme and unused tax losses Deferved Lax s recogrused for subsidiartes. undstnbuted earmings Taxes caleutated Lsmg the Finnish ta% rate
only whenrelated tax e ects are probable. B} € et of the tax rate change
Dv erent tax rates of foregn subsdiaries
Share of resuit In associates and Joint ventures

Tax-exempt income

H Utsmg deferred tax assets related to tax kosses requeres management Lo make expectations of future performance of oper Non-deductible expenses _ .

atgns. B Adjustments recogresed for taxes of prior penods
Income taxes, total 1.0 43
E ectve tax rate ’ ’

Effective tax rate was -9.8% (29 2%). Finnush Parkament decsded m December 2013 to lower corporate moome tax rite from 24.5% to 20%,
which caused a one-time posibive effect of 4.5 milhon euros n income statement 201 3. Although the tax rate change 1s valid from 1 of Jan-
uary 2014 orwards, the change effected taxes i mcome statement already m 2013 due to revaluation of deferred taxes Tax rate excluding
the effect of tax rate change was 27.5%

H = Content of the section
Y= Accounting principles
B = Critrcal accounting estimates
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DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Changes in deferred taxes during 2013, Changes in deferred taxes during 2012,
Recognised Hecognised in Retoghlsed Recognised
in the Income shareholders” In the income  in shareholders’
EUR mill. 012 statement equity 2013 EUR mill 01t statement equity 2012
Defermed tax assets Deferred tax assets
Contirmed losses Confrmed losses
Fmployea benatns France leasing
Finance leasing Revente recogamn
Caprialmation of averhead expenses Caplafisation of overhead expensas
Heavy mantenance alfocations Heavy mamntenance allocalions
Engine martonana: affocabons fngne mamtenance aflocations
Fennair Pus Qther temporary dr erences
Other temporary di erences Finnair Phus
Valuauan of dervatrves at far value Vahgtion of derevates at fawr value
Total 16 173 54 65.8 Total 752 17 oz 776
Oeferred tax assets that £an be used after more than  montls Deterred tax assets that can be used atter more than  months
Recognised Recognised in Recognised Recognised in
i the intome shareholders’ In the income shareholders'
EUR mill. 2012 statement equity 2013 EUR mill. 2011 statement equity 012
Defermed tax liabllivies Deferred tax [abikities
Accuruated depreciation ¢ erence Accumulated deprecation di erence
Gamns from sale ot tangible fixed assets Gains irom sale ot 1angible fixed assels
Empliyee benetits Other tlemporary i erences
Other temporary ci erences Hybid bond. interest
Vatuaton of derrvates at far value - Employee benefits
Total 216 193 03 726 Valuation of dervates at far value
Total 985 o6& 63 916

Delermed tax labdies that are experied (o realse after— months o more

Confirmed tax losses expire earhest withn 6-10 years.

Deferred tax labiihes payable after more than ~ manths

Distributing retamed earimgs of fureign sulradnnes as dnadends would cause a tax effect of 0.4 million euros (0.8)
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6.2 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related party of Finnawr group inchudes its subsidianes, management, assocated comparues and jomt ventutes and Finna:r pension fund.
Subsxdtares are ksted i the note 1.3 and associates and jotnt ventures m the note 1.6. Related party transacbons inchude such operatons
that do not ehminate in group's consolxdated financal staterment.

Finnsh government owns 55.8% {55.8%) of Finnair s shares. All the transachons with other government owned compares are with arms

length basis.
The following transactions have taken place with associated compames and joint ventures.

EUR mill,

Sales of gnods and services
Assocates
Jomt ventures

Purchases of goods and services
Assocates B

Jomg ventives

Receivables and Babilities

Current recervables from associates
Current habilibes to associates

Current recenvables 0nt ventures

Curvent fiabditres 1o jourt veniures

Transactions with related partres are with arms length, and are wath srmular terms than transacbons camed out with mdependent parties.
Guarantees and other comsrutrnents made an behalf of refated partses are presented m note 5.4 Contingent fiabilitres. Management remuner-
ation s presenited m note 39 Manap hasnotbeeng d anty loarns and there has not beenarny other trarsachons with management.
Finnair pension fund

‘The Finnarr pension fund m Finfand 1s a stand-alone legal entity which mamly provades additional pension coverage to Finnar's personned
n the form of defined benefit plan, and manages refated pension assets. The assets inchide Finnar's shares representing 0 1% (0.1%) of the
company's outstandmg shares. Real estate and premuses owned by the pension fund have been mamly leased to Finnasz. In 2013 Finrsur
chdnt pay any contribertions to the fund (7.5)

6.3 DISPUTES AND LITIGATION

Finnair neports only cases of whuch the mterest 1 400,000 euros or more and that are not msured.
On 31 December 2013 there were no such disputes pendmg,

6.4 EVENTS AFTER THE CLOSING DATE
There have not been other remarkable events after closmg date as told i the Boand of Director’s report

6.5 CRANGE OF ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE

From | January 2013 Firmair Group has adopted the amendments to 1AS 19 Employee Benefits ‘The change 15 allocated for the Arline
Business segment. Prevacusly applied corndor method m recognising actuana| gams and losses 15 no longer used. All the actuanat gams
and losses are recognised as they oocur through other comprehensive income. Items recogrused tn ather comprehensive tncome are no
lynger recycled through profitand foss. The standand abso requires net interest expense { inoome to be caloubated as the product of the net
defined benefit Lsbility / asset.

The groupmg of de-icmg, cleanmg of arrcraft and a 2w ather expenses have been changed.

EES / SOCIETY / FINAKCE / G

Effect of restatement to 2012 consolidated income statement

EUR mifl,

A5 19
Employee cleaning of
Benefits ircraft

Operating income

Sta costs

Pleet matertals and overtoul
Ground handling and catening expenses
“Sales and marketing expenscs

......

Operating result, EBIT L

Profit before taxes
Income taxes
Profit for the financial year us

oo

17

13

Effect of the restatement to the 2012 opening and closing date balance sheet
1

Jamary
2012

EUR mill

Reported  Adjustment

Restated

a0 00 8

00 a0 105

Reported  Adjustmeat  Restated

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Fmancal assets and pension recewvables
Other non-current assels
Hon-curent assets total
Short-term reocvables (otal
Assets total B

T 23570

Sharsholdars' equity and flabities
Shareholders equity
ey
Equity atinbutable to shareholders of the parent company
Non-contrafking mmerests

Equity total

Deferred tax habidity

Pension ohiganons

Other long-term habelities

Largem abces o

Short-term Ikabidmes toiaf

Uabtities total ) -
Shareholders’ equity and [fabilities tatal

T 16045
23570

360 2,3930

8.8 1.613.3
360 23930

a7

1,456 2 02 1,450
2,2417 -104 22313
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7 PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FINNAIR PLC INCOME STATEMENT FINRAIR PLC BALANCE SHEET
EUR mill. 2013 2012 EUR mill Note 2013 012
Turnover 2,012.7 20152 ASSETS
Other oparating income
Operating income total 2,050.3 2,025.3 Norn-current assets
Intang:bla ascats
Materals and services Tangible assets
Sta costs Investments
Deprecabon Shares i group companies
Other operatng expenses Shares i assogated compances
Operating expenses total 21253 2,095.3 Other mnvestments
i Loan and other recetvables
Operating profit/loss 750 700 Non-current assets total 5855 8186
Financial ncome and expentses Current assets
Current recewables
Profit/loss before extraordinary items 4458 <760 Marketable securies
Cash and bank equivatents
Extraordmary items current assets total 1,368 7 9034
Profit/oss before appropriations and taxes 53.8 L2 ASSETS TOTAL 19541 17220
Appropriations EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
{ncome Laxes
Equity _
Profit/loss for the finandlal year 377 -L0 Share capital
Share premuum account
Legal reserve
Hedging reserve
Unrestnicted equity funds
Retained earnings
Profit/loss for the financial year
Equiity total $3L9 5203
Actsmudated appropriabions
Provsions
Uabilities
Non current liabthes
Currert liabilities
Liahiftties total 13191 1,0920
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES TOTAL 19541 17220

D




FINNAIR PLC CASH FLOW STATEMENT

EUR mil.

FINNAIR ANNUAL REPORT 2013

Cash flow from operating artivities
Profit/loss before extraordinary dems
Deprecsation B

Other pon-Cash bransactons

Financizl mcome and expenses

Changes m workmg capital

Inerest and oifer financil expenses pad
Recened mierest and other fnancal moome )

Taxes pad
Cash Row from operating acthvities

Cash flow from investing activities

Investments m miangble and S_d..a_m assets ||

Othes wvestments

Proceeds from sales of other investments
Dradends recenved

Change n long-term recervables

Cash flow from investing activities

Cash flow from financing acthvities
Proceeds from loans
Em:gdm.ﬁﬂa%

Hybrid bong repayments i
Proceeds from hybrid bond
Recerved group contributions
Purchase of own shares

Devidends paid

Cash fgw from financing activities

Change in cash flows

Change in liguid funds
Liqund funds, at begmning
Change  cash flows
Uceid Funets, at end
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MOTES TO FINNAIR PLC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

a012 1 ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

The financul statements of Finnarr Pic have been prepared m acoordance with the Finnish Accounting Standards (FAS)

Forelgn ciirvency items

Bustness transactions m foresgn currenoes have been valued using the exchange rate at the date of transaction, Recervables and Inbiites on
the balance sheet date are valued using the exchange rate on the balance sheet date. Advances pasd and recenved are valued i the balnce
sheet using the exchange rate at the date of payment. Exchange rate differences on trade recervables and payables are treated as the adjust-
ments 1o turnover and other operatmg expenses. Fxchange rate differences on other recenvables and liabines are entered under financial

- -7 - ﬂgig

Derivative contracts

Acconding to o5 sk management polscy, Finnaur uses foreign exchange, interest rate and commodity, derivatroes to redhuce the nsks whuch
anse from the company s aurrency denominated purchase contracts, forecasted purchases and sales as well as fuhire jet fuet pirchases. De-
nvative gontracts are valued using the rates on the batance sheet date according to Acoounting Act 5 2 4§ The accounting principles related
todervatrve contracts and hedge acoounting are described more specifically in Group s acoountmg prciples tn the section 5.8 Dervatives,

Financial assets and (fabilities

Financial assets have been classified mto the following categores financl assetsat faur value through profit or loss (assets held for trading),
held-to-manmty mvestments, kians and other recenables, The classification s rade on the basis of the purpose af the acquesition of the
financia) assets in connection with the ongnal acquisiion. All purchases and sales of finincial assets are recognised on the trade date. Lia-
biltbes are recognised at aoquisiton cost. Financtal assets at famrvakue through proit and loss as well as assets and frabilites matun) ng within

- 12 months are mcluded i current habnlhes.

Finnam assesses on each closing date whether there i any objective evdence that the value of a financial asset item or group of tems has
been mparred. If there 15 objective evidence that an impairment boss has ansen for loans and other recervables entered at amortised acqur
sihon cost on the batance sheet or for held-to-matunty ivestments, the size of the loss s determuned as the difference of the book value of
the asset item and the present value af expected firture: cash flows of the sad financial asset item discounted at the ongnal effectve mterest
rate. The boss 1s recognised through profit and loss.

Other financrl assets and Inbiltes are recognsed at farr vahue. Other financral assets mctude trade recenables, ancrued income and pre-

- pand expenses as well as other non-cumrent recervables Like koan recsrvables and other rvestments 2s well as the securties for aireraft leases
5~ Other financal Tabilibes mctude trade payables, accruals and deferred income.

De-recognthon of financal assets takes place when the company has lost its contractual right to recenve the cash flows or when 1L has sub-
stantually transferred the nsks and rewands outside the company

Fixed assets and depredation
‘The balance sheet vatues for fixed assets are based an ongrnal acquisiion costs bess planned deprecation. Land areas are not depreciated.

- Phnned depreciabon s based on the expected econonuc bfetimes:

o T software 3-8 years

« Other miangible assets. 3~10 years

» Buildngs: over 50 years from time of soquisibon to a residual vahue of 10% or 3-7% of the dimunrshng balances
« Other tangible assets 23% of the dmmimshmg batances

e
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Research and development costs
Except for major softwarte development costs, rescarch and development costs are expensed as they oocur Reseanch and development of
awrcraft, systems and operabions s conducted primarily by the manufacturers.

Leasing

Lease payments for amcrafi are sigrficant. Anmual lease payments are treated as rental exp Lease payments due in fitune years under
arcraft lease contracts ane prescited as off batano, sheet tems

Extraordinary items

Extracrdmary stems consest of mncume and expensas whach deviate fromm the ardinary actwvites of the comgsany, such 25 group contributions
Appropriations

“The difference between total and planned deprecetion s shown as accumutated appropriabons m the batance sheet and the change dunng
the knancia! year i the incomnd staternent.

Income taxes
Ingome taxes tn the income statement inchade taxes calcutated for the mancal year basad on Finnish tax provissons, adjustments to taxes
tn previous financ el years and the change in deferrad taxes.

Pension schemes

The mandatory pension cover of the companmy s domeste. employees has primanly been arranged through a Finnush pension msurance
company and othet addibonal pension cover through the Finnair pension fund or a Finnush pension owsuranoe comgrary Since 1992, the
pension fund has no longer accepted employees other than pilots for additsonal pension coverage, The Finnawr penswon fund’s pension ob-
Tgabon 1s fully oovered with respect to addional ooverage. Pension fund Iabiltes are preserted m the notes to the financal staterments.

Provisions
Provisins i the batanoe sheet and entered as expenses m the moome staternent comprnse those ierms whach the company s committed to
covering through agreements or otherwse m the foresecable future and which have no cormesponding revenue and whose monetary value
can be reasonably asvessed,

The company is obhged o return leased arreraft at d redel drbron. To fulfil these r bl s the
has recognised provisions based on fight g?%ﬂﬁ?%%%ﬂéﬂ&as%én&
company has prepared a detaided restructinng plan and has begun to implernent the plan or has annowsnced &

2. TURNOVER AND OPERATING PROFIT B8Y BUSINESS AREA
EUR mill

Zoous

Turnaver by vsaon
Awrlme Business

Oisinbution of turnover by market areas based on flight routes.  of wmover
Finland

Europe
Other countries
Total

Operaung profit by business arca
Arrfine Businass

3. OTHER OPERATING INCOME
EUR mill

100%

Rental income

Caprtal gauns on sales of tangible assets
Other ncome

Total

4. MATERIALS AND SERVICES
EUR enill.

Ground handling and catenng expenses
Fuel costs

Arcraft matenaks and overhaul

IT experses

Gther items

Total

5. STAFF COSTS
EUR mill

Wagres and satanes
Pesion expemses
Other social expenses
Total

Satary and bonus expenses of Chief Executive 0 cer and Members of the Board of Duectors
Cheef Executve O cer and his debuty
Board of Directors

Personne! on average
Asrlme Busmess
COther functions

Total




FINNAIR ANNUAL REPORT 2013

5

STRATEGY / CUSTOMERS / OPERATIONS / EMPLOYEES / SOCIETY / FINANCE / GOVERMANCE / GRI A ' 116 H
i
6. DEPRECIATION 9. EXTRACRDINARY ITEMS
EMR milL 2013 w012 EUR mill, 2013 2012
Planned depreciabon and amortsabion o . o Recerved group contnbution
On other long-term expenditre - . - o
On burkdings o - S 10. APPROPRIATIONS
On other equapment _ - - - - - EUR mi, 2013 012
Totad - 81 63 Change n deprecation di rence
7. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 11. DIRECT TAXES
EUR mill. 2013 2012
T EUR mill. 2013 2012
Other remts for arcrafi capacty o o _ I| uH H% - Thom L2XES 0N (2 y - =
O o and mther rents me taxes on extraordinary tems
Ira ccharges - Change 0 deferred taxes
Sales and marketing expenses Tatal 213 02
Other expertses _ . .
Total TI8A r027 12, INTANGIBLE ASSETS
ELR mill 2013 012
8 FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES O@K.. leng-term expendture _
EUR mill 2013 2012 Aequisition cost January _
Dividend mcome Addtons
From group comparnes E ect of the merger
From other companmes . Drsposals .
Total , 51 0L Acquisition cost 31 December a2’ 91
_aw.ﬁp income Accumulated deprecation  tanuary
TOM Group COMparees N - -; 4 _ }_ 4 - -
From assoaates and joint ventures - - -- ofd s
: - e E act of the merger
_Fromother companies B e -
Total 133 189 Deprecation
- - - = - Esémm..b._ depreciation 31 csnua_.nm 306 <259
Other fnancial ncome B ...T T/ L. -
From group companucs . Bookvalue 31 December - 120 132
_ from other comparves _ . - — —
Total 94 05
Gatms on deposal of shares - s’z 0.0
Inerest expenses r
To group cTpanes
To cther companies N _ - - o
Total ~ 216 . l{.;h\
Other fnancial expenses _ _ _ . T
To group companes . - -
Fo other cormpanies - . - _ _
Total o B 90 49
Exchange gains and losses ”. T2z N T a2
Financial income and expenses total 302 40
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13. TANGIBLE ASSETS

14, INVESTMENTS
EUR mill 2013

1-
o our D

2012

Tangible assets 2013
Other Advances

EUR milt, Land Bulidings equipment pald Total
Acquesition cost  January

Addions

b ect of the merper

[Drsposals
Acquisition tost 31 Decemnber 2013 a7 510 a3 a 541
Accurmuiated depretation  Jaruary

Acoumuiated planned depreciation of desposals

E ect of the merger

Depreciation -
Accumulated depreciation 31 December 2013 oo 41913 5.2 00 245
Book value 31 December 2013 07 TR 31 a1 397
The share of machings angd equipment m the book value of tangibie assets  Decernber
Tangible assets 2012

Other Advances

EUR mifl. Land Buildings equipment paud Total
Acquisition cost  January i

Additions )

Disposats
Acquisition rost 31 December 2012 0.0 Q.0 8.5 o~o 8.5
Accumulated deprecation  Bruary _

Accurmutated planned depreciation of disposats

Depreciaton i -
Accumuated depreciation 31 December 2012 00 0.0 6.5 e.m 4.5
Book value 31 December 2012 0.0 00 20 0.0 20

The share of mach;es and eupiment n the book vakue of tongke assets  December

Group companies
Actuisinon cost  fanuary
Additions
E ect of the merger
Dtsposals
Book value 31 December 4391

Associates and joint ventures
Acqusiton cost  fanuary
Additions
E ect of the merger
Book value 3t December 154

Shares in other companies
Acquesition cost Jaruary
Addions
t ect of the merger
Drsposals
Book value 31 December 04

Assoclates Share of
parerk compaiy

Suomen fmaituopsdo Oy Port

Flybe Nordic, Sweden

Kuntersto Oy Lentgante  Vantaa

Group companies Share of

parent company
Fonar Techrecal Services Oy Helsink
Finnair Engme Servces Oy Helsink
Finnaw Flight Acadermy Oy Helunki
Northport Oy Helanda
Firtland Trave! Bureau Oy Hetsinks
Kuntesstn Oy LEKO  Vantaa
Kimterstn Oy Ar Cargo Conter — Vantaa
IC Finnair Ltd, Great Brataln =*
Finmvero Gmbh, Germnany
ASS Acro Airlines. Estonia
Morvsta Travel Ud Canada

Finnair Cargo Oy Helsinki

Finnawr Cargo Termma! Operations Oy Heksink
Amadeus Fdand Oy Hekinki

Suomen Matkatotmesto Oy Helsinkt

Area Baltica Rersiburoo AS Estons

Back O ¢o Servaces Estonia Qu. Eston@

Oy Aunnkomatkat  Suntours Ltd Ab Helsinda
FTS Financial Services Oy Helsenki

Finnar Travel Retadl Oy Hetstnka

LSG Sky Chefs Finland Oy Hefsinks *

Fionar Argaft Fmance Oy Helsmib

* The group has made an co-operation agresment whuch indudes a call option and cessed controd over the conpany
+* IC Finnar Lid i a fully owned captive msurance company m Guersey which rearnings are subject to normal Laxation m Finland
Finnar Facdities Management Oy was merged with the parent comparny on 31 March 2013

4897

131

07

Share of
paremt company
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15 LOAN AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 18. CASH AND BANK EQUIVALENTS
EUR mill. 2013 2012 £1IR mitl 2013 2012
Nort-current loan retenvables Funes in group bank actounts and depasits maturing i thee months
From group comparses " - - T
from assocates and ot vertres N T T T 77 19.SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
From other compandes EUR mill 2013 2012
Total ur 2337 Share capital  January
_ Share capital 31 December 754 75.4
Deterred tax assets  January ) v
From profit/loss for the firanciad perod Share premum accound  lmary
fromtemporary ch erences . _ — _ Share gremium account 31 December 47 247
From vatuaton of derrvates at fas value
Deferred tax assets 31 December - - 442 7 "7 s62  legalmesorve fanuary -7
. Legal reserve 31 December 1477 1477
Loan and other receivables total 689 2999
Hedging reserve January
16, CURRENT RECEIVABLES Change
EUR mifl, 2013 2012 Hedging reserve 31 wono:&mq .- 42 91
Short-term retevables from group compares . _ - _ . o _ _
Trade recenvables _ _ - Unvestrictad equity funds  Jarwuary
Accrued wcome and prepad expernes Purchase of gwn shares
Dther fecenables ) Stare-based payments
Total 5198 2710 Unrestricted squity funds 31 December 2505 2504
Shoxterin recenvables from associates and ow vertires - T T Relained camings  January
Trade recetvables ) - _ Drndend i
Accrued mcome and prepad experses T - - Retained earnings 31 December 00 137
Total i - - 066~ 388
’ Protit/loss for the financal year
Short-term recevables from others .
Trade recemables B o ’ ’ . Shareholders' equity total 5319 5203
Prepai] experses B . _ o B
oy eeaes - - - Disrlutable iy
Tota) - - - 1885 1691 Hedgng reserve
- - -~ Unvestricted equity funds
Short-term receivables total 9150 _ a8 Retamed eamings
_ ProfitAoss for the financial year
17 INVESTMENTS Total B 2840 %31
EUR mill. 2013 2012
Short-term mvestmients at far vale 20, ACCUMULATED APPROPRIATIONS
-7 EUR mill. 2013 2012
Accumutated depreciation di erence  fanuary
£ ect of the merger
Change m depreciation di- erence
Aceumurlated depreciation difference 31 December 91 [ ]
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1. PROVISIONS 23. CURRENT LIABILITIES
EUR milL 013 012 EuRr mifl 013 012
Proveiots  Jamary Current kabilites to group comparies
Provisign for the perod Trade: payables
Prawmsion used Accrials and deferred meome
Fxhange rate di erences Other labilities
Provisions 31 December 4.0 1097 Total 1891 2005
Of wiuch tong-term
Of whith shofi-term Current habitises to associates and jomnt ventures
Total 940 1097 Trade payables
Long-term awtraft 1ed to be used by 2020 Accrials and deferred mcome
Total 1643 343
22. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES Currend kabiliies to others
EUR mill 013 2012 Loans from financsal sstitutions
Defcrrod X labiy rom vakibon of Gereales al i vake Cormmercial papers
Loans from group companics Trade payables
Lars from finanelat sistiustions Acoruals and deferred income
Bonds Other hatnkies
Hybrd loan Total 643 4 6198
WMM tabilives 1223 - 2373 Current Bablitfes total 9968 8547
Matu ity of merest-bearmg liabites Accruats a1d deferred ecome
Unfiown air transport revenues
Jetfuels and tra ¢ charges
Holiday payments
Loyalty program Finnair Plus
Other tems
and ater Total 703.0 470.1
Total 3755 -

D
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24, COLLATERAL, CONTINGENT UIABILITIES AND OTHER COMMITMENTS 25 DERIVATIVES
EUR mill. 2013 2012 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012
Guarantees and contingent latilbes } N R EUR mill Nominal value Fair valoe Nominal vatue Fair value
0On behalt of group companies N R Currency derivatives
On behall of assooates . _ R Hedge accourtmg rtems
On others companies _ s A _ Jet fued avency hedging (forward contracts}
Total o . _ . .S13s__ T3 Hedge accounting items total 3705 170 4135 03
~ _ - _ R e L lremms ocrtside: hedge accounting IU
Arcraft lease payments . . Operational cash-flow hedging aﬂgagqﬁa .
Wittun one year X _ _ Operational cash-flow hedging fopuions)
After one year and oot bater than  years _ . . _ Cafl options
Later thani  yars oo Put options -
Total ) waz L1448 ttems outside hedge accounting total 1712 7 2893 a2
Currency derhvatives tatal - 10977 07 BO2B 45
Parent company has leased the awcralt fleet from the fully owned subsidiary
g:«% _
EUR milL 2013 012 Hedge Acoounting ems
Other lease payments Jet fuel forward contracts. tonnes
Wittun one year ’ i ) Electriaty dervatives Mwh ~
Ahier one year and not fater than  years . . o Hedge acrounting rtems total . B 118 17
Laler than  years Itoms outside hedge accounting
Total ’ ) 284" 167 Jet fuel forward contracts, tonnes
 Optors _
Operaling lease obligations have increased due to the merger of the Group s faolites management subsidrary to parent comparty Call options. jet fuel, tonnes
Put options Jet fuel tonnes
Pension ghligatons i ) T Electncty dervatives Miwh . -
Tetal obhigavon of pension fund » . Eeﬁ?ggﬂg . 25 10
Mandatory portion covered . _ L - . é&m%g o L ) Ha 27
Non-mandatory benefd covered . I, R o
tncovered obligation of pension fund B o . — _qrﬁr_.gumﬂnliﬁnﬁ o
azﬁgnﬁﬁdﬁduﬁg&?é& o . . . Hedge acoounting rtess
Total 0.0 Q0 Interest rate swaps L
. Hedge accounting items total 150.0 L2 oo 0.0
gﬂgggﬁ“
Interest rate swaps -
‘ttems outside hedge accounting total K 250 5 50 1
Interest rate derivatives total o . e 07 250 11

Derivatives totat ) I 158 07




FINNAIR ANNUAL REPORT 2013

_— - —— -

STRATEGY / CUSTOMERS / OPERATIONS / EMPLOYEES / SOCIETY / FINANCE / GOVERNANCE / GRI Z o D

CALCULATION OF KEY INDICATORS

Operational result:

Operatmg profit excluding capital gains. fair value changes m
dervatives changes n the exchange rates of flect overhauts and
NOLMECLTiNG (lems

Oparational ERITDA.
Operational resuft  depreciation

Operational ERITDAR:
Operational resif!l  depreciation  lease payments for arrcraft

Sharehoiders’ equity
Equity attriutable to owners of the parent

Gross caplital expenditure
Investments ih intangible and tangible assets - prepayments during
the financia! year

Average capital employed.
Balance sheet total  non-mierest bearing labidites

Interest-bearing net debt.
Interest-beanng lbities  other current financial assels - cash and

cash equivalents

Earnings/share:
Profit for the nancal year - ybrd band iderrst

Average number of shares durmg the financal year
adusted for share ssues

Equity/share:

Shareholders equity

Number of shares at the end of the financal year
adjusted for share rssues

Dividend/earnings, %

Dndend/share .

Earmings/share

Oividend yield, %.
Drvdend/share

Share pnce al the end of the financal year *

Cash How from sperzting activities/share-
Cash flow trgm pperating activites

Average number of shares durng the financal year
adpusted for share rssues

Price/earntogs ratio (P/€)

Share price at the end of the financial yoar
Earmmgs/share

Equity ratio, %:
Sharehulders’ equity  non-condrolling imerests .

Batance sheet {otal - advances recerved

Gearing, %
Net interest bearing fabiibes

x
Sharehoiders’ equity  non-controffing interasts

Adjusted gearing, %
Nel interest bearmg lubiles.  x bease payments for agcrall .

Sharehnlders’ equity — nan-controfling nterests

Return on equity (ROE), %:
Profit far the financial year

Sharehakders equity  non-controling interest (average) !

Return on capital employed (ROCE), %.
Profit before taxes  financial expenses ‘

Average capilal employed

Board of Directors’ proposal on the dvdend

Finnair Pic's distnbutable equity according to the financal statermens on 31 December 2013
amounts to 284,038,140 67 ¢uros

The Board of Directors preposes o the Anaual General Mecung that no dndend shall be pard and
the profit for the fiscal year be retained and carmed further m the unrestncted equaty

Signing of the Report of the Board of Diwrectors and the Financal Statements

Hetunla, 10® Febnuary 2014

The Board of Directars of Rnnair Plc

e NIV ,?,/
urgn Lordia)

/Maiya-Lisa Fnman usd) [tvuon Mena Karhapida

Antt Kuosmanen

r KXronman

“l.\wf\..\«\r:vq
Peldaa Vauramo
President & CEQ of Finnair Pic
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AUDITOR’S REPORT (TRANSLATION FROM THE FINNISH ORIGINAL)

To the Annual General Meeting of Finnair Oyj

We have audited the acoountmg recards, the financial statements, the report of the Board of Directors and the admunsstration of Finratr Oy)
for the year ended 31 December 2013. The: furancal staternents comprise the consolidated statement of finanaal positon, income staternent,
statement of compreherave income, statement of changes m equity and statement of cash flows, and notes to the consehdated financeal
statements, as well as the parent company s bakenoe sheet, income cash flow and notes to the financeal statements.

Responsibility of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director
Egagam?gcgﬁ%m?%g&%gggﬁég

aﬁmgﬂ_gﬁ&n&nﬁggﬂlEQUEEEUEH&E%BE&ESEG&EE&%

Fnﬁgﬂngﬁgi?a&laggﬁ.ﬁgﬁﬂgu&nﬁchgnn_:mﬂs;ﬂﬁaﬁ
accounts of the comparm ate i compliance with the kiw and that ds financal affars have been arranged ma relable manner.
Auditor’s Responsibility

Ohur responsibiiity 15 toexpress an opron on the financral statements, on the bt firancial arwd on the repart of the Board
af Directors based on our audit. The Auditing Act requires that we comply with the requirements of professional ethics. We conducted our

audit in accordance with good aditing practioe in EO&%E%EE«EH&E&E?ES?
reasonable assurance abotit whether the financial staternents and the report of the Baard of Directors are free from maternl nusstatement,
and whether the members of the Boatd of Directors of the parent company or the Managing Directors are guilty of an act or negligence
whach may result m Lability m damages towards the compatty or whether they have violated the Limted Liability Compantes Act or the
articles of assoctation of the company

Anaudit mvolves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures m the financral staternents and the
report of the Board of Directors. The procedures setected depend on the anditor sudgment, ncluding the assessment of the nsks of materal
musstaternent, whether due to fraud or error. In makang those sk assessrmenits, the anditor consders mtermal controf relevant to the entity’s
preparation of financtal statements and report of the Baard of Directors that grve a true and far view m order to design axdt procedures
that are approprate m the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opiruon on the effectiveness of the company’s mterna)
control. An audit also includes evahuatmg the ap of acooundsng polices used and the reasortableness of acoounting estimates
wixde by rmanagement, as well as nﬁ_ﬁﬁﬂnﬁuﬁuu resenitation of the financial statements and the report of the Board of Drrectors.
We beleve that the andit evidence we have cbtamed 15 sufficient and approprate to provade a basss fivr cr audtt optmcn.

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements
In our opitison, the consolidated financial staterenits gave a trse and fairview of the financial position, financial performance, and cash flows
of the group in acoordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the FU

Opinion on the Company’s Financial Statements and the Report of

the Board of Directors
In cur opmnn, the financral datements and the report of the Board of Drectors prvea d:ne.n_? view of both the consoldated and the
33:8:__83_.. g%iggg Bn.a»_sns,_ thela _s_am:_ucammi.ﬂ:_: the prej ._B rabon of the

Other Opinions

We support that the financal statements and the consobidated financal statements shouid be adopted. The proposal by the Board of Directors
regarding the use of the profit shown in the balance sheet 1s in compliance with the Limited Liability Companies Act. We support that the
Members of the Board of Directors and the Managmg Directors. of the parent cormpany should be discharged from Lability for the firanczal

penod audrted by us.

Helsinks, 28 February 2014

PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy
Authonsed Pabhc Acountants

Mdhilig=—

Mikko Niermmen
Authonsed Public Ancountant
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FINANCIAL INDICATORS

EC1

Direct econosmle value generated and distributed, induding revenues, operating costs, employee compensation, donations and other

communlty investments, retalned earnings, and payments to capital providers and governments

ElR million 2013 012

2011

Direct economic vahue

Cansolsdated turmover

{ther operating mcome

Financial income

Total 24617 2478.1

Distributed economic valise®
Cash paid uutside the company materials and services, ether aperatng experses
Payments o personnel**
Payments made to shareholders and loan providers
Bridend **
Interest and other fnancial expenses
Payments to government **° )
Donations and other thartable payments nfa a
Distributed, total 2,3683 2,291.3
Economic vatue retained for operational development 94 1848
Investments in tangthie and intangible assets as well as acquisiions of subsidiaries )
Operationa! result
Return on capial employed {ROCE)

*  includes EUR 34 malion capital gam from the sale of Norwegan A Shuttie ASA's shanes i 2013,

**  Paymentsto personnel nciude wages and salares and pasd contnbutions retated to pension plans. More mft on to personnel
Remuneration Statement on pages 147-155

++* & daadend ot EUR O 10 per shate was pau for 2012, amountmg (0 EUR 128 milhon The Boand of DIectors proposes 1o the Annual General Mesting 2014
that no tvidend be pand for 2013,

**+* inchodes paid income Lases, social security payments and Lixes on property

22808

22356
450

dable i Finnaw’s 2013

EC2
Financial implications and other risks and opportunities for the crganisation’s activities due to

climate change
In combanng climate change, the mam measures arc directed at reducing the combustion of fossil fuels The jet fuel

used by Finras 1s fossil fued and fue costs are Finnam's single most signihcant oust item. Therefore, il the factors inflo-
encing the price of jet fued smnilarly influence Finnair's operating costs

‘The need Lo reduce fuel consumpbon and the resultant carbon dimade enussions has a sgnaficant impact on the
rcompany’s busiess operations. Finnarr's bong-term goal 1s to reduce emussions per seat by 24 per cent by 2017, usmg,
2009 as the baseline.

In order to reduce its fuel consumption, Finnarr follows a strategy compnised of four elernents. technologcal develop-
ment, improvement of aperational efficiency, development of mfrastructure and support of the plobal enissions trad-
ing schemie. Finnair operates a modern floct and imvests in fudd-efficient next generation aircraft in the coming years to
malntamn its competitve advantage.

For several years now Finnarr has voiced its support for a global market based measure for offsettimg greenhouse gas
enussions that would complement the industry's technological, operational and infrastructural efforts to reduce ermis-
swons. These measures are described on page 54 under the title "A global solution to chmate change” [n 2013, Finnair
participated in Furopean Unions Ermessions Trading Scheme (FU-FTS), which concerned only Intra-Furopean flights,
‘The dmect costs incurred by Finnaur from emussions trding totalled approxamately EUR 2.6 mullion tn 2013. The direct
costs of emissions trading in the coming years are difficult to estimate due to potental regulatory changes.

Finnair 152 keadmg airine m carbon doxade emussions reporting and reducing emussions The risks, opportunsties,
financral effects and management methods related to Cimate change are described 10 detail m Finnairs respunses to
the Carbon Disclosure Project {CDP) report. Finnaur placed amang the leading urlines in the Carbon Disclosure Pro-
et (CDP} 2013 report and was also ncluded 1 the CDP Nordic 260 Climate Disclosure Leadership Index {CDLY for
the second consecutive year. The CDP is the world’s only global environmental disclosure systern and represents 722
international investors from around the world. Finnaur has participated 1n the CDP since 2007

EC3

Coverage of the organisation's defined benefit plan obligations

All Finnarr employees are covered by pension secunty i accondance with the Employee Pensions Act {TYEL) Pension
contnbutions amourst to 16.8 per cent of satarees and 12.7 per cent of total personne expenses. In addiuon, some em-
ployees arecovered by an add:tional penston fund benefit and management by an addrtional benefit in accordance with

pension fability (Finrush Accountmg Standards) m respect of 1ts own pension fund was EUR 333.9 mullion at the end
of 2013 Pension hiabilitses are covered n full.




ECa

significant financlal assistance recelved from government

“The Finnush Government does not support Finnair's operahons financially The Finnar Aviation College constiiutes
an exception. The Fnnar Aviahon College, founded 1n 1964, &5 a special vocabonal educatonal estabishment mam-
tamed by Finnair Pc, which operates as a spectal educational establishment under the Act on Vocational Adult Edu-
caton (631/1998)

The Finnaurr Aviation College’s task 15 to arrange further vocational trainmg leading Lo a vocational or special voca-
tional qualification as well as other further vocational tramning required for the practice of Finnarr Plcsand its subsidi-
a§§<§ﬁg>§§$:§§ 13 December 2006). As a private-
ty-owned educational establichment, the Finnar Aviat macoordance with government
axd practices. In 2013, the Finnair .qﬂua:ﬂbnnqaﬂuﬁl Rﬁ.iuﬂ-—i—ggggﬁs

EC6
Policy, practites and proportion of spending on locafly-based suppliers at significant locations of
operation
The key oixectve of procurement at Finnair i to secure competiliveness, Customer expenence, operational exellence
and compliance with aws and regulations. The majority of Finnair purchases are determimied by the Finreur flght net-
work and related grographucal scope of redevant servace and goads suppliers. A considerable part of the services Finmarr
requares for fight operations are sourced Socalh because of the natirre of the operations. Al the group level, Finnar mon-
storsand collects spend data on purchases from afl supphers and fromall regions. Finnar supplier qualificabion prina-
ples include, both Jocally and globally, comphance with ar operation laws and regulations, conformance to Finnatr qual-
ity requurements, pnce competiveness and general reliability and responsibiity ofa Eﬂ-__ﬁgmz_mgg
employeesand the local community Many of th ps procurermnent categ k mwhuch case
ble suppliers must be approved by the a ?E?%E?&EE& ?«E%»ﬁ ofthustype.
Eggéggagga&_ﬁnﬂaa on sustarability and ethics of Finnasr pro-
Finnar s largest sigle procurement them 15 et fued, which o abso the mest sgmificant operatonal expense item. Injet
fuel procurement, Finnar gives ssgrsficant wesght on fimancial factors and relbilty of supply The jet fued s typacally
procured locally on each flight destmation from some 60 different supphers
Most of the hoteds used m the program of Finnair Group's subsduary Aunnkomatkat-Suntours Lid are small and
mednm-sized hotels, whach are, as a e, locally owned. For example, in Aunnkomatiat's biggest ummer destination
country, Greece, more than 90 per cent of the hotels tsed by Aurnkomatkat in smmer 2013 were in bocal ownership.
In addbon. Aarmkomatkat has a local representatrve at each of its destmations, from whom the comparry purchases,
among other things. growmd transfers, tour arrangerents and other operahonal services. Finnair's travel agency SMT,

whuch was formed m 2013 by merging Finnair’s subsidianes Area Oy and Finland Travel Bureau Ltd. 1s specralised n
busmess travel and also uses local agents when prepanng travel programs and making group bookmgs.

EC9
Understanding and describing significant indirect economic impacts, Including the extent of impacts
Awviation t5 a significant industry for Finnish society and the national economy The accessibility created by arrline traf-

?BuémﬁﬂﬁgﬂuﬂggﬁﬁggséNﬂﬂszﬁgﬁns
aconunt for up to 4 per cent of GDE, employment and tax revenue {(Source: “Economic Benefits from Arr Transport

Finland;” Oxford Econoncs, 2042) Finnan's effectve Asian strategy s a key element of the GDP contribution of avia-
ggﬂn&ﬂﬁg:g%gsﬁacgﬂgué_mgvﬁmm_ -57inthis report. Furtherinforma-
o 15 also availahie at wwwl d en the JATA website at www ata.org.

A
3/
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(Governance

MANAGEMENT PRINCIPLES

General management principles

Respansibility 1s mtegral to all Finnair operations. Finnair’s Code of Conduct 1s based on the
prnncple that everything Finnair does must — and will be ~ evaluated against the hughest eth-
ical business standards.

CONFORMING WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS
Bustness operations are based on mternatronally accepted ettucal principles governing busi-
ness partnerships and interest group relatonships Company specific authonities on the gov-
ernance of Finnair include pninciples, polictes and guidelmes issued by Finnaer's Board of Di-
rectors In financial reporting, Finnair apphes the rules relating to bsted compaes as well as
mternattonal financial reporting standards Most of Finnair's operational activities are based
on official regulations and are subject to official supervision

Withmn the group, the legality and acoeptabihity of operations 1s momtored as part of Finnaur's
gencral control and audit processes The responsibility for regulatory compliance bes weth the
persons defined and approved by the authorities. Finnarr 1s also subject to supervision relat-
mg to finances and information securty Internal control and andit roles and responsibilitres
are compliant with the Finnish Compames Act, the Finnish Corporate Governance Code for
Listed Companues and the regulahons govermung the aviaton industry

Finnair's governance model, control environment and activities, internal audt and the roles
and responsibilities related to these are deseribed m detaud in Finnawr's Corporate Governance
Statement on pages 131-141

PUBLIC AFFAIRS AND LOBBYING
Awviation 15 a strictly regulated industry As such, it 1s important for us to participate in discus-
sions and deciston-making that concern Finnair’s operating condrbons

Finnair pursues 1ts nterests in an ethically sustanable manner by appropriately introduc-
Ing 1ts views, perspectives and technical expertise where necessary The company does not
pressurise or support political decwston-makers in any way Finnair monitors the legality and
cthucality of public affawrs and lobbying actrires as part of the company's general supervision
and audit processes

The aim of Finnair's lobbying actrvities 1s to maintam relationships concerning refevant pol-
icy and to participate m relevant negotiations and the operations of advocacy orgamsations

When lobbying on vanous cmvl aviation and industry regulatton issues, Finnair typically co-

operates with vartous orgamisations and chambers of commerce Finnar isan actrve member
of vanolts aviatton industry associations, such as AEA and IATA, but alse m the Confedera-

tion of Finnish Industries (EK) and its sub-associations and in several chambers of commerce

COMMUNICATIONS
Finnasr aims at open, honest and tunely commumications In line with these pninaiples, Finnair's
communications are also in compliance with regulations govertung listed companies and lim-
tted Lkabihty companes, as well as the obligations of the Finnish Act on Cooperation withuin Un-
dertakings and the commumications guidelimes of the State Ownership Steermg Department
Finnair takes different perspactives into consideration and respects all stakeholders’ views
of our operations Responsibility must also be reflected inall of the company’s operations and
strategy, ncluding commumications and brand building Responsible communication 1s one
of the fundamental requirements for mamntaning good relations with all stakeholders
Finnair’s internal communications 15 based on reciprocity Every employee has the duty
to communicate matters related to their area of responsibility to the relevant target groups
Those in supervisory rales have a further duty to communicate goals, operations and results
to thewr ownwork communttyand create a work environment that enables genuine construc-
tive discussion

CORRUPTION AND BRIBERY: ZERO TOLERANCE
Finnair does not condone gorruption inany form. Identifying and assessing corruption nsks
are part of the general nsk assessment carnied out by the company and its business umts

Finnair’s procurement policy sets clear principles to ensure ettucal purchasing Finnair ex-
pects its suppliers also to act m accordance with the company’s ethical standards Supervi-
ston relating to the preventian of corruption is the respansibility of each Finnair employee as
well as those in charge of business functzons and the internal audit. The internal audit moru-
tors compliance with the key principles of the Code of Conduct as part of analysing and con-
trolhing business processes

Accepting or giving brbes 1s stnctly forbidden. Gving and accepting business gifts should
be avoided where possible wathout acting contrary to good manners Suspected cases of brib-
ery must be reported to the company’s Internal Auditing department and, where necessary,
relevant training will be arranged for new recruits

125
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FAIR COMPETITION

Thearlne industry s a highly competitive sector globally and new competitors are constantly
entering the market. Finnar complies with competitrion law n all operations, and its Finnar
Legal Affairs Department regularly assesses the nsks related to competition law associated
with partnership agreements and other operations. The department 15 responsible for sswing,
mstructions and arranging traring on competihon bw Internal Auditing verifies comphance
with competion law as part of general process and control audits

Economic responsibility

ECONOMIIC OPERATING PRINCIPLES
Finnaur's objective 1s to create sustamnable economuc added value by producing flight servic-
€s profitably, cost-competrtively and m harmony with the needs of the enrvironment and so-
ciety Responsible operabons are the cornerstone of profitable business actmvity, and Finnar
takes into account the effects of its operations on the emvironment and society These effects
are identihied and assessed by the company’s corporate social responsibility and nsk manage-
ment organsations, which work under the authorty of the CEO

Finnair’s Board of Directors has set the company’s financial targets, which are outhned in
matenal directed at mvestors As a pubhc hruted company, Finnar s comntted to earning a
profit for itsshareholders The company’s profit dismbutton principles are expressed in Finnair's
dvidend pobicy Finnawr's financial reporting aims to provide, as transparenitly as possible, in-
formation about Finnaur's financial posthon and development.

Finnar’s strategy and market environment 1s descnbed in this report on pages 5-8 Finnair's
financial performance in 2013 1s described on pages 58-124

ECONOMIC EFFECTS OF AN AIRLINE
Aviation 15 a signuficant industry for Finmsh saciety and the national economy The accessibil-
ity created by airhne traffic 15a necessity for Finland's global competitveness and s cconom-
wcimpact 1s considerable The importance of air transport for Finland 1s more fully desenibed
on pages 51-55

Profitability in a hughly competitive mdustry that is sensitve to cychical fluctuations requires
structural changes, which Finnair, hke other airlines, 1s implementing. The company’s Career
Gate operating model helps Finnarr personnel find employment as quickly as possible when
1t1s necessary to reduce staff. Significant changes in the company’'s operations are required in
order to achieve the planned cost reductrons These changes also apply to the company’s per-

sonnel, and personnel reductions cannot be avoided.
Environmental responsibility

THE PRINCIPLES APPLIED AND ENVIRONMENTAL ORGANIZATION

Finnair’s goal 15 to be the leading airhne 10 the field of environmenta) responsibility We take
environmental aspects into considerabion in all our aperations, and support the International
Aur Transport Association (IATA) target of zero-enussion avianon. We comply with current

emronmental legislation, but our emvironmental work aims at exceeding statutory requure-
ments and being a proneer in evaluating, reporting and reducing environmental impacts

Our environmental organisation has existed n various forms smce the late 1980s, and we
have reported on our emvironmental impacts since 1997 The ervironmental organisation has
nowadays been replaced by cur corporate responsibility orgarusation, which n addihon to en-
virenmental aspects also covers social responsibility Finnair's corporate responstbility policy
also defines our strategy for emvironmental management.

We manage corporate responsibihity at the group level, and each unit has indviduals respon-
sible for environmental actmities and guidelines The Finnawr Board of Directors hasa normunat-
ed board member for corporate responsibility In additon to group leve), all uruts have named
persons responsible for environmental operations and mstructions Environmental tramung is
available for our entire personnel, and we hughhght important themes and best practzces with
different internal and external campagns.

In 2013 Finnair was certified as a Stage 1 operator in [ATA's Environmental Assessment {JEn-
vA) Program, a new environmental management system designed to independently assess
and improve the ervironmental management of an airhine. The crvironmenta) standards that
underpin IEnvA are based on recognised environmental management system (EMS) prina-
ples (such as ISO 14001) and have been developed by a joint team of environmental consult-
ants and leading airhines, including Finnar Arrhine assessments, however are undertaken by
independent accredited Emvironmental Assessment Organsations that have demonstrated
competencres m EMS auditing.

Finnair parbaipates actively in JATAS environmental comnutiee and AEA Environmental
Commuttee, as well as in industry workgroups in Finland and the Nordic countries, promot-
ng the reduction of the aviation sector’s emvironmental load.
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MAIN AREAS IN ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY
Approximately 95 per cent of an airline’s environmental impact anses from engine erussions

In additton to carbon dioxsde emissions and noise, air transport causes other emissions that
affect ar quality and the climate, and an effort must be made to reduce them by all possible

means Our actions are focused on four areas technological advances, operational improve-
ments, infrastructure development and market-related means, such as emissions trading In
all these areas we cooperate closely with various players, such as aircraft and engine manufac-
turers, arrports, air traffic control and the relevant authoritics

In all our operations, we strive to reduce waste and to lower our energy consumption At
Finnair's operating locations, whether on the ground or in the air, every effort 1s made to recycle
glass, paperand metal and collect energy waste which can be used as an mdustnal energy source.

An open dialogue with different stakeholders and contineous development of operations
according to the latest available information are prerequusites for emvironmental responsibil-
ity We report on our ervironmental impacts regularly i annual reports and as a part of the
Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP) 1n addibon we communicate directly with vanous parties
about our operattons and gladly answer questions posed by mterest groups

For more mformation on measures to reduce fuel consumption and emissions, see pages
28-37

Social Responsibility

MAIN AREAS IN SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Finnair s a company in a complex, hughly techncal business, and it has operations and sup-
ply chain partners in dozens of different countnies, each with varying laws and customs The
most important social responsimlity areas concern personnel, supply chain personnel and-
customers, particularty with respect to safety

Human rights

Finnair signed m 2013 the United Nation’s Global Compact inittative and undertook to com-
ply with the Global Comypact’s ten principles of corporate responsibility, whach relate to hu-
man nghts, labor, environment and anhi-corruption.

Finnarr's ethucal guidelines (Fianair suppler code of conduct) set dear prmaiples to ensure
ethucal purchasing Finnair also expects its supphers to act acoording to the company’s ethical
operating practices and its Suppher Code of Conduct. Conformung with the UN's Universal
Dedaratton of Human Rights and all apphcable laws and statutes 1s an absohute nurumum re-

quirement. A procurement steermg group operating under Finnair's management 1s respon-
sible for the steering, development and coordination of the group's procurement actvity The
managetnent of each business unit must ensure that ndrmduals handling procurement activity
have at thewr disposal up-to-date procurement guidehnes and that the guidelines are adhered
to In addition, subsidianes and bustess units have their own, more detailed, procurement
gudehines, which speaify more detailed cntena under the general procurement guidelines,
takmg into account the speaial needs of each operating unit.

Audrting 15 performed m certain product and service groups  Audiing focuses on quality
and safety factors. With respect to procurement covered by official regulations, anly opera-
tors approved by the International Air Transport Association (IATA) can act as supplers or
subcontractors to Finnaiz

No child labour
Finnair does not condone the use of chuld or forced labour at any stage of its value chain

PERSONNEL

Management, development and training and employee well-being

Finnair's strategic focus areas related to management and work culture, staff development and
trammg, occupational health and wellbeing, occupational safety and Finnair's Code of Con-
duct are described on page 41

Promoting equality and zero-tolerance for discrimination

Finnair does not discriminate based on gender, age, ethnic or nabional ongin, nationality, tan-
guage, rehgion, comaction, opinton, health, disabihity, sexual onentation or other personal at-
tributes or circumstances

Finnaur does not condone disturbances or harassment in the work community Reporting
wfrachions 1s every employee’s nght and the company is determined to take steps to itervene
wn all cases brought to its knowledge.

It 1s the duty of every group employee to act so that no one 15 accorded an unequal status
Business unit managers are responsible for ensuring that any equality 1ssues ansing in their
uruts are resolved The group conducts equality planning and develops anti-discimunation
practices continually as part of normal human resources management. The legality and reg-
ulatory comphance of operations 1s also momitored as part of the group's general monitoring
and audit processes

T oy ™
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Finnair offers equal opportunitics for everyonc with regard to recrutment, work petfor-
mance, career progresston and development. Finnar mplements the equal pay primciple based
on the Finmish Equality Act.

Finnarr gives both men and women equal opportuntties for balancmg work and family life.
In 2011, Finnair became the first Finrush company to sign on to the Unzted Nations Women's
Empowerment Prninaples, which give gindance on the empowerment of women in the work-

place, marketplace and commurnuty

No tolerance for harassment

Finnair comphes with procedures jontly agreed by the employer and employees for the pre-
vention of harassment and inapproprate conduct. The procedure s based on the Finush Act
on Occupational Safety and Health and comphies with the model recommended by the Finn-
1sh Minustry of Social Affairs and Health.

Freedom of association and collective negotiation
Freedom of associatton and the collective nght to negotiate on occupational 1ssues are rec-
ognised as fundamental rights m Finland. There 1s a long tradition of trade union actvity n
the company Labour market culture m the company has been constructed in such a way that
the organisation of workers and collective negotiations between the company and employee
groups are part of normal activity

In Finland, all of Finnair’s workers have the nght and oppartunity to agree on terms of em-
ployment collectively Management’s working terms are agreed on locally

The dialogue between Finnair and its staff in 2013 1s described on page 42. Personnel and
management remuneration pnnciples are described on pages 147-155

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY AND CUSTOMER CARE
Asanaihine, Finnair’s nusston 15 to carry customers and ther goods safely and on ime to ther
destinations The Finnair Group’s business uruts and subsidiartes play their part in supporting
the comprehensive achievement of this goal. The objective ts to ensure the wellbeing of cus-
tomers and a smooth, trouble-free travel experience in every respect. The most sigmficant
product responsibility aspects in the Finnair Group's operations are flipht safety, food safe-
ty, responsibility for indnvadual customers, and responsibility for the cargo carned by Finnair
At Finnair sttuations that deviate from the norm are prepared for in advance. The group has
developed processes for vanious unexpected sttuations and these are contmually updated and
mawntaned. Customers must be able to trust m the fact that they will be cared for throughout

the entire service chain. As a result, Finnair pays great attention to the selechion of partners
and takes ultimate responsibility for the customer experience

Safety

Fhght safety 15 always the lughest pnonty in all operations, and in this area no compromises are
made on any grounds. Safety is also Finnawr's first prierity m ground operations and at every
stage of the customer journey

Flight safety work extends to all operations that impact on flight safety Risk prevention is
built anto the company s operating culture, and numerous official regulattons puide the group's
activities In case of human error, various protectton networks have been created in the com-
pany’s operating systems with the key objective of stopping the advance of a possibly damag-
ing course of events and the matenahsahon of nsk

‘The rules and regulatrons related to flight operations and Finnair's safety culture are de-
scribed on pages 22-23

At Finnair, responsibility for operational safety rests with the manager responsible for each
arca of operations. The Department of Safety and Quality produces risk information for man-
agermnent using the [atest methods A qualtty management system ss tised to morutor the effec-
tveness of all measures and general comphance with regulations. The operation of the quality
system 1s the responsibility of the company’s Quality Manager, who serves at the same time
as the Flight Safety Director

Withan the framework of the quahty management system, the company's safety-critical el-
ements are audited annually Everyone who works in roles that influence flight safety partic-
1pates regularly in safety tramning courses, whose content and scheduling 1s morutored both
nternally and by the authories Safety-related information 1s disseminated throughout the
organization via a dedrcated safety magazine. In addition, separate safety bulletins are pub-
hshed for {lyght personnel as required.

At Finnarr all safety reports are interpreted and grven a nsk classification according to the
senousness of the event. In serious cases, corrective measures are initrated immedaately A
cotrectrve measure may be, for example, the changing of a faulty component and immech-
ate checlang of the rest of the fleet to make sure that the same event does not recur In sk
assessment and classification we use the Event Risk Classification (ERC) method, created by
the Awrbus-led Airhne Risk Management Solutions (ARMS) working group, which was in-
troduced for airlines” use 1n 2009 This method represents the industry's latest risk knowledge
and helps Finnair produce more standardised and objective nsk information for management
use, We examune nisks identified by the ERC more deeply using the Safety Issue Risk Assess-
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ment (SIRA) method, which is alsoa tool produced by the ARMS working group In the SIRA
method, an attempt 15 made to idennfy all scenanos connected with the perceved risk, and

numencal probabihties based on international data are assigned to all of these scenanos. The
numertcal possibilities ebtained m this way must fulfil the requrements set by management

and the authontes

In additron to nisks identafied duc to reporting, we survey flght safety risks monthly with flight
personnel and flight safety professionals in a designated Hazard Identification Team (HI T} and
by monitoring dary flights on the basws of flight recordings The purpose 1s toidentify nsks and
to make a deeper SIRA analysis of the nisks dentified The imnterpretation of ndividual flights
ts called Flight Data Management (FDM) At best, an arrcraft records in its “black box” more
than one thousand flight parameters many times per second. The black box re-cordings are
downloaded after flights and analysed by a special program. In this way, we can venify later that
every flight has been carrted out taking into account the company’s methods and the limuta-
ttons of each type of atrcraft. Any anomalies are always investigated separatedy in cooperation
with the fhght crew in question and a safety analyst.

Events that senously jeopardise safety are rare and almaost without exception a separate safety

investigation 15 launched n respect of them. A safety investigahion may be carnied out by the
authonty concerned (Accident Investigahon Board of Finland) Ifthe authonty deades not to

carry outan mvestigation, Finnaur performs an internal safety investigation. In cases related to
flying, the safety investigator s always an expenienced pilot specially tramed in the subject. The

safety investigator {or nvestigators) always carnes out the mvestigation mdependently and the
company’s management has no opportunity to influence the course of the nvestygation. This

ensures mdependence and objectrnty also in those cases where the percerved shortoomings
may relate to the organisation’s activities.

Customer care
For exceptional situations, Finnarr has its own cross-organtsattonal unit. All fiight traffic irreg-
ulantses are handled centrally from Helsink, thereby gathering all of the avartlable information
into one place. In this way, a more detailed overall picture of the multiphier effects and costs of
the irregulanities & obtained, and efforts are made to mimimize inconvenience to the customer
Monitoring and supervision of customer service actvity 1s based on regular auditing, cus-
tomer feedback and customer satisfaction surveys, as well as various surpnse campaigns and
measurernents performed by external parties, Qur partners’ operabions are also continually
cvaluated. Monitoning is systematic and 15 used to set targets and check that they are being
met. Staff expertise 15 ensured through traiming,

Customer data

Finnarr respects the privacy of its customers and 1s commutted to ensuring that personal de-
tarls and other customer informanon are processed appropriately We do our best to guaran-

tee the confidentsahty, security and accuracy of customer data under all circumstances Atall
stages of travel we process personal details in comphance with the legislabon on personal data
and regulations issued by the authonties in the countries in whuch we operate

Package tours

It 15 1n the interests of the group’s tour operators to promote sustainable tounsm, which ben-
efits local businesses and organisations. Package travel operations carned out by Finnair sub-
sidiaries comply with the Finnish Package Travel Act and general industry terms and condi-
twns. The Finnush Consumer Ombudsman supervises the contractual practices of package
travel service providers and comphiance with the requirements concerming guarantees against
bankruptcy The guarantees of tour operators belonging to the Finnair Group are in the form
of bank guarantees

Cargo and ground handling
In cargo transport, Finnair and its subsidiary Finnair Cargo are responsible for transporting
customers’ cargo i the condibon m which it has been entrusted to us, and m compliance with
international and nattonal regulations. The aimn s to offer cargo customers.efficient, trouble-free
lomstacs services. This means, among other things, that cargo entrusted to Finnar Cargo for
transpott is delivered to its destination exactly as agreed with the customer

The Ground Operations unit, which belongs to the group’s parent company, 1s responsible
for the acquasition, quality cntena and quahity control of ground handhing services requured at
awrports. [he unit’s task 15 to ensure that the ground services used by Finnarr fulfil the requre-
ments sct for them, both in terms of quality and in respect of safety and ofhuial regulations

To deliver on their service promises, both Finnar Cargo and the Ground Operations unit
apply a systematic evaluation process when selecting subcontractors and partners that provide
termunal and other ground handling services Partners are required, for example, to ensure
and mamtain the expertise of their personnel, and also to ensure that velucles, equipment and
premuses are appropriate. In addition to quality audits at airports, Finnair also regulariy per-
forms quality mspections that continually monitor both its own and subcont-ractors’ work

Finnair Cargo and Ground Operations quality managers are responsible for maintainmg and
updating thetr own quality systems and ensuring that operations comply with requirements

N
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Ground Operations also has an area manager, responsible for airport operations, who hasa
significant role in monttorng operatrons’ comphance with regulations. If some actmty does

not to some extent comply wath the operations manual or prevailing legislation, the devaation
1s documented and corrective measures effected immediately

FURTHER INFORMATION:
More mformation about IATA safety and qualty audits www iata.org
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2013

CONTENTS Thas statement has been approved by Finnair's Board of Directors and it has been pre-

pared as a separate report from the Board of Directors’ Report. Finnaw's auditing firm,
PricewaterhouseCoopers, has venified that the description of the main features of the inter-

nal control and nsk management related to the financial reporting process contained herein
are consistent with the financial statements.

Regulatory framework 131
Govermng bodies 131
General Meetings 132

Shareholders' Nomination Board 132

Board of Directors 133 mnv‘mﬂp.-m:“ bodies
The Commuttees of the Board 135 The goverreng bodies of Finnair pursuant to the Companies Act and the Articles of Associ-

Company management 137 ation are the General Meeting of Shareholders, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) and
Main teatures of the internal contre) and nsk management the Chuef Executive Officer (the “CEO”)
svstem pertaming to the financial reporting process 139 Ihe roles of the governing bodies are described below

Description of the overall svstem 139

Control environment 139 Governing bodies of Finnair

Risk Assessment 139

Control acuvittes 140

Information and communication 140 Shareholders

Momtoring and improvement 141 T

Intcrnal Audit 141 1 1 i
Regulatory framework Nomination Committee Annual General Meeting Auditors
This Corparate Governance Statement 1s issued pursuant to the Finnish Corporate Govern- ﬁ
ance Code 2010 for listed companues It sets out the goverrung bodes and the principles of
governance of Finnair Plc. Finnair comphes with the recommendations of the Cade without Remuneration Committee  — Board of — Audit
exceptions Directors Commitiee

The principal legastatve authoritics on corporate governance of Finrush bsted comparues
are the Comparues Act, the Secunities Market Act, the regulation and guidelines ssued by
the Financial Supervision, the rules and imstructions for hsted companies issued by NAS-
DAQ OMX Helsinkt Exchange and the Finrush Corporate Governance Code, all of which
are complied with by Finnair, Company speaific authonties on the governance of Finnar
are the Artidles of Association and the principles, policies and guidelines 1ssued by Finnair’s
Board of Directors

Ihe Articles of Association, the published policies and other addittonal information on
Finnatr's corporate governance can be found at Finnawr’s internet site at www finnatrgroup
com. The Corporate Governance Code is publicly available on the website of the Securities
Market Association’s website at www cgfinland fu

~/
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General Meetings
The ulttmate authonity n Finnair 1s vested 1n the General Meeting of shareholders An An-
nual General Meeting (the “AGM™) must be held each year by the end of May
The competence of the General Meeting of Sharehalders 15 set out in the Comparues Act
and in Finnair’s Artacles of Association. The AGM shall annually decide on the following
matters.
«+ adoption of the financial statcments and the consolidated financial statements
+  the use of the profit shown on the balance sheet
+  the discharging of the Members of the Board and the CEQ from labiity
« theappowntment of the Members of the Board and their remuneranons
+ theelection and remuneration of the auditor.

In accordance with Finnaur's Articles of Association, the AGM dlects also the Chairman of
the Board.

The Board convenes the General Mectings of Sharcholders by pubhishing a notice not car-

lier than three months and not later than three weeks before the date of the meetmg and al-
waysat least nine days before the record date of the meeting. The notice shall be published
as a stock exchange release and on Finnaur's website.

Each shareholder who 15 registered on the record date as a shareholder in the company’s
pubhc register of shareholders, mamntained by Eurodear Finland Oy, has the nght to partia-
pate in the General Meetmg of Shareholders Ifa holder of normunee-registered shares wish-
es to participate 1n the meeting, he or she has to register temporanly in the register of share-
holders Furthermore, in.order to attend the meeting, a shareholder must regrster for the
meeting in the manner defined m the notice converung the meeting.

A shareholder has the nght to have a matter fallmg withun the competence of the Gereral
Meeting of Shareholders addressed by the meeting, if the shareholder so demands in wrt-
ng from the Board by the date announced on Finnair's internet stte.

The munutes of the General Meeting of Shareholders and the voting results, if any, shall be
made available to shareholders on Finnair’s internet site withun two weeks of the meeting,

2013 Annual General Meeting

Finnaw's AGM 2013 was held in Helsinki on 27 March. A total of 281 shareholders, repre-
senting close to 63 per cent of the shares and voting nghts of the company, participated e1-
ther in person ot by proxy representatives All Board members elected by the 2012 AGM
and all candidates for Board membershep in 2013 AGM were present in the meetmg, as well
as Finnair's Executive Board and the auditors of the company

Shareholders’ Nomination Board
The AGM 2013 decided to establish a permanent Shareholders’ Nomination Board The
term of the Nomination Board continues untl the General Meeting of the company decides
otherwise The previous practice since 2008 was that a Shareholders’ Nommation Commut-
tee was estabhshed annually by the AGMs

The purpose and task of the Nomination Board 1s to prepare and present to the AGM,
and, if necessary, to an Extraordinary General Meeting, proposals on the retuneration of
the members of the Board, on the number of members of the Board and on the members of
the Board. In addibon, the task of the Nomnation Board 1s to seek potental future candi-
dates for Board members. The Nomination Board shall forward its proposals to the compa-
ny’s Board by 31 January each year

“The Nomunation Board shall consist of four members, who shall be nommated annual-
ly The company'’s three largest shareholders shall appoint three of the members, and the
Chairman of the Board shall serve as the fourth member. The company’s largest sharehold-
ers entitled to appoint members to the Normunation Board shall be deterrmined on the basis
of the registered holdings in the company’s shareholder regster held by Furodear Finland
Lid as of the first working day in September each year In the event that a shareholder does
not wish to exercise its nght to appoint a representatve, such right shall pass to the next
largest shareholder

The members of the Nomunation Board are not remunerated by Finnar for theirr mem-
bership in the Nomination Board. The members’ expenses are reimbursable in accordance
with the company’s expense policy In addiion, the Nomenation Board's costs of using ex-
ternal experts shall be borne by the company

2012 Nomination Committee and 2013 Nomination Board
The propesal for the 2013 AGM was made by a Nomnation Comuuttee that was estab-
hshed by the 2012 AGM Based on the largest shareholdings as at 1 November 2012, the
Commuttee consisted of representatives of State of Finland, Keva and Skagen Global Verd:-
_Bvioi_ and the Chairman of The Board of Finnate.
Mr Jarmo Vaisanen, b 1951, Licentiate in Political Scence, Semor Financial Counsellor
v Pnme Mintster’s Office (Ch ),
+ Mr Robm Backman, b 1971, M. S¢ (Econ.), Portfolio Manager in Keva,
+ Mz Per Wennberg, b 1969,B Sc. (Hon ) in Business Management, Skagen’s Managing
Drrector in Sweden, and
+  Mr Harn Sarlas, see detas on page 134
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‘The Comrruttee convened two imes and all members were present in the meetings. On
30 January, 2013, the Shareholders’ Nommation Committee submitted to the Board its pro-

posal for the AGM held on 27 March 2013,
The Nomination Board established by the 2013 AGM consisted of the representatives of

three largest shareholders as at the first worlang day September and of the Charrman of the
Board. The shareholders were the State of Finland, Keva and Skagen Global Verdipapirfond
and the compeositton of the Normnation Board the following:

+ Mr Eero Helidvaara, b 1956, M. Sc. (Econ.), M. Sc. (Eng.), Director General in the Own-

etship Steering 1 the Prime Miruster’s Office (Ch),
+  Mkc Robin Backman, see details above;
+  Mr Per Wennberg, see details above;and
+  Mr Klaus Heinemann, see detatls on page 134

The Nomination Board convened three imes and all members were present 1n the meet-
mgs On 31 January, 2014, the Shareholders’ Nomunatton Board submitted to the Board its
propasal for the AGM to be held on 27 March 2014 The Nomination Board proposed that
present members of the Board of Directors Ms Maya-Lusa Fnman, Mr Klaus W Heine-
mann, Mr Jussi ltivuon, Mr Harm Kerminen and Ms Gunvor Kronman be re-elected, and
that Ms Jaana Tuomtnen and Mr Nigel Turner be elected as new members to the Board

of Directors. The Nommation Board further proposed that Mr Klaus W Hetnemann be
re-elected as Charman of the Board.

The Shareholders’ Nomination Board proposed that the remunerations of the members
of the Board would remain unchanged and thereby be the following: annual remuneratton
to the Chairman €61,200, to the Vice Chatrman €32,400 and to other members €30,000
each The Commuttee further proposes that for each meeting of the Board or the commut-
tees of the Board a fee of €600 be paid to the members of the Board that reside in Finland
and a fee of €2,400 be paid to the members that reside abroad.

Board of Directors

The Chairman and the Members of the Board are elected by the AGM According to the
Articles of Association, the Board consists of the Chawrman and a muumum of four and a

maximum of seven other members. The Board elects a Deputy Charrman from among its
members The term of office of the members of the Board ends at the clase of the first AGM
following their election.

According to the Comparues Act, the Board represents all shareholders of Finnair and has
the general duty toact diligently in the interests of the company Under law, the Board 15 ac-
countable to the shareholders for the appropnate governance of the company and for ensur-
ing that the operations of the company are run adequately

"The accountability for the company’s governance pertains specifically to the assurance
of the effectiveness of the Company's system of internal controls The rmain features of the
company’s systemn of internal controls and nsk management are described later in thas re-
port. Finnatr has a number of poltcies 1ssued by the Board, designed to enhance the internal
controls The pohicies are regularly updated and communucated to the personncl.

In addition to the Boards' statutory tasks, certain signuficant matters are reserved for
Board decston, as set out in the Board's charter The Board sets the company’ strategic
aims and monitors the implementation of the same by the management, approves oth-
er significant strategic matters, investments, divestments and capital commitments and
approves the business and financial plans, signuficant partnerships and other major con-
tracts The Board reviews the performance of the management and 1t appoints and re-
moves the CEQ and other members of the executive management and determines their
levels of remuneration. The Board also attends the succession planning of the manage-
ment. The Board establishes and repularly evaluates the group's personnel policies, in-
cluding the compensation structures The Board's charter 1s avarlable on Finnair’s website
mn its enterety

The Board evaluates its work annually The Board’s gender distnbution tn the composition
elected by 2013 AGM s four men and three women
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Members of the Board and their independence Members of the Board elected in the 2013 AGM

The 2013 AGM held on 27 March elected Mr. Klaus Hemne- Board :hwnq_un__._mcwuﬂ__u_ Bqn_ni»__w.,. In n_ozmﬁw
gs In ee meetings in
mann as Chairman of the Board and Ms Marya-Lusa Name Personal Information auflt  Remuneration
Friman, Mr Juss: ltavuen, Ms Mega Karhapai, Mr Ham M Kis W Hememamn  Chairman of the Board sce  Warch 7 7
Kerminen, Ms Gunver Kronman and M. Antt1 Kuosma- o ol Do sice - March
nen as other members of the Board. The Board clected Me zm_:omﬂsc% wsaﬁo..mwm_ﬁm_
Commitiee membersnip Audst Commitiee
Harn Kerminen as its Vice Chairman. Mr Harn Kermnen Member of the Board smce  March : ; ' : /
Board members represent a diverse range of business and Vice Chairman of the Roard since ~ March
other backgrounds, bninging a broad spectrum of views and - oﬂ,hmﬁ%?aﬁﬂi
expeniences to Board deliberations. The Board assessed the M. ota Lisa ) ﬂmﬂ“ﬁ“ﬁﬂﬁﬂ_ﬁ Aud MH ﬂa§§~§= Commzes , ,
tsa Fri Qi (1 1
independence of its members and concluded that all oth- * "8 M5¢ {Eng) e e
- Man Boand professional
er members are non-executive members independent of o §3§ Ak Commite Charmar)
the Company and tts major shareholders except Mr. Ant- M st ltavoon - Member of the Board since  March / /
-8 M S (Econ )
t Kuosmanen. Based on the assessment Mr Kuosmanen Mam oceupation 8aard professional
1s non-executive member mdependent of the Company « Committee memberships Remuneration Committes (Charman
Ms. Member of the Board smee  March ! /
and dependent of its mayor shareholders, because he 1sem- Merpa Karhapd " Waster of Laves, PG PR Dploma
ployed by Finnair's largest shareholder the State of Fintand. * Mamn ocoupaion  Chief Legal O cer Sancma Group
Allmembers of the Board elected n the 2012 AGM were - —- == ——  —orviee Mambershs fudt Commttos -
Ms Gurvor Kronman Member of the Board snce  March ! !
independent of the company and its signuficant sharehold- 8 Master of Arts
+ Main pcoupation  CEO of Swedish-Finnish Cultural Centre
ers (see tables below) ) Commuttee membershp Remuneration Commatee fram  March
Mr Anth Kuosmanen Member of the Board since ~ March / /
MSc (Mathermatics. Economc
Members of the Board n 2013 and their attendance . n_ms Sm_wazm éa&ww : s St
in Board and Committee meetings .o . _ _tommitee membershp Remuneraton Commatee {since  Sepiember | _
In 2013, the Board met 11 times (eight meetings with the
with the composttion elected by the 2012 AGM) In add- Participation in  Participation in Committee
Board meetings in 2013 meetings in 2013
tion, the Board made per capsulam decisions twice during Name Personal Information Audit  Remuneration
the year. See the table below for information on the Board W T ok Troman o the foard Gil— Varch 7 7

1 *B M 5 (Econ)
members’ participation in the meetings during 2013 - dCEO o -

_ + Commttee membershp Remuneration Commuttee Charmen untd — March )

More information on the Members of the Board is avaitable on Finnawr s websie.,
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The Board’s work in 2013

The Board met 11 times in 2013 In additton to its regulatory dutics, the Boards ac-

nons included the followmng:

«  Appointed Mr Pekka Vauramonas the new CEQ of the company m Apnl Mr. Ville
Tho was appomted as deputy CEO for the perrod 1 March through 31 May 2013,

+  Approved a share saving plan targeted to the entire staff and a long-term share
incentrve plan targeted to the key employees, and set the personnel fund’s bonus
cntena for 2013,

»  Set the seru-annual short term moentive targets for the CEO and the Executive
Board members and assessed thewr performance against the expinng targets

«  Approved a €29 million investment in improved travel comfort through a retro-
fit of full flat business class seats to Finnair’s long-haul awrcraft,

»  Approved the entry into a joint business agreement on trans-Atlantic traffic with
Amencan Airlines, British Airways and Thena,

+ Approved the entry into a jmnt business agreement on Europe-Japan traffic with
Bntish Airways and Japan Airlines,

+ Resolved to divest the company’s stake in Norwegian Aur Shuttle;

»  Evaluated the company’s strategy, followed the implementation of the existing
strategic iihatrves and set the focus areas for new ruhatives,

+ Approved the changes i the corporate structures in the group's cargo and travel
service businesses as well in the facilities management,

» Reviewed the attainment of the targeted service levels and cost savings in the
outsourced core services,

« Confirmed the company’s financial risk management pohces, reviewed the nud
and long term investment and funding plans, appraved the sale and leaseback
agreements of new Airbus A321 Sharklet arrcraft, approved the sale and lease-
back agreements of four Arbus A330 arcraft and two new Awrbus 350 aircraft,
resalved to renew the Revolving Credst Facility of €180 rrullion and to ssuea
€150 rrullion sentor bond as well as to buy-back the outstanding amount of the
2009 Hybrid Bond, ca €52 nuthon,

+ Resolved to change the company’s disclosure policy on financral gmdance from
quarterly to full-year guidance. Revised the financial guidance in October and
November;

+  Assessed and developed 1ts working practices.

The Committees of the Board
The Board delegates certain of its functions to the Audit Committee and to the Remunera-
tion Commuttee. The Board appormnts the Committee members and thewr Chaurs from among
the members of the Board. The murumum number of members 1s three in both Comnuttecs
Each Comnuttee meets regularly under their respective charters The Commuttees tasks
and the work carnied out by them duning the year are descnbed 1n their respective sections
below The Commuttees report on their work regularty to the Board but they do not have de-
aston-makmg powers independent from the Board, except where expressly authorised by the
Board. Coptes of the Comruttees’ charters are available on Finnarr'’s website

Audit Committee
The Audit Comnuttee assists the Board in its task to ensure the proper governance of the com-
pany, in particular, by considering the accounting and financial reporting, the Company’s in-
ternal control systems and the work of the external auditors The Audit Comiruttee address-
s concerns pertaining to control matters as raised by the management or the auditors of the
company These are reported to the Board by the Audit Commuttee. The Audit Commuttee
ensures that appropriate action 1s taken by the management to rectify identified shortcomings
According to the Corporate Governance Code, the members of the Comnuttee must be
sufficiently qualified to perform the responsibiliies of the Commuttee.

The main duties of the Audit Committee

The Audit Commuttee shall

« montor the financial status of the company

« monitor the reporting process of fmanaial statuments and interim reports and assess the
draft financial statements and intenim reports

»  assess the efficency of the company’s internal contrals, internal auditing and risk man-
agement system

+ monitor the statutory audit and review all materal reports from the auditor

+  assess the mdependence of the audrtors, in particular with regard to therr ancillary services

+  prepare for the Board proposals to the Annual General Meeting regarding the election
of the audrtor(s) and thetr remunerations

+ review the auditors’ and mternal auditors’ audit plans and reports

+ review the company’s corporate governance statement

+ prepare for the Board the group's risk management policies

« prepare for the Board decisions on significant changes in the accounting prinaples orin
the valuations of the group's assets,

+  assess the group’s comphance with laws and regulations, and

+ mamtam contact with the auditors
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In 2013, the Audit Commuttee members were Ms Maya-Lusa Friman (Chairman), Mr. Klaus
W Hemnemann, Ms Merpa Karhapai and Mr Harm Kerminen. All Committee members were
ndependent of the Company and of its sigruhicant shareholders.

The Audit Committee met six times in 2013 with an aggregate attendance rate of 96%. The
CEO, the CFO, the Head of Internal Audit and Risk Management as well as external auditor
also participated in the Commuttee's meetings Finnair’s General Counsel acted as the secre-

tary of the Andit Commuttee The Commuttee held closed sessions as well as sessions where
the External or Internal Auditors parbaipated without the presence of the members of the
management. The Commuttee also performed its annual self-evaluation.

The Audit Committee’s activities in 2013

Inaddition 1o its customary tasks the Audit Committee attended selected foctss areas such as

revenue management ang forecasting fleet capacity aifocation pracurement financial process-

es and accouning principles, maintenance costs and partner management
The Audit Committee also

= Reviewed the Treasury and other Financial Risk Policies and the mid and long term investment
and funding plans,

+ Reviewed the nisk management process, the nisk and contro! environment, the top nsks for
2013 and the related risk management measures The Commitiee reviewed and approved a
risk-based mternal audit plan and assessed the su - ciency of the resources m the internal con-
trol functions

- Followed the progress of the risk management development project that was started sn 2012,

« Discussed with the CEO, the CFO and the auditors the company s accounting policies and the
estimates and judgements that were applied in preparing the reports,

+ Recommended to the Board that its changed the financial guidance m October and November,

- Assessed the auditar's performance and Proposed ta the 2013 AGM that PrcewaterbouseCoop-
ers was re-elected as the auditor for the fiscal year 2013 Atender process for the auditing ser-
vices was last carried out in 2012,

» Performed an annual self-assessment at the end of 2013 and prepared an annual plan for 2014
The areas of specific attention in 2014 wall comprise sta  costs and productivity, trans-Atlan-
bic and Europe-Japan joint businesses, financial risks management, internal controls, arcraft
finance and impairment and vendor management

Remuneration Committee

‘The Remuneration Commuttee assists the Board in matters pertaiing to the compensation
and benefits of the CEO and other sentor management, their performance evaluation, ap-
pontment and successor planning The Commuttee assists the Board also in establishing and
evaluating the group’s compensation structures and other personnel policies

The main duties of the Remuneration Committee

._.:m Commuttee prepares the following matters for the Board.
compensations, pensions, bencfits and other matenal terms of the contract of the CEQ

+ compensations, penstons and benefits of the top executrves of the group, and other ma-
tenal terms of their contracts to the extent that the same deviate from the customary
practice

+ nomunatons of the CEQ and other top executives

» topexecutives' succession planning

« composihon of the Executive Board

« equty-based incentive plans

+ the principal compensation policies and practices regarding the personnel

« management’s participation in the boards’ of directors of the group and of external com-
parues

+ major organusational changes

+  proposals of awarding the members of the management honorary decorations and
titles

The members of the Remuneratron Commuttee elected after 2013 AGM were Mr Juss itavuon
(Charrman}, Mr Harn Kerminen and Ms Gunivor Kronman Mr Antti Kuosmanen was ap-
pounted to the Comnutteen September 23,2013 Before the 2013 AGM, the Commuttee com-
prisad of Mr Harn Saidas (Chairman), Mr Jusst Itavuory, Mr Harn Kermunen and Ms Gunvor
Kronman. All Camnuttee members were independent of the Company and of its sigruficant
sharehokiers

The Remuneration Comrmittee met six times 1n 2013 with an aggregate attendance rate of
95%. Four of the meetings were held with the composition that was i place after the 2013
AGM and two with the composition in place after the 2012 AGM. The CEOand the Head of
HR were mvited to the meetings toassist the Commuttee. Finnair's General acted as the Com-

muttee’s secretary
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The Remuneration Committee’s work in 2013
In 2013 the Committee prepared for the Board approval a share saving plan targeted to the
entre sta and a lang-term share incentive plan targeted 10 the key employees The Commit-
tee atso reviewed the semior management s compensation levels compared to the market and
assessed thewr performance under the long and short term incentive [argets and assisted the
Board in determining their semi-annual targets for 2013 as well as the personnel fund s bonus
cnitena for 2013 The Comnuttee rewviewed Finnair's compensation policies and practices assist-
ed the Board in determining the targets of the next rolling share bonus plan and assessed the
development needs of the share borws scheme

The Commuittee discussed with the management the strategically vital labour cost savings
and the largets and results of the collective labour agreement negouations The Commultee as-
sessed Its meeting practices and tasks, and will propose a revised charter to the Board for ap-
proval early 2014

Company management

Finnair's corporate structure

Finnatr has three business areas Aurline Business, Aviabion Services and Travel Services (tour
operators and travel agencies) and its financial reporting 1 based en this grouping, Shared
functions in Finnair’s Group Administration are Finance and Control, Human Resources,
Communications and Corpuorate Responsibility, Corporate Development, Legal Aftair, and
Internal Audit.

The CEO
The CEQ 1s appointed by the Board. The CEO manages the company’s day-to-day opera-
tions 1n accordance with guidelines and instructions issued by the Board. The CEO's instruc-
uons from the Board include, m particular, the implementation of Finnair’s strategy, drving
of structural change and improving the company'’s profitability The CEO acts as the Chair-
man of the Executive Board.

The Board deternunes the CEQ's compensation and sets hus short and long term incentive
targets. The main contents of the CEO’s contract, including hus compensation and benefits,
are desenbed in the Remuneration Statement and on Finnair's internet pages

Company management
Repoerts ta Board s
Audit Comrmittee
— Bussiness Development I CEQ Internal audit
—_— — - AT T - - -—
Executive Management

Finance and Control, HR. Corporate Communications and Corparate Responsibility Legal a airs,
Resource Management Flight Operations, Commercial Division, Travel Services

Executrve Board Subsets
Tra c¢Planning Process and [T Procurernent Brand and
Board Steering Group Steering Group Product Board

The CEQ of Finnair 1s Mr. Pekka Vauramo, b 1957, M Sc (Mining) He started in his posi-
tion 1 June 1, 2013, Mr Mika Vehwilainen was the CEO untill February 28, 2013, and between
March I and May 31 Finnair's COQ, Mr Ville Tho was the Acting CEQ

Executive Board

The Executive Board of the Company 1s led by the CEQ and it compnises the seruor man-
agement responsible for Finnair's business operations, finance and control, human resources,
communtcations and corporate responsibility and legat affairs “The members’ respective roles
and thewr shareholdings in Finnasr are more fully descnibed on the company’ web pages The
sentor management 15 appointed and removed by the Board, which also determines their re-
muneration and other terms of employment.

The duties of the Executive Board inctude group-wide development projects, the definiion
of principles and procechures that guide the company’s activities, and the preparatton of mat-
ters to be dealt with by the Board. The Executive Board also acts as Finnair's nsk management
steering group

In 2013, Finnair’s Executive Board met twice a month onaverage The mam focus of the Ex-
ecutive Board was the leadershup development of key personnel throughout the group, strat-
egy assessment and development, risk management and the group’s finanaal status The Ex-
ecutve Board also sought to improve route profitability, flect and crew utilisation, operational
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quality and customer service, In addition, the Executive Board met nearly every week to tend
to Finnair’s profitability and productovity improvement programs

Subsets of the Executive Board

“The Executive Board delegates certain of its functions to four subsets These Groups’ deaston
making authonty 1s derved from that of the Executive Board, set by the Board by way of the
approval lirmts, policies and mstructions.

Network Planring Group is responsible for fleet and network strategy and short and long-term
traffic planrung of Finnarr s scheduted, ketsure and cargo trathe, among other thungs The Group

1s headed by SVP Resource Management and meets monthly

Process and IT Steertng Group makes decisions on IT and process development projects and
sets the pnonties, budgets and targets for the same. it also approves sigmificant projects, in-
vestments and suppher contracts in the area of I'T" The Group 15 headed by CFO and meets
bi-monthly

Procurement Steening Group 1s responsible for Finnair's Procurement Policy, procurement
category structurc and related development projects It also approves sigruficant supplicr con-
tracts fwith the exception of [T contracts) and their related governance models The Group s
headed by the CFO and meets at least quarterly

Brand and Product Board 1s responsible for strategic brand steering and management as well
asproduct decisions It decdes, for example, on brand development activities, service identrty
and visual dentity of Finnair. The Board 1s headed by the CEOQ and meets bi-monthly

Management Board

Finnair Management Board is principally a communtcation and co-operatien forum designed
for the persennef’s participabion i the company's governance processes, especially with regard
to matters that affect the personnel. The focus of the Management Board work is on enhanc-
ing commumcation and understandmg between the personnel groups and the management
as to the implementation of the company’s strategic objectives and on shanng information
and discussing plans and projects that affect Finnair's personnel. Management Board also
discusses the business plans and financial performance of the Group, the operattonal qual-
1ty and customer satisfaction as well as sgmificant development projects. The Management
Board compnses the Executve Board members, certamn seruor managers and the represent-

atves of all personnel groups
In 2013, the Management Board met seven imes

Corporate Governance In Finnair subsidiaries
For maor subsicharies, the members of the boards of directors are selected from indviduals
belonging to Finnair's sentor management and from representatives proposed by personnel
groups, The key tasks of the boards of directors of subsidianes mclude strategy preparation,
approving operational plans and budgets, and deaiding on investments and commitments
withun the scope of mstructions issued by Finnair's Board.

‘The subsidiartes of Finnar are presented 1n the Financial Statements 2012 under Note 3 1
Subsidhanes

Governance principles in key partnerships and outsourcings
Finnair has equity partnership in Flybe Finland Qy through Flybe Nordic AB {(ownership 40%)
and in Nordic Global Airimes Ltd {ownership 40%) Flybe Finland 15 a Finnssh regional pas-
senger aurline operating ATR turboprop and Embraer 170 and 190 arrcraft. Part of ifs route
network is designed to provide convenient feeder connections to Finnair's European and long
haul routes Nordic Global Arrlines Ltd 15 a Finmsh full freighit airline and its home base s 1n
Finland. Nordic Global Airlines provides cargo capacity mainly to Finnair Cargo Ltd. Finnaur's
influence over the governance of these comparues 1s secured by shareholding and vanous con-
tractual nghts

Finnair has entrusted certatn important operational services to world class service providers
LSG Sky Chefs Fintand Oy runs the former catering businesses of Finnair at Helsinki Airport.
It supphtes Finnair’s catering services pursuant to a multi-year agreement designed to ensure
Finnair’s recerpt of hugh quality services, cost savings and other benefits Other similar long-
term arrangements exist m the ground handlmg services, with Swissport Finland Ltd, and in
the engine and component services with a Swiss company SR Technues Inaddihion toa require-
ment of continued cost competitiveness, these agreements contasn service level requirements
with baselmes meeting or exceeding the levels achueved by Finnair prior to the outsouraing

All Finnair's partners are expected to comply with Finnair’s Code of Conduct and Finnair’s
Supplier Code of Conduct, and Finnair 1s entitled to audit the Suppler's governance and se-
cunty practrces to ensure this

Finnair's Code of Conduct and Supplier Code of Conduct are available on Finnair's website
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Main features of the internal control and risk management
system pertaining to the financial reporting process

Description of the overall system

The obyective of internal control and nsk management system pertaining to the financial re-
parting process is to provide the Board, the Executive Management and other key stakeholders
with a reasonable assurance of the rebiability and correctness of financial and operational re-
porting, as well as compliance with associated Laws, regulations and mternal policies It es bt
on the principles of Finnair’s overall system of risk management which s aligned with com-
monly accepted COSO ERM framework and 1SO 31000-2009 standard for nsk management.

Control environment
Finnair's Code of Conduct and management system form the foundation for its control envi-
ronment and background for awareness and implementation of control actvities actoss the
organisabion Guiding principles of internal control and risk management in Finnair are doc-
umented m the Group Risk Management Policy Qther key steering mstruments supporting
control over reporting include, but are not mited to, Annual Accounts drafting principles,
Code of Conduct, Treasury Policy, Procuretnent Policy, Credit Policy and Disclosure Policy

Finnair’s Board of Directors holds the overall responsibility for the company's internal con-
trol and risk management. The Board has delegated the implementation of efficient control
environment and measures to ensure the rehiability of financial reporting to the CEO Group
CFO s responsible for governing financial reporting control envaronment and acting as the
risk owner of reporting nisks  The Iine organizations of bustness units and group-wade func-
tions have the main responsibility for executing day to day control activities pertaiming to the
financial reporting process

Internal Audit assesses the control environment as well as the status and effectiveness of
planned control and nsk management activities, To ensure the independence of the Internal
Audit actvity, Internal Audit has a direct functional reporting ime to the Audit Comnuttee
of Finnarr Board and # 15 positioned to operate admnistratively under the CEQ The Audst
Commuttee appomnted by the Board of Directors oversees the fimancial reporting process and
gverall matunty of the internal control and risk management systeni. The descnbed roles and
responsibilibes are in accordance with the Finnuish Comparues Act, and the Finnish Corpo-
rate Governance Code The following prcture summanses the roles of the listed stakeholders
in the implementation of the mternal control and nsk management system.

The rolein the implementation of the intermmal control and risk management system

First line of
defense financsal reporung process

Day to day control and risk management activities pertaining to the

Corporate functions
Second hne of Oversight and contmuous improvement of the internal control and risk
defense management enviraninent

Internal Audit
Thurd line of Assessment of internal control environment day to day control and risk
defense management activitres and overall maturity of the internal control and
risk management system
r . i - -
| The Board of Directors J
Ulumate Reasonable assurance of the achievement of companys strateqic and
responsibiity operational objectives reliatuhity of financial and eperational reparting
aswell as comphiance with laws and regulations and internal policies
Risk Assessment

Objective of Finnair's financial reporting nsk assessment 1s to identify, evaluate and priontise
the most significant threats to the rehiability of mternal and external reporting at the Group,
reporting arca, unit, function and process levels Processes related to financial reporting are
subject o on-gotng risk assessiment by the business unut controllers, financal controllers and
shared service centre as part of their daily and weekly actrvittes

In 2013, as a part of internal controls development project, the processes with matenal 1m-
pact on financial reporting were defined and nisks threaterung the rehability and accuracy of
financial reporting were assessed in a coordinated manner. Changes m internal and external
environment were taken mto account as part of the process
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Control activities
Financial reporting instructions have been prepared to be followed across the organization.
The instructrons outhmng the content and schedule for the reporting aim to increase the over-
all controllability of the financial reporting process and ensure that financial statement fulfils
the requirements set in the IFRS standards and other apphcable principles

Rask related to finanaal reporting are managed through contrels amming to provide reason-
able assurance that the information of interim reports and year-end reports are correct and

that they have been prepared in acoordance with legislation, applicable accounting standards
and other requirements for bsted compamies These control activihies are

+ preventive, detective and corrective m nature;

« integrated into reporting processes m busmess units, group-wide functions and
substdarnes,

« operatonahized through the mplementation of Policies, Guidelines and Pranciples,

« captured in Control Catalogs,

+ supported by Manuals and Standards, Process Descriptions and Work Instructions,

+  moniored and continuously improved through a dedicated governance model.

As part of group-wide internal control development project in 2013, responsibilities over re-

porting controls were reviewed and updated to reflect the recent changes in the orgamizahon.
‘These roles are illustrated in the below matrix.

Role Description

Control Emvarenment Gwner Group CFO Responsitile for governag financial reportmg control ervronment
and acting as the risk owner of reporting reks

Condrol Catalog Owner Process Qwners Owner of the process control defined i the control catalogue

Controd Performer / Reviewes Responsibie o executing / montionng key conteol(s) defined in the
_ ____ oowolctaloge o

nternal Auddt Resporssible for aldit of reporting processes and felated controks

accondmg to the annual audit plan.

The main components and roles associated with control planmning, implementation and mon-
storing are summanzed below

Group Policies

1

Guidetines, Requiremnents, Principles

Control Catalogs

F Apply
LCUINS Controls

Information and communication

Information and communication system provides means for Finnair’s personnel to capture
and commumcate information related to nsk assessments and control activities across com-
pany’ operations The system aims at providing required personnel access to adequate and
timely informatron on accounting and reporting as well as on related controls Information
regarding control requirements s communicated through common policies, dedicated gude-
Iines and process level procedure descriptions
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The CFO, supported by Investor Relations function, s responsible for the disclosure of fi-

nancial nformation and fulfilment of the commumcation obligations of a isted company In-
vestor Relations holds the responsibihity over planning and implementation of investor com-
muncations and daily contact with investors and analysts

Monitoring and improvement

Finnair's internal control and nsk management system 1s subject to both on-going and pertod-
1cal monitoring activities to gan reasonable assurance over its appropriateness and effective-
ness On-going monitoring is built mto the normal, recurning operating actvities of operations
and 1s the responsibility of corporate management, business units and group-wide functrons

Focus areas in 2013 and 2014

2013 Key Activities
A development project on internal controls over financial reporting was conducted As part of
the development project the key processes with material impact on the financial reporting were
defined and related risks were assessed and controf actwvities reviewed

Inaddition, internal controf gurdelines were defined and related governance model implemen-
tation was launched to enable structured approach for assessing risks and defining monitoning
and testing controls as well as reporting the outcome of control processes

2014 Key Activities
Regular self-assessment of risks and controls will be performed as set i the annual calendar
af internal controt actmies Specific attentson wall be put into the critical process areas where
changes in the roles and responsibilities have recently occurred

furthermore controf catalogue documentation in additional key process areas identified af-
ter the first phase implementation wall be carned out to further extend the coverage of control
framework and associated control actvities

internal Audit

The Internal Audit 15 established by the Board of Directors, and its responsibiliies are defined
by the Audit Commuttee of the Board of Directors as part of thewr oversight function

The mussion of Internal Audst in Finnarr s to provide independent, objective assurance and
consulting services designed to add value and improve the orgamization’s operations Internal
Audit helps the organization to mitigate factors that mught undermine its business objectrves
by bringing a systematic, disciphined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of
nsk management, control, and governance processes

Internal Audit focus areas in 2013 and 2014

2013 Key Activities

Finnair continued to implement and develop the revised mission vision strategy and operat-
ing model of its Internal Audit during 2013 Main focus areas of Internal Audit for the year 2013
were based on and aligned with corporate strategy results of nsk analysis and changes in inter-
nal processes As part of the Audit Plan special attention was given to [T environment strategic
partnerships and China sales urits

2014 Key Activities

Internal Audit Pian for 2014 has been approved by the Audit Committee of the Board of Direc-
tars i December 2013 Special audit focus areas will relate to sales strategy implementatian
and business resilience Uise of data analytics as part of audit work will be further enhanced and
developed
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND MAJOR RISKS

Risk Management

Finnair operates in a global and highly competitive environment that is sensitive to econom-
ic fluctuations. In executing its strategy, Finnair and its operations are exposed to a broad
range of nsks and opportunities To explott value creation opportunitics, Finnair 1s prepared
to take and manage nisks withun the bimuts of its nsk-beanng capacity (rewarded nsks) Inre-
lation to rehability of reperting, comphance with laws and regulations, and flight safety mat-
ters, Finnaur's objective 15 to muntmuse nisks (unrewarded nsks) The purpose of risk manage-
ment s to provide a systematic approach to the management of rewarded and unrewarded

risks m afl areas of Finnau's operations

Policy and framework

In Finnar nsks considered as the potential for loss caused by an internal or external event
or senies of events that can adversely affect the implementation of strategy, achievement
of business objectives or shareholder value Both negative events and unrealtsed positive
events are considered as risk.

Group Risk Management Policy defines the overall framework for sk management in
the whole of Finnawr Group The framework, while taking into account industry speaf-
1c requirements, 15 aligned with commonly accepted COSO ERM framework and ISO
31000-2009 standard for nsk management.

Dedicated Risk Management Principles have been established to support the implemen-
tation of Group Risk Management Policy in the following contexts Treasury, New ventures,
Programs and Projects, Supply Chain, Fight Safety, Corporate Secunity and Information Se-
cunty

Policy implementation responsibilities
The Board of Directors holds the ultimate responstbility of Enterprise Risk Management
system in Finnair. It is responsible for approving Group Risk Management Policy, setting
Finnair Group's Risk Appetite and overseeing the effectiveness of Risk Management.
Finnair Group s CEO holds the responsibihty over the appropnateness of the Group's
Risk Management and oversight of Group Risk Management Policy implementation. The
CEQ, supported by the Risk Management Steening Group consistmg of the members of Ex-
ecutive Board, 15 also responsible for reviewing Group Risk Management Policy and risk

management pnomhes.

RETIY

Business units, Group-wide functions and subsidianes of Finnatr Group are responsi-
ble for implementing Group Risk Management Policy into their management systems and
aligrung with 1t their nsk management guidelines, procedures and strategies

Process

Establish context and set objectives

Finnawr Group's Risk Management System ensures that management has a process in place

to set abjectives, that the chosen strategies support their achievement and associated uncer-
tamnties are analysed and managed withun the boundanes of Finnarr s nsk beanng capacity

& _
_

Establish context and set objectives  ————

Monitor and
contnuously
improve

Inform and
communicate
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Risk Assessment
Risk assessments are executed according to the Annual Cycle defined in Group Risk Man-
agement Pobicy Finnar'’s risk assessment process takes place as an mtegral part of strategy
process and operational objective setting across the organtsation to enable a holistic view on
nisks and opportunities
Rusk assessment in Finnair Group includes the following phases
»  dentification of external and internal events aftecting the achuevement of objectives,
+ dstinction between nsks and opportunities,
«  analysis of identfied risks,
« ntegration (aggregation) of nsks,
+ evaluation and pnontisation of nsks based on therr significance and kkelihood.

To ensure the coverage of nsk wdenbification and systematise the nsk assessment activibies,
Finnair has established a common risk model, a common nisk assessment cntena and a
common nsk repository As part of strategic risk assessments, also strategrc assumphions as-
soctated with company objectives are identthed and their implications anatysed.

A dedicated Risk Coordimator Forum has been established to support coordmation of sk
assessment actvities 1n busimess segments, group-wide functions and subsidiartes and to
ensure these activities conform to the requirements set in Group Risk Management Policy

Risk response and control actvities

Risk management strategies shall be applied to priontised nsks in order to reach reasonable
assurance that their outcomes fall withun an acceptable level. These Risk management strat-
egy options include:

+  Acceptance of nsk

+  Avordance of nsk

« Transfer of nsk

+ Reduction of nsk

The Pressdent and CEQ, supported by the Risk Managerment Steering Group, 1s responsible
for defiming nsk management strategies and procedures, and setting nsk management pn-
onties Risk owners in business segments, group-wide functions and process levels hold the
responsibility for planning and implementing control measures to ensure an acceptable lev-
cl of ressdual nsk and that the relevant nsk interdependencics have been appropnately ac-
knowledged

Information and communication
Risk management information system aims at providing means for Finnair's personnel to
capture and commurucate information related to execution of risk assessrments and control
activities across company’s operations. Identified nisks and their control measures are doc-
umented in nisk logs for follow-up purposes Dedicated information systems are in place to
identify and analyse operational nsk events and support associated operational audit activ-
ities Risk management information system will be subject to further development during
the year of 2014

Rusk reporting to the Board of Directors and to the Risk Management Steering Group
takes place on quarterly basis under the coordination of Group Internal Audit and Risk
Management function. Status of Risk Management development activities and implemen-
tation of stratec controls are reported to the Audit Commttee of the Board of Directors
six times per year In additron to the penodzcal business nsk reporting, there are several re-
porting lines associated with financial and operational risk reporting to both internal and
external stakeholders

Monitoring and continuous improvement
Finnawr's sk management system 1s subject to both on-going and penodical momtonng
actrvities to gain reasonable assurance over its appropniateness and effectiveness The con-
tinuous improvement activities assoctated with the nsk management system are based on
PDCA {Plan-Do-Check-Act} cyde consistent with 150 31000-2009

On-going monitormg 15 built into the normal, recurrmg processes and operational actrv-
tnes, and s the responsibility of corporate management, business segments and cormon
functtons The effectweness of all flight safety related control activities and the general com-
phance with official regulations are morutored through a quality system Within the scope of
the quality system, the safety-critical elements of the company are audited annually

“The Audit Commuttee of the Board of Directors ts responsible for regularly reviewing
and morutonng the implementation of Group Risk Management Policy and the Risk Man-
agement process Group Internal Audit and Risk Management, in cooperation with Risk
Managemnent specialists 1s responsible for assessment and development of the maturity of
the nsk management system. In order to ensure wefl-coordinated nsk management devel-
opment actrvities across the orgamisation and exchange of best practices, a dedicated Risk
Manager Forum consisting of nsk management speciabsts has been established. The forum

has meetings on quarterly basis

Ny
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Governance model and reporting lines associated with Finnair Group’s Risk

Management system Focus areas in 2013 and 2014

e S In 2013 development activities were focused on the implementation of the revised internal Group
Risk Management Policy in cooperation with business segments and common functions As part
of this wark group-wide Risk Management governance model was established strategic nisk as-
sessments were integrated nto group strategy process and dedicated Risk Management Prin
ciples were formed to support the management of context specific nsks

As part of continuows improvement of the Risk Management sysiem  the following actmties
have been planned for the year 2014 Formal Risk appetite and tolerance setting gap analysrs

of Business Continuity Management capabilities as well as further development of group-wide
risk management snformation system n cooperation with key internat stakeholders

Board of Directors Audit Committee

Risk Management Steering Group

Risk
Manager

Forum Group Internal

Audit and Risk
Management
Bursiness Group-wide

units functions [ Subsidianes

Risk
Management
specialists




Major risks

Globally, the asrhine industry 15 one of the sectors most sen-
sitrve to external shocks, seasonalitres and cyclical changes
in econonuc condibions, Finnair carries out a comprehen-
wve risk management process, to ensure that nsks are iden-
oified and mitigated where possible, although many remam
outside our full control. A more detailed overview of the
nsk management process and internal control can be found
mn our Governance section of this document.

The nsks and uncertainties described below are consid-
ered to have signuficant ctfect on Finnawr'’s business, financial
results and future prospects Thus bist s not intended to be
exhaustive
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Definition Our risk qmm_..osmmm include,

but are not limited to:

« On-guing anatysts of market trend development

- Penodical risk assessments

= Contmgency planning

» Risk diversification through active vendor portfolio management
v+ Structural changes

¢ +Fleet ownership strategy

|||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||

Traffic charges and ¢ The price and availability of over-flight rights as wefl as the pnice of traffiic i+ Conunuous monitoring of political m:s_d:ama
flight permissions | charges, such as arrval departure and navigation charges result In a negatve  © + Lobbying
impact Finnatr 5 business operations and profit margin 3« Active cooperation with key m»m_ag_ﬂ_ma

The nsk that major economic volatility or other large scale economic
disturbances slow down travelling,

Economuc volatility |

Country risk ! The rsk that sudden changes m demand political upheaval, cultural factors, i+ Continuous monitoring and Em_.x& _am__ﬁm:nm
: natural dsasters pandemic or other disturbances in destmation countries skaw 3+ Group level sk assessments
1 down travelling and/or hander Finnatr's ability conduct business 1+ Foreign unit risk assessments
: m - Contingency planning
: !+ Crists communication planning
: i+ Network diversification
Competitors } The risk of competitors or new entrants to the market taking actions to establsh | + Continucus monitorng of competitor actrtres

sustamable competitive advantage over Ftnnaur 1+ Scenario analyss

« Contingency planning

« = Product development program(s)
+ Cost-competitiveness prograrn(s)

¢ * Actwe allance copperation
Alliances and Jomnt | The rsk that other alllances and/or joint businesses gain competitve advantage | » Actwve afliance cooperation
Businesses ¢ over oneworkd, Finnar's point busiesses and/or lack of performance and « Jomt busmess governance model
¢ mesing of targets. \ « Dedicated alliance and foint business teams
H + « Project and progess management methodology
H 1 implementation
: i = JoInt CONUINVOUS Process IMprovement actvities
' = Internal controls over Joint business processes
Partners and ! The risk that quality and availability ssues and/or unexpected costs associated | + Supplier diversification
suppliers _ with partnerships and suppliers have adverse effect an Finnair s product and “ + Supplier refationship management program
1 profit margn or suppliers gan bargaining power over Finnarr i+ Supplier risk assessments
! i - Dedicated procurement specalists per supplier category
i = Contingency pkanning
Market nsk ! The nisk of incurning addironal costs due adverse movements of the interest Treasury policy approved by the Board of Directors

mssn amastpan

m rates, ynsuocessful currency position and/or rise of jet fuel price
! Continuous montoning of hedgmg ratio(s)

._aiau_noanawaﬁ_.quEEB__Q.BuEQm:B:o:
~ Scenano analysrs
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Definition our risk _.mmﬂozmmm include,
i

but are not limited to:

Strategy m The risk that the implementation of Finnair's strategic programs and projects 1+ Formal project management methodology implemented in
implementation  : fal 1 all strategic projects including resk ientification,
' i assessment and mitigatian planning
, * Program management office (PMO), project owner
i project manager and experienced project teams are in
plate to oversee defivery and track progress of all projects

Steering group in place with senior management
valvernent

« Strateg competency management

« Continuous improvement of HR processes

+ Change management program

+ Employee wellbeing strategy

= Internal commurscation management

+ Umion relations management

+ Contingency planning

« Active and open communication with key stakehoiders

The risk that msufficent capacity threatens Finnair's abifity to meet customer « Network strategy

demands, or excess capacity threatens Finnai's abifity to generate competitive + bemand forecasting

profit margins « Route performance monitonng

« Dewviatioh analyses

« Continuous process iImprovement

« Business tmpact analysis

» Drsruptwn risk and vulnerability assessments
= Business contimuity planning and testing

~ [T disaster recavery planning and testing

= Supplier portfolio diversification

= Third party requirements

« Third party audits

The nsk that Finnair 15 not able to exequte its strategy due 1o tnadequate quality,
commitment or resourcing of human captal

Operational + The risk that Franar 1s unable to contimue critical operatrons and processes due
disruptions * to unavatlabslity of resources such as tnformation and supportng mformation
¢ technologies

Revenue The sk that Finnair s not capable of performing competitive revenue » Revised giobal sales strategy and revenue optimization
management management to optimze its revenues per seat kilometre process
= Daly monitoring of booking trends, issued sales,
advance booking reports

Monitoring of key vanables such as market shares,
pricing structure and yields of other relevant alrlines as
well as route profitability

Contrel measures to ensure imeliness and integnity of
revenue management information

Executive level monitoring and performance evaluation
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Introduction

Thus remuneration statement describes Finnar’s remuneration pobacs and the remuncra-
tion of the semor management, 1 e. the Board of Directors, the CEO and the members of the
Executive Board in 2013 Further information 15 also available on the company website at
www finnaingroup com We have prepared this remuneration statement based on Recom-
mendation 47 of the Finrush Corporate Governance Code for Listed Compan:es published
by the Finnish Secunties Market Assocation, and it also covers other key components of re-
muneration that we beheve the readers are interested in.

Remuneration structure

Finnair's aim s to recruit, motvate and develop employees to allow them to successfully m-

plement the company's strategy A motvating, farr, competitive and transparent reruneration
structure has a significant effect on the company’s ability to actueve this aim. Remuneration

must also be competitive in terms of its costs. From the perspective of the competitive situ-

ation m the aviation industry and the implementation of Finnair's strategy, it 1s essential that
the labour costs for all personned groups are m Line with market level

Remuneration and incentive structures take into consideration the effectiveriess and costs
of different forms of remuncratien. Finnair's remuneration policies are comphiant wath local

legrslation, regutattons and practices. The overall remuneration of Finnair's different person-

nel groups are compared annually to the local pay levels in smular tasks in every country in
which the company operates

The salary and ather mcentrve structures applicable to the CEO, the members of the Exec-
utive Board, senior salaned employees, engineers and personnel based in unuts abroad are

as follows

1 Fixed pay base salary, based on Finnair's job grading

11 Variable pay- short and long-term mcentrves linked to company and individual perfor-
mance

[IL Employee benefits. perquisites and other personnel benefits

Salanes, addendums and other compensation companents of personnel groups other than
those mentioned above are, for the most part, defined in their respective Finnush collective
agreements For these groups, Finnair's labour costs determined by collective agreements are
substantially higher than current market levels Qutside Finland, Finnarr follows the pay prac-
tices and collective agreements of each country of operation. At the end of 2013, Finnair's EUR
200 rmuflon performance improvernent program had achieved the targeted cost reductions
of approxamately EUR 155 milhon i areas other than labour costs The majonty of the EUR
60 mihon supplementary cost reduction program, announced in October 2012, 15 targeted
at personnel costs, with the aim of achieving labour costs that are in ine with market levels
Collectrve labour agreements are available on the company website at www.finnairgroup com

Employment benefits for all personnel inchude a staff icket benefit in hine with company pol-
1cy, as welt as a Sickness Fund for employees based i Finland Certain personnel groups also
have a car benefit and mobile phone benefit in line with company policy

Finnair aims to make work rewarding and interesting through not only monetary incen-
trves, but also by offening opportunitics for development and job rotation within the company
Finnair systematically develops the competencies of employees and amms to create opportur-
ties for promotions according to employees’ development. Employees are satishied at Finnarr,
as evidenced by a hugh average duration of employment and a very low employee turnover
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Computational monthly earnings of Finnair’s Finnish personnel groups in 2013**

Average years of service in different personnel groups in 2013

25% 75% 2012
. *

Employee Group quartile Median* quartile* Median

Exeauve Board

Finnesh Arrime Pilots Association (SLLY
Maragement posons

Funar Whie-Coflar Employees Assoaation
Finnawr Engeneers’ Associsbon

Finnaw Technical Employees Association

Finfiesh Aviatron Uneon (AL Techrcal services
Finrsh Cabin Crew Uruon (SLSY) N -

Ferwesh Aviation Ureor (1AL} Ground services
Fiwwsh Aviation Employees Assoiation

= The median pay desonbes the average satary of each groug. or the poant where hatf of the empigyees m the group eam
more than the amount, and haff eam less. One quarter of the employess eam less than the lowest quartile and one quarter
of the employees eam more than the mghest quartile

** Computatonal monthly earnngs Taxable gross eamngs dvded by monttrs
The calcedations only nclude employees who eared pay for the full year Temporary cabm crew byo s have been elmanated
from the caloutations. The caloudatons do not nchude tax exempt benedits or other untaxed forms of compensaton, such as

dafly allowances Also rewands from the share plans {long-4ermi-noentive program for key personnel employee share saings
plan) are excuded. The data does Not ncixe PROLS. I SUPeTYISOF roles.

Personnel Group Average Years of Service

Exeautrve Board

- :m.smmmguom:.ﬂm

Fawush Ardne Pilts Assocabion (SLL)
Frrar White-Coltar Employees Assocaton
Fawar m.iun.nmlﬁ Association -
Finnar Techrical Ennployees Assoctaton

. __  Fewush Aviotion Ureon (1AL) Techrical services

Finnesh Catun Crew Uron (SLSY)

Frnnish Aviation Uniion (IAL) Ground services

Finsh Avizton Employees Assoaaton _—

AL o - 1834

Finnair's goal is to

have a motivating,

fair, competitive

and transparent
remuneration structure
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Base salary is based on job grading

Finnair uses job grading as the basis for determining the base salary of the CEQ, members
of the Executive Board, senior salaned employees, engineers and personnel based in urits

abroad.

Job gradmg 15 based on the sigruficance of the job and responsibility withun the organ-
1sation, rather than huerarchucal reporting refationships. Job grading 15 ied to the job Ifa
person changes from one job to another, his or her job grade may change From the point
of view of both personal and orgamisational development, mantaiming mobility between
grades 1s important. Duning bus or her career, an employee can move honzontally between
jobs with the same grade, or vertically between obs with different grades.

variable pay linked to company and individual
performance

The aim of vanable pay in the form of short and Jong-term ncentives 15 to achieve a flexable
and meentvising pay structure that ts inked to the company’s success and the mdnadual’s
own performance. In additton, long-term share-based incentives are aimed at commutting
key individuals and management to the company and to bring their interests in line with the
interests of shareholders Performance targets are set by Finnair's Board of Directors

Short-Term Incentives (ST1)

Short-term incentive scheme
Finnair utilises performance-driven short-term incentives throughout its management. The
meentrve scheme ts comprised of a process of target setting, petformance evaluation and
performance review At the target level, the short-term vanable pay ranges from 2.5-30% of
base salary, depending on the job grade. If an indrvidual exceeds hus or her targets substan-
tially, the vanable pay may, at a maxamum, reach 5-60% of the annual base salary

The final amount of the vanable pay 1s determined by Finnaw's result factor The factor
multiphes the pay-out by a factor of 0 5-1.5, depending on the company's financial result
(operational EBIT) This multiplier 1s designed to adpust the vartable pay to the company’s
financial performance. The short-term ncentive scheme 15 based on the company’s six-
month budgeting penod and the vanable pay 1s paid semu-annually The vanable pay ts cal-
culated based on the indvidual’s base salary for the period in question.

The short-term incentves for the CEO and other members of the Executive Board are

determined on the basts of the half-year targets set by the Board of Directors The targets

are based on the company’s business targets set by the Board of Directors for the penodin
question and on the targets set for the business area for which the individual in question s

responsible. The short-term incentive for members of the Executive Board corresponded to
20% of the base salary at the target level in 2013 and 40% of the base salary at the maximum
level The corresponding figures for the CEQ were 30% at the target level and 60% at the
maximum level. The result factor described above also applies to the short-term incentive of
the CEO and other members of the Executive Board.

Aocording to the government gudelines issued by the Finnush Cabinet Commuttee on
Economuic Policy on 13 August 2013, the short-term incentive for an indrvadual may not ex-
ceed 60% of the annual base salary in any given year

Personnel Fund

Finnair has a Personnel Fund that s owned and controlled by personnel. A share of Finnaur's
profits 1s allocated to the fund The share of profit allocated to the fund s determuned on the
basis of the targets set by the Board of Directors. The CEQ and other members of the Exec-
utive Board are not members of the Personnel Fund In 2013, Finnair allocated EUR 5 mul-
lon to the Personnel Fund based on the company’s result in 2012,

Long-Term Incentives

Flyshare 2013-2014

On 27 March 2013, Finnair’s Board of Directors decided to taunch FlyShare, an employee
share savings plan, The objective of the plan 1s to encourage employees to become share-
holders in the company, and to thereby strengthen the employees’ interest in the develop-
ment of Finnair's shareholder value and reward them in the long term.

Participation tn the share savings plan 1s voluntary The plan commenced on 1 July 2023,
with the first savings penod being 12 months Over 1,000 Finnair employees, or approx-
mately one fifth of all those invited to participate, partcipated in the first phase of the share
savings plan. Subsequent savings pertods wall be dectded on by the Board of Directors

Through the plan, each eligible Finnair employee 15 offered the opportumty to <ave part of
hus or her salary to be invested 1 Finnatr shares. The maximum monthly savings are 8% and
the muumum 2% of each participant’s gross base salary per month, with the annual max-
murn savirygs set at EUR 8,000 per partiaipant. Shares are purchased with the accumulated
savings at the market price quarterdy, after the publication dates of Finnair’s intenim results

149
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The first purchases of shares were made in October-Novemnber 2013 Any dwidends pad
on purchased shares dunng the savings pertod will be automatically rernvested in Fannaer
shares on the purchase date following the payrment of dividend. In spring 2016, Finnair wall
award each partictpating employee one share for each two shares purchased. The awarded
addmional shares are taxable mcome for the recipeent.

To increase the atiractiveness of the plan, Finnair awarded 20 bonus shares in October

2013 to each employee that partzcipated m at least the first three months of the plan.

Performance share plan for key personnel 2013-2015

On 7 February 2013, Finna’s Board of Directors decided to launch a new performance
share plan for key personnel for 2013-2015 The share plan replaces the previous program,
which expired at the end of 2012, The purpose of the share plan 1s to encourage the manage-
ment to work to increase long-term shareholder value. The share plan ts 1n line with the gov-
ernment guidelines regarding the remuneration of executive management and key indmvd-
uals,

The program consists of annually commenang indmvidual plans within which the partici-
pants have the opporturuty to earn Finnair shares as a long-term incentive reward, provid-
ed that the performance targets set by the Board of Directors are achieved. The commence-
ment of ezch new plan 15 subject to separate decision by Finnaur's Board of Directors

Each plan contams a three-year performance period which 1s followed by a restriction pe-
riod, during whach the participant may not sell or transfer the shares recerved as a reward.

The restrichion peniod ts three years for the members of Finnair’s Executive Board and one
year for other participants In addrtion, the CEO and members of Finnair’s Executrve Board
are required to accumulate and, once achieved, to mamntaim, a share ownership in Finnair

corresponding to hus or her annual base satary as long as he or she holds a position as a
member of Finnair’s Executve Board.

The potential reward will be delivered i Finnaur shares For members of the Executive
Board, the share delivery 1s split into three share tranches that will be delivered to during the
three years following the performance period. 50% in 2016, 30% tn 2017 and 20% 1n 2018
For other partraipants, the shares will be delivered in two tranches, 50% each, durning the two
years following the performance period

Asa consequence of transfer from previous fixed three year structure to roling structure,
ncw plan will not be m full effect untill 2018 Because of this a onc-off bndge clement has been
added to the plan to supplement payments in 2016 and 2017 if separate performance target 1s
reached. No shares will be delivered under the long-term incentave plan ain 2014 and 2015

If the performance criteria set for the plan are met at the target level, the incentive pad
n Finnarr shares to the CEQO or other member of the Executive Board participating in the
plan will be 30% of tus or her annual base salary If the performance cntena set for the plan
are metat the maxamum level, the incentive pad in Finnair shares wall be 60% of the partic-
1pant’s annual base salary For other key personnel, the target level for meentives 15 20-25%
and maamum 46-50% of the person'’s average annual base salary according to the job grade

According to the rules of the share program, the maximum value of shares delivered to an
mdmvidual participant based on the share program m any grven year may not exceed 60% of
the persons annual base salary

‘The amounts of shares above are stated before tax. The number of shares delivered witl be
deducted by an amount corresponding to the income tax and transfer tax payable for the in-
centive at the time of payment.

“.@ 150 Mﬂ
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A person s not entitled to the incentrve if he or she resigns or 15 disrmussed before the date
of payment. In addstion, during the restnction penod the Board of Directors 1s entitled, at its
discretion, to reclaim already delivered shares from a person included in the share plan who
resigns or whose service m the company 1s terrunated.

The Board of Directors 15 also entitled, subject to a partrcularly weighty reason, to change
or cancel the incentive of to postpone its payiment. The Board of Directors 1s entitled to re-
move a participant from the share plan if the person has commutted a significant offence or
acted ina manner detnimental to the company or contrary to the company's interests

As of 31 December 2013, the share plan includes 51 persons, incdluding the CEQand 7
members of the Executive Board.

The performance critena applied to the plan for 20132015 are the Group’s relative oper-
atmg EBI I margn growth and decrease in urit costs w European trafhe. These two critena
are assigned weights of 60% and 40%, respectrvely The performance entenion for the share
plan’s bridge element 1s the operating EBIT margin.

“The target levels and maximum levels set for the critena are based on long-term strategic
cbjectives set by the company’s Board of Directors Performance agamst the criteria 1s mon-

ttored quarterly

Management remuneration decision-making procedure

The Board of Directors’ remuneration. The Sharcholders’ Nomination Commuttee pre-
pares annually its proposal for the remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors
The Annual General Meeting of shareholders makes the final decision on the Board™s remu-
neration

The remuneration of the CEQ and the Executive Board. The Board decides on the salary,
ncentve schemes and assocated targets of the CEQ and other members of the Executive

Board based on preparatory work carried out by the Board’s Remuneration Comnuttee De-

cisions on remuneration have been made with consideration of the government gwdelines

Remuneration decision-making procedure

— The Shareholder’s Nemination Committee _
Prepares proposal on Board s remuneration

_ Annual General Meeting _
Decides on the Board s remuneration

Board of Directors +— Remuneration Commitiee
« Decides on the CEQ's and Executive Board members Prepares remuneration
remuneration related matters and

Decides on the incentives performance-related variable propusals for the Beard
pays and share-based incentive schemes pertaining to the
company as a whole
«Sets company level targets of the short-term incentive
scheme
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Remuneration of the Board of Directors in 2013

The Annual General Meeting (AGM) decides annually on the remuneration and
other financial benefits of the members of the Board of Directors and its commut-
tees The election and remuneration of the members of the Board are prepared by
the Nomunation Commuttee formed by the representatives of the company’s largest
sharcholders The remuneration of the Board of Directors and its commuttees 1s pard
in cash

The members of the Board of Directors are not covered by the company’s share incentive
scheme or other mcentive schemes
The annual remuneratron and meeting compensation decided by the 2013 AGM for the
mermbers of the Board of Directors are:
+  Charman’s annual remuneration, 61,200 euros
»  Deputy Charrman’s annual remuneration, 32,400 euros
«  Other Board members' annual remuneration, 30,000 euros
+ Meeting compensation patd to members restding m Finland, 600 euros per Board or
commuttee meeting
+  Meeting compensation paid to members residmg abroad, 1,200 euros per Board or
commuttee meeting,

The members of the Board of Directors are entitled to a daily allowance and compen-
sation for travel expenses in accordance with Finnair’s general travel rules In adds-
tion, the members of the Board of Directors have a imited nght to use staff tickets
in accordance with Finnair’s staff ticket rules However, the members of the Board
of Directors are not 1 an employment or service relationship with the company and
therefore are not entitled to other financial benefits

Finnair’s remuneration for members of the Board of Directors has remained unchanged
since 2008

Remuneration paid to Board of Directors in 2013

Annual Board Committee Meeting Meeting Taxable Total
a ing: tings  comp omp income**
tion* tion sationsin
total

Members.
11-3012 2013
Klaus Hememann / !
{chairman from

]
Harri Kermmen i { !
{deputy charrman)
Maya-Lirsa Friman - ! /
Guvor Kronman B / !
Jusst Rawuort o /
zmulu _Sqmﬁmu _ / /
Members
1t-273.2013
Harr Satdas / /
(chawran) .
Sembers
wsaeo
Amo Kuosmanen / !
Resnuneratons paxd (o he Board m Remuneration for some of the meetngswaspad nearly  and s nckuded n
the reportsng above.

The remuneration s expressed at the annual level bt pad i monthly istalmends
"* Taxable benefits inchude Finnar sta ickets The members of the Board have a nght to Lse ta - Lickets i accordance with
Frnar’ssta tcket rde.

** Annual rermuneration of Harm Kerminen includes EUR of unpad remuneration from
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Management remuneration in 2013

In 2013, Finnawr's CEOQ was Mr Mika Vehwiliiinen (until 28 February 2013) and Mr Pekka
Vaurame (from 1 june 2013) Mr Ville Tho served as Acting CEQ from 27 January 2013 to 31
May 2013 In 2013, the Executive Board compnised mine members in additton to the CEO
Anssi Komulamen resigned from the Executive Board during 2013 In additton, on 31 De-
cember 2013 Kaisa Vikkula announced that she wall leave Finnair on 31 January 2014, The
Executrve Board 1s presented on page 157

The long-term mcentwves paid to management and other key indwiduals in spring 2013
were based on the three-year share-based bonus scheme that started in 2010and ended n
2012. The scheme 15 descnbed i more detail in the remuneration statements for 2011 and
2012 as well as in the Financial Reports for 2010, 2611 and 2012, under Note 26, Share based
payments. The Board of Directors approved the scheme on 4 February 2010, and its terms

summary of the remunerations paid to the CEQ and other Executive Board members

FINNAIR ANNUAL REPORT 2013

took intoaccount the government gurdehines regardmg the remuneration of executive man-
agementand key indmduals vahid at the ume.

Ihe performance critena for the three-year scheme were achueved as shown in the table
on the following page. In spring 2013, the participants were paid the shares earned over the
course of the three-year scheme as well as an incentrve based on the purchase of shares dur-
g 2012, The mcentrve based on the purchase of shares for 2010 was paid n 201t The m-
centive based on the purchase of shares for 2011 was not paid due to the targets for the pen-
od 1n question not being achueved. The shares paid in spring 2013 are subject to a restriction
on thetr sale until the end of 2015 Inaddition, the shares for which incentive based on the
purchase of shares were paid in 2011 and 2013 were subject to an embargo on their sale un-
tl the end of 2013

After Mr Mika Vehwilanen resigned on 27 January 2013, the Board of Directors and Mr
Vehvilainen agreed that the six-month notice penod stipulated by hes service contract would

(&0 Executive Board
2013 2012 2013 2012
Salary and other remuneration pakd, Mika vehviliinen ville Iho Pekka vauramo  Mika vVehvildinen
euros per year [CEQ untd 1 {Acung CEQ - ) [CEQfrom }
Base Salary In total, euros 178,039 225,040 360,500 576.227 1,620,049 1,739,005
The monthly salanies of the CEO and
members of the Executive Board are
decided by the Board of Directors
Employee benefits Car beneftt, taxable value
Employee benehits are desieribed on page Phone beneftt. taxable value
Housing beneli. taxdble value
B In total, euros 6.629 12,780 Mo 3839 40,320 86.683
Short-term incentives -7 T " Target payolt.
Prnciples are described on page Target achievement,  of base salary
in total, euros 94,352 43,299 0 147,442 289,699 445,807
Long-term incentives Share-based mcentve, pawd n cash
Long-term incentrve plan Share-based ncertve pad 1 shanes, N CLNoS
Purchasing Incenbive, i ewos
tn total, euros 150,147 220989 o0 133394 0
SALARY AND GTHER REMUNERATION PAID IN TOTAL 429,157 §02.108 360,640 762,085 3 304,017 2.271,495
Sobary and sermanet abon of Acteng (40 Yille ha lor ot inchaded n Exeautae. Board Tipres. Hes sadary ancd remoncration e presented separatly for the whoke year of Sedary and of Anss Komula srchidedn | xepsm Board Sgures for bes Executve Board
membershap pesiod onky ( 1 m&«&.ﬂ«%u&qﬂgvﬂal&%_gg Base salary of CEOMka Vehvilamen. who left Fiemax on February achudes compersation of EUR for accurmulated hobday
Earrangs persad for short term ncentives paid was M ahd lor short teem ncentves pad n ul an Shart terr paxd have b pared agarst base salanes pad Short tesmn incentve of formes CEO Mika Vetwibin-
enwas eamed and actual achsevement vars

Value of shase hased long-term ncentrve 1s based on share price {

EUR} at the ume of paytment. Earnngs parod for purchase incentaive was previous year Purchirss incentive was not pasd in

because earnings critera was not full Med

N
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be shortened to one month. Mr Vehwilamen, who left Finnair on 28 February 2013, was not
paid a share-based bonus under the long-term incentive scheme for 2010-2012, but he was
paid an mcentive bonus based on the purchase of shares earned in 2012, which he would
have recerved pursuant to the rules of the share-based bonus scheme even in the event that
his notice penod had not been shortened.

Actual percentage achieved of the performance criteria
for the long-term incentive scheme in 2010-2012

Year Criterion Kintmum Target (50%) Maximum Actual Actual
(0%) (100%) (%) (%)

wa —_
00 AR (ER mion) )

ROCE )
U ERThAR (EUR miton) T . B -

Adjisted gedriny
012 epTpAR (EUR mion)

The long-term mncentive for the three-year penod was achieved at an average level of 43%.
This share-based meentve for the fufl three-year period was paid in spring 2013.

Supplementary pensions

The CEQ

The CEQ, Mr Pekka Vauramo, accumulates pension and his retirement age 1s defined in ac-
cordance with the Finrush Employees’ Pensions Act. Mr Vauramo does not have a supple-
mentary pension benefit

Finnair’s previous CEO, Mr Mika Vehwilainen, was covered by the defined contribution
penston scheme for the company’s senior management. Mr Vehwvilanen resigned from hus
position.on 27 January 2013 and hus service at the company ended on 28 February 2013 As
his service at Finnarr lasted less than 48 months, he lost hus night to hus supplementary pen-
sion.

Mr Ville lho, who served as the company’s Acting CEQ 1n 2013, 1s covered by the defined
contribution pension scheme. Mr [ho's annual contrnbution equals 10% of the ncome for
the year (income being defined i accordance with the Finrush Employees’ Pensions Act)
The supplementary pension includes vested nghts and the retirement age 15 63 years

Executive Board
The members of the Executrve Board accumulate pension inaccordance wath the Finrush
Employees’ Pensions Act. In addition, the company has a supplementary pension scheme
that ncludes some of the members of the Exectitive Board.

All pension arrangements for members of the Executive Board are collective within the
meaning of the Finmsh tax laws All supplementary pensions taken for the executives after
1 October 2009 are defined contnbution schemes The supplementary defined contributton
pension arrangement apphed to five members of the Executive Board in 2013. The annu-
al contmbution equals 10% of the income for the year (income being defined in accordance
with the Finnish Employees’ Pensions Act) The supplementary pension includes vested
rights The retirement age ts 63 years

All supplementary pension agreements concluded prior to 1 October 2009 are defined
benefit schemes. The retirement age under these defined benefit schemes 1s 62 years. These
schemes applied to two members of the Executive Board i 2013 The amount of the de-
fined benefit pension 15 60% of the annual income determined by the average earmings for
the four years preceding retirement, excluding the years with the Jowest and highest earn-
ings during the four-year period. The supplementary pension includes vested nghts In2014,
there are no Executive Board memebers with defined benefit supplementary agreements

New CEO and Executive Board member service contracts concluded after 1 January 2013
will not include supplementary penston benefits

Termination of the service contract and severance pay

The CEO
According to Mr Pekka Vauramo's service contract, both the CEO and the company have
the night to termunate the service contract without a spesific cause: The notice pertod 15 six
months for both the company and the CEQ In the event that the company terminates the
service contract, the CEQ 1s entitled to a severance pay corresponding to total salary for
twelve months (base salary + taxable value of benefits) m addition to the salary for the notice
period The severance pay does not apply if the CEO resigns or retires

According to the service contract of Mr Ville [ho, who served as Acting CEQ from 27 Jan-
uary to 31 May 2013, both parties have the nght to termunate the service contract without a
spesific cause. The notice pentod ts six months for both the company and the executive In
the event that the company termmates the service contract, the executive s entitled to a sev-
erance pay corresponding to total salary for twelve months (base safary + taxable value of

Qe |
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benefits) in addition to the salary for the notice penod. The severance pay docsnotapplyf — Other benefits

the executive resigns or retires
Accordmg to the service contract of Mr Mika Vehwvildinen, the previous CEQ, both the

CEQ and the company had the nght to termunate the service contract without cause. The
notice pertod was twelve months for the company and six months for the CEO In the event
of the company terminating the service contract, the CEQ would have been entitled toa
severance pay corresponding to total salary for twelve months (base salary + taxable value
af benefits) in addizon to the salary for the notice period As Mr Vehvilamen resigned from
the company on 27 January, the severance pay did not apply The Board of Directorsand Mr
Vehvilainen further agreed to reduce the duratton of the netice period to one month.

The CEQ
CEO Mr Pekka Vauramo' benefits inchide life insurancc, free-time accident msurance, travel

nsurance, management habihty insurance and medical insurance. The life insurance coverage
starts at 20% of annual pay and mereases each year [he total sum may not, however, exceed
EUR 500,000. The CEQ ako hasa mobile phone benefit m Ime wath company policy

The benefits of Mr Ville Tho, who served as Acting CEO, include free-time accident msur-
ance, travel msurance and management liability msurance. Mr Tho also has a car bunefitand
motnle phone benefit in line with company policy

Previous CEOQ Mr Mika Velwilainen's beniefits included bfe insurance, free-time acadent
insurance, fravel insurance, management hability msurance and medical insurance He also

Executive 8!
’ oard had a car benefit, rmobile phone benefit and housing benefit in line with company pohicy

According to service agreements, both parties have the nght to tenmunate the service con-
tract without a specific causc. The notice peniods for the company and for the current mem-
bers of the Executive Board vary based on the time they began their service in the company
"The maximum notice penod 15 six months for both parties In the event that the company
termunates the agreement, the member of the Executive Board 1s entitled to a severance pay
correspondimg to the base salary of twelve months i additton to the salary for the notrce pe-
nod. This severance pay does not apply if the contract of employment 15 cancelled, if the ex-
ecutive terminates the contract or retires

Under a new policy confirmed by the Board of Directors i 2012, the notice peniod for ser-
vice contracts signed after 1 January 2013 15 sk months for both the company and the mem-
ber of the Executive Board. In the event that the company termunates the agreement, the
member of the Executive Board 1s entitled to a severance pay corresponding to nine months’
basc salary in additien to the salary for the notice pertod. This severance pay does not apply
if the contract of employment 1s cancelled, if the executrve termimates the contract or retires

Executive Board
The benefits of the members of the Executive Board include free-time accident surance,
travel insurance, management liability insurance and, for non-Finnish members, mech-
cal insurance They also have a car benefit and mobile phone benefit in hine wath company
policy

Management remuneration, the company’s long-term incentive plan and pension contribu-
tions are also described in the Finanaial Report, in note 39 Employee Benefits
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS 31.12.2013

Klaus Heinemann T T T iaw | MerjaKarhapii

b 1951, Diplom Kaufmann, German citizen. . ! b 1962, LLM, PG IPR Diploma, Finnush Citrzen.
Charrman of the Finnair Board of Directors since 27 March 2013, member since 2012 i ,r ¢ Chatrman of the Finnair Board of Directors since 2012.
Committee memberships Audit Commuttee. ! ! Committee memberships Audit Commuttee
Main occupation Board professional. ! Main occupatron Chuef Legal Officer Sanoma Group

Key posttions of trust. Charman of the Board of Directors of AerData, member of - Key positions of trust. Member of the Boards of Biotze Therapies Corporation, De

the Advisory Board of Skyworks Holdings LLC l .W Viver Media NV (Belgium) and SBS Broadcasting BV n (The Netherlands), Expert
Member of IPR Court and Chairrnan of the Law Commuttee of the Confederation of
Finrush Industries

Harri Kerminen T Gunvor Kronman

b 1951, MSc. (Eng.), MBA, Finrush citizen. ”~ b 1963, MA, Finnish ciizen.

Vice Chairman of the Finnair Board of Directors since 2012, member since 2011. Z . B Memberof the Finnar Board of Directors since 2012.

Committee memberships Audit Cornnuttee and Remuneration Commuttee. . ..f + Committee memberships Remuneration Commuttee

Main occupation Board professional ‘ 3 - _ Main occupation CEOQ of Swedish-Finrush Cultural Centre

Key positions of trust Member of the Boards of Qutokumpu Qy), Tikkurila Oy), ¥ | Key positions of trust Charman of the Board of Plan Finland and Vice Charman

Normet Qy and Achema Group. Charrman of the Boards of Finpro ry and MetGen Oy | of the Boards of Crisis Management Initiatrve, Finmish Broadcasting Company YLE

Member of the Board of TT Foundation of the Confederahon of Finnish Industrees k. and Kalevala Jewelry Member of the Boards of Finmsh Red Cross Blood Service,
Helsinks University, Konstsamfundet, Swedish Royal National Theater Dramaten
(Sweden), Rand Corporations and Augusta Victoria Hospital (Palestine)

_ ' Maija-Liisa Friman T g e Antti Kuosmanen
. ! b 1952, MSc. (Chem. Eng ), Finnush citizen. \ d b 1950, M.Sc (Mathematics, Economics and Statistics), Finrush citizen
. ' Member of the Finnarr Board of Directors since 2012, | Member of the Finnair Board of Directors since 2013
AT Committee memberships Audit Commuttee (Charrman) nvuw.ﬁm. w ! | Committee memberships Remuneration Comnuittee
~< y Main occupation Board professional ' w s ¢ Mainoccupation Ambassador, Finland’s official ASEM representative, leading
Key positions of trust. Vice Chairman of the Board of Neste Ol Oy), member of .7 ' Asia advisor in the Minustry of Foreign Affairs
! & the Boards of Talvivaara Plc, LKAB, the Finrush Securities Market Association and o ) Key positions of trust -
- I'Boardman Oy Chairman of the Board of Ekokem Oy and Helsmki Deaconess Institute Plolll \

Bes J Jussi Itivuori
_ ; b 1955, M. Sc. (Econ ), Finmsh citizen.
- Member of the Finnawr Board of Directors since 2012,
f = Committee memberships Remuneration Commuttee (Chairman)
Main occupation Seruor Partner, RJI Partners Lumuted.
Key positions of trust Member of the Board of Patna Plc.

ﬁimaaac_ﬁgsamm_ﬂsas E:E_Q_ﬁm_zﬁ.éa_a%,&a: Ea%s__a
infarmaton about the members of the Board of Directars and thew awnership of Finnair shares can be z w z

found at www finnairgroup.com P
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EXECUTIVE BOARD 31.12.2013

Pekka vauramo e sami sarelius

vor,

b 1957, M Sc (Mining), Prestdent and CEQ as of 1 June 2013
Before joming Finnair, Mr. Vauramo worked for cargo and load handhing company
Cargotec between 2007 and 2013, and for muning and constructton company

Sandwvik between 1985 and 2007

b 1971, LLM, SVP and General Counsel, in Finnair's service since 1998

Ermo Hildén

b 1971, M.5¢ (Econ.), CFQ, in Finnait’s service since 1997

Mr Hilden's previous posts include VP for Finnair Letsure Flights business unit and
vanious business development posts in Finnair corporate management. Prior to his
present position he was Finnaur Plc's COO

Arja Suominen

b 1958, MA, e-MBA, SVP Corporate Communications and Corporate Responsibility,
m Finnair’s service since 2011 Ms Suominen previously worked for Nokea,

mainly in commumications positions, ultimately as Nokia’s Seruor Vice President,
Commurucations

Manne Tlensuu
b 1970, M. Sc. Psych., SVP Human Resources, in Finnair's service since 2010
Mr Tiensuu previously worked for Glaston Oy) and Nokia Oy

Ville tho

b 1969. M.Sc. (Technology), COO, in Finnair’s service since 1998

Mr Tho acted as deputy CEO between 27 January and 1 June 2013 He has
previcusly held vantous posts in Finnaw Ple’s Scheduled Traffic Prior to his present
posttion he was Finnair Plc’s SVP Resources Management.

Kaisa Vikkula

b 1960, DSc {Econ), SVP Travel Services, i Finnair's service since 2006

Vikkula previously worked in the finance and capital markets, as an investor relations
_ and communcations director for Partek Plc and Managing Director of Mascus Ltd

Gregory Kaldah!

b 1957, B.Sc (Education), SVP Resources Management, in Finnawr’s service since
2011 Mr Kaldahl previously worked for several arrhnes His latest positton was VP,
Resource Planning for United Ardines

Allister Paterson

b 1960, MBA, SVP Commercial Dnviston, in Finnaur's service smee 7 January 2013
Paterson has previously worked in the transportation sector, in sentor leadershup
posttions m Air New Zealand and as a CEO of Air Canada Vacations Prior to
jeming Finnair he worked as a CEQ of Seaway Marnne Transport.

Mr Ansss Komutamen worked as SVP Customer Serice untll — August More detarled mformation about the
members of the Fxecutive Boared and thesr ownership of Finnair shares can be found at waww finnargroup.rom
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REPORTING PRINCIPLES

Finnair began reporting on its environmental impact in 1997 and
1n 2008 was one of the first airlines in the world to communicate

its corporate responsibility 1ssues by applying the Global Reporting
Initiative (GRI) reporting framework.

This annual report has been compiled in accordance with the GRI’s
G3 Guidelines In addition to the parent company, the report covers

subsidiaries and business units that support flight operations in
Finland as well as the group’s subsidiaries that provide and sell travel
services m Finland

The Finnair Group does not report on the operations of foreign
subsidiaries, because as minor operators they are deemed not to be
of key significance with respect to the group’s corporate responsi-
bility 1ssues Paossible exceptions to this are mentioned separately in
connection with each key figure The Finnair Group, moreover, does
not report on outsourced operations

The Finnair maintenance orgamzation consists of two companies
Finnair Technical Services Oy and Finnair Engine Services Oy This
approach 1s justified by the fact that the operations of both techmcal
services subsidiaries are the repair and maintenance of aircraft and
their components, and for this reason their corporate responsibility
aspects are convergent at the group level

1
.
[

Reported business units and subsidiaries

Operating segment Business unit/subsidiary Included in report  Justification
ARLINE BUSINESS Arrine Business Yes
o " Fevar Cargo Oy T Yes
Finar Cargo Terminal Operations Oy ~ Yes
B ) Finnair Arcraft Fiance Oy and FAF subsihanies  Yes
AVIATION SERVICES _ Finnair Techrueal Services Oy Yes
Finnair Engine Services Oy Yes
/LSG Sky Chefs Fintand Yes
Finnarr Faciibes Management Oy Yes
TRAVEL SERVICES Oy Auninkomatkat  Suntours Lid Ab Yes
Aurnko O, Estoma {(Hortzon Travel Ou) ho Forexgn subssdiary
of a subsidiary
. o R (travel agency)
000 Armko (Catypso World of Travel), Russis No Foreign subsickary
of 3 subsidiary
. o (travel agency)
Finnar Travel Retad Oy Helsnk ~ Yes
L " Finkand Fraved Bureau Lt (FTB) Yes
AJS Estravel g T Mo Foreign subsikary
of a subsidiary
o {travel agency}
i Area Travel Agency Ltd Yes
T BackD ce Services Eston Ou. Estona No
e _ Amadets Finland Oy 3 Yes
OTHER FUNCTIONS Group Admansstrabon Yes
Jomt functions Yes
TS Financal Senaces Oy Yes
Finnar Fight Acadermy Oy Yes
Yes

Information sources, measurement and calculation
methods

The information of the report has been collected from the group’s
internal statistics systems and also from various subcontractors In
terms of measurement and calculation methods, the GRI G3 calcu-
lation guidelines have been adhered to whenever the available data
have so allowed. If some other measurement or calculation method
has been used, this 1s mentioned 1n connection with the key figure
concerned The figures have been presented 1n time series when this
has been appropriate and rehably possible
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Figures on economic responsibility are mainly derived from the

financial statements Other information with respect to economic
responsibihty 1s derived from the group’s various operators.

Finnair’s largest single material cost item 1s jet fuel In this report, jet
fuel 1s treated, however, as energy, because in terms of its purpose and
environmental effects 1t 1s sensible to understand jet fuel as stored
energy Fuels are also reported on the basis of their mass and volumes

In terms of flying, emissions values and fuel consumption figures are
derived from the company’s own monitoring systems and based on
actual consumption. Because Finnair has prepared for the EU emus-
sions trading system, the emissions calculations are also verified by
an external party.

In relation to material streams, amounts of waste, and energy
consumption of properties, data have been obtained from service
providers, goods suppliers and on the basis of invoices paid With
respect to Finnair Technical Operations, environmental data are
also obtained from monitoring and measuring systems required
by their environmental permits. In terms of Technical Operations’
use of materials, only chemicals are reported, because the statis-
tical practice of raw materials and spare parts does not allow a
comparable way of presentation Finnair Techmical Operations 1s
not, however, a significant user of raw materials, and its main enwvi-
ronmental aspects relate to storage and use of chemicals Meal
services for Finnair fhghts from Helsinki are supphed by Finnair’s
partner LSG Sky Chefs Finland As one of Finland’s largest kitchens,
1t consumes a substantial amount of matenals and also represents
a considerable proportion of the material consumption in Finnair's
supply chain.

Information on personnel comes from Finnair's HR information system

and from parties responsible for the wellbeing of employees Aca-
dent statistics are obtained from the insurance company and they are

updated retroactively, as a result of which the 2012 figures may be subject
to further adjustment Information relating to human rights and local
commurutes are derived from procurement agreements, from personnel
responsible for procurement, subcontractors and, i terms of the impact
of tourism, mainly from Aunnkomatkat-Suntours, which as a tour opet-
ator occupies a key position in thus respect. Operational conformity with
laws and regulations has been confirmed with the group’s Legal Affairs
department. Customer satisfaction data, on the other hand, are based on
customer satisfaction surveys and on feedback receved by the group

Effect of any re-statements of information provided in
earlier reports

There have been no changes in the methods of data collectton and
calculation used despite the change in report format Information
on changes in individual KPlIs 1s provided under the section on the
indicator in question.

Changes pertaining to the group’s organisational structure and the
calculation of the financial statement data are described in more
detail in the financial section of this report.

Reporting priorities

In 2013, Finnair discontinued publication of separate Corporate
Responsibility and Financial Reports All of the same data now can
be found in one integrated Annual Report

The report highlights and discusses the matenal 1ssues to Finnair’s
operations More information about the materiahty assessment
process can be found on pages 12-13
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GRI MATRIX

GRI GUIDELINES FINMAIR GROUP REPORT
GR1 INDICATOR INCLUDED  PAGE/CONTENTS SHORTCOMINGS/ANOMALIES/JUSTIFICATIONS
Strategy and Analysis
Stalement by the CLO ) Yos
Description of key mpacts risks mB .ac_uo..Ea_-am Yes
Organssations! Profiie Tt T T - - - T - -
Matme of (he organsation Yes - Furnar Pic
Primary brands services and/or brands . w ) ) T¥s -
Operational stnucture of the organsation i T fes
Location of orgarisation s headquarters i Yes HOTT Tietote  Vantaa Fintand
Georgaphal location of aperations Yes -
Nature of owrership and legal form Yes
Markets served T T i ) T T
Scale of the reporing organsavon . - Yes
Significant changes. during the reportng perod fegarding size SULCLAE of awnersh Yes o ) B
Awards recerved m the reportng penod ’ ’ Yes B
Report Parameters e/ s T/ - o/ rTm T T T o -
Reparting penod Yes
Date of Mot recent report B - i ) Yes “March )
Reporting cycle B o - o T ¥ Al ’ o
Cortact post: for quesbons regarding the Fepors o 1its contents T T Ye | FwarPclelste A Fonor -
Katt hamaki VP Sustamable Development, katLihamaki(a)finnaw.com
Process for defining report content ) - i ) ’ ) T Yes o B i
Boundary of (he feport content Yes
mﬂm&n.::amﬂuasnigumﬁg.ﬁmio__:&aﬂo: T T T T T e I|||Is| T - T T T
Bass for reporting on Jort vertures. subsidanes leased faciites ond ousourced operators.  Yes S
Data measurenents lechiiques and the bases of calculations Yes Possible anomaties are mentioned separately for each indicator
Explanation of the e Rﬁawigﬁﬁﬁgiagauqﬁa&s&_ﬁgﬁ Tves T - T
Sigruficant changes. from the previous reportng penods i the scope. bounday or measirermerts  Ves
methods applied in the report
GRI Content inclex Yos
Policy and current mamcs with ammq.n_ to Sié.mmﬁ:m_ assurance for the a?: o Toves ?quumni s not been @ﬁmam_q assuwed
gg?ﬁseﬁﬁmﬂam&wﬁﬁ 0
Governance structure of the organsaton - n.. R T ves o L M -
Staus of the chau of the hghes! govermance body T e B
Independence of Members of the Board of Directors o ) Yes B ~
Mechanims for sharehoiders and employees (o mfvence acuors of Board of Drectors Y B )

Unkage between compensation for Members of the Board of Dwrectors and semor marnagers Yes
the organisation s socal and emvimonmental perfarmance _ o

Process to prevent confiicts of mterests n Board work ’ Yes )
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GR| GUIDELIMES FINNAIR GROUP REPORT
GRI INDICATOR INCLUDED  PAGE/CONTENTS SHORTCOMINGS/ANOMALIES/JUSTIFICATIONS
Process tor determination the qualificataons of Members of the Board in areas of strategic Yes
management and corporate responsididity
Mssion, values and oodes of conduct Yes
Board s procedures for gverseeing management of corporate performance Yes
Progess for evaluating the Board of Dsnectors own petformance Yes
Applicaton of the precationary principle Yes
Lommytment (o external corporate fespansib ity intiatves Yes
Memberstups in organsations assocations and advocacy organisations Yes
List of miterest groups engaged oy the orgarisation Yes
Basrs of dentificalion and selection of mierest groups Yes
Approaches (0 engagement with smierest groups Yes
Key topics and concerns ratsed through mterest-group engagement ) o Yes _ B
Management Approach and Performance Indscators
Economic Performance Indicators
Approach to management of economic responsibility
EC  Dwect economic vahue generated and distributed including revenues operating costs employee Partly Level and amount of commurity support not reported because funds and other
compensation donations and ather community iInvestments, retaned earmings and payments ITvestiments i community progects constst of items that cannot be separated from the
to cap:tal providers and gavernments group s financel statement minrmatnon Finnair s abpective s 10 nctude the level of
COMMuUntY support m he report
EC Fmenciah implicatons and olher resks and opporiunites for the Grysnisalon s oLLivites Yes
due Lo chmate change
EC Coverage of pension obbgatons Yes
EC Swgruficent lmanc @l assistane recenved fom government Yes
FC Ranqe ol ratios ot standard entry level wage compared o local mmmum wage at sigrificant No Nearty all of the Finnaw Group's personnel fall within the sphere of collective bargaining
locauons of operation agreements 50 thes mdscator not deemed to be essential for the group
EC Poly prettces, and proporton of spending on locally basext suppliers at symificant locatom of Partly Finnair has no local procurement policy as such and does not compile information at
operation ) Group Level on the local characterrstrcs of its suppleers
EC Procedures for local hiring and proporton of semor managemendt hired from the local community Partty Indicator 15 not essential for the Finnar Group operabons. because Finnair has no
ak locations of sigificant operation sigrificant operating locations abroad In Finland Finnair s employees icludmg senor
management are mainly Finnish
1C Devefopment and mmpact of mirastructure vesiments and services prowided prumarily for public Ko in the reportng perind the Firnar Group has net made nfrastructure ivestments for

benefit {through commercial. 1n kind. or pro bono engagement)

EC Undersianding and describing significant indirect ecanomic impacts, mckuding the extent of impacts Yes

Emvronmental Performance Indicators

the public benefit

Approach (o management of emvironmental responsibility Yes

EN Materals used by weight of volume Yes

EN Percentage of materials used that are recycled mput mater als No

EN  Direct energy consumplion by primary energy source Yes

EN  Indirecl energy comstmplon by provary energy soufie Yes

N Energy saved due 0 conservalion and e - ceency improvements Yes
N Inqmives [0 prowde energy-e  ient of renewable energy based products ang services and Yes

reductions o enérgy requaremients as a resuh of these mitatives

Nat an essential indicator for the sector because the awation wdustry 15 suth an
externally requlated Sector that compares room for manoeuvre s m mary respects
restricted insofar as there « discretion the percentage of recycled materials s not
ascertained at group lavel

With respect 10 elecincity the primary energy sources are nol ascertained for
because they depend e.g on the prevarling trydro power rocucton capacity and the
share of ydropower 1n the grid at any gven bime
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GRI GUIDELINES FINNAIR GROUP REPORTY
GRI INDICATOR INCLUDED  PAGE/CONTENTS SHORTCOMINGS/AMDMALIES/JUSTIFICATIONS
EN  [nitsatives to recuce indirect energy consumplion and the reductions achieved No Snificant energy aspects in the Finnaw Group s opesations relate to flymg which
hay been reported 0 tems EN- and EN- Finndir has an snierest in reducing its own
material intensity which generally abksa a ects indirect energy consumptian the same
way Finnar does not, however moritor at group level the energy batances of s
R _ _ B o o _ ~ matersal aoquisitions and their development
EN  Tolal water withdrawal by source B | Yes _ o _ . L
EN Water sources significantly a ected by withwirawal of water Yes The water used by the Finnair Group comes via the municipal network from Lake
) _ _ _ B Payanne With respect to water resources the Finnair Group s not a significant factor
EN  Percentage and tolal volume of water recycled and reused ~ Partly R Wilh respect 1o waler resourees Lthe Finnair Groug s not a sighificent factor
FN  Location and size of band owned leased managed m, or adjacent 10 protected areas and areas of Yes The Finnarr Group has no ovned leased or managed fand areas m
high biodiversity value outsude protected areas protected areas or diectly adiacent to them

Of the company's buswess units and subsidianes Finnawr Techmcal
Operabons 1s the anly one that handles significant quantrties of materats
that are hazardous to the emvironment Finnair Technical Operattons s
situated 10 2 zoned area at Helsinki Arrport. The zoned area s close to

a ground water area Techmcal Operations has a valid ervronmental
permit, the conditions of which oblige the company to review the e ecis
of its actvities on the emaronment and to report an them requdarty to

the authortes
EN  Descripton of significant impacts of acimaties procucts, and services on biodversity o protecied No There are no such areas within the Finnair Group's sphera of mfluence Operations
areas and areas of high biodversity value outside protecied areas may however have an impact on the River Vantas and the River Kerava This has been
reported on separately Intems EN  and N Operational impacts in respect of flight
route destrabions cannol, on the other hand be reasonably ascertamed by Finnaur

FN  Habitats protected or sestored Yes Finnarr Techrucal Operations 1s a member of the River Vantaa and Not during the reporting period
Helsink) Regron Waterways Protecbon Assocation. which aims to promote

the: protection of waterways i s operating area The assoctation akso
seeks I promote other environmentat protection recreational use of
waterways and fishing in its area

EN  Strateges. curent actons and fullse plans for managng impacts on bodversity Yes International cargo operations by both ar and sea adhere to the Owng to the nature of aperations at group tevel i s not deemed pertnent to prepare
Internationiat Standards for Phytosanitary Measures prescribed by the concrete strategees or plans in relabion to biodversity
Food and Agricufture Orgamsation (FAQ) which regulate, among other
thengs the quality and charactenstics of hmber used in logistics. Timber
must be treated 50 that no parasites or msect pests are (ransported
along with it. Comectly-treated tmber 15 alsa stamped in the manner
required by the standard

Natixe and biodwversity 5 a significant attractiveness tactor in the
operations of Aurmkpmatkat Suntours Lid a tour operator that s part
of Finnaur Group I planning its destnation prograins, Atrnnkomatkat
Suntours carefully evabuates ther potental @ ects on the environment
and biodversity The operations aim (0 avoid excursions (o Sitas where
visits coutd pese a threat to biodiversity Customers are mformed at
desunations on appropriate conduct (o preserve odversity

EN  Fndangercd species in arcas a ected by operations Yes The location ot Helsinki-Vantaa Arpart 15 such that Tung - water from
the arport can reach the River Vantaa where there s a significant
poprdation of the thck-shelled river messed (Umo crasss) The protected
bvaive 5 classified as a near threatened (NT) spectes and it has ako
been protecied under the EU Habitats Directive

EN  Total direct and indirect greenhouse gas emissions by weight Yes

EN  Other refevant mdrect greenhouse gas emssions by weght o Drrect and indirect greenhouse gas emssions arrsing from the Finnair Groups
operations are stated i tem EN  The mam indiract emissions talling outside
EN  arsse from the production and drstribution of fuel used i awcrali and irom
the manufaciure of new amrcraft In respect of these, Finnarr has no Influence nor
mformation an the amounts of emssions
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EN  Initatves 10 reduce grecnhouse gas emissions and reductions achieved Partly In the Finnair Grotp s 0perations energy consumiion and greenhouse gas emssions
go hand m hand, Thus all actrons taken during the year to reduce energy corsumption
ako 3 ect ; the same way and 10 the same extent the greenhouse gas emissions
_ _ ansng from the group s actmbies
LN Lmssoms of ozone-gepletng subrstances by wesght Yes
EN  NOx S0x and other sigmilicant ax emussions by type and wesght Yes _
EN  Total vater dscharge by quaiity and destination Yes The amounts of glyoo! used in e prevention and de icng of arrcraft that end up In
waterways are reported try and are the responsiality of the arport mamtamer
EN  Total wenght of waste by type and dsposal method Yes
EN  Total number and volume of sgificant spifts Yes o significard spills
N Weight of transported. imported, exported. or trested waste deemed hazardous No The Finnalr Group does not transport nor treat hazardous waste. The amounts and
treatment of hazardous waste arsing from the group operations are reported n
nem EN
€N Water bodwes and related habnats sigmiicantly a ected by the organisations discharges of 3&1« The Finnar Groups wastewater 1s directed (o the monicipal wastewater treatment plant
wastewater and funo In terms of treated wastewater the Finnarr Group s specific impact cannot be solated
The imparts of Helsinks Vantaa arside nmo - are cuthned matems EN EN and
EN
EN  Tnilialvees W mitigate ermronmental mmpacts of products and services dnd exterd of 1mpacl mitxgation nm:_w h - Sce asoEN BN and EN
EN  Percentage of products sold and thewr packaging materats that are rectaimed by category No Not an essential indicator for the Finnair Group because the Finnair Group
) excludingl SG Skychef does not manufacture products
EN  Monctary value of significant fncs and totdal rumber of nonmonetary sencs for non-compliance Yes No knowm cases
with erwironmental faws and requiations
EN  Sgnificant emaronmental impacts of ransporting procucts and other goods and materats used No The sigruficant emvironmental impacts arsing from the Finnair Group s aperatons come:
for the organisalions operations and transporting members of the workforce mamly from ftying The impacts of transportabion i support of operations are not
feown bl ety are marymal compared with the enmvieonmeal impacts of flying
FN  Total environmental protecton expenditures and mvestmenis by type Partly Altogether  muflion evros were spent on waste management The Finnair Group s statistical practeces do not enable reporting aconrding 1o GRI

mamtenance. emaronmental training emvironmental certification vanous
membershep fees and emvironmental studies

“Sociat Performance rdicators

Approach to management of labour practices and deoent work condibuns Yes

LA lotal worklorce by employment type employment contracL, drd region Yes

LA Total number and rate of employee twraaver by age group gender and regsn Partly

LA Benefits prowded 10 (ulltime employees that are not prowded o temporary or part-tme empluyees Partly © Foman employees ergoy the same bonefits intespectve of Lype of
by major operatns empioyment Some benefits are such that they enter into € ect only

LA Percentage of employees covered by collectve bargaming agreements

after employment has lasied a certain penod of time  An exception
15 Finnair s Financial Services O ce, which only serves permanent
employees who are its members

Yes All Finnaw emplgyees n Finland have the nght and opportunity to agree
on thesr terms of employment through collective bargaming Senvor
management axmsitutes an exception to this as its terms of employment
are agreed on locally

In addition ta fiight crew Finnair currently has emplayees abroad m
counts s (approxemately employees) Ihe employment contracts and
terms of employment are based on lotal legrstabon Employees have the
opportunity to agree on thewr terms of employment through collectve
bangameng m countries m whech that & the Jocal practice

requrements In additon 1n all procurement ervironmenital aspects are o built, so the
separation of emaronmental investments i not deemed to meamngful

Finnair does not keep track of employee turnover by gender age group or other
dversity aspects
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LA Meurmum notice perod regarding sigrificant aperatonal changes Yes Signrficant operational changes i Fintand are governed by the Finnish

LA Percentage of total workforce represented i formal jont management-worker health and safety
833.5:6.86:35&&%3%_:&55&333

LA Rates of inury ocoupational drseases, lost days and absenteessm and number of work-reiated

fatalities by region
LA Educaton traming counsclling prevention, and risk-controld programimes o place (0 assist
workforge members therr [amilies or community members regarding Senous discascs

LA Health and safety topics covered tn formal agreements with trade umons

LA Average hours of training per year per empioyee by empioyee category

1A Programmes for skils :ﬂmnmmg..ma and ___ym_a_mm _83_3 )
LA Percentage of employees receming fequiar performance and career development reviews

Composition and a__..a.mm: of gm_.mu.aﬂm and personnel groups.

(A
LA Rauo of bask salary of men to women by employee category

Approoch o manogement of buman rights wsoes
HR  Percentage ardt total number of significant svestment agreements that nclude human rights clauses
or that have undergone human rights screeming

HR Pescentage ot sgnificant m%um.mn and contractors that have E&Qﬁm wn\mﬂﬁm_ on human :mm_m o
and actions Laken

Act on Cooperation within Undertakings. Depending on the matter in
question the minimum time perwod apphed can range from one day to
six weeks The collective bargaimng agreements that concern Finnair do
nat include provisions that run counter to these legrstatve provisions For
redundancies ond layo s, the myumum notice period pursuant (o the Act
on Co-operation within tindertakmgs applies m addmon to the statutory
nouce penod for redundancees and Layo s pror te the termmation of
employment or payment of wages The statutory notice perod for layo s
15 two weeks and the notice peniod for emplayees made redundant
ranges from  days to sox monihs depending on the duration of their
employment Some colecive bargainng agreemients eontain provisions
on notice perods for layo s that are more advantageous to employees

Yes

.Eﬂ&. -

Yes

Partly

Yes

Y o -t T

Yes Firutar 3 development and career revicws cover all personnet The aim
of the updated PD review process implemented throughout the compary
al the beginnmg of 15 to have all personnel attend a PD review at
‘_xBn?aBuﬂwﬂ_-

Yes

No

Yes -/

Partly

Yes " Firnax has ts own et Qu&mﬁ Tor suppliers Awﬂc_ﬁﬂ.&i T

conduct} and subcontractors and all suppliers are required to comply
vath them Al partners and subcontractors moreover are obliged to
comply with the principles of the UN Universal Declaration of Human
Rights as well as locat legistation

Finnare and its tour operator and travel agency subsidianes have

separately sgned the Helsnki Declaration, which aims (o promote
sustainable and etfucally acoeptable toursm

The abjectve 1s to make the entire indicator accarding to GRI m the repary
Finnair Group programmes in the event of serwous diseases relote only to

the group s personncl

The Central Organtsation of Finnsh Trade Unions SAK. and the Confederation of

Fnnsh Industries EX dentify the health and safety of an ndmdusl employee.
non-discramimation and equality as the bases for the requiabions m sherr collectve
agreements

Einaw Group 1 a mulll sector companty which has numerous di erent employee groups
and job classifications The rlassifications used by di erert subsidiares 2nd busmness
units are not su - cently comparable Therefore training hours have been counted
ustng the whole group s emplayee numbers. Group employees working abroad are also
Inciuded in the figures

As a mutt sector company the Fanar Group has numerous di erent employee
groups and job classifications The group s statistars do not enatiie a reporting practcs
according 1o GRI guidelines nor for .z..m .mcga reason 5 this appropriate

in nvestmoent agreements were such that no sk of human nghts violations coukd
be wentified As such there are no specific clauses In these agreements reldting to
human nghts Finnair does not conduct human rights screening itself

Finnarr has its own ethical guidedines for suppliers and subcomtraciors and all supphers
are requred to comply with them Al partners and subtoniractors moreover are
obliged to comply with the prnciples of the UN Unwversal Declaration of Human Rights
as well as focal kegislation
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HR  Total hours of employee ttaung on poloes and procedires conoernmg aspects of buman nghts that
are relevant 1 operations including the percentage of employees trained

HR lotal number of mcidents of discnmmalion and actions Laken

HR  Operavons wentifed n which the nght (o exgresse treedom of assocation and collective bargaming
mdy be ot sggificant (mk

HR  QOperations entrfied as having significant sk for ncdents of chid labour and measures taken to
contriute (o the ekmmation of chuld labour

HR  Operations wentfied as having sigmificant risk for incsdents of forced or computsory tabour and
measres taken to contrbute to the clmmabion of foraed or computsory labour

HR  Percentage of security personnel ramed in the organization s polices or procedures concerning
aspects of human nghts that are refevant 1o operalions

HR  Total number of modents of wiolations mvohang raghits of indigenous people and actions taken
Approach to management of commumaty resporsibility

50 Programs refated to the assessment and management of the snpacts of operabons on local
commurwtics

S0 gmag_gqegﬁsmagaﬂlmaﬁasag

S0 Percentage of employees tramed in 6rgansation s antcorruption pobces and procedures

SO Actions taken m response o incidents of corrupticn
S0 Publ puly postions aid particpation i pubifc. pofwy development and lobbyng
50 Total vale of fmancial and i kind contriutions Lo politcal parties

S0 Total number of kogal actions for anti-competitive behaviowr anti trust, and monopoly practioes
and their outcomes

S0 Monetary value of sggaficant fines and tota! number of nonmonetary sanclions lof non - compliance
with laws and reguiations

Approach to managy of product resp ity
PR Life cyde stages in whuch health and safety impacts of products and serwices are assessed for

mmprovemend, and percentage of significant products and services categores subpect (o such
procegures

PR Total number of madents of non-compliance with reguiations and voluntary codes concer ing
heatth and safety smpacts of products and services

Party

Aurnikomatkal Suntowrs Ltd prowides traming to afl new guides m respect
of the company s work agamst child sex toursm The number of traning
hours retating to human rights is not separated from the total number
of grammg hours gven  The human nights theme was lughlighted n the

_ Lraiing on the new Cade of Condlict started in

Yes

There was one suspected case of occupational discrimmation at Finatr
n The prosecutor decided to press charges i the matter The case

will be dealt in court during spring

Yes

Yes

Yes
Yes
Yes

Yes
Partly
Yes
Yes

Yes
Yes

Yes
Yes

Yes

) mgﬁgﬂmuﬂn«mz?ﬁag_ﬁsgsignaﬁ

value chain With respect to the aviation mdustry the tompany has not
xdentified any risk for incidents of child labour Thrs 1s a consequence
both of the general nature of the industry and the strict o cial
requiation and supervision of the adustry Nevertheless the avialion
mdustry and Finax’s aperations do mteract with sectors in which the
exploilation of chdd labour cannal be exduded One such sectar s the
textre ndustry The uniforms and workwear used in the company are
aoqured from supphers that have addressed this issue i ther own
0operauons

On excursions. Aurnkomatkat-Suntours gindes monitor Lhe operations
at excursion sites and destnations for the wse of child bour If any
prablens are detected the exturson destinations and the contents
of the extursions are changed as necessary In order to prevent child
piostiution Aunnkomatkat Suntours has a dause in its hotel contracts
that entstles the company to immedately termmate the cortract if dhid
prosutution & detected  the hotel

i No known cases

" Al Finrair tassmess units run an anakysss of risks related (0 comuption as

part of the company’s general isk survey

" No cases

" fionar makes no contnbutions of any kind _b.u%cnw_uﬂﬁ

No cases

" Mo cases

Firnair continuoussly develops its cusiomer service and evakuates the

opertions of its business partners We have a responsibibty to the
astomer for the overall qualdy of our operations regardtess of whether
we procude the service oursetves or outsource it to @ husiness partner

No cases

The indicator 15 not essentlal because
market cufture in which employees rights to organsse and negotiate working conditions

collectively are recognised fundamental rights

as a Finewsh company Finnair operates in a tabour

The Fitnair Group does not have its own secunty personne!

Finnair does not have group level programs to assess and manage the impact of
operations on kocal communities

Comprahensrm percentages and fiquies are nat avaiable, because trang s conducted
mdependently by business units and subsihiaries themselves Finnair Flght Academy
has not organssed any anti corruption training in
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PR Type of procuct and servee mformation requined by procedures and percentage of sigmificant Yes
products and services sutyect 1o such nformalion requrements
PR q&_gagiggégﬂnggg ) " Yes No cases.

health and safety impacts of products and services S o
PR Practices related (o customer satrstaction, meludng resulls of Surveys meastning customer satstacton Yes )
PR Pragramemes for adherence to laws standards and voluntary codes related in marketing Yes Fmnarr acts in accordance with all general

@mmucabons ncuding advertsmg promotion, and spornsorship rules laws, recommendations and good marketing practices relating

to advertsing and sponsorship The main standards mclude marketing
legsiation {maost significantly the Finsh Consumer Protection Act) the
Frnish Corsumer s guidelines on the marketing of fghts (based
on Eurapean Parliament and Counctt Drectve { /7 /EC)) and the
prnciples relaung o good advertrsing practoe ssued by the Council on

Ethics m Advertising
PR Total number of modents of non-compliance with reguiations and voluntary codes concerming Yes No cases
markeung commurncalions o
PR Total ruiner of sitstantiated complaints regarding breaches of arstormer privacy and losses of Yes No cases.
astomer data
PR Monetary value of siuficant fnes for non-compliance with bws and reguiaions concerning Yes No cases

the provision and use of products and services
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INFORMATION FOR THE SHAREHOLDERS

Annual General Meeting

"The Annual General Meeting of Finnair Ple. will be held on Thursday 27 March 2014, at 1500
at the Helsinki Extubition 8 Convention Centre at the address Messuaukio 1, Helsinka, Fin-
land. The reception of persons who have registered for the meeting and the distnbution of vot-
ing tickets will commence at 14 00 Coflee ts served before the commencement of the AGM.

The notice to convene the AGM

The nothice to convene the AGM and the proposals of the Board of Directors to the AGM wll
be published as a stock exchange release and on Finnair's corporate website The notice wil
contam the agenda for the AGM. Shareholders are entrtled to having an 1ssue put on the An-
nual General Meeting’s agenda, provided that such an issue requures a decision by the Annual
General Meeting according to the Finnish Companies Act, and provided that they request it
mnwniing in due time to be mcluded m the notice.

The right the participate in the AGM
Each shareholder who 1s registered on Monday, 17 March 2014 in the Company’s register of
shareholders mantamned by the Eurodear Finland Oy has the nght to partiapate in the AGM.

Registration for the AGM

"The shareholder who wants to participate 1n the general meeting and exercise ther voting
right can regpster to the meeting at the latest on Monday 24 March 2014 at10 a.m. Registra-
tron can be done:

- Inthe internet at hitp//www finnawrgroup com,

- By e-mail to agm@finnairf,

- By phone from Monday to Friday at 9.00--16.00 1n the number: +358 20 770 6866,

- By fax. +358 9694 0205 or

- By tnail to- Finnarr Plc., Register of shareholders, HEL-AAC/ 502 01053 FINNAIR.

A holder of nominee regsstered shares 1s advised to request without delay necessary instruc-
tions regarding the registration in the shareholder’s register of the company, the 1ssuing of
proxy documents and registration for the general meeting from his/her custodian bank The
account management organization of the custodian bank wall register a holder of nominee reg-
istered shares, who wants to participate m the general meeting, to be temporanly entered into
the shareholders’ register of the company at the latest on Monday 24 March 2014at 10a m.

AGM 2012 -Important dates

17 March2014  Record date

24March2014  at10amEET Deadline for gving notice of attendance

27March2014 at2pmEET  the reception of persons registered to the AGM will

commence and at 3 pm EET the AGM will commence

Board of Directors’ proposal on dividend
Finnarr Pic’s distnbutable equuty amounted to 284,038,140.67 euros on 31 December 2013 The
Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting that no dvidend is pad for 2013

Financial information in 2014
n 2014, intertm reports will be pubhshed as follows
« QI on Wednesday 7 May 2014
«  Q2onFnday 15 August 2014
» Q3 on Fnday 31 QOctober 2014
Financial report, financial statements and mterim reports are published in Finnish and
Enghsh The materiatis available on the company website Sharcholders can subscnbe or un-
subscnbe for the releases at www finnairgroup com

Silent period

Finnair's silent period starts three weeks prior to publishing of 1its interim financials and four
weeks prior to publishing of annual financial results Finnair wili not comment on its business
or meet with capital market representatives during that penod.

Change of address
Shareholders are kindly requested to report changes of address to the custodian of their book-
entry acoount.

Changes in contact information

Euroclear Finland Ltd mamtains a hist of Company shares and shareholders Shareholders who
wish to make changes to their personal and contact information are kindly asked to contact
their own account operator directly Finnaur cannot make these changes

Assessments regarding Finnair as an investment object

According to information held by Finnair, at least the following analysts publish investor
analyses of the campany- ABG Sundal Collier, Evh Bank, Carnege Investment Bank, HSBC,
Nordea and Polyola Bank Finnair does not accept any responsibility for the views or opinions

expressed by the analysts
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GLOSSARY

AEA The Assoctation of European Airlines

Carbon Dusclosure  An international, not-for-profit organization prowiding a global system
Project tor companies and Cities to measure, disclose, manage and share vital
environmental information

CASK Cost per available seat kilometre

First Carbon Furst Carbon Selutions (FCS) 15 an environmental sustarnabidety company

Solutions that provides consulting, software and data management to businesses and
governments

1ATA International Asr Transport Association, a trade association representing and

serving the airline industry worldwide

IENVA The IATA Environmental Assessment (IEnvA) program is an evaluation
designed to independently assess and improve the environmental
management of an arrline

ICAO Internattonal Civil Aviation Orgamszation, an agency of the United Nations
promoting safe and orderly development of international civil aviatton

10SA The JATA Operational Safety Audit (JOSA) program s an internationally
recogmzed and accepted evaluation system designed to assess the
operational management and control systems of an airline

Just Culture Orgamizational culture aiming at assigning the conseguences for an unsafe
act in a fair way based on an understanding of an indwidual’s accountability
and responsibilities within the context of the systems and circumstances that
the individual was operating

LEED Certificate  Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) s a set of rating
systems for the design, construction, operation, and maintenance of green
butldings, homes and neighborhoods

NGO Non-governmental organization

open Skies Open skies 15 an international policy concept that calls for the liberahization
of the rules and regulations of the international aviation mdustry—especially
commercial aviation—in order to create a free-market environment for the
arrhine industry

RASK Revenue per available seat kilometre
skytrax Research company that evaluates commercial airlines and their services
STLN Sustainable Travel Leadership Network

UNWTO UN World Tourism Orgamization
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CONTACT INFORMATION

House of Travel and Transportation
Finnair Plc

Tietotie 9 A (Helsink) Vantaa Airport)
01053 FINNAIR

Tel 0600 0 81881 (1,25 euro/answered call + normal call charges)

www finnair com
www finnairgroup com




CELEBRATING 90 YEARS
SINCE 1923




